
Anual Report 2024

Annual Report
2024



Anual Report 2024 Page 2

in EUR million 2024 2023 

Change 2024 

on 2023 in %                 
Revenue 747 619 20.7 

 thereof consolidated operating revenue 458 343 33.5 

  thereof Business segment Fleetleasing 196 175 11.8 

  thereof Business segment Online Retail 114 114 –0.3 

  thereof Business segment Captive Leasing 126 32 >100 

  thereof Business segment Fleetmanagement 22 22 0.6 

 thereof sales revenue 290 277 4.7 

        

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 322 221 45.7 

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) –2 29 <-100 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) –49 13 <-100 

Operating return on revenue (in %)1 –10.8 3.7 –14.5 pts. 

Operating return on revenue Leasing business unit (in %)1 –12.5 3.7 –16.2 pts. 

Operating return on revenue Fleet Leasing business segment (in %) 6.1 16.1 –10.0 pts. 

Operating return on revenue Online Retail business segment (in %) –1.8 7.0 –8.8 pts. 

Operating return on revenue Captive Leasing business segment (in %) 

 –50.8 –76.1 +25.3 pts. 

Operating return on revenue Fleet Management business unit (in %)1 23.2 3.1 +20.1 pts. 

Consolidated result –39 9 <-100 

Earnings per share - basic and diluted (in Euro) –1.90 0.43   

        

Total assets 2,441 1,673 45,9 

Lease assets 2,114 1,406 50,3 

Equity 188 238 –20,9 

Equity ratio (in %) 7,7 14.2 –6,5 pts 

Financial liabilities2 1,973 1,177 67.6 

        

Dividend per share (in EUR)3 0.00 0.09 –100.0 

Total dividend, net - 1.9 –100.0 

        

Contract portfolio (in thou.) 144 126 14.1 

Leasing Business Unit 95 77 22.4 

 thereof Business segment Fleet Leasing 31 34 –6.8 

 thereof Business Segment Online Retail 24 27 –11.4 

 thereof Business segment Captive Leasing 39 16 >100 

Fleet Management Business Unit 49 49 0.8 

        

Investments in lease assets4 1,243 812 53.1 

Number of employees5 703 730 –3.7                 
1 Ratio of EBT to operating revenue 
2 Current and non-current financial liabilities, including finance lease liabilities 
3 Proposal by the Executive Board, which is generally subject to approval by the Annual General Meeting. Due to the net loss in the 2024 financial year, the 

proposal for the appropriation of profits for the 2024 financial year is obsolete. 
4 Value of vehicle added to leasing fleet 
5 Annual average 

The Allane Mobility Group in Figures
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About Allane Mobility Group

Allane Mobility Group based in Pullach is a multi-brand provider of comprehensive mobility solutions. 

In its business fields Retail Leasing, Fleet Leasing and Fleet Management, the Company o�ers a wide 

range of services and innovative solutions that make mobility easy in every way.

Private and commercial customers use Allane’s online and o�line platforms to lease new 

vehicles a�ordably or acquire used vehicles from a large stock. Corporate customers benefit from 

the cost-e�cient full-service leasing of their vehicle fleet and from comprehensive fleet 

management expertise.
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The Allane Mobility Group continued to grow in the 2024 financial year in a challenging environment. Both the Group contract 
portfolio and Group consolidated revenue increased once again. At the same time, the year was characterized by external 
influences that had a significant impact on the results and required a high degree of adaptability. The implementation of the 
FAST LANE 27 strategy was consistently driven forward and forms the basis for sustainable, future-oriented growth. 

In the following interview, CEO Eckart Klumpp and CFO Álvaro Hernández reflect on the most important developments of 
the past year and provide an outlook for the current financial year. 

Álvaro Hernández, CFO, and Eckart Klumpp, CEO 

In 2024, the Allane Mobility Group once again recorded 
strong growth in its Group contract portfolio and operat-
ing revenue. What factors made this growth possible and 
how do you assess the sustainability of this development? 

The growth in the contract portfolio and operating revenue is 

primarily due to the positive development of our Captive 

Leasing business segment. In particular, our leasing portal 

"Allease" made a significant contribution to our success in the 

2024 financial year thanks to the partnerships with Hyundai 

and Kia. This development is sustainable insofar as the under-

lying partnerships are long-term and we are continuously 

working to further strengthen and expand them. We are also 

focusing on optimizing our digital processes and expanding 

our product portfolio in order to offer our customers an even 

more flexible and attractive leasing experience.  

Despite a significant increase in operating revenue, EBT 
fell due to impairment losses. What measures are you tak-
ing to ensure profitability in the future? 

The development in the current financial year clearly shows 

that our business model is capable of growth. At the same 

time, market changes are not without impact on our business. 

As market dynamics turned out to be more challenging than 

anticipated, we had to adjust our expectations regarding re-

sidual values. The values of used electric vehicles in particular 

have fallen over the course of the year, resulting in impair-

ment losses on leased assets. This makes it even more im-

portant to act with strategic foresight and operational 

strength in a dynamic market environment. Our goal remains 

the sustainable, profitable growth of the Allane Mobility 

Group. 

A.1 – Interview with the Managing Board
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A key lever for this is the optimization of residual value strat-

egies. Through more precise market analyses and a sensi-

tized risk management approach, we aim to better anticipate 

and hedge against fluctuations in market values. In addition, 

we are expanding our cooperation with OEMs to establish 

binding return agreements and ensure more stable value re-

tention. In parallel, we are systematically focusing our portfo-

lio on high-margin and market-stable vehicle segments. 

The Allane Mobility Group is also investing more in digitaliza-

tion and efficiency. At the same time, we are planning to fur-

ther expand our range of services. In the Fleet Leasing and 

Fleet Management business segments, we are focusing on 

targeted new customer acquisition and the expansion of our 

offer to optimally address the growing requirements of busi-

ness customers. 

Profitability also remains the focus in the Captive Leasing 

business segment. We will be launching a tire service at the 

end of the second quarter of 2025, followed by a fuel card, 

“GEZ” and vehicle tax service later in the year. 

You changed the segment logic last year. What advantages 
does this change bring for corporate management and 
transparency? 

The reorganization of the business segments – consisting of 

Fleet Leasing, Online Retail, Captive Leasing and Fleet Man-

agement – will make internal management more precise and 

more closely aligned with the current management strategy. 

This adjustment improves the traceability of the financial per-

formance of individual business segments, as it more accu-

rately reflects their relative importance and performance. The 

new structure also provides greater transparency for inves-

tors and stakeholders. 

Operationally, the new segment logic ensures more efficient 

management, as the individual areas can be analyzed and de-

veloped in a more targeted manner. This makes it possible to 

identify growth potential at an early stage and deploy re-

sources even more effectively. 

Overall, the adjustment strengthens the strategic orientation 

of the Allane Mobility Group and allows us to respond better 

to future market requirements. 

 

 

Which aspects of the FAST LANE 27 strategy were partic-
ularly noteworthy for you in the 2024 financial year? 

The FAST LANE 27 strategy aims to expand our business 

model in a targeted manner, extend our range of services, 

drive forward internationalization and further strengthen the 

aspect of sustainability through environmentally friendly mo-

bility solutions. 

A milestone was the rebranding of "Sixt Neuwagen" to "Al-

lane". With this final step, we have successfully completed 

our rebranding process, consolidated our entire range of ser-

vices under a single brand and strengthened our brand iden-

tity in the long term. The rebranding was an important step on 

our way to becoming Europe's leading multi-brand provider 

of comprehensive mobility solutions. 

What progress have you made in the Leasing division, 
which comprises the Fleet Leasing, Online Retail and Cap-
tive Leasing business segments? 

In the Fleet Leasing business segment, 2024 was dominated 

by the electrification of customer fleets. Allane Fleet actively 

supported its customers with analyses and advice in the area 

of electromobility, particularly with regard to e-car policies 

and charging solutions. New partnerships, such as the collab-

oration with Locio for home charging of fleet vehicles, con-

tributed to the further development of the offering. A pilot 

project with a fleet customer showed promising approaches 

to optimizing charging costs for company car drivers. The 

proportion of electric vehicles in the overall fleet remained 

stable at 21.3%, with the intention of further increasing this 

share. Customer satisfaction has also increased from 72% to 

75% in the financial year 2024. 

We implemented important operational levers in the Online 
Retail business segment in 2024: an optimized sales strategy, 

the targeted sale of accompanying services and a new com-

mission model contributed to efficiency gains and a further 

improvement in the customer experience. In addition, the 

product range was strategically further developed through 

increased cooperation with retail partners and manufacturers. 

Our consistent marketing strategy, in particular campaigns 

such as the successful “Black Leasing Friday”, has noticeably 

stimulated customer interest. With the launch of allane.de in 

September 2024, we have also established a new central 

platform for new car leasing, which is set to become the most 

important sales channel for this segment in the future. 

As the Allane Mobility Group's newest business segment, 

Captive Leasing recorded strong growth in the 2024 
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financial year. The business segment was further expanded 

through close cooperation with almost all German Hyundai 

and Kia dealers. The specially developed dealer portal "Alle-

ase" was continuously developed and optimized in close co-

operation with the dealers. In addition, the product portfolio 

was expanded to meet customers' increasing demands for 

comprehensive leasing and service packages.   

And how did the Fleet Management business unit develop 
in the 2024 financial year? 

The Fleet Management business unit strategically expanded 

and further diversified its offering in the 2024 financial year. 

For example, innovative consulting services were introduced, 

including the free "360° Mobility Check", which companies 

can use to check their mobility strategy for sustainability and 

efficiency. As part of its sustainability strategy, the Allane Mo-

bility Group has also entered into a partnership with Ecoturn 

GmbH (Elektrovorteil.de). This enables fleet customers to 

conveniently apply for the greenhouse gas reduction pre-

mium for e-vehicles and charging infrastructure – including 

the sale of the GHG quota. 

Another significant result in 2024 was the extension of the 

EcoVadis certificate. In July 2024, the Allane Mobility Group 

further improved its sustainability performance and was clas-

sified as a "Committed Company". This rating, which covers 

the company's environmental, social and governance (ESG) 

strategies, is above the industry average and demonstrates 

its strong commitment to sustainable mobility solutions. 

You mentioned that you entered into new strategic part-
nerships or expanded existing ones in 2024. What role do 
these partnerships play in your growth strategy and what 
other partnerships are you planning for the future? 

Strategic partnerships are central to the implementation of 

our FAST LANE 27 strategy. We have further expanded and 

strengthened our captive leasing business through partner-

ships with leading car manufacturers such as Kia and Hyun-

dai. This collaboration enables us to offer attractive leasing 

products directly via the dealer networks and thus extend the 

reach of our mobility solutions. 

In addition, we expanded our partner network in 2024 

through the aforementioned cooperation with Ecoturn 

GmbH (Elektrovorteil.de), which further strengthens our of-

fering in the area of sustainable mobility solutions. 

We plan to further expand this network in the future, particu-

larly in the areas of electromobility, digital mobility solutions 

and sustainable mobility services. To this end, we are examin-

ing further collaborations with manufacturers, technology 

service providers and providers of innovative charging infra-

structure. The aim is to continuously expand our service port-

folio and establish the Allane Mobility Group as a leading 

mobility provider in the market. 

How have the current market developments, particularly in 
terms of used car prices and demand for electric vehicles, 
affected your business? 

Price trends on the used car market have a direct impact on 

the valuation of our leasing portfolio. For example, residual 

and market value differences led to impairment losses on 

leased assets. In response, we are refining our internal valua-

tion models to better reflect market dynamics and enhance 

transparency in risk assessment. 

Demand for electric vehicles also proved challenging. While 

the share of BEVs in new registrations was still noticeably 

higher in the previous year, it declined in 2024. As a result, the 

focus in the Online Retail business shifted more towards 

smaller combustion engine models. Nevertheless, the elec-

trification of fleets remains a strategic priority. The share of 

electric vehicles in customer fleets remained at the previous 

year's level. To ensure the long-term stability of the portfolio 

in this segment, we are strengthening our residual value risk 

management and expanding our agreements with OEMs. 

This allows us to secure return conditions and counteract 

market fluctuations more effectively.  

How are you shaping the transition to electromobility in 
your business model in light of current market develop-
ments, and what strategies are you pursuing to further in-
crease the acceptance of electric vehicles among your 
customers? 

We are consistently advancing the electrification of fleets, fo-

cusing on innovative and practical solutions. One current ex-

ample is the successful conversion of a renowned major 

customer's service fleet to fully electric vehicles – our largest 

electrification project to date. In collaboration with various 

partners, a sustainable and cost-efficient mobility solution 

was developed that optimally meets both the company's re-

quirements and the needs of company car users. 

This new fleet solution comprises over 50 fully electric vehi-

cle models, which are characterized by their long range, gen-

erous space and flexible deployment options. A key aspect of 

the project was the integration of a user-friendly charging in-

frastructure. Thanks to innovative billing solutions, company 
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car users can charge their vehicles conveniently at home, 

while the charging data is automatically transmitted to the 

employer. This makes billing easier for users and increases the 

efficiency of fleet management at the same time. 

The project is in line with our FAST LANE 27 strategy, which 

aims to steadily increase the share of electric vehicles in cus-

tomer fleets. At the same time, we are continuously refining 

our risk management approach – particularly regarding the 

residual value development of electric vehicles – to ensure 

the long-term resilience and profitability of our business 

model. 

As part of the 2024 Annual General Meeting, the Supervi-
sory Board was made more diverse and international. How 
does this realignment affect the strategic direction of the 
Allane Mobility Group? 

The new composition brings additional global perspectives 

and expertise to the Board, which will support the strategic 

development of the company. 

This realignment will make a significant contribution to the 

consistent pursuit of long-term growth targets. In particular, 

the implementation of the FAST LANE 27 strategy will be pro-

moted by the broader expertise. The increased international 

focus makes it possible to drive forward future topics such as 

digitalization, sustainable mobility solutions and global mar-

ket developments in a targeted manner. 

With the renaming of the "Sixt Neuwagen" brand to "Al-
lane", you have implemented the final step of your re-
branding process. What has changed as a result of the 
sharpening of your brand strategy and how does this affect 
your market position? 

As a result of the realignment, we are presenting ourselves 

with a uniform and clearly positioned brand that bundles our 

entire range of services under one strong name. The consoli-

dated brand identity increases our recognizability, strength-

ens our market position and creates a clearer differentiation 

in the competitive environment and underlines our role as a 

holistic mobility service provider. 

A key aim of the rebranding was to improve the user experi-

ence. Our new vehicle overview on allane.de enables our cus-

tomers to find their desired vehicle more quickly with 

optimized filter options. At the same time, our uniform brand 

image with the characteristic lanes ensures a high level of 

recognition and symbolizes mobility, dynamism and future 

orientation. 

Our rebranding campaign has been running since mid-No-

vember 2024 and had generated around 40 million views by 

the end of the year. The increasing search interest in "Allane" 

is particularly pleasing. In 2025, we will continue to focus on 

attention-grabbing measures, including the use of branded 

trucks to increase our visibility on roads and highways. 

The rebranding was a decisive step towards realizing our vi-

sion: To become Europe's leading cross-brand mobility ser-

vice provider. With the new brand identity, we are 

strengthening our market position, expanding our digital 

presence and reaching our target groups even more directly 

and effectively. 

The digitalization of your processes continues to progress. 
What specific measures did you implement in this area in 
2024? 

The focus was on expanding self-service options and further 

automating our processes to make them even more user-

friendly and efficient. Through digital optimization, we want 

to make it easier for our customers to conclude new and fol-

low-up contracts by further simplifying and accelerating pro-

cesses. This not only enables a better customer journey, but 

also ensures greater customer satisfaction. 

At the same time, we have continuously modernized our IT 

systems to integrate our digital services even more intuitively, 

flexibly and seamlessly into our customers' everyday lives. In 

particular, these optimizations improve the level of service for 

our corporate customers and the user experience for com-

pany car drivers, who benefit from even more convenient and 

efficient management of their vehicles. 

In addition, we are continuously investing in intelligent IT so-

lutions to further digitalize our business model. The expan-

sion of automated processes reduces personnel costs in user 

support and creates additional capacity for individual con-

sulting services. In the short to medium term, we expect this 

to boost productivity and increase customer satisfaction. 

What goals do you have for the coming financial year and 
how do you intend to achieve them? 

A key objective for the coming financial year is the continued 

electrification of our contract portfolio. We aim to further in-

crease sales of electric vehicles and provide our customers 

with attractive leasing offers for sustainable mobility. To this 

end, we are selectively expanding our portfolio with modern, 

competitive EV models and deepening collaboration with 
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OEMs to secure favorable rates and reduce residual value 

risks.  

In parallel, we are systematically enhancing our internal valu-

ation models and refining our risk management processes – 

particularly regarding the residual value development of 

electric vehicles – to ensure a balanced and future-proof 

portfolio structure. 

At the same time, we are focusing on profitable growth, with 

a particular emphasis on expanding Captive Leasing. Closer 

cooperation with our OEM partners enables us to offer cus-

tomized financing and leasing solutions that deliver long-

term added value for both our customers and our company. 

Another strategic priority is the expansion of our partnerships. 

Collaborations with manufacturers such as Hyundai and Kia 

strengthen our offering and open up new market potential. 

Through these partnerships, we are further diversifying our 

portfolio and providing innovative mobility solutions that are 

precisely tailored to the needs of our customers. 

Looking ahead to 2025, we expect our contract portfolio 

grow to between of 150,000 to 170,000 contracts. We also 

plan to achieve consolidated operating revenue of 

EUR 570 million to EUR 620 million, up from EUR 412.9 mil-

lion in 2024. Finally, we expect EBT to reach the low double-

digit million-euro range. 

You have developed an expanded sustainability strategy. 
What goals are you focusing on and what progress have 
you made in 2024? 

The starting point was the implementation of a materiality 

analysis, which forms the basis for our ESG strategy and the 

future sustainability report. We also carried out a climate as-

sessment in accordance with the GHG Protocol to develop 

targeted measures to reduce CO2 emissions. To promote 

sustainable mobility solutions, we have started to develop an 

EV strategy to drive forward the expansion of electromobility. 

At the same time, the Allane Mobility Group's "Green Team" 

was established to manage ESG measures at an operational 

level, while the ESG Forum is also responsible for strategic 

and regulatory decisions. 

The focus is always on our mission to be a mobility provider 

that has a sustainable positive impact on the environment, 

society and the leasing industry. 
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In 2024, the Allane Mobility Group made significant 

progress in expanding its range of holistic mobility 

solutions.

Through strategic decisions, new partnerships and 

innovative services, the company is implementing 

its FASTLANE 27 strategy. FASTLANE 27 strategy, 

underlining its commitment to modern mobility 

concepts and sustainability development.
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Eckart Klumpp takes up his position as 

CEO of Allane SE on 1 January 2024

Eckart Klumpp will take up the position as CEO on 1 January 

2024. He succeeds Donglim Shin, who left the company on 

31 December 2023. 

To ensure an optimal transition, Eckart Klumpp has been 

working in an advisory capacity at the Allane Mobility Group 

since October 2023, alongside his predecessor.



Allane Fleet is driving forward the 

electrification of fleets

The Allane Mobility Group has reached a new milestone in 

its FAST LANE 27 strategy by electrifying the fleet of a major 

customer. 

This project is being carried out by Allane Fleet in collabora-

tion with Kia Germany, Locio and Autohaus Dinnebier. With 

over 50 electric vehicles, this is Allane Fleet‘s largest electri-

fication initiative to date. The Allane Mobility Group is the-

refore increasing the proportion of electric vehicles in fleets 

and demonstrating its commitment to sustainable mobility.

Making further progress in ESG 

and climate accounting

Captive Leasing: 

Cooperation with Kia Germany

The Allane Mobility Group and Kia Deutschland GmbH 

have formed a strategic partnership. Since 2024, Kia part-

ners have been able to work with Allane as a leasing partner 

under the “KIA Leasing” brand, offering their customers 

locally tailored leasing products.

The Allane Mobility Group has made significant progress in 

the areas of environmental, social and governance (ESG) in 

2024. A key milestone was the completion of the materiali-

ty analysis, which identified seven material topics. Based on 

the results of this analysis, work began in 2024 on preparing 

the first CSRD-compliant Sustainability Report, which will 

undergo further development in 2025 before being publis-

hed for the first time in the 2025 Annual Report.

In addition, Allane has conducted a thorough carbon foot-

print assessment to systematically record and evaluate the 

company‘s CO₂ emissions. This analysis provides valuable 

insights for developing sustainable mobility solutions 

further and highlights the Allane Mobility Group‘s commit-

ment to climate protection. 

In the first half of 2024, Allane Mobility Consulting will intro-

duce new consulting services, including the cost-free ‚360° 

Mobility Check‘. This service will enable customers to ana-

lyse the sustainability of their corporate mobility and identi-

fy areas for improvement, such as reducing CO₂ emissions, 

increasing employee satisfaction, and optimising mobility 

costs.

All brands with a new 

corporate identity

The Allane Mobility Group is renaming its ‚Sixt Neuwagen‘ 

brand ‚Allane‘. This step is part of a comprehensive rebran-

ding process intended to consolidate the company‘s range 

of services under a uniform brand and strengthen its iden-

tity further. By renaming “Sixt Neuwagen” to “Allane”, the 

Allane Mobility Group has removed the name “Sixt” from all 

its brand names.

‘360° Mobility Check’ 
for more sustainable 
corporate mobility

In the first half of 2024, Allane Mobility Consulting will 

introduce new consulting services, including the compli-

mentary ‚360° Mobility Check‘. This service enables custo-

mers to analyse the sustainability of their corporate mobility 

and identify areas for improvement, such as reducing CO₂ 

emissions, increasing employee satisfaction, and optimising 

mobility costs.
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Dear Shareholders,

In the 2024 financial year, the Supervisory Board of Allane SE 

performed the tasks incumbent upon it under the law, the Ar-

ticles of Association and the rules of procedure. In particular, 

it regularly advised the Management Board on the manage-

ment of the company and monitored its activities. The Super-

visory Board dealt in detail with the economic situation of the 

company and the Group and its strategic development and 

was involved in all decisions of fundamental importance. 

The Supervisory Board again held most of its meetings in 

2024 in the form of video conferences. Four ordinary meet-

ings and one extraordinary meeting were held in the financial 

year. Of these, four meetings were held in the form of 

video/audio conferences and one meeting was held physi-

cally at the headquarters of Allane SE. Further resolutions 

were passed by written procedure. The statutory frequency 

of at least two meetings per calendar half-year was adhered 

to. Mr. Keunbae Hong was unable to attend the meetings on 

27 February 2024 and 16 October 2024. Mr. Ross Williams 

was unable to attend the meeting on 24 April 2024. However, 

they took part in the resolutions by casting their votes in writ-

ing. Otherwise, all appointed members took part in the meet-

ings and resolutions, in some cases also using electronic 

communication media in accordance with the provisions of 

the Articles of Association. 

The Management Board informed the Supervisory Board 

regularly, promptly and in detail, both verbally and in writing, 

about the situation of the company and the Group, the prof-

itability and planning of the company and its subsidiaries as 

well as all issues of strategy, planning and business develop-

ment relevant to the company and the Group. To this end, it 

prepared a quarterly report with detailed information on the 

economic and financial situation of Allane SE and its subsid-

iaries. The Supervisory Board reviewed the documents and 

reports submitted to it for plausibility. The Management 

Board explained the documents and reports submitted to the 

members of the Supervisory Board at the meetings. In this 

context, the Supervisory Board questioned the Management 

Board on important issues, critically examined the reports 

and draft resolutions submitted by the Management Board 

and made suggestions.  

The members of the Supervisory Board also regularly ex-

changed information with the members of the Management 

Board outside of the meetings. In particular, the respective 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board maintained contact with 

the Chairman of the Management Board between meetings 

and discussed issues relating to the company's strategy, 

planning, business development, risk situation, risk manage-

ment and compliance.  

The Audit Committee held four ordinary meetings in the form 

of video conferences in 2024. All committee members took 

part in these meetings. The Supervisory Board did not form 

any other committees to pass resolutions. In the reporting 

period, the Audit Committee discussed in particular the com-

pany's annual and consolidated financial statements and the 

combined management report for the 2023 financial year, as 

well as the dependent company report in accordance with 

Section 312 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 

These audits did not give rise to any objections. The commit-

tee also dealt with the issuing of the audit mandate for the 

2024 financial year. 

Topics in the Supervisory Board plenum 

The Supervisory Board regularly dealt with current business 

developments, the strategic direction, the risk situation, risk 

management, internal control systems, the development of 

the contract portfolio in the individual business units and the 

net assets, financial position and results of operations of Al-

lane SE and the Allane Mobility Group, as well as matters re-

lating to the Supervisory Board and personnel matters 

relating to the Management Board without the participation 

of the Management Board.  

The Supervisory Board discussed the following topics in par-

ticular: 

 Business planning and strategy: At the beginning of the 

reporting period, the Supervisory Board dealt with the 

Management Board's business planning for the coming 

years and once again with the Group strategy. The Super-

visory Board had the Management Board explain the 

multi-year plan, strategy and progress in detail and ap-

proved the budget and plan adjustments that were neces-

sary, particularly in light of national and international 

developments, changes in the market and business envi-

ronment and the geopolitical situation. 

 Annual General Meeting: In the run-up to the Annual 

General Meeting on 27 June 2024, the Supervisory Board 

dealt extensively with the items on the agenda. These in-

cluded, in particular, the appropriation of net profit, the 

election of the auditor, a resolution on the approval of the 

remuneration report and elections to the Supervisory 

Board. The Supervisory Board adopted its proposed reso-

lutions on the individual agenda items and endorsed the 

A.2 – Report of the Supervisory Board 
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Management Board's proposal to propose the payment of 

a dividend of EUR 0.09 per share to the Annual General 

Meeting. The Management Board and Supervisory Board 

made their decision on the dividend proposal on the basis 

of the company's current business, investment and liquid-

ity planning, which has already taken into account the 

economic and financial impact of the geopolitical situa-

tion on the markets and Allane SE. 

 Campaigns and innovations: Over the course of the re-

porting year, the Supervisory Board was informed by the 

Management Board about key campaigns and innovations 

and dealt with their expected impact on business devel-

opment. 

Corporate Governance 

In February 2025, the Management Board and Supervisory 

Board issued the annual declaration of compliance in accord-

ance with Section 161 AktG. This is permanently available to 

all shareholders on the company's website at ir.allane-mobil-

ity-group.com. With a few exceptions, Allane SE follows the 

recommendations of the Government Commission on the 

German Corporate Governance Code. 

The Supervisory Board was not aware of any indications of 

conflicts of interest on the part of members of the Manage-

ment Board and Supervisory Board. 

Further information on the company's corporate governance 

can be found in the corporate governance declaration. 

Changes to the Management Board and Supervisory 
Board 

There were no changes to the Management Board in the re-

porting year.  

The Supervisory Board was newly elected at the company's 

Annual General Meeting on 27 June 2024 and since then has 

consisted of the members Mr. Ignacio Barbadillo, Mr. Jochen 

Klöpper, Mr. Ross Williams, Mr. Keunbae Hong, Ms. Eva Kel-

lershof and Mr. Norbert van den Eijnden. During the constit-

uent meeting of the Supervisory Board, Mr. Ignacio 

Barbadillo was elected as Chairman. 

Mr. Thomas Hanswillemenke stepped down from the Super-

visory Board at the end of the Annual General Meeting on 27 

June 2024.  

Ms. Eva Kellershof was already a member of the company's 

Supervisory Board as a court-appointed member. 

Audit of the annual financial statements and the 
consolidated financial statements FDFH 

The Management Board has prepared the annual financial 

statements of Allane SE as of 31 December 2024 in accord-

ance with the provisions of the German Commercial Code 

(HGB) and the consolidated financial statements and the 

combined management report for the Group and the com-

pany as at 31 December 2023 in accordance with Section 

315e HGB on the basis of the provisions of the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as applicable in the EU. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesell-

schaft, Munich, audited the annual financial statements of Al-

lane SE and the consolidated financial statements as well as 

the combined management report for the Group and the 

company and issued an unqualified audit opinion in each 

case. The auditing company was commissioned by the Super-

visory Board on the basis of the resolution of the Annual Gen-

eral Meeting on 27 June 2024. 

The Audit Committee and the full Supervisory Board re-

ceived the documents together with the dependent com-

pany report of the Management Board and the audit reports 

of the auditors. The Supervisory Board took note of the con-

solidated and accumulated loss in 2024 and the associated 

loss carried forward. The discussion and review took place at 

the Supervisory Board meeting on 12 June 2025. In prepara-

tion for the Supervisory Board meeting, the Audit Committee 

met on 12 June 2025. 

The auditor of the annual financial statements and the con-

solidated financial statements, who attended the meeting of 

the Audit Committee and the plenary meeting of the Super-

visory Board, provided comprehensive information on the 

key findings of his work and the audit. The combined man-

agement report provides a true and fair view of the Group's 

position. In addition, the auditor informed the Audit Commit-

tee and the Supervisory Board about services provided over 

and above the audit of the financial statements. In the audi-

tor's opinion, there were no circumstances that could cast 

doubt on the auditor's independence. 

The Supervisory Board noted the results of the audit with ap-

proval and raised no objections after completing its own re-

view. The annual and consolidated financial statements 

prepared by the Management Board and audited by the 
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auditor as well as the combined management report for the 

Group and the company were approved by the Supervisory 

Board on 13 June 2025 approved. The 2024 annual financial 

statements of Allane SE were thus adopted in accordance 

with the provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act.  

The auditor included the Management Board's report on Al-

lane SE's relationships with affiliated companies in its audit in 

accordance with Section 312 AktG and submitted its audit re-

port to the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board. The 

audit by the auditor did not give rise to any objections. The 

following unqualified opinion was issued: 

"Following our audit and assessment in accordance with pro-

fessional standards, we confirm that the factual information 

in the report is correct and that the consideration paid by the 

company for the legal transactions listed in the report was not 

inappropriately high." 

The review of the report on Allane SE's relationships with af-

filiated companies in accordance with Section 312 AktG by 

the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board did not give 

rise to any objections. The Supervisory Board therefore con-

curred with the result of the audit by the auditor. Following 

the final result of its own review, the Supervisory Board did 

not raise any objections to the declaration by the Manage-

ment Board at the end of the report on relationships with af-

filiated companies. 

 

 

 

Thanks to the Management Board and all employees 

The Allane Mobility Group's contract portfolio increased as 

planned at the end of the reporting year. Consolidated oper-

ating revenue also recorded significant growth and were 

within the forecast range. However, consolidated earnings 

before taxes (EBT) remained well below the previous year's 

level and the expectations adjusted in October. This devia-

tion is mainly due to impairment losses on leased assets, 

which are primarily attributable to lower used vehicle prices, 

particularly for electric vehicles. Against this backdrop, the 

annual financial statements of Allane SE show an accumu-

lated loss for the financial year, which is why the Management 

Board and Supervisory Board are not proposing a dividend 

distribution for 2024. 

The Allane Mobility Group expects that business develop-

ment in 2025 will continue to be influenced by a weak overall 

economy. However, the company expects a positive trend in 

new contracts and usage-based revenue thanks to the ex-

pansion of existing cooperation agreements in the Leasing 

division, particularly in captive leasing. Overall, we are confi-

dent that the Allane Mobility Group will continue its success-

ful development. 

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Management 

Board, the management teams of Allane SE's subsidiaries 

and all employees in the Group for their dedicated work in the 

2024 financial year and their contribution to the further de-

velopment of the company. 

 

 

 

Pullach, June 2025 

The Supervisory Board 

Ignacio Barbadillo Llorens Chairman 

Ross Williams Supervisory Board 

Jochen Klöpper Supervisory Board 

Keunbae Hong  Supervisory Board 

Norbert van den Eijnden Supervisory Board 

Eva Kellershof Supervisory Board 
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Strong year despite high volatility 
The stock market year 2024 was characterized by high vola-

tility on the international stock markets. Germany's leading 

index, the DAX, closed the year with significant growth: it 

ended the year at 19,909 points, up 18.8% on the 2023 year-

end closing price (16,752 points). The annual low was reached 

on 17 January 2024 at 16,432 points, while the DAX recorded 

its annual high of 20,426 points on December 12, 2024. The 

strong performance of the DAX in 2024 is primarily attribut-

able to the interest rate cut by the European Central Bank 

(ECB) and the slowdown in inflation in the eurozone. The in-

dex also received a tailwind from the US stock markets. There, 

the S&P 500 reached a new record high, fueled by Donald 

Trump's election victory.  

The DAX started trading on 2 January 2024 at 16,769 points. 

The index rose in the first half of the year before going 

through a correction phase in the middle of the year. Prices 

stabilized again by October 2024, supported by a recovering 

global economy and falling inflation rates. Further impetus 

came from hopes of an easing of monetary policy and posi-

tive corporate figures from DAX companies, despite a gener-

ally mixed economic environment. A special milestone was 

reached at the beginning of December 2024 when the DAX 

broke through the important 20,000 point mark for the first 

time. 

 

 

Allane-Share: Price down despite brief upward trend - 
trading volume above previous year's level  
The Allane share was predominantly in a downward trend in 

2024, interrupted by a brief upward spurt in June 2024. The 

trading volume was above the previous year's level. On the 

last trading day of the year, the share closed at EUR 9.20, a 

decline of 17.9% compared to the closing price at the end of 

2023 (EUR 11.20).  

The Allane share started the trading year on 2 January 2024 

at a price of EUR 11.10. It reached its high for the year of EUR 

11.90 on 12 June 2024, before falling further in the second half 

of the year. The annual low was reached on 30 Decem-

ber 2024 at a price of EUR 9.20.  

 

A3 – Allane SE share 
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Shareholder structure 
At the end of the reporting year, Hyundai Capital Bank Eu-

rope GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, held an unchanged 92.07% 

of the voting rights and thus remained the majority share-

holder of Allane SE. No new voting rights notifications were 

received by the company in the reporting year.  

Allane share information 
Share class No-par value ordinary bearer shares (WKN: 

ADDPRE, ISIN: DEDDDADDPREJ) 

Stock exchanges All price-setting German stock exchangesE 

Trading segment Prime Standard 

Designated Sponsors -     
1 XETRA excluded 

Dividend policy 
Allane SE is committed to the principle of allowing its share-

holders to participate in the company's success through an 

appropriate dividend. The dividend amount is based on the 

Group's earnings performance and the future requirements 

for the equity base, particularly with regard to the intended 

growth in Germany and abroad. 

For the 2023 financial year, the Annual General Meeting on 

27 June 2024 approved the dividend of EUR 0.09 per share, 

which was significantly higher than in the previous year, as 

proposed by the Managing Board and Supervisory Board. 

The payout ratio remained unchanged from the previous year 

at 21% of consolidated net profit. The dividend thus took into 

account the challenging and uncertain macroeconomic situ-

ation. Based on the share price at the end of 2023, this re-

sulted in a dividend yield of around 1.14%. 

Due to the net loss for the 2024 financial year, Allane SE re-

ported an accumulated loss of EUR -86.0 million in its annual 

financial statements. The accumulated loss is countered by 

retained earnings of EUR 12.6 million, which could not lead to 

a balance sheet profit even if they were released in full. 

Against this backdrop, it is not possible to pay a dividend for 

the 2024 financial year, which makes a corresponding pro-

posal for the appropriation of profits by the Managing Board 

obsolete. The accumulated loss reported in the annual finan-

cial statements will be carried forward to new account. In 

addition to the net loss for the year, this takes into account 

the continuing challenging and uncertain macroeconomic 

situation.  

  FDFH FDFG             
Earnings per share (in Euro) –  

basic and diluted –E.MD D.HG 

Dividend (in EUR) D.DD D.DM 

Number of shares 

(as at GE Dec.) FD,JEE,IMG FD,JEE,IMG 

Total dividend (EUR million) D.D E.M 

Pay-out ratio D% FE%             
 
  FDFH FDFG             
High (in EUR)E EE.MD EG.DD  

Low (in EUR)E M.FD EE.DD  

Year-end price (in EUR)E M.FD EE.GD  

Dividend yield (in %)F D.DD E.EH  

Market capitalisation 

(in EUR million)F as at GE. Dec. ELM.J FGM.M             
1 All prices refer to the Stock exchange Frankfurt closing prices 
2 Based on Börse Frankfurt year-end price 

Communication with the capital market 
As a listed company in the Prime Standard of German Stock 

Exchange, Allane SE fulfills comprehensive transparency and 

disclosure requirements. Through continuous dialog with the 

capital market, it ensures open, timely and comprehensive fi-

nancial communication.  

In 2024, the company regularly informed analysts, investors 

and the media about the Group's business situation and per-

formance. Communication focused on the expansion of the 

product and service offering as well as establishing new part-

nerships as part of the „FAST LANE 27“  growth strategy. The 

progress made was communicated transparently via various 

channels. 

Allane will continue to pursue the goal of regularly communi-

cating the  implementation of its growth strategy and the pro-

gress made. The aim is to clearly highlight key differentiators 

and strengths compared to relevant competitors as well as 

particular opportunities in the individual business areas.
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E. Sustainability of the Allane Mobility Group 

Sustainable thinking and action, based on clearly defined 

values and principles embedded within the company, are 

key success factors of the Allane Mobility Group. The com-

pany assumes responsibility towards its employees, the en-

vironment, and society, adhering to the guiding principle of 

sustainable development. In doing so, the Allane Mobility 

Group contributes to creating stable economic, social, and 

environmental conditions (ESG – Environmental, Social, 

Governance) for future generations. 

In pursuing its economic interests in day-to-day operations, 

the internationally active leasing provider and fleet manager 

consistently considers ecological, social, and ethical aspects. 

The management of the Allane Mobility Group is committed 

to responsible and long-term value creation. Throughout the 

group-wide value chain – from vehicle procurement to leas-

ing and remarketing – sustainability aspects are systemati-

cally integrated alongside economic factors. 

Vision 
The Allane Mobility Group strives to facilitate the transition 

to sustainable mobility through forward-thinking and cus-

tomer-oriented vehicle leasing solutions that not only re-

duce environmental impact but also meet the individual 

needs of its customers. 

Mission 
The mission of the Allane Mobility Group is to act as a re-

sponsible mobility provider, generating a sustainable and 

positive impact on the environment, society, and the leasing 

industry. The company achieves this by: 

 Reducing environmental impact through the con-

sistent promotion of sustainable mobility solutions, 

 Promoting social inclusion across the entire value 

chain – from employees and customers to business 

partners. 

 Integration of ESG criteria across business func-

tions, including behaviors, policies, processes and 

governance. 

 

E.E Management 

The Allane Mobility Group is committed to permanently inte-

grating the principles of sustainable development into its cor-

porate decision-making processes. The company leverages 

its organizational structures and governance processes to 

promote and manage responsible corporate conduct—from 

strategy development to implementation. In this way, the Al-

lane Mobility Group systematically and consistently incorpo-

rates sustainability topics into all busi-ness activities and 

across all hierarchical levels. 

The Managing Board holds overall responsibility for sus-

tainability management, aligning the company’s business 

policies with the requirements of socially responsible eco-

nomic activity and adopting corresponding strategies and 

programs. The Managing Board is supported in this en-

deavor by the ESG Forum, which was established in 2024. 

The ESG Forum plays a strategic and regulatory role, over-

seeing the company’s ESG-related strategic direction and 

decision-making at the corporate level. Additionally, it en-

sures the integration of the ESG strategy into the overall cor-

porate strategy. 

The implementation of sustainability measures and the col-

lection of sustainability-related data at the operational level 

are carried out by the various business and specialist depart-

ments, depending on their respective core business fields 

and responsibilities. 

In both business units of the Allane Mobility Group, a dedi-

cated process has already been established for collecting, an-

alyzing, and implementing improvement measures based on 

customer feedback. For corporate clients, the company reg-

ularly conducts standardized surveys utilizing special-ized 

CSI (Customer Satisfaction Index) tools to gather cus-tomer 

feedback. Fleet managers and drivers can provide detailed 

evaluations of service quality, and Allane uses this data to 

continuously optimize customer service and its service port-

folio. 

In 2024, the company also established the "Green Team", 

consisting of employees from various departments, includ-

ing Corporate Strategy, New Mobility, Legal, and Business 

Development. This team plays a central role in planning, co-

ordinating, and implementing ESG initiatives and pro-jects. 

Additionally, it is responsible for the company’s annual exter-

nal sustainability certification by EcoVadis, ensuring that ESG 

A.4 - Sustainability
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initiatives are successfully implemented and con-tinuously 

adapted to evolving requirements. 

The sustainability management of the Allane Mobility Group 

is supported by internal corporate policies. Of over-arching 

importance is the company-wide Code of Conduct, which 

defines the ethical framework for daily business operations. 

E.F Materiality 

In alignment with the European Sustainability Reporting 

Standards (ESRS) published by the European Financial Re-

porting Advisory Group (EFRAG) in July 2023, the Allane 

Mobility Group conducted a comprehensive materiality 

analysis in the 2024 financial year. This analysis assessed 

both the significant impacts on people and the environment 

as well as financial risks and opportunities along the entire 

value chain under consideration. 

The outcome of this analysis is a detailed overview of the 

key sustainability-related impacts, risks, and opportunities 

(IROs) arising from the company’s own operations and its 

upstream and downstream value chain, including external 

influences. 

The identified material IROs, which have a significant impact 

on the business model, strategic direction, and decision-

making of the Allane Mobility Group, are categorized ac-

cording to the ESRS into the following seven key topics: 

 Climate change (E1) 

 Pollution (E2) 

 Resource Use and Circular Economy (E5) 

 Own Workforce (S1) 

 Workers in the Value Chain (S2) 

 Consumers and End-users (S4) 

 Business Conduct (G1) 

An annual review and potential adjustment of the existing 

IROs underscore the Allane Mobility Group’s ongoing com-

mitment to aligning its sustainability management with cur-

rent challenges and stakeholder expectations. 

This approach not only ensures the effectiveness of the ESG 

strategy but also guarantees compliance with future sustain-

ability reporting requirements. At the same time, it ensures 

that all measures taken fully address the key environmental, 

social, and governance (ESG) aspects. 

As the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) 

had not been fully transposed into German law by the end of 

2024, the Allane Mobility Group remained subject to the pre-

vious legislative framework. Under the provisions of the Ger-

man Commercial Code (HGB) and the CSR Directive 

Implementation Act (CSR-RUG), the company was not re-

quired to issue an independent non-financial report. Instead, 

it opted for group-level exemption in line with recommenda-

tions. 

At the same time, preparations for future sustainability re-

porting are already underway. Throughout 2025, these ef-

forts will be further refined and supported by targeted 

processes and measures to drive the development of a com-

prehensive CSRD-compliant sustainability report and ensure 

compliance with future regulatory requirements 

F. Key areas for action 

The sustainability management of the Allane Mobility Group 

is designed to align the company’s business activities with 

ecological, social, and ethical considerations. It is oper-

ationalized through fields of action, goals, and measures, 

which are systematically integrated into corporate process-

es. Additionally, the sustainability management framework is 

shaped by the requirements and interests of various stake-

holders, with particular emphasis on customers, employees, 

suppliers, and investors. 

Currently, the Allane Mobility Group’s sustainability man-

agement is structured into seven key areas of action, which 

were identified based on the previously conducted materi-

ality analysis.  

The following section provides a detailed overview of the 

current key areas of action 

F.E Climate change (EE) and pollution (EF) 

As a provider of mobility solutions, the Allane Mobility Group 

recognizes its responsibility for climate protection and has 

set itself the goal of continuously reducing the average COz 

emissions of both the organization and its customer fleet. 

This objective is achieved through a range of measures, in-

cluding the continuous integration of vehicles with sustaina-

ble drive technologies into the fleet and an expanding 

portfolio of leasing options for electric and hybrid vehicles. 
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Climate Change and Pollution: Action Plan 

Objective Measures 
Performance 
Indicators             

Reduction of the 

average COz 
emissions of the 
fleet 

Continuous integration of 

sustainable vehicles into the fleet 
(e.g., electric and hybrid vehicles) 

Average COz 

emissions of the 
fleet 

Reduction of the 

organization’s total 
COz emissions 

Implementation of an 

environmental/energy 
management system focusing on 

Scope E & F emissions 

Total COz 

emissions of the 
organization 

(tCOz) 

Raising employee 

awareness of 

climate protection 

Conducting training sessions and 

workshops on environmental 

topics 

Employee 

participation rate 

in sustainability 
initiatives             

 

The Allane Mobility Group has been actively supporting the 

development of electromobility and alternative drive tech-

nologies for years. This commitment includes organizing 

events for employees, fleet managers, and media represent-

atives as well as collaborations with manufacturers, dealer-

ships, and energy providers. Additionally, the company offers 

attractive promotional leasing offers for private customers. 

With its comprehensive expertise in selecting and utilizing 

hybrid and electric vehicles, the Allane Mobility Group pro-

vides expert consultation to customers, enabling sustainable 

fleet optimization. This includes establishing electric vehicle 

pools, improving emissions balance, and implementing COz 

bonus-malus systems. 

In 2024 financial year, the Allane Mobility Group offered pri-

vate, commercial, and corporate customers leasing con-

tracts for new vehicles with terms ranging from 12 to 72 

months. As of 31 December 2024, the active leasing con-

tracts had an average term of approximately 41 months. 

Through the regular renewal of the leasing fleet with mod-

ern, lower-emission vehicles, the company continually re-

duces the average COz emissions per vehicle. 

Another example of the Allane Mobility Group’s ecological 

commitment is the “You Drive – We Plant” initiative. As part 

of this campaign, autohaus24 plants one tree for every used 

vehicle sold. In 2024, this initiative resulted in the planting of 

over 7,451 trees. 

Average CO-emissions of the leasing fleet 
in g/km FDFH FDFG     
 LL EDF     

F.F Resource use and circular economy (EI) 

Protecting the environment and ensuring the responsible use 

of resources are fundamental principles for the Allane Mobil-

ity Group. The company is committed to minimizing energy 

and water consumption within its sphere of influence. 

Through regular energy audits, the company monitors re-

source usage and continuously works on improving efficiency.  

Resource Use and Circular Economy: Action Plan 

Objective Measures 
Performance 
Indicators             

Continuous 

improvement of 

energy efficiency 

Implementation and monitoring of 

energy efficiency measures; 

conducting energy audits; 
employee awareness campaigns 
on energy-saving measures 

Energy 

consumption and 

annual savings 
(kWh) 

Reduction of 

energy 
consumption 

Replacement of outdated 

equipment with energy-efficient 
models 

Annual energy 

consumption 
(kWh) 

Improvement of 

waste 
management 

Implementation of a 

comprehensive waste separation 
and recycling program 

Recycling rate (% 

of waste recycled) 

Reduction of water 

consumption 

Installation of water-saving 

fixtures 

Annual water 

consumption (mq) 

Promotion of the 

circular economy 

Implementation of processes for 

reusing and repairing materials 
and equipment 

Percentage of 

reused/repaired 
materials (%)             

 

The Allane Mobility Group aims to continuously improve its 

energy efficiency and reduce energy consumption sustaina-

bly. This is achieved through the implementation and moni-

toring of targeted energy efficiency measures as well as 

raising employee awareness regarding resource-efficient en-

ergy use. 

F.G Own workforce (SE) 

The customer-oriented mindset and service mentality of 

employees are crucial to the success of the Allane Mobility 

Group. Therefore, the company considers it its responsibility 

to continuously develop its employees, promote their health 

and engagement, involve them in decision-making pro-

cesses, and ensure equal opportunities. The corporate cul-

ture across the entire group is characterized by mutual 

respect, fairness, and a strict prohibition of discrimination. 
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The Allane Mobility Group is recognized as an attractive em-

ployer with a strong reputation. To further enhance its ap-

peal, the company is committed to improving employees’ 

work-life balance and actively promoting their health. As of 

December 2024, approximately 54% of employees in central 

and administrative functions, as well as management posi-

tions in Germany, work under a trust-based working time 

model. Additionally, the company offers flexible working 

models, allowing employees to work remotely for up to 60% 

of their monthly working hours ("Mobile Work"). To further 

support employee well-being, the company introduced a bi-

cycle leasing program. 

The company is also dedicated to maintaining high em-

ployee satisfaction. Regular employee surveys are con-

ducted, and relevant measures are derived from the results. 

The company fosters an active feedback culture, imple-

menting 360-degree feedback and offering tailored devel-

opment and training programs. 

Own Workforce – Employer Attractiveness: Action 

Plan 

Objective Measures 
Performance 
Indicators             

Enhancing 

employees' work-life 
balance 

Expansion of programs to 

strengthen work-life balance 

Number of 

employees on a 
trust-based working 
time model 

Maintaining high 

employee 
satisfaction 

Regular execution and 

evaluation of employee 
satisfaction surveys 

"Culture Index"; 

Participation rate in 
surveys (%)     

 

Further details on strategic HR management are outlined in 

section B.3 "Human resources report" section of this Annual 

Report. 

The success of the Allane Mobility Group is primarily driven 

by the knowledge, skills, and dedication of its employees. 

Qualified professionals are the most critical asset for the 

group to maintain its position as a premium provider and 

achieve customer excitement. The Allane Mobility Group is 

committed to a people-centered corporate culture, empha-

sizing talent identification and development, fair compensa-

tion, and equal pay principles, ensuring a discrimination-free 

remuneration structure. 

Own Workforce – Employee Development & 

Career Growth: Action Plan 

Objective Measures 
Performance 
Indicators         

Enhancing employees' 

professional skills 

Needs-based expansion of 

training programs and e-
learning 

Number of 

training sessions 
per employee; 

Participation rate 
in training 
programs (%) 

Further development 

of performance-based 
compensation models 

Regular evaluation of variable 

compensation systems and 
relevant performance 

indicators 

Percentage of 

employees 
receiving 

performance-
based 
compensation 

 

Talent development is closely linked to the enhancement of 

professional competencies. The company continuously ex-

pands its training offerings, combining in-person seminars 

and e-learning courses to meet employees' needs. These 

training programs cater to all hierarchical levels and cover a 

broad range of topics. 

To recognize and reward individual performance, the Allane 

Mobility Group has implemented a performance-based 

compensation system for specific employee groups. By the 

end of the reporting period, 20% of employees in Germany 

received variable compensation in addition to their fixed sal-

ary. To further strengthen individual performance recogni-

tion, the company plans to enhance its existing 

performance-based remuneration models, which are regu-

larly reviewed, with the proportion of employees receiving 

variable compensation continuously tracked. 

Further details on employee development programs and the 

fundamental principles of the compensation system are out-

lined in section B.3 "Human resources report" section of this 

annual report.  

F.H Workers in the value chain (SF) 

The Allane Mobility Group places great importance on the 

quality and satisfaction of the workforce across its entire 

value chain. The company recognizes that success not only 

depends on its own employees but is also significantly 

shaped by collaboration with partners and suppliers. 

To ensure the highest standards in services and products, the 

company fosters strong, cooperative relationships and main-

tains regular, transparent communication with all value chain 

stakeholders. The core focus lies on fair working con-ditions, 
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ethical business practices, and a respectful work environ-

ment. 

Sustainability and social responsibility are fundamental val-

ues embedded throughout Allane Mobility Group’s value 

chain. The company conducts regular audits and supplier 

evaluations to verify that working conditions, environmental 

standards, and social requirements align with its strict inter-

nal guidelines. A key priority is ensuring that suppliers and 

partners comply with international standards, such as the 

core labor standards of the International Labour Organiza-

tion (ILO).  

Workers in the Value Chain: Action Plan 

Objective Measures 
Performance 
Indicators             

Promoting fair 

working conditions 
in the value chain 

Conducting regular audits 

and supplier assessments 

Percentage of 

suppliers reviewed 
(%); Number of 

audits per year 

Enhancing 

collaboration with 

partners and 
suppliers 

Regular engagement through 

meetings and workshops; 

Establishing partnership 
programs for sustainable 
business practices 

Number of 

workshops/meetings 

held; Partner 
satisfaction (survey 
feedback) 

Ensuring compliance 

with sustainability 
and social standards 

Raising awareness among 

partners about sustainability 
and social standards 

Number of signed 

Codes of Conduct 

Reducing negative 

impacts in the supply 

chain 

Identifying risk areas through 

ESG risk assessments; 

Implementing measures to 
improve standards at high-
risk suppliers 

Percentage of 

identified and 

addressed risk areas 
(%); Number of 
implemented 

improvement 
measures 

Strengthening social 

responsibility in the 
supply chain 

Supporting local initiatives in 

supplier regions 

Number of 

supported initiatives; 
Funds invested in 
social projects (ù)     

 

F.I Consumer and en-users (SH) 

The Allane Mobility Group places the needs and expecta-

tions of its consumers and end-users at the core of its cor-

porate strategy. The company offers innovative, flexible, and 

sustainable mobility solutions tailored to the individual re-

quirements of its customers. 

For both private and business customers, Allane Mobility 

Group provides user-friendly online and offline platforms 

that grant easy access to modern mobility options. Through 

these platforms, customers can lease new vehicles or choose 

from a diverse range of used vehicles. By ensuring intuitive 

usability and a wide selection, the company cre-ates a seam-

less and efficient customer experience. 

The company is committed to a sustainable approach that 

meets the increasing demands of environmentally con-

scious consumers. A key aspect of this strategy is the elec-

trification of vehicle fleets. For example, in a recent corpo-

rate fleet project, the fully electric Kia Niro was introduced as 

a fleet vehicle, offering high range, flexible usage, and low en-

vironmental impact. 

To further enhance the customer experience, the Allane Mo-

bility Group integrates cutting-edge technologies. Ad-

vanced charging and billing solutions enable seamless inte-

gration of charging infrastructure for electric vehicles. This 

ensures precise tracking and billing of both private and busi-

ness usage, increasing efficiency and transparency. 

A key goal of the company is the continuous improvement of 

customer satisfaction. To achieve this, it offers comprehen-

sive consulting services and additional services beyond tra-

ditional leasing. Customers benefit from personal, com-

petent, and fair guidance provided by the company’s sales 

experts. 

Additionally, the newly established “New Mobility” depart-

ment offers specialized consulting in sustainable mobility. 

This team supports businesses and private customers in im-

plementing sustainable mobility solutions, particularly re-

garding fleet electrification and the integration of eco-

friendly technologies. The New Mobility team develops cus-

tomized concepts that are both environmentally and eco-

nomically efficient, guiding customers on their journey 

toward sustainable mobility.  
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Consumers and End-users: Action Plan 

Objective Measures 
Performance 
Indicators             

Improving customer 

satisfaction 

Conducting regular customer 

surveys and feedback 
sessions 

Customer 

satisfaction index 
(NPS); Number of 
customer inquiries 

per month; 
Response time for 
customer inquiries 

(in hours) 

Promoting 

sustainable mobility 

solutions 

Consulting services from the 

“New Mobility” department 

on sustainable mobility 

Number of 

customers advised 

on sustainability; 
Share of electrified 
vehicles in fleets; 

Number of installed 
charging stations     

F.J Business conduct (GE) 

The success of the Allane Mobility Group is based not only 

on its business policies but also on the adherence to moral 

and ethical standards, integrity, and the trust that customers, 

suppliers, shareholders, employees, and business partners 

place in the company. This trust can only be gained and 

maintained if all employees comply with the applicable laws 

and the high behavioral standards of the Allane Mobility 

Group. Cooperation partners are also obliged to comply, as 

they are perceived by outsiders as representatives of the 

company. 

The company has made it its goal to sensitize all employees 

and cooperation partners to compliance matters. A central 

role in this is played by the company-wide valid and regu-

larly updated Code of Conduct, to which all employees and 

cooperation partners are committed. The code governs, 

among other things, behavior towards business partners and 

third parties, the principles regarding the work environment, 

as well as the handling of conflicts of interest, company as-

sets, and facilities, intellectual property, and information. 

The Code of Conduct also includes the institution of an ex-

ternal ombudsman. Employees can report compliance viola-

tions to either the ombudsman, their supervisor, or the 

compliance officer. The compliance officer is in regular con-

tact with the managing board and supports them in the issu-

ance of preventive measures. Compliance with all relevant 

regulations and the Code of Conduct is regularly checked 

across all subsidiaries of Allane Mobility Group. 

Business Conduct: Action Plan 

Objective Measures 
Perfomance 
Indicators         

Sensitization of 

employees, franchise, 
and cooperation 
partners to compliance 

Further compliance 

requirements integrated 
into the Code of 
Conduct; Obligation to 

comply with the Code of 
Conduct 

Number of compliance 

trainings conducted; 
Participation rate in the 
trainings; Percentage 

of partners confirming 
adherence to the Code 
of Conduct 

Expansion of societal 

engagement 

Promotion and support 

of social projects and 
organizations 

Number of supported 

projects/initiatives; 
Percentage of 

employees 
participating in 
volunteering programs; 

Funds invested in 
social and ecological 
projects (ù) 

Ensuring ESG 

compliance 

Establishment of an ESG 

compliance 
management system 

Number of ESG checks 

conducted; Degree of 
compliance with ESG 

requirements; ESG 
reporting (e.g., in 
sustainability reports)         

 

The company sets clear expectations regarding the behavior 

of its employees and ensures that business relationships are 

only maintained with customers, advisors, and business 

partners whose activities comply with legal regulations and 

whose financial resources are of legal origin. To fulfill legal 

and regulatory requirements, a money laundering officer has 

been appointed with a clearly defined mandate. Organiza-

tional guidelines have also been implemented to prevent 

money laundering, terrorism financing, and other criminal 

activities. Each employee is required to accept these guide-

lines by signing and participate in regular training sessions. 

Successful participation is recorded and tracked. 

In accordance with § 9, sections 1, 2, nos. 1 to 4 of the Ger-

man Money Laundering Act (GwG), the Allane Mobility 

Group carries out ongoing risk-oriented measures to assess 

reliability. These assessments are carried out by the line 

manager both when an employment relationship is estab-

lished and, on a risk, -oriented basis during the existence of 

an employment relationship. 

As an international company, the Allane Mobility Group is 

fully committed to the protection of human rights and com-

pliance with legal regulations both domestically and abroad. 

The company is committed to respecting and promoting 

human rights and reporting transparently on the results of 

its actions. The company aligns itself with the Core Labor 

Standards of the International Labour Organization (ILO) 

and adheres to its five fundamental principles. These 
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principles are based on the right to freedom of association 

and collective bargaining, the elimination of forced labor, 

the abolition of child labor, the prohibition of discrimination 

in employment and occupation, and occupational health 

and safety. 

The Allane Mobility Group also expects its suppliers, with 

whom it maintains business relationships, to adhere to the 

principles outlined in the Code of Conduct for Suppliers. 

This code contains key requirements regarding compliance 

with laws, anti-corruption and anti-bribery prevention, fair 

business practices, social and labor rights standards, as well 

as sustainability and environmental protection. 

Furthermore, the company expects its cooperation partners 

to fully respect human rights and adhere to high social 

standards. These expectations are contractually established 

to ensure that partner companies act in line with ethical 

principles and commit to integrity. 

Sources 
ILO, ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work and its 
Follow-up, June 1998. 
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E. Business Model of the Group 

E.E Group structure and management 

Allane SE, Pullach, is a European Stock Corporation (Societas 

Europea) and the parent company of the Allane Mobility 

Group, which mainly conducts its business under the busi-

ness names of „Sixt Leasing“, „Allane Mobility Consulting“, 

„Sixt Neuwagen“ and „autohaus24“. The Company has its 

registered offices in Dr.-Carl-von-Linde-Straße 2, 82049 Pul-

lach/Germany, and is registered in the Commercial Register 

of Munich Local Court under docket number HRB 227195. 

The Company has been established for an indefinite period. 

As a financial services company, Allane SE is supervised by the 

Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (BaFin – Fed-

eral Financial Supervisory Authority) and must comply with 

the minimum risk management requirements for banks and 

financial services institutions set by BaFin and the applicable 

provisions of the German Banking Act (KWG). 

The Company's shares have been listed on the regulated 

market (Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 

since its IPO on 7 May 2015. By approval of the Annual Gen-

eral Meeting on 1 June 2016 the Company was transformed 

by way of changing the legal form according to Art. 2 (4) in 

conjunction with Art. 37 SE-Reg to Sixt Leasing SE. On 16 July 

2020, Sixt Leasing SE was acquired to approximately 92% by 

Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH (HCBE), Frankfurt am 

Main, Germany, a subsidiary of Santander Consumer Bank 

AG, Mönchengladbach, Germany, and Hyundai Capital Ser-

vices Inc., Seoul, South Korea, as part of a voluntary public 

takeover offer. As part of the separation from Sixt SE, the An-

nual General Meeting of Sixt Leasing SE resolved on 29 June 

2021 to change the Company's name to „Allane SE“. The new 

company name „Allane SE“ was entered in the commercial 

register on 5 August 2021. 

The Managing Board of Allane SE is responsible for manag-

ing the company and consists of Mr. Eckart Klumpp, Chair-

man of the Managing Board (CEO) since 1 January 2024, and 

Mr. Álvaro Hernández, member of the Managing Board (CFO) 

since 1 December 2021.  

The Supervisory Board of Allane SE, which consists of six 

members in accordance with the Articles of Association, ap-

points, monitors and advises the Managing Board and is 

directly involved in decisions of fundamental importance for 

the Company and the Group. 

Allane SE acts as the operating leasing company and parent 

company of the Allane Mobility Group. It holds direct or indi-

rect stakes of 100% in the subscribed capital of a total of 

twelve companies that are mainly active in the leasing or fleet 

management business. Five of these companies are based in 

Germany, while the remaining seven companies are based in 

France, Switzerland, Austria or the Netherlands. 

There is a profit and loss transfer agreement between Allane 

SE and Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH and One Mobility 

Management GmbH.  

As at the balance sheet date of 31 December 2024, the share 

capital of Allane SE amounted to EUR 20,611,593.00 and is 

divided into 20,611,593 ordinary bearer shares. The compa-

ny's shares are no-par value shares with a pro rata amount of 

subscribed capital of EUR 1.00 per share. The shares are fully 

paid up. 

The largest shareholder on the balance sheet date was Hyun-

dai Capital Bank Europe GmbH, Frankfurt am Main ("HCBE"), 

which held 92.07% of the ordinary shares and voting rights.  

As part of the sale of Allane SE to HCBE by Sixt SE, Allane SE 

and Sixt concluded various agreements in which the tempo-

rary continued use of the "Sixt" brand is legally regulated. Ac-

cordingly, the continued use of the “Sixt” brand is limited to a 

period of five years after the closing of the transaction. The 

right to use the “Sixt Neuwagen” and “Sixt Leasing” brands 

ends in June of the 2025 financial year.  

In April 2023, the Allane Mobility Group presented its new 

brand identity. Since then, fleet leasing has been operating 

under the brand “Allane Fleet”, formerly “Sixt Leasing”, and 

fleet management under “Allane Mobility Consulting”, for-

merly “Sixt Mobility Consulting” - each with a new corporate 

identity. This was followed in the 2024 financial year by the 

reorganization of the Online Retail segment, which has been 

operating under the “Allane” brand since November 2024 

and will also be managed under “Sixt Neuwagen” until June 

2025. 

The contents of the other agreements concluded between 

Allane SE and HCBE or related parties are presented in the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements under "Re-

lated party disclosures". 

B.1 – Group fundamentals 



 

B – Management Report on the situation of the Group and the Company – Group fundamentals 

  Annual Report 2024 Page 26  

E.F Group activities and services portfolio 

The Allane Mobility Group comprises the two business areas 

of Leasing and Fleet Management. The Leasing division 

conducts its operating business through the operating seg-

ments Online Retail, Fleet Leasing and Captive Leasing. The 

Fleet Management business division is not further subdi-

vided and forms the central business area as an independ-

ent segment. 

The Allane Mobility Group makes its decisions on resource 

allocation on the basis of the Fleet Leasing, Online Retail, 
Captive Leasing and Fleet Management segments. How-

ever, to provide a better overview, the operating business is 

first divided into the two business areas of Leasing and Fleet 

Management before further segmentation takes place.  

E.F.E Leasing business unit 
In the Leasing division, Allane SE operates as a leasing com-

pany with a multi-brand offering in Germany. The division is 

also represented by operating subsidiaries in France, Switzer-

land and Austria.  

The Leasing division is divided into the Fleet Leasing (corpo-

rate customer leasing), Online Retail (private and commer-

cial customer leasing) and Captive Leasing (“Hyundai 

Leasing” and “Kia Leasing”) segments 

In Fleet Leasing, the Group offers lease financing and related 

services (so-called full-service leasing) for corporate custom-

ers. The target group includes medium-sized and large com-

panies with fleets of more than 100 vehicles, which are 

characterized by a high degree of diversity in terms of manu-

facturers, models and vehicle types and therefore exhibit a 

certain degree of complexity. Allane SE supports these me-

dium-sized and large customers with individual fleet solu-

tions. Smaller corporate customers with fleets of around 20 

to 100 vehicles are also supported. The approach in this cus-

tomer segment is to professionalize fleet purchasing using 

standardized products and processes.  

In addition to traditional finance leasing, the range of services 

includes a variety of services such as cross-manufacturer 

online configuration, advice on vehicle selection, online ap-

proval procedures according to specific company guidelines, 

price-optimized vehicle procurement, vehicle maintenance 

over the entire term of the contract, tire changes, breakdown 

and claims assistance, claims management including insur-

ance processing and the management of fuel cards, vehicle 

taxes and radio licence fees. Measured against the contract 

portfolio in fleet leasing, the proportion of contracts that 

combine finance leasing with service components of varying 

scope was at the end of 2024 around 94% (2023: around 93%) 

of the contract portfolio in fleet leasing. 

In the segment Online Retail, Allane SE operates the classic 

online retail business via the websites allane.de, sixt-neu-

wagen.de and autohaus24.de. The platforms offer private and 

commercial customers with a fleet size of up to 20 vehicles 

the opportunity to freely configure more than 300 models, 

request an individual leasing offer and order vehicles online. 

In addition, customers can choose from a large number of 

readily available stock vehicles. In the Online Retail segment, 

customers can book additional services such as maintenance 

and wear-and-tear packages, inspections, winter tires and in-

surance packages directly online in addition to the leasing 

contract, with the costs being included in the leasing rate. In 

December 2024, the proportion of private and commercial 

customers who had selected at least one service component 

as part of their contract was around 49% (2023: around 43%). 

As part of the implementation of FAST LANE 27, the Captive 
Leasing segment was integrated into the Leasing division in 

the 2022 financial year. As part of captive leasing, private and 

commercial customers are offered Hyundai and Kia vehicle 

models directly via the dealer network at the point of sale. The 

central element is the “Allease” dealer portal developed by 

Allane. In addition to the classic leasing offer, additional ser-

vices such as maintenance and wear-and-tear packages, in-

spections, winter tires and insurance packages can be offered 

at the point of sale and integrated into the leasing rate. At the 

end of 2024, around 37% (2023: 42%) of private and commer-

cial customer contracts in the Captive Leasing segment in-

cluded at least one service component. 

E.F.F Fleet Management business unit 
The Allane Mobility Group operates the Fleet Management 

division via Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH, which was 

founded in 2011, and other direct and indirect subsidiaries of 

Allane SE. Its expertise in the management of larger vehicle 

fleets is also offered to customers who have pur-chased their 

vehicles or leased them from other providers. The target 

group ranges from medium-sized companies to large inter-

national corporations. 

As a fleet manager, Allane Mobility Consulting's aim is to ad-

vise and support companies in the procurement and opera-

tion of leasing and purchased vehicle fleets. To this end – just 

as in fleet leasing – self-developed, online-based IT tools are 

used, including the Multibid Configurator and the FleetIntel-

ligence analysis tool. The Multibid configura-tor offers func-

tions such as freely configuring fleet vehicles, comparing 
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them with possible alternative vehicles and carrying out ten-

ders for desired vehicles from various leas-ing companies. 

Fleet customers and managers also have access to the digital 

analysis tool "FleetIntelligence" for internal analyses. The ap-

plication is based on (cloud) tech-nology and enables the ve-

hicle fleet to be analyzed with regard to important 

parameters such as inventory, costs, sustainability and dam-

age. In addition, Allane Mobility Consulting supports the 

company car users of customers with all vehicle-related is-

sues, from ordering and accident management to wheel 

changes. The self-service app "My-Allane" enables vehicle-

related tasks such as booking work-shop appointments to be 

carried out via smartphone and supports digital communica-

tion between fleet managers and company car users. 

E.G Significant external influencing factors 

As an internationally active leasing group with a stock-listed 

parent company, the business activities of the Allane compa-

nies are exposed to the influence of a number of different le-

gal systems and stipulations/requirements. These include 

road traffic and public order stipulations, as well as tax and 

insurance laws, and capital and financial market regulations. 

Economically, the Group is dependent on general economic 

conditions, which particularly affect the consumption behav-

iour of private customers and companies’ willingness to in-

vest as well as the development of the used car market. Next 

to these, changes in interest rates, regulatory or in tax frame-

works are key external factors that can have an impact on Al-

lane Mobility Group’s business. Likewise, social trends can 

also affect the demand for mobility services, as for example 

the increasing willingness to pay for the provision of mobility 

in form of a time-dependent using fee rather than for owning 

a vehicle. 
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F. Business management 

The long-term business success of the Allane Mobility Group 

is measured by using predefined financial and operative con-

trol parameters. In addition, non-financial performance indi-

cators play a role for the Allane Mobility Group, particularly in 

the fields of climate protection, employer attractiveness as 

well as staff promotion and development. 

The company is managed on the basis of the Fleet Leasing, 

Online Retail and Captive Leasing segments in the Leasing 

division and Fleet Management in the Fleet Management di-

vision. 

The following financial and operative control parameters (fi-

nancial performance indicators) are particularly relevant for 

the Allane Mobility Group: 

 Group contract portfolio (number of contracts), 

 consolidated operating revenue (leasing revenue (finance 

rate), other revenue from leasing business and fleet man-

agement revenue (without revenue from the sale of re-

turned vehicles) as well as 

 consolidated earnings before taxes (EBT). 
 

G. Research and development 

Allane SE did not pursue any significant research activities in 

the 2024 financial year. To drive forward the digitalization of 

its business model, Allane SE develops new products, appli-

cations and digital business processes itself. Depending on 

project requirements, capacity needs and relevant expertise, 

Allane makes use of external services. In the 2024 financial 

year, production costs of EUR 6.3 million (2023: EUR 8.6 mil-

lion) were incurred for development projects in progress. 

Scheduled amortization of EUR 5.9 million (2023: EUR 4.5 

million) was recognized in the financial year for completed 

and commissioned in-house developments. There were no 

impairment losses for completed and commissioned in-

house developments in the 2024 financial year (2023: EUR 

0.9 million). In addition, own work capitalized from the previ-

ous year in the amount of EUR 0.8 million was derecognized 

as an expense in the 2024 financial year due to the fact that it 

could not be capitalized. 

Impairment losses of EUR 0.2 million (2023: EUR 0.8 million) 

were recognized for software not yet completed in the 2024 

financial year. The impairment loss was recognized exclu-

sively on software no longer in use.
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Due to rounding, it is possible that selected figures in this re-

port cannot be added up to the amount recorded and that 

the year figures listed do not follow from adding up the indi-

vidual quarterly figures. For the same reason, the percentage 

figures listed may not always exactly reflect the absolute 

numbers to which they refer. 

E. Economic environment 

The Allane Mobility Group and its subsidiaries operate in its 

home market of Germany as well as in France, Switzerland, 

Austria and the Netherlands. Key factors have a significant 

influence on the Group's business activities in these markets, 

in particular the investment activities of companies, the will-

ingness of business and corporate customers to spend, the 

consumer behavior of private customers and the develop-

ment of the used car market. 

The global economy remained stable in 2024, albeit with sig-

nificant regional differences. According to the International 

Monetary Fund (IMF) and the Kiel Institute for the World 

Economy (IfW), global gross domestic product (GDP) rose by 

3.2% compared to the previous year. This means that the 

growth rate remains at the same level as the previous year, in 

which global production grew by 3.3 %. 

While the USA benefited from strong domestic demand in 

2024, growth in China and India fell short of expectations. In 

the eurozone, the weakness in industry and exports contin-

ued, particularly in Germany, although consumption recov-

ered with the rise in real wages. Japan recorded a slight 

decline due to temporary supply bottlenecks. 

Global disinflation continued, albeit with signs of a slowdown. 

While goods price inflation normalized, prices for services re-

mained high, particularly in the USA and the eurozone. Mon-

etary policy reacted in different ways: some central banks 

eased cautiously, while others kept their interest rates stable 

or raised them further due to persistent inflation. 

The German economy was again weaker in 2024 than in the 

previous year. According to initial calculations by the Federal 

Statistical Office (Destatis), GDP fell by 0.2%. This develop-

ment was due to both economic and structural challenges. 

The export industry was under increased competitive pres-

sure in key sales markets, while high energy costs and persis-

tently high interest rates dampened investment and 

consumer sentiment. Uncertain economic prospects also 

contributed to caution among companies and consumers. 

Despite easing inflation and rising wages, purchasing power 

remained subdued, meaning that private consumption only 

increased by 0.3% on a price-adjusted basis and therefore 

only made a limited contribution to the economic recovery. 

The German labor market reached a new high in 2024. The 

average number of people in employment rose by 0.2% to 

46.1 million. The government budget deficit increased by 

around 5.5 billion euros to a deficit of 113 billion euros. In 

terms of nominal GDP, the deficit ratio remained at the pre-

vious year's level of 2.6% (2023: 2.6%), according to Destatis. 

Sources 
IWF, World Economic Outlook Update, Januar 2025; 
IfW Kiel, Kieler Konjunkturberichte Welt, Nr. 119, Dezember 2024; 
Destatis, Bruttoinlandsprodukt im Jahr 2024 um 0,2 % gesunken, 
15. Januar 2025. 

B.2 – Business report 
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2. Group business performance overview and 

comparison with forecast of the year 

 

Overview of key performance indicators: 

  31 December 2023 Outlook 31 December 2024                 
Group contract portfolio (number of contracts) 

125,800 

130,000 to 150,000 

contracts 143,500 

Operating consolidated revenue (in EUR million) 

342.7 

Range of EUR 425 million 

to EUR 475 million1 457.6 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) (in EUR million) 

12.6 

Range of EUR –35 million 

to EUR –45 million1 –49.3                 
1 In the 2024 financial year, forecast adjustment last updated in ad hoc announcement of 31 October 2024; original forecast of 29 April 2024 - Consolidated 

operating sales: EUR 350 to 400 million; earnings before taxes (EBT): high single-digit million euro amount 

The Allane Mobility Group's business performance met or ex-

ceeded the financial performance indicators for the 2024 fi-

nancial year forecast on April 29, 2024, with the exception of 

earnings before taxes (EBT). The Group contract portfolio 

was within the forecast range. Consolidated operating sales 

exceeded the original forecast. By contrast, the forecast 

earnings before taxes (EBT) was heavily impacted by impair-

ment losses on leased assets as a result of the market-related 

fall in used car prices, particularly for electric vehicles, and is 

therefore outside the forecast range. 

The contract portfolio of the Allane Mobility Group as at 

31 December 2024 amounted to 143,500 contracts by 14.1 % 

above the level of the previous year (2023: 125,800 con-

tracts). This figure is broken down into 133,700 active con-

tracts and 9,800 concluded but not yet active contracts. The 

positive development in the contract portfolio is mainly due 

to the ongoing successful contract development in the Cap-

tive Leasing segment. 

Contract portfolio1     

in thousands 2024 2023 

Change 

in %                 
Leasing Business Unit 94.6 77.3 22.4 

thereof Business segment 

Fleet Leasing 31.4 33.7 –6.8 

thereof Business segment 

Online Retail 24.2 27.3 –11.4 

thereof Business segment 

Captive Leasing 39.0 16.3 >100 

Fleet Management Business 

Unit 48.9 48.5 0.8 

Group total 143.5 125.8 14.1                 
1 Incl. leasing contracts, fleet management contracts, service contracts and 

order book(contracts, for which the vehicle has not yet been delivered). 

Consolidated operating sales (excluding sales revenue) in-

creased on a gross basis by 33.5 % to EUR 457.6 million (2023: 

EUR 342.7 million. This is mainly due to the growing Group 

contract portfolio in the Captive Leasing segment. In addi-

tion, high acquisition costs for new vehicles led to rising leas-

ing installment income (“financial rent”) and consequently to 

increased consolidated operating revenue. 

Consolidated earnings before taxes (EBT) remained at EUR – 

49.3 million (2023: EUR 12.6 million), significantly below the 

previous year's level. This development is mainly the result of 

increased impairment losses on leased assets due to a nega-

tive residual value trend for used vehicles. The residual and 

market value differences are attributable in particular to elec-

tric vehicles. As a result, the operating return on sales (ratio 

of EBT to operating consolidated sales on a net basis) 

amounted to -10.8 % (2023: 3.7 %). 

3. Contract and revenue performance of the 

business units 

3.1 Leasing business unit 

In the Leasing division, the contract portfolio at the end of the 

reporting year amounted to 94,600 contracts 22.4% below 

the figure as at 31 December 2023 (2023: 77,300 contracts). 

The number of contracts in the Fleet Leasing segment fell by 

6.7% to 31,400 contracts (2023: 33,700 contracts), while the 

number of contracts in the Online Retail segment decreased 

by 11.4% to 24,200 contracts (2023: 27,300 contracts). By 

contrast, the Captive Leasing segment recorded growth in 

2024: the number of contracts increased by more than 100% 

to 39,000 contracts (2023: 16,300 contracts). 
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Total revenue in the Leasing segment rose by 21.6% to EUR 

722.5 million in the reporting year (2023: EUR 594.2 million). 

Operating revenue, i.e. business segment revenue excluding 

proceeds from the sale of lease returns, increased by 35.7% 

to EUR 435.9 million (2023: EUR 321.1 million). Income from 

the sale of used leased vehicles increased by 5.0% to 

EUR 286.6 million (2023: EUR 273.0 million).  

The Fleet Leasing business segment increased its total reve-

nue by 18.9% to EUR 341.8 million (2023: EUR 287.4 million) 

and its operating segment revenue by 11.8% to EUR 195.9 mil-

lion (2023: EUR 175.2 million). Sales revenue increased by 

30.1% to 145.9 million euros (2023: 112.1 million euros). 

The Online Retail segment generated total sales of EUR 

244.5 million (2023: EUR 274.1 million), representing a year-

on-year decline of -10.8%. Operating segment sales re-

mained almost constant with a change of -0.3% to 113.6 mil-

lion euros (2023: 114.0 million euros). Sales revenue increased 

by 18.3% to EUR 130.9 million (2023: EUR 160.2 million). 

The Captive Leasing segment generated total revenue of 

EUR 135.8 million (2023: EUR 32.7 million), which corre-

sponds to growth of >100% compared to the previous year. 

Operating segment revenue also increased by >100% to EUR 

126.4 million (2023: EUR 31.9 million). Sales revenue also in-

creased by >100% to EUR 9.4 million (2023: EUR 0.8 million). 

A comprehensive explanation of developments in the indi-

vidual business segments can be found in the Business report 

under “7. Segment reports”. 

G.F Fleet Management business unit 

In the Fleet Management division, the number of contracts 

as at the end of 2024 increased by 0.8% to 48,900 contracts 

(2023: 48,500 contracts). 

The division's total sales amounted to EUR 25.2 million and 

thus increased in 2024 by 0.5% (2023: EUR 25.1 million). Op-

erating segment sales (excluding sales revenue) increased by 

0.6% to EUR 21.7 million (2023: EUR 21.6 million). Income 

from the brokerage / sale of customer vehicles remained con-

stant at EUR 3.5 million (2023: EUR 3.5 million).  

A comprehensive explanation of developments in the indi-

vidual business segments can be found in the Business report 

under “7. Segment reports”. 

H. Earnings development 

Consolidated income statement (condensed)   

in EUR million FDFH FDFG 
Absolute 

Change Change in %             
Consolidated revenue KHK.G JEM.F EFL.D FD.K 

thereof consolidated operating revenue HIK.J GHF.K EEH.M GG.I 

thereof sales revenue FLM.K FKJ.I EG.E H.K 

Fleet expenses and cost of lease assets GHK.G GFE.D FJ.G L.F 

Personnel expenses II.F IF.M F.G H.G 

Net losses arising from the derecognition of financial assets F.G E.I D.L IH.G 

Net impairment expenses (-)/ income (+) from financial assets –D.L –F.E E.G JG.F 

Net other operating (+) income/(-) expense –EM.K –FD.L E.E I.E 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) GFF.D FFE.D EDE.D HI.K 

Depreciation and amortisation GFH.G EMF.H EGE.M JL.J 

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) –F.G FL.J –GD.M <-EDD 

Net finance costs (-) expenses (+) income –HK.D –EJ.D –GE.D <-EDD 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) –HM.G EF.J –JF.D <-EDD 

Operating return on revenue (%) –ED.L G.K –EH.I points   

Income tax expense (-) income (+) expenses –ED.E G.L –EG.M <-EDD 

Consolidated result –GM.F L.M –HL.E <-EDD 

Earnings per shareE (in Euro) - basic and diluted –E.MD D.HG –F.GG <-EDD                     
1 Based on EUR 20.6 million shares 
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Group sales increased compared to the previous year by 20.7 % 

to EUR 747.3 million (2023: EUR 619.2 million). Consolidated 

operating revenue (net basis), which does not include reve-

nue from vehicle sales, increased by 33.5 % to EUR 457.6 mil-

lion (2023: EUR 342.7 million). The main driver was the 

growth of the Group's contract portfolio in the business seg-

ment Captive Leasing, with a significant increase in lease in-

stallment income. Sales revenue from the brokerage / sale of 

lease returns and the marketing of customer vehicles from 

fleet management rose by 4.7% to EUR 289.7 million (2023: 

EUR 276.5 million). This development is mainly due to a slight 

increase in the volume of vehicles sold as a result of the con-

tinued high demand for used vehicles and the additional 

marketing of third-party vehicles. Unit prices remained al-

most constant compared to the previous year at an average 

of EUR 14,410.60 (2023: EUR 14,421.36). 

Expenses for the vehicle fleet and leased assets increased by 

8.2 % to EUR 347.3 million (2023: EUR 321.0 million). Ex-

penses for the vehicle fleet and leased assets include ex-

penses in connection with the sale of leased assets in the 

amount of EUR 249.8 million (2023: EUR 237.7 million). In ad-

dition to the volume-related costs for the registration of new 

vehicles in the Captive Leasing business segment, this de-

velopment is due to an increase in expenses in connection 

with the sale of leased assets.  

Personnel expenses increased slightly in the past financial 

year as a result of a higher wage level on the labor market by 

4.3 % to EUR 55.2 million (2023: EUR 52.9 million) as a result 

of higher wage levels on the labor market.  

Net losses from the derecognition of financial assets in-

creased by 54.3% to EUR 2.3 million in the 2024 financial year 

(2023: EUR 1.5 million). This is due in particular to the derec-

ognition of trade receivables due to ageing, among other fac-

tors. 

Furthermore, net impairment losses from financial assets de-

creased by -63.2% to EUR -0.8 million (2023: EUR -2.1 mil-

lion). The decrease is mainly due to the reduction in value 

adjustments on receivables from suppliers. 

The balance of other operating income and other operating 

expenses fell by 5.1% to EUR -19.7 million (2023: EUR 

– 20.8 million). This resulted in particular from lower IT ex-

penses due to the completion of a modernization project of 

the IT infrastructure and lower marketing expenses at the end 

of the financial year 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortiza-

tion (EBITDA) improved by 45.7% to EUR 322.0 million (2023: 

EUR 221.0 million).  

Depreciation and amortization increased by 68.6 % and EUR 

131.9 million to 324.3 million (2023: EUR 192.4 million), mainly 

due to the constant growth of the leasing contract portfolio 

and the associated leasing assets. 

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to EUR 

-2.3 million, down by <-100% and thus significantly below the 

previous year's level (2023: EUR 28.6 million). This is mainly 

attributable to the increase in unscheduled depreciation on 

leased assets. 

The financial result deteriorated sharply in the reporting year 

by <-100 % to EUR –47.0 million (2023: EUR –16.0 million). 

The deterioration in the financial result is mainly due to the 

high refinancing costs as a result of rising interest expenses. 

The need for financing can in turn be attributed to the strong 

growth in the leasing contract portfolio. 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) amounted to EUR -49.3 million 

in the 2024 financial year and were therefore <-100% lower 

than the previous year's figure of EUR 12.6 million. This devel-

opment is mainly the result of increased impairment losses on 

leased assets due to a negative residual value trend for used 

vehicles. The residual and market value differences are at-

tributable in particular to electric vehicles 

Accordingly, the operating return on sales (ratio of EBT to op-

erating sales) reached -10.8 % (2023: 3.7 %). 

Taxes on income and earnings decreased about 

EUR - 13.9 million at EUR -10.1 million (2023: EUR 3.8 million). 

This development is due to the negative consolidated result 

because of the increase in impairment losses on leased assets. 

I. Net assets 

As at 31 December 2024, the Allane Mobility Group's total as-

sets amounted to EUR 2,441.1 million and thus 

EUR 767.8 million or 45.9% above the figure as at 31 Decem-

ber 2023 (EUR 1,673.3 million). 

Non-current assets, which increased by EUR 711.3 million to 

EUR 2,184.4 million compared to the previous year (2023: 

EUR 1,473.1 million; 48.3%) continued to be dominated by 

leased assets. Compared to the reporting date, leased assets 

increased by EUR 708.0 million or 50.3% to 
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EUR 2,114.4 million (2023: EUR 1,406.4 million). The share of 

leased assets in total assets increased accordingly to 86.6 % 

(2023: 84.1%). Within non-current assets, property, plant and 

equipment, other receivables and assets and deferred in-

come tax assets increased. Property, plant and equipment 

rose by EUR 1.8 million or 4.7% to EUR 39.0 million (2023: 

EUR 37.2 million). This increase is due in particular to the 

rights of use acquired in connection with the rental agree-

ment concluded in 2024 for the future business location in 

Garching. Other receivables and assets increased by 47.1% to 

EUR 5.8 million in the 2024 financial year (2023: EUR 4.0 mil-

lion). This development is mainly due to the increase in leases 

classified as finance leases. In contrast, receivables from in-

terest rate swaps decreased significantly. Deferred income 

tax assets increased by EUR 1.4 million or >100% to EUR 2.1 

million in 2024 (2023: EUR 0.7 million), which is the result of 

the increase in deferred taxes due to the loss carry-forward.  

Current assets increased in comparison to the reporting date 

by EUR 56.5 million or 28.2% to EUR 256.7 million (2023: 

EUR 200.2 million). This was mainly due to the increase in 

trade receivables and the increase in receivables from related 

parties. Trade receivables increased by EUR 6.8 million or 6.9% 

to EUR 105.2 million (2023: EUR 98.4 million). Receivables 

from related parties increased by EUR 56.5 million or >100% 

to EUR 60.7 million (2023: EUR 4.2 million). The significant 

increase in current assets is mainly due to sales promotions in 

the Captive Leasing segment, which were settled with Hyun-

dai and Kia in the 2024 financial year. At EUR 8.1 million (2023: 

EUR 5.2 million), cash and cash equivalents were above the 

previous year's level, which is attributable to the reporting 

date.  

Income tax receivables increased sharply by EUR 2.0 million 

or >100 % to EUR 2.2 million (2023: EUR 0.2 million). This de-

velopment is mainly due to the loss carry-forward in the 2024 

financial year. 

Consolidated balance sheet 

(condensed)     
Assets     
in EUR million FDFH FDFG 

Non-current assets     

Intangible assets EL.M FD.J 

Lease assets F,EEH.H E,HDJ.H 

Other  IE.E HJ.E 

Current assets     

Inventories GJ.I HH.I 

Bank balances L.E I.F 

Other  FEF.E EID.J 

Assets F,HHE.E E,JKG.G 

I.E Equity 

As at 31 December 2024, the equity of the Allane Mobility 

Group amounted to EUR 188.4 million. The increase of EUR 

–49.7 million or –20.9 % compared to the value at the same 

reporting date in the previous year (2023: EUR 238.2 million) 

is mainly due to the net loss for the year as well as the cash 

outflow from the dividend payment for the 2023 financial 

year in the amount of EUR 1.9 million. As a result, the equity 

ratio decreased from 14.2% to 7.7%. This development is due 

to the increase in total assets, which was caused by the 

growth in leasing assets as a result of an increasing leasing 

contract portfolio and a simultaneous decrease in equity. 

The share capital of Allane SE as at the balance sheet date 

remained unchanged from the previous year at EUR 20.6 mil-

lion. 
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Consolidated balance sheet (condensed)   

Equity and liabilities     
in EUR million FDFH FDFG     
Equity ELL.H FGL.F 

Non-current liabilities and provisions     

Financial liabilities E,JIJ.D MFD.K 

Miscellaneous KF.M KF.L 

Current liabilities and provisions     

Financial liabilities GEJ.L FIJ.F 

Liabilities to affiliated companies EE.E D.E 

Contract Liabilities FJ.F FD.L 

Miscellaneous EJM.K EJH.I 

Equity and liabilities F,HHE.E E,JKG.G             

I.F Liabilities 

As at 31 December 2024, the Group reported non-current li-

abilities and provisions in the amount of EUR 1,728.9 million 

(2023: EUR 993.5 million), which corresponds to an increase 

of 74.0% compared to the previous year's figure. This devel-

opment resulted in particular from an increase in non-current 

financial liabilities bind labilities by EUR 735.3 million or 79.9% 

to EUR 1,656.0 million (2023: EUR 920.7 million). This was 

due to the growth in the volume of leasing contracts, mainly 

in the Captive Leasing segment, and the associated increase 

in financing requirements. In addition to long-term loans 

from Santander Consumer Bank AG, Mönchengladbach, fi-

nancing was secured by an asset-backed securities program 

(“ABS program”). The revolving loan from Santander Con-

sumer Bank AG is based on a credit facility agreement con-

cluded for an indefinite period in the 2020 financial year. The 

agreement includes a “change of control” clause on the basis 

of which the lender has the right to call in the loans and inter-

est liabilities immediately in the event of a change of control. 

This right was not exercised in the 2024 reporting year or up 

to the date of preparation of the annual report. The ABS pro-

gram has a total volume of EUR 1,050.0 million as at 31 De-

cember 2024, which corresponds to an increase of EUR 

350.0 million compared to the previous year's reporting date. 

Current liabilities and provisions as 31 December 2024 

amounted to EUR 523.8 million (2023: EUR 441.6 million). 

The increase of 82.2 million euros or 18.6% resulted in partic-

ular from an increase in liabilities to related parties of EUR 11.0 

million or >100% to EUR 11.1 million (2023: EUR 0.1 million). 

This was due to outstanding supplier and service provider in-

voices as at the reporting date and an increase in other liabil-

ities of EUR 18.2 million or 45.2% to EUR 58.6 million (2023: 

EUR 40.4 million). Current financial liabilities increased by 

EUR 60.6 million or 23.7% to EUR 316.8 million (2023: EUR 

256.2 million), which was due in particular to the increase in 

the volume of the ABS program. Current liabilities to third-

party banks also increased to EUR 83.0 million (2023: 

EUR 107.0 million). Other current provisions increased by 

EUR 0.6 million or 15.3% to EUR 4.4 million.  

J. Financial position 

J.E Financial management and financial instruments 

The Allane Mobility Group's financial management is carried 

out centrally by the Finance department on the basis of inter-

nal guidelines and risk specifications as well as monthly 

Group financial planning. The main tasks include securing li-

quidity, the cost-oriented, permanent coverage of the Group 

companies' financial requirements, the management of inter-

est rate risks, creditworthiness management and refinancing 

with matching maturities. Operational liquidity management 

and cash management are performed centrally for all Group 

companies by the Finance division. 

The financing instruments mainly consist of loans from San-

tander Consumer Bank AG, an ABS program and bilateral 

credit lines with other banks.  

As at the end of 2024 the Allane Mobility Group was primar-

ily financed by the following instruments: 

 

 Current and non-current drawings from the ABS pro-

gramme with variable market interest rates, maturing up 

to 2029 as well as 

 Current and non-current drawings from bank loans with 

market interest rates. Of these bank credit lines, 

EUR 77 million have not been drawn down as of 31 De-

cember 2024. 
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J.F Liquidity position 

Consolidated cash flow statement 

(condensed)   

in EUR million FDFH FDFG  
Net cash flows from (+)/ used in (-) operating 

activities –KKG.D –GGM.F 

Net cash flows from (+)/ used in (-) investing 

activities –J.M –EF.J 

Net cash flows from (+) / used in (-) financing 

activities KLF.E GIE.L 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents F.F –D.D     
 

After changes in leased assets and net working capital, the 

cash outflow from operating activities amounted to EUR 

773.0 million (2023: cash inflow of EUR 339.2 million). The 

change is mainly due to higher expenses for investments in 

leased assets. 

Investing activities resulted in a cash outflow of EUR 10.3 6.9 

million (2023: cash outflow of EUR 12.6 million), mainly due 

to investments in intangible assets. 

Financing activities resulted in a cash inflow of EUR 782.1 mil-

lion (2023: cash outflow of EUR 351.8 million). Proceeds from 

bank loans in the amount of EUR 1,001.1 million were offset by 

the dividend payment for the 2023 financial year and repay-

ments of financial liabilities including interest payments total-

ing EUR 195.1 million. 

As a sum of the cash flows, the cash-effective change in cash 

and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2024 remained 

above the level of the previous year's reporting date at EUR 

2.2 million (2023: increase of EUR 0.0 million). 

J.G Investments 

In 2024, the Allane Mobility Group drove vehicles with a total 

value of EUR 1,243.4 million (2023: 812.0 million; 53.1 %) in the 

leasing fleet. This was mainly due to an increase in the provi-

sion volume as a result of the growing contract portfolio in the 

Captive Leasing business segment. 

K. Segment reports 

K.E Leasing business division 

The Leasing division comprises the operating business seg-

ments Fleet Leasing (corporate customer leasing), Online 
Retail (private and commercial customer leasing) and Cap-
tive Leasing (private and commercial customers in coopera-

tion with Hyundai Leasing and Kia Leasing).   

As at 31 December 2024, the segment's contract portfolio 

amounted to 94,600 contracts, which represents an increase 

of 22.4% compared to the previous year's reporting date 

(2023: 77,300 contracts).  

In the 2024 financial year, the division generated total sales 

of EUR 722.1 million, an increase of 21.5% (2023: EUR 594.2 

million). Operating segment revenue (excluding sales reve-

nue) rose by 35.7% to EUR 435.9 million (2023: EUR 321.1 mil-

lion). Lease income (finance installment) increased by 48.9% 

to EUR 320.7 million (2023: EUR 215.3 million). Other income 

from the leasing business, which mainly consists of service 

revenue, increased by 8.9% to EUR 115.2 million (2023: EUR 

105.8 million). Revenue from vehicle sales increased by 4.8% 

to EUR 286.2 million (2023: EUR 273.0 million). This increase 

is mainly due to a slight increase in the sales volume of vehi-

cles sold as a result of the continued high demand for used 

vehicles and the additional marketing of third-party vehicles. 

Unit prices remained almost constant compared to the previ-

ous year at an average of EUR 14,410.60 (2023: EUR 

14,421.36). 

With a value of EUR 333.4 million (2023: EUR 306.1 million), 

expenses for the vehicle fleet and leased assets represent the 

main expense item. Expenses for the vehicle fleet and leased 

assets include EUR 247.0 million (2023: EUR 234.7 million) 

for expenses in connection with the sale of leased assets. 

The division's earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 

and amortization (EBITDA) improved by 44.0% to EUR 316.7 

million (2023: EUR 220.0 million). However, earnings before 

taxes (EBT) fell clearly by <-100% to EUR -54.4 million (2023: 

EUR 11.9 million). This is due in particular to rising deprecia-

tion and amortization and a deterioration in the financial re-

sult. Depreciation and amortization in the amount of EUR 

324.1 million (2023: EUR 192.0 million) includes impairment 

losses of EUR 52.6 million (2023: EUR 7.2 million). The divi-

sion’s operating return on sales (EBT/division sales) therefore 

amounted to -12.5% (2023: 3.7%). 
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Key figures  

Leasing business unit   

in EUR million FDFH FDFG 
Change 

in %                 
Leasing revenue (finance rate) GFD.K FEI.G HL.M 

Other revenue from leasing 

business EEI.F EDI.L L.M 

Sales revenue FLJ.F FKG.D H.L 

Total revenue KFF.E IMH.F FE.I 

Earnings before interest, taxes, 

depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) GEJ.K FFD.D HH.D 

Earnings before interest and taxes 

(EBIT) –K.H FK.L <-EDD 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) –IH.H EE.M <-EDD 

Operating return on revenue (%) –EF.I G.K –EJ.F pts.                 

K.E.E Business development 
The German leasing industry, the second-largest leasing 

market in Europe, recorded a decline in 2024 due to the gen-

eral economic weakness, albeit less pronounced than the 

economy as a whole. According to the Bundesverband 

Deutscher Leasing-Unternehmen e.V. (BDL), the number of 

newly concluded, recognized contracts rose by around 1 %. 

While the number of leasing contracts slightly exceeded this 

figure, the number of new hire-purchase contracts fell mod-

erately. 

Sources 

BDL, BDL-RS 7-01-2025, Anlage, 10 February 2025. 

K.E.F Business segment development Fleet Leasing 
In fleet leasing, the number of contracts fell by 6.8% to 31,400 

contracts (2023: 33,700 contracts) due to the loss of custom-

ers  

In the Fleet Leasing segment, revenue increased by 18.9% to 

EUR 341.8 million in the 2024 financial year (2023: EUR 287.4 

million). Operating segment revenue excluding vehicle sales 

increased by 11.8% to EUR 195.9 million (2023: EUR 175.2 mil-

lion). With growth of 15.9% to EUR 127.9 million (2023: EUR 

110.3 million), the value of leasing income in particular rose, 

while income from services increased by 4.8% to EUR 68.0 

million (2023: EUR 64.9 million). Sales revenue increased by 

30.1% to EUR 145.9 million (2023: EUR 112.1 million). 

The costs for fleet and leased assets increased to EUR 173.0 

million in 2024 (2023: EUR 129.5 million).  

At the same time, the segments EBITDA increased by 6.2% 

to EUR 139.3 million (2023: EUR 131.2 million).  

Depreciation and amortization in the amount of EUR 111.1 mil-

lion (2023: EUR 96.3 million) includes impairment losses of 

EUR 4.9 million (2023: EUR 1.1 million). 

Earnings before taxes (EBT), on the other hand, fell by -57.7 % 

to EUR 11.9 million (2023: EUR 28.2 million), mainly due to 

higher depreciation and amortization. This development is 

also reflected in the return on sales of 6.1% (2023: 16.1%). 

Key figures 

Business segment Fleetleasing   

in EUR million FDFH FDFG 
Change 

in %                 
Leasing revenue (finance rate) EFK.M EED.G EI.M 

Other revenue from leasing 

business JL.D JH.M H.L 

Sales revenue EHI.M EEF.E GD.E 

Total revenue GHE.L FLK.H EL.M 

Earnings before interest, taxes, 

depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) EGM.G EGE.F J.F 

Earnings before interest and taxes 

(EBIT) FL.F GH.L –EM.D 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) EE.M FL.F –IK.K 

Operating return on revenue (%) J.E EJ.E –ED.D pts.                 
 
Focus on the electrification of customer fleets:  
The 2024 financial year was characterized by challenges 

faced by Allane Fleet customers in the area of electromobility. 

Various analyses were carried out in collaboration with the 

company's internal “Competence Center New Mobility”, fo-

cusing on the topics of “e-car policy”, “charge management 

benchmarking” and the needs analysis for future product ser-

vices.  

This collaboration resulted in cooperation and projects with 

new service partners such as the company Locio, which spe-

cializes in charging solutions in the home environment for 

company car users. Together with a fleet customer, Allane 

Fleet launched a pilot project in 2024 to investigate charging 

conditions at private wallboxes. The aim was to evaluate the 

cost-effectiveness and general conditions for charging at 

home compared to public charging options. In addition, Al-

lane Fleet has added the Locio charging solution to its prod-

uct portfolio to provide customers without their own wallbox 

with an alternative charging option.  

 

Customer satisfaction:   
Allane Fleet also collected customer feedback on its existing 

service portfolio in 2024. Particular emphasis was placed on 

a target group-oriented and compact design of the survey in 

order to increase the willingness to participate. The revised 

survey methodology led to a significant increase in customer 
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feedback. The results also showed a noticeable improvement 

in general satisfaction with the services offered. Particular 

emphasis was placed on a target group-oriented and com-

pact design of the survey in order to increase the willingness 

to participate. The revised survey methodology led to a sig-

nificant increase in customer feedback. The results also 

showed a noticeable improvement in general satisfaction 

with the services offered. 

 

K.E.G Business segment development Online Retail 
The number of contracts in the business segment fell by 11.4% 

to 24,200 contracts (2023: 27,300 contracts). This is due to 

the expiry of contracts in the financial year with fewer new 

contracts at the same time.  

In the 2024 financial year, the Online Retail operating seg-

ment recorded a decrease in sales of 10.8% to EUR 244.5 mil-

lion (2023: EUR 274.1 million). Operating segment revenue 

excluding sales revenue remained constant at the previous 

year´s level with a slight decrease of 0.3% to EUR 113.6 million 

(2023: EUR 114.0 million). 

Of particular note are the Leasing income, which recorded an 

increase of 6.4% to EUR 83.6 million (2023: EUR 78.6 million). 

Service revenue from the Online Retail segment also in-

creased, falling by 15.3% to EUR 30.0 million (2023: EUR 35.4 

million). Sales revenue increased by a total of 18.3% to EUR 

130.9 million (2023: EUR 160.2 million). 

Expenses for the vehicle fleet and leased assets decreased to 

EUR 135.9 million (2023: EUR 169.3 million).  

The segment's EBITDA increased by 4.2% to EUR 82.7 million 

(2023: EUR 79.3 million).  

Depreciation and amortization in the amount of EUR 70.7 

million (2023: EUR 64.3 million) includes impairment losses 

of EUR 5.2 million (2023: EUR 0.3 million). 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) recorded an markable decrease 

of <-100 % to EUR -2.1 million (2023: EUR 7.9 million), which 

is primarily due to lower sales compared to the previous year 

as a result of a declining contract portfolio. This result is also 

reflected in the change in the return on sales to -1.8 % (2023: 

7.0%). 

 

Key figures 

Business segment Online Retail   

in EUR million FDFH FDFG 
Change 

in %                 
Leasing revenue (finance rate) LG.J KL.J J.H 

Other revenue from leasing 

business GD.D GI.H –EI.G 

Sales revenue EGD.M EJD.F –EL.G 

Total revenue FHH.I FKH.E –ED.L 

Earnings before interest, taxes, 

depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) LF.K KM.G H.F 

Earnings before interest and taxes 

(EBIT) EF.D EI.E –FD.F 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) –F.E K.M <-EDD 

Operating return on revenue (%) –E.L K.D –L.L pts.                 
 

Increase in sales efficiency:  
The Online Retail business segment continued to restructure 

its end customer sales in the 2024 financial year as planned. 

As part of this, the sales team was expanded in terms of per-

sonnel and structural adjustments were made, including to 

integrate additional services such as winter tires and mainte-

nance offers more closely into the sales process. A new com-

mission model was also introduced. 

 

Expansion and optimization of the product range:  
In the 2024 financial year, the Online Retail business segment 

intensified its collaboration with retail partners and manufac-

turers in order to counter the ongoing price competition in 

new vehicle leasing. The product portfolio was adjusted and 

focused more strongly on selected vehicle models. 

 

Expansion of campaign activities:  
The sales support measures introduced in 2023 were contin-

ued in 2024. Throughout the financial year, different leasing 

offers were communicated each month as part of targeted 

campaigns. The campaign in November 2024 (“Black Leasing 

Friday”) recorded the highest order volume over the course 

of the year. 

 

Launch of allane.de:   
The Allane Mobility Group continued its comprehensive mar-

keting initiatives with the launch of allane.de in September 

2024. The new platform for marketing new car leasing offers 

is gradually replacing the existing sixt-neuwagen.de platform 

and consolidating the range of services under a single brand. 

Allane.de is aimed at private customers and smaller business 

customers. In November 2024, the Allane Mobility Group 

also began promoting allane.de with corresponding branding 

campaigns in order to establish it as the Group's strongest 
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online sales channel. These activities will be further intensi-

fied in 2025. 

K.E.H Business segment development Captive Leasing 
The number of contracts in the Captive Leasing segment in-

creased by >100% year-on-year to 39,000 (2023: 16,300). 

This is primarily due to the expansion of the product range 

and the resulting increase in the customer contract base. 

In 2024, the Captive Leasing segment recorded a significant 

increase in revenue of >100% to EUR 135.8 million (2023: 

EUR 32.7 million). Operating segment revenue (excluding in-

come from vehicle sales) rose by >100% to EUR 126.4 million 

(2023: EUR 31.9 million). Leasing income increased by >100% 

to EUR 109.2 million (2023: EUR 26.4 million). Other income 

from services in the leasing business also increased by >100% 

to EUR 17.2 million (2023: EUR 5.5 million). Sales revenue 

also increased by >100% to EUR 9.4 million (2023: EUR 0.8 

million).  

 

Expenses for leased assets and the vehicle fleet increased to 

EUR 24.5 million (2023: EUR 7.3 million).  

The business segment's EBITDA improved by >100% to EUR 

94.7 million (2023: EUR 9.2 million).  

Depreciation and amortization in the amount of EUR 142.3 

million (2023: EUR 31.3 million) includes impairment losses of 

EUR 48.1 million (2023: EUR 6.2 million). 

Earnings before taxes (EBT), on the other hand, fell by <-100% 

to EUR -64.2 million (2023: EUR -24.3 million). This is mainly 

due to increased depreciation and amortization due to differ-

ences between calculated residual values and market values 

as well as a negative financial result. The return on sales was 

correspondingly -50.8% (2023: -76.1%). 

Key figures 

Business segment Captive Leasing   

in EUR million FDFH FDFG 
Change 

in %                 
Leasing revenue (finance rate) EDM.F FJ.H >EDD 

Other revenue from leasing 

business EK.F I.I >EDD 

Sales revenue M.H D.L >EDD 

Total revenue EGI.L GF.K >EDD 

Earnings before interest, taxes, 

depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) MH.K M.F >EDD 

Earnings before interest and taxes 

(EBIT) –HK.K –FF.F <-EDD 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) –JH.F –FH.G <-EDD 

Operating return on revenue (%) –ID.L –KJ.E +FI.G pts.                 
 

Strong growth:  
The Captive Leasing business segment is the youngest in the 

Allane Mobility Group. Following the pilot and market entry 

phase in 2022 and 2023 respectively, captive leasing was 

greatly expanded in the 2024 financial year. The Allane Mo-

bility Group now cooperates with almost all Hyundai and Kia 

dealers in Germany. The company operates under the 

“HYUNDAI Leasing” and “KIA Leasing” brands, which are 

used in close coordination with the importers Hyundai Motor 

Deutschland GmbH and Kia Deutschland GmbH. This under-

lines the strategic cooperation with the respective brand or-

ganizations.  

Continuous further development:  
At the heart of the collaboration between the Captive Leas-

ing business segment and the affiliated Hyundai and Kia 

dealers is the “Allease” dealer portal developed by the Allane 

Mobility Group, which is used to configure vehicles, manage 

customers, create leasing offers and process leasing con-

tracts. Since the start of the pilot phase with selected dealers, 

Allease has been continuously developed. Based on regular 

dealer feedback, the system has also been continuously op-

timized in 2024.  

 

Targeted product expansion:  
The trend towards vehicle use instead of purchase continued 

unabated in 2024. In order to offer their customers a compre-

hensive service, vehicle importers and dealers are increas-

ingly asking for optional service products. The Allane Mobility 

Group is once again meeting this demand with its newest 

business segment, Captive Leasing. In 2024, the product 

range was further expanded with the introduction of “Lease 

Protection GAP”. The product protects the customer against 

unexpected costs in the event of a total loss of the leased ve-

hicle, with billing via the monthly leasing installments. The 



 

B – Management Report on the situation of the Group and the Company – Business report 

 

  Annual Report 2024 Page 39  

Allane Mobility Group thus also offers a comprehensive 

range of services in captive leasing, which includes not only 

leasing but also full-service solutions for Hyundai and Kia 

dealers in Germany. 

K.F Fleet Management business division 

K.F.E Industry development 
Despite a decline in new registrations in 2024, the Allane Mo-

bility Group believes that demand for professional fleet man-

agement services will remain at a high level. In a challenging 

market environment, companies are increasingly relying on 

external specialists to manage their vehicle fleets efficiently. 

This allows fleet managers to focus on their core business, 

achieve cost and planning security and gain access to spe-

cialized expertise.  

According to Dataforce, around 912,000 new cars were reg-

istered in Germany in the "relevant fleet market" (new com-

mercial registrations excluding vehicle construction, 

dealerships and car rental companies) in 2024. This corre-

sponds to a decrease of 7% compared to the previous year. 

Following the record number of new registrations in the “rel-

evant fleet market” in 2023, more private vehicles than com-

pany cars were registered again in 2024. Dataforce recorded 

the strongest percentage growth in new registrations of hy-

brid vehicles (39%), followed by PHEVs (plug-in hybrid elec-

tric vehicles) with an increase of 9% and petrol cars with 7%. 

New registrations of diesel and BEVs (battery electric vehi-

cles) declined in 2024. 

Despite a largely stable fleet market, the complexity of fleet 

management is continuously increasing - a trend that the Al-

lane Mobility Group identifies as a key driver for customized 

mobility solutions. Companies are placing increasingly high 

demands on the efficiency, flexibility and transparency of 

their fleets. Against this backdrop, individual consulting con-

cepts and individual consulting concepts and modular ser-

vice offerings are becoming increasingly important. In 

addition, advancing digitalization is accelerating the need for 

intelligent interfaces for seamless and secure data exchange. 

Sources 
Dataforce, market segment development December 2024: van market top, 
cars flop, 9. Januar 2025. 

K.F.F Business segment development Fleet Management 
The Fleet Management division is operated within the Allane 

Mobility Group by Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH and 

other direct and indirect subsidiaries of Allane SE.  

As at 31 December 2024, the business segment's contract 

portfolio amounted to 48,900 contracts by 0.8% above the 

figure on the previous year's reporting date (2023: 48,500 

contracts). The slight increase is mainly due to the growing 

contract portfolio with existing customers. 

The division's total sales in the reporting year amounted to 

EUR 25.2 million and was thus 0.5% above the previous year's 

level of EUR 25.1 million. Operating segment sales (excluding 

sales revenue) increased by 0.6% to 21.7 million (2023: 21.6 

million). Income from the brokerage / resale of customer ve-

hicles remained constant at EUR 3.5 million.  

The main expense item is the cost of the vehicle fleet and 

leased assets which fell slightly by EUR 0.9 million to EUR 14.1 

million (2023: EUR 15.0 million). 

The division's earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 

and amortization (EBITDA) increased significantly in the re-

porting year by >100% to EUR 5.3 million (2023: EUR 1.1 mil-

lion). Earnings before taxes (EBT) increased by >100% to 

EUR 5.0 million (2023: EUR 0.7 million). The development of 

earnings in the 2024 financial year was characterized by re-

duced expenses compared to the previous year. The operat-

ing return on sales (EBT/operating segment sales) thus 

reached 23.2% after 3.1% in the previous year. 

Key figures  

Fleet Management business unit   

in EUR million FDFH FDFG 
Change 

in %                 
Fleet management revenue FE.K FE.J D.J 

Sales revenue G.I G.I D.D 

Total revenue FI.F FI.E D.I 

Earnings before interest, taxes, 

depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) I.G E.E >EDD 

Earnings before interest and taxes 

(EBIT) I.E D.L >EDD 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) I.D D.K >EDD 

Operating return on revenue (%) FG.F G.E +FD.E pts.                 
 
Expansion of the product and service portfolio:  
In the first half of 2024, Allane Mobility Consulting expanded 

its range of consulting services. This includes the “360° Mo-

bility Check” analysis format for a holistic view of operational 

mobility structures, which helps companies to identify poten-

tial for reducing COz emissions, improving employee mobility 

and optimizing costs.  
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The Allane Mobility Group has also entered into a new part-

nership with Ecoturn GmbH (Elektrovorteil.de). On this basis, 

fleet customers have been able to apply for the greenhouse 

gas reduction premium (GHG premium) for battery electric 

vehicles and charging infrastructure via Elektrovorteil.de 

since the 2024 financial year. The cooperation aims to reduce 

the administrative burden for customers. Part of the offer is 

also the marketing of the eligible GHG quota. Owners of 

purely battery-electric vehicles are eligible. Owners of purely 

battery electric vehicles are eligible.  

Extension of the EcoVadis certificate:  
In July 2024, the Allane Mobility Group's existing EcoVadis 

certification was extended. This documented additional pro-

gress in the areas of the environment, labor and human rights, 

ethics and sustainable procurement. Overall, the Allane Mo-

bility Group was classified as a “Committed Company”, with 

the assessment of CSR activities being above the industry av-

erage. The updated assessment underlines the further devel-

opment of the company-wide sustainability performance. 
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E. Strategic human resource work 

As a service company, the Allane Mobility Group attaches 

great importance to the satisfaction of its employees. For this 

reason, Allane attaches strategic importance to human re-

sources work. The holistic approach ranges from selection 

procedures to assess the suitability of potential candidates to 

training and further education for professional and personal 

development.  

When a new employee starts at Allane, an individually pre-

pared onboarding process begins. This includes both a pro-

fessional and personal introduction to the respective 

department and the company as a whole. 

During the employment relationship, the Allane Mobility 

Group fosters an active feedback culture and ensures that 

employees are regularly evaluated by their managers and 

vice versa. Feedback tools such as regular employee satisfac-

tion surveys and supporting 360-degree feedback (manage-

ment assessments that compare self-assessment with the 

assessment of superiors, colleagues and employees) serve as 

an indicator and basis for future development and support 

programs tailored to the individual employee. In addition, all 

employees have access to a wide range of training seminars 

via a digital training platform, from which they can select and 

attend suitable courses in consultation with their manager. 

The aim of personnel development is to enable employees to 

act independently, adapt the products and services of the Al-

lane Mobility Group to the changing (mobility) needs of cus-

tomers and actively contribute to the further development of 

the offering. Through continuous development tailored to in-

dividual needs and operational requirements, they should ac-

quire the necessary skills and competencies to drive 

innovation and actively shape the future of the company. 

The promotion of young talent, employee development and 

management training at Allane are integrated into the central 

HR management of the Allane Mobility Group. 

Promotional programs 

Allane offers its employees a variety of national and interna-

tional career paths. Employees can also take advantage of a 

wide range of opportunities for professional and personal de-

velopment. Important components include the "Team 

Leader" and "Supervisor" development programs as part of 

management development. Among other things, these serve 

to identify employees with particular development potential, 

promote them in a structured manner and thus train future 

top performers and managers.  

F. Number of employees 

Number of employees by 

business unit (average)     

  FDFH FDFG             
Leasing JFL JJH 

Fleet Management KI JJ 

Total KDG KGD             
 

The Allane Mobility Group employed an average of 703 peo-

ple in 2024 (2023: 730 employees), which corresponds to a 

decrease of around 3.7% compared to the previous year.  

G. Key features of the remuneration system 

G.E General remuneration policy of the Allane Mobility 
Group 

The Managing Board of Allane SE is responsible for the ap-

propriate design of the remuneration systems for employees 

and regularly informs the Supervisory Board of Allane SE 

about the specific structure of the remuneration systems, 

voluntarily taking into account the requirements of the Re-

muneration Ordinance for Institutions (InstitutsVergV). In 

turn, the Supervisory Board of Allane SE is responsible for 

structuring the remuneration system for the Managing Board. 

The control units (in particular Internal Audit, Compliance, 

Human Resources and Risk Management) are involved in the 

structuring and monitoring of the remuneration systems in 

accordance with the requirements of the InstitutsVergV. 

The remuneration policy is an important component of the 

Allane Mobility Group's corporate policy. Its primary pur-

pose is to attract new employees to the company and to 

motivate and retain existing employees in the long term by 

providing suitable incentives. In addition, compliance with 

the relevant legal requirements is an important component 

of the remuneration policy. The following framework condi-

tions apply to the remuneration policy: 

B.3 – Human resources report 
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 It is derived from the business and risk strategy. 

 It is transparent and comprehensible for executives and 

employees. 

 It includes measures to avoid conflicts of interest. 

 It supports the future economic development and perfor-

mance of the Allane Mobility Group.  

G.F Remuneration system of employees 

The Allane Mobility Group is not bound to any collective 

wage bargaining agreements.  

The components of the remuneration system outlined in the 

following do not essentially differ between the different busi-

ness units and are therefore presented as a whole. In case of 

deviations in individual cases, these will be explicitly refer-

enced.  

For the employees, the total remuneration consists of a non-

performance-related basic remuneration, a variable salary 

component (bonus or commission) and so-called benefits 

(fringe benefits), whereby not all employees receive a varia-

ble salary component. 

Non-performance-related basic remuneration 

All employees receive a fixed annual salary to be paid out in 

twelve-equal instalments monthly after each month (basic 

remuneration). Key parameters determining the remunera-

tion unrelated to performance are the function as well as the 

scope of assignments and responsibilities held and the asso-

ciated decision-making powers. 

Variable salary component 
In addition to the basic remuneration, some employees re-

ceive variable remuneration calculated on an annual basis 

depending on the success of the company and/or the 

achievement of personal targets. The variable portion of the 

remuneration depends on the function, the hierarchy level 

and the personal degree of target achievement and ranges 

from a ratio of basic remuneration to variable remuneration 

of around 60:40 to around 95:5, assuming full target achieve-

ment. The personal targets are derived from the company's 

overarching objectives across the various functional levels. 

The personal target therefore always takes into account the 

target of the organizational unit of the respective employee. 

Payment is then made after the end of the financial year, at 

the latest as part of the salary payment for the third month 

after the end of the financial year.  

In contrast to this, the variable remuneration (commission) in 

sales is calculated monthly (Online Retail) or quarterly (fleet 

leasing) and paid in arrears. In Online Retail, the ratio of basic 

remuneration to variable remuneration can be up to 1:2 de-

pending on the degree to which personal targets are 

achieved. This group of employees in question perform their 

sales activities within a very narrowly defined framework. 

They do not decide independently on the conclusion of a 

contract; approval is given or refused by Operational Credit 

Management within the framework of the authority regula-

tions. This is intended to ensure that the actions of the sales 

team meet the requirements of the risk strategy.  

Benefits 
Besides their basic and variable remuneration, employees of 

Allane Mobility Group can receive the following fringe bene-

fits: 

 Capital-forming benefits (German "Vermögenswirksame 

Leistungen"), 

 Company pension scheme, offered through a Partner, 

 Company car and fuel card, depending on function, 

 Mobile phone, 

 Employee car leasing and 

 Bicycle leasing. 

 

The structure of remuneration and of the remuneration sys-

tems is based on the requirements of section 5 of the Insti-

tutsVergV. Above all, the combination of the existing 

strategies, the business model, the organisational set-up and 

competence rules with the existing remuneration structure 

should not provide incentives to take on disproportionately 

high risks and should not conflict with the monitoring func-

tion of the control units. In addition, there is no significant de-

pendence on a variable remuneration. Entitlements 

established in individual contracts to benefits in the event of 

termination of activities are not created in an amount which 

remains unchanged despite any negative individual perfor-

mance contributions. The structure of the remuneration runs 

not counter to the control function of the control units. Spe-

cial attention was given to ensure that the structure of the 

variable remuneration systems for the employees in the con-

trol units are not concurrent with the departments controlled 

and the organisational units monitored by them so that there 

is no threat of a conflict of interest. 

Moreover, the requirements of section 10 of the Insti-

tutsVergV are also recognised. In addition, the emphasis of 

the remuneration structure regarding the control units’ staff 

is on their fixed remuneration (section 9 (2) of the Insti-

tutsVergV).  
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G.G Remuneration system of the Managing Board 

The Supervisory Board has determined the remuneration for 

2024 on an individual basis as follows. The remuneration of 

former members of the Managing Board is presented in the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements under "Other 

information".  

 

Remuneration             

  Eckart KlumppE Donglim ShinF Álvaro Hernández 
in Euro FDFH actual FDFG actual FDFH actual FDFG actual FDFH actual FDFG actual                             
Basic remuneration IFD,DDD - - GJD,IKJ GDD,DDD GDD,DDD 

Taxable pecuniary benefits and other fringe 

benefits EJE,GMI - - EEK,JFK EDE,FDK EDH,FFD 

Total fixed remuneration JLE,GMI - - HKL,FDG HDE,FDK HDH,FFD 

Multi-year variable remuneration EME,EDD - - IL,IHL EFI,KDD EDM,LMD 

Total remuneration LKF,HMI - - IGJ,KIE IFJ,MDK IEH,EED                             
1 Since 01 January 2024 
2 Until 31 December 2023 

The remuneration system for the Managing Board of Allane 

SE is determined by the Supervisory Board. The statutory re-

quirements and the recommendations and suggestions of 

the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC) are taken 

into account, which are essentially followed (deviations can 

be viewed in the declaration of conformity on the website 

ir.allane-mobility-group.com). The structure of the remuner-

ation system is regularly reviewed for appropriateness. This is 

to ensure that the remuneration is commensurate with the 

tasks and performance of the Managing Board. 

The total remuneration of the Managing Board consists of a 

fixed basic salary and a variable salary component (bonus), 

which is determined and set by the Supervisory Board for 

each financial year on the basis of individual targets and the 

company rating (MBODs). The bonus payment is subject to 

the company's current remuneration principles.  

As a result of the acquisition of the majority of shares and vot-

ing rights in Allane SE by Hyundai Capital Bank Europe 

GmbH, the company must comply with special banking su-

pervisory regulations.  

The so-called risk takers apply to the variable remuneration 

of the Managing Board in particular in accordance with Sec-

tions 19 to 22 in conjunction with Section 27 InstitutsVergV. 

In particular, this means that the payment of 40% of the vari-

able remuneration must be extended over a deferral period 

of up to five years under certain circumstances. This relates to 

any deferral components of the variable remuneration.Under 

certain circumstances, the payment of 70% of the variable re-

muneration must be deferred over a retention period of up to 

four years.  

In addition, the members of the Managing Board, like other 

managers of the Allane Mobility Group, receive benefits such 

as a company car, fuel card, cell phone and contributions to 

accident insurance. Furthermore, D&O insurance has been 

taken out for the members of the Managing Board. There are 

no pension commitments for the members of the Managing 

Board. 

G.H Remuneration system of the Supervisory Board 

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is governed by 

the Articles of Association of Allane SE. These only provide 

for a non-performance-related remuneration component 

and therefore no performance-related variable remuneration 

components. In accordance with the Articles of Association, 

the members of the Supervisory Board are entitled to fixed 

remuneration of EUR 40,000 in each financial year, while the 

Chairperson is entitled to EUR 50,000. If the office of mem-

ber and/or chairperson of the Supervisory Board is not exer-

cised for the entire duration of a financial year, the 

aforementioned remuneration is granted pro rata temporis in 

accordance with the actual duration of membership of the 

Supervisory Board or the exercise of the office of chairperson. 

The remuneration is due for payment at the end of each fi-

nancial year. The members of the Supervisory Board are also 
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reimbursed for their expenses and the value added tax paya-

ble on their remuneration and expenses. D&O insurance has 

also been taken out for members of the Supervisory Board. 

There are no pension commitments for the members of the 

Supervisory Board. In addition, the members of the compa-

ny's Supervisory Board who are affiliated with the current ma-

jority shareholder have waived their claims to remuneration. 
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Composition of subscribed capital, share 

categories 

As of 31 December 2024, the share capital of Allane SE 

amounted to EUR 20,611,593.00 in total and was composed 

of 20,611,593 ordinary bearer shares. The Company's shares 

are no-par value shares with a notional interest in the share 

capital of EUR 1.00 per share. All shares have been fully paid 

up. The shareholders' rights and obligations are governed by 

the provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act (Ak-

tiengesetz – AktG), in particular by sections 12, 53a et seq., 118 

et seq. and 186 of the AktG. 

Restrictions on voting rights or the transfer of 

shares 

Each ordinary share entitles its holder to one vote at the An-

nual General Meeting and determines the shareholder's por-

tion in the Company's profit. Exempted are any treasury 

shares held by the Company, which do not confer any rights 

onto the Company. In cases of section 136 of the AktG, the 

voting right for the concerned shares is excluded by law. 

The Company's Articles of Association do not impose any re-

strictions on the voting rights. Equally, they do not impose 

any restrictions on the transfer of shares. The Managing 

Board is not aware of any agreements between shareholders 

aimed at restricting voting rights or the transfer of shares.  

Shareholdings in Allane SE 

Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH, with its registered of-

fice in Frankfurt am Main, Germany, continues to hold 

18,976,123 ordinary voting shares in the share capital of the 

Company pursuant to the latest voting rights announcement 

published in connection with the acquisition as of 16 July 

2020, accounting for 92.07% of the voting rights. The Com-

pany has not received any information about, and the Man-

aging Board is not aware of, any further direct or indirect 

interests in the share capital exceeding 10% of the voting 

rights as at 31 December 2024. 

Shares with special rights 

As of 31 December 2024, there are no shares conveying spe-

cial control rights. Employee participation and their control 

rights. 

Employee participation and their control rights 

The Company is not aware of any employees holding shares 

in the Company's capital where the employees' control rights 

are not exercised directly. 

Appointment and dismissal of Managing 

Board members, amendments to the Articles 

of Association 

Allane SE has a two-tier management and monitoring system, 

made up of a management body (Managing Board) and a su-

pervisory body (Supervisory Board). The legal stipulations 

and conditions of the Articles of Association governing the 

appointment and dismissal of Managing Board members are 

defined in article 39 (2), sent. 1 of the SE Regulation (SE-VO), 

article 46 SE-VO, section 16 of the SE Implementation Act 

(SEAG), article 9 (1) lit. c ii of the SE-VO, sections 84, 85 AktG 

and section 7 of the Articles of Association. 

In accordance with these, the Managing Board comprises 

one or more members. The Supervisory Board determines 

the number of Managing Board members, as it appoints a 

chairperson or speaker as well as a deputy chairperson or 

deputy speaker for the Managing Board. Furthermore, the 

statutory provisions of section 84 and section 85 of the AktG 

apply for the appointment and dismissal of Managing Board 

members. 

Amendments to the Articles of Association of Allane SE are 

resolved by the Annual General Meeting. In accordance with 

article 16 of the Articles of Association, amendments to the 

Articles of Association that only concern the formal wording 

may also be resolved by the Supervisory Board. Mandatory 

statutory provisions require resolutions to amend the Articles 

of Association to be adopted by a majority of three-quarters 

of the share capital represented at the adoption of the reso-

lution (article 59 (1) SE-VO, section 179 (2) sent. 1 of the AktG).  

However, the law also provides for the possibility that the Ar-

ticles of Association allow for a smaller majority providing that 

at least half of the subscribed capital is presented. This possi-

bility does not apply though to a change of the Company’s 

purpose, relocation of the Company’s seat into another 

member state of the European Union, or for cases where a 

higher majority of capital is mandatory under statutory provi-

sions (article 59 (2) SE-VO, section 51 SEAG). 

Allane SE has made use of the option of specifying different 

majority requirements by means of a provision in the Articles 

of Association that is common among listed companies. Ac-

cording to section 20 (2) of the Articles of Association, deci-

sions of the Annual General Meeting can be adopted by a 

simple majority of votes cast, insofar as this does not conflict 

with any mandatory statutory provisions or the Articles of 

B.4 – Disclosures in accordance with the sections 289a and 

315a of the HGB 
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Association. According to section 20 (3) of the Articles of As-

sociation, amendments to the Articles of Association can be 

adopted by a simple majority of the submitted valid votes if 

at least half of the voting share capital is represented and in-

sofar as this does not conflict with any mandatory statutory 

provisions. 

Powers of the Managing Board with regard to 

the issue and buyback of shares 

Conditional capital 
In accordance with section 4 (4) of the Articles of Association, 

by resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 1 June 2016, 

the Company's share capital is conditionally increased by up 

to a total of EUR 4,122,318.00 (Conditional Capital 2016). The 

Conditional Capital 2016 serves the purpose of granting 

shares to the holders and/or creditors of convertible bonds 

as well as the holders of option rights from option bonds. Fur-

ther details follow from the aforementioned article of the Ar-

ticles of Association. 

In addition, the Company's share capital has been condition-

ally increased by a total of up to EUR 1,000,000.00 (Condi-

tional Capital 2017) in accordance with section 4 (5) of the 

Articles of Association by resolution of the Annual General 

Meeting on 29 June 2017. Conditional Capital 2017 is used to 

service the stock option program 2017 and will only be ef-

fected to the extent that subscription rights are issued under 

the stock option program 2017 and the holders of the sub-

scription rights make use of their exercise rights. Further de-

tails follow from the aforementioned article of the Articles of 

Association. 

Significant agreements by the Company that 

are subject to a change of control as a result 

of a takeover offer 

Agreements with Sixt SE and subsidiaries 

As part of the sale of Sixt SE's stake in Allane SE to Hyundai 

Capital Bank Europe GmbH ("HCBE") agreed on 21 February 

2020, Allane SE and Sixt SE have concluded an agreement 

on the continued use of the existing trademark rights ("trade-

mark agreement") for a period of five years from the date of 

closing of the transaction. 

The right to use the brands ends in June of the 2025 financial 

year. 

The lease agreement concluded as part of the sale of Sixt SE's 

stake in the company to HCBE for the properties used by the 

company at its registered office, which are owned by a sub-

sidiary of Sixt SE and has already been terminated as of 

30 June 2025, provides for a special right of termination.  

The trademark agreement as well as the concluded lease 

agreements can be extraordinarily terminated by the con-

tractual partner Sixt SE if the shareholding of HCBE (or that 

of a company affiliated with it) falls below a threshold value 

equal to the shareholding of around 41.9% acquired by Sixt SE 

or if a third party acquires a shareholding in Allane SE that is 

larger than the shareholding of HCBE and companies affili-

ated with it. They can also be terminated for cause if shares in 

the company are transferred directly or indirectly to compet-

itors of Sixt SE by HCBE or its shareholders. 

Compensation agreements between the 

Company and members of the Managing 

Board or employees in the case of a takeover 

offer  

The Company has no agreements with members of the Man-

aging Board or employees that would entitle them to com-

pensation in the case of a takeover offer.  
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E. Economic environment 

In its April 2025 outlook, the International Monetary Fund 

(IMF) expects the global economy to grow by 2.8% for the 

year as a whole. The figure is 0.5 percentage points below 

both the January 2025 forecast and global GDP growth of 

3.3 % in 2024. According to the IMF, the downward revision 

reflects in particular the direct impact of new trade measures 

and their indirect consequences via disrupted supply chains, 

increased uncertainty and a deterioration in economic senti-

ment. 

The IMF expects marginal GDP growth of 0.8% for the euro-

zone in 2025 (2024: 0.9%). The January forecast has thus 

been revised downwards by 0.2 percentage points. The main 

reasons for this were the continuing economic weakness in 

Germany and the overall sluggish growth in the advanced 

European economies.  

The IMF expects Germany to stagnate after GDP fell by 0.2% 

in 2024. In January, the IMF experts had forecast an increase 

of 0.3% for 2025. 

In its March 2025 outlook, the Kiel Institute for the World 

Economy (IfW) expects global GDP to grow by 3.1% in 2025, 

leaving the forecast from December 2024 virtually un-

changed. Despite geopolitical tensions, growing economic 

policy uncertainty - particularly due to the trade measures 

announced by the new US administration - and weaker impe-

tus from China and the US, the IfW expects the global econ-

omy to expand at a moderate but stable rate. Fiscal policy 

stimuli, such as higher defence spending, and a slight eco-

nomic upturn in Europe will have a stabilizing effect. 

Inflation has only fallen slowly recently, which is mainly due to 

the persistent rise in service prices and the lack of falling en-

ergy prices compared to the previous year. The expected fur-

ther decline in inflation towards the 2 per cent target is also 

likely to be gradual. There is also a risk that monetary policy 

will remain restrictive for longer than currently assumed. 

In addition, there are still considerable risks for the global 

economy, particularly due to a possible escalation of geopo-

litical conflicts such as the war in Ukraine or the ongoing Mid-

dle East conflict between Israel and Palestine. Trade tensions 

also remain a source of uncertainty - particularly with regard 

to new protectionist measures by the US government, which 

could potentially lead to further backlash from China and Eu-

rope. 

In its March 2025 outlook, the IfW expects economic growth 

of 1.0% for the eurozone in 2025. Thus it is increasing its fore-

cast from December 2024 by 0.1 percentage points. The fore-

cast reflects only a moderate economic recovery, supported 

by individual stimuli in the manufacturing sector and stable 

consumer demand. Overall, however, economic momentum 

remains subdued - not least against the backdrop of ongoing 

uncertainties in the external economic environment and lim-

ited growth stimuli from monetary policy. The IfW forecasts 

an inflation rate of 2.3% for the eurozone in 2025. 

For Germany, the IfW expects GDP to stagnate in 2025. The 

forecast from December 2024 has thus been maintained. 

The reason for this is the persistently weak economic mo-

mentum: signs of a noticeable economic upturn are rare, 

and structural problems - such as the loss of competitive-

ness in exports and uncertainties caused by the erratic US 

trade policy - are placing an additional burden on the Ger-

man economy.  

Compared to the December forecast, the IfW has revised its 

expectations for the development of unemployment in Ger-

many in 2025 slightly upwards. Instead of a rate of 6.0%, an 

average value of 6.2% is now expected. This correction re-

flects the persistently weak economic momentum, which is 

slowing down a rapid recovery on the labor market. Despite 

the slightly more expansive fiscal policy and a certain stabili-

zation of energy prices, domestic demand remains subdued, 

which is having a dampening effect on employment growth. 

In addition, inflation remains high, particularly in the service 

sector, which is weighing on real incomes and slowing con-

sumer spending. Against this backdrop, the recovery on the 

labor market is likely to be delayed and flatter than previ-

ously assumed. According to the IfW, the inflation rate is ex-

pected to fall slightly to 2.0% in 2025. 

Sources 
IWF, World Economic Outlook Update, April 2025; 
IfW, Kieler Konjunkturberichte, Weltwirtschaft im Frühjahr 2025, Nr. 121, März 
2025; 
IfW, Kieler Konjunkturberichte, Deutsche Wirtschaft im Frühjahr 2025, Nr. 
122, März 2025. 
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F. Projected industry development  

According to the Federal Association of German Leasing 

Companies (BDL), the outlook for the German leasing indus-

try in 2025 is furthermore subdued. Many companies are 

likely to remain reluctant to invest, as geopolitical tensions, 

economic uncertainty and growing risks due to the US ad-

ministration's protectionist tariff policy are making planning 

more difficult. As a result, the BDL anticipates a moderate de-

cline in equipment investments, which is likely to further 

dampen growth in the leasing industry, which finances a sig-

nificant proportion of these investments. 

The German Association of the Automotive Industry (VDA) 

expects the global passenger car market to grow moderately 

by 2.0% in 2025, following growth of 3.0% last year. The total 

volume would thereof increase to 80.4 million units. Compa-

nies are likely to remain reluctant to invest, as the uncertain 

economic situation, geopolitical risks and the unclear politi-

cal direction of the new German government are making it 

difficult to plan. The BDL therefore anticipates a decline in in-

vestment in equipment, which is likely to further dampen 

growth in the leasing sector, which finances a significant pro-

portion of these investments. 

For the German market, the VDA is forecasting a growth of 

1.0% to 2.8 million passenger cars which is still around a quar-

ter less than in the pre-crisis year of 2019. As a result of the 

CO2 fleet regulation, a significant increase in new registra-

tions of electric vehicles is also likely to be recorded in Ger-

many in 2025, with the VDA expecting growth of 53% to 

around 873,000 units. Battery electric vehicles (BEV) are ex-

pected to increase by around 75%, plug-in hybrids (PHEV) by 

only 8%. 

For car production in Germany, the VDA forecasts an in-

crease of 1% to 4.2 million units. This only slight increase is 

partly due to the overall economic weakness. However, the 

VDA expects German manufacturers' foreign production to 

grow by 2.0% to 9.7 million cars in 2025. In the area of domes-

tic production of electric cars, the experts expect continued 

positive development in 2025, following on from the previous 

year's production record. The VDA anticipates growth of 24%, 

with BEV production set to increase by 30% and PHEV pro-

duction by 2%. This means that a total of 1.7 million electric 

cars could be produced in Germany, further consolidating its 

position as the world's second-largest production location for 

electric vehicles. 

According to the Allane Mobility Group, providers of fleet 

management services could experience good demand even 

in a tense macroeconomic environment, as companies need 

to reduce their internal expenditure and overall fleet operat-

ing costs, especially in these situations. By outsourcing fleet 

management, they benefit from the expertise of service pro-

viders in purchasing and vehicle marketing as well as their 

maintenance and repair networks, while they can save on per-

sonnel resources and concentrate on their core business. 

Sources 
BDL, BDL-RS 7-01-2025, Anlage, February 10, 2025. 
VDA, Press release, VDA annual kick-off press conference 2025, January 21, 
2025. 

G. Expected general development  

Allane Mobility Group intends to further strengthen its posi-

tion as a provider of digital leasing solutions in the new vehi-

cle segment and to position itself even more clearly as a 

specialist in the management and full-service leasing of com-

pany fleets in 2025. At the same time, the company is actively 

driving forward the expansion of the captive leasing business 

in order to further develop this strategically important growth 

driver and consolidate its market position. 

The new strategic direction of the Allane Mobility Group - 

„FAST LANE 27“ – forms the foundation for establishing itself 

as the leading cross-brand provider of comprehensive mobil-

ity solutions in the key markets Germany, France, Switzerland 

and Austria in the long term. The overarching goal is to meet 

changing customer needs and grow profitably.  

Initial measures have already been implemented in recent fi-

nancial years, including the optimization of the digital leasing 

platforms, the expansion of strategic partnerships and the 

further development of the product portfolio. These steps are 

to be systematically continued in the current 2025 financial 

year. 

Among other things,, the Allane Mobility Group is planning to 

further expand its offering, taking into account trends such as 

used car leasing, electromobility and modular services. At the 

same time, innovation and cooperation will become even 

more important. The rapidly growing business segment Cap-
tive Leasing, which was established under the ‘Hyundai 

Leasing’ and ‘Kia Leasing’ brands as part of the cooperation 

with Hyundai and Kia, will further increase the share of these 

two brands in the Group's contract portfolio. 

In addition, measures to optimize processes and costs should 

have a positive impact on the Group's productivity and earn-

ings performance. The aim is to make internal processes even 
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more efficient through the further digitalization and automa-

tion of business processes. In addition, further measures will 

be implemented to optimize the cost structure by making 

even better use of synergies between the divisions. 

Further growth and synergy opportunities could arise from 

the cooperation with HCBE, the majority shareholder of Al-

lane SE.  

The Allane Mobility Group expects a dynamic development 

in electromobility in the year 2025. Last year, the number of 

new battery-electric registrations in Germany stagnated for 

the first time in particular due to the cancellation of the BAFA 

premium and a decline in demand for new vehicles. However, 

growth is expected to resume in 2025, driven by stricter CO2 

fleet limits for manufacturers and the increasing sustainability 

ambitions of companies. Fleet customers in particular are 

continuously increasing the proportion of battery electric ve-

hicles in order to reduce the carbon footprint of their com-

pany fleets. Some companies are going even further and are 

planning to switch their fleets completely to battery electric 

vehicles by 2030. 

G.E Leasing  division 

G.E.E Fleet Leasing 
In Fleet Leasing, Allane operates in a highly competitive mar-

ket that is dominated in Germany by the large manufacturer-

dependent leasing companies. Therefore, the company fo-

cuses in particular on strengthening long-standing customer 

relationships and winning over existing customers with indi-

vidual solutions and consistently high service quality, in the 

major customer segment.  

Allane intends to continue proactive contract monitoring in 

the 2025 financial year and to optimize and flexibilize term 

and mileage changes for fleet customers. 

Fleet leasing, which has been operating under the ‘Allane 

Fleet’ brand since 2023, will continue to focus on e-mobility 

in the medium term - despite the decline observed on the 

market due to the loss of purchase premiums. To this end, the 

Allane Mobility Group is gradually expanding its established 

competence centre for e-mobility in fleet leasing, where cus-

tomers are offered both targeted products and comprehen-

sive advisory services. Due to further tightening of CO2 

regulations, the transformation to e-mobility is once again 

gaining in importance. On the one hand, the toolset for con-

sulting will be further expanded and, on the other, new 

partnerships will be established in order to offer customers a 

broad portfolio of services. 

G.E.F Online Retail 
The Allane Mobility Group expects furthermore that new car 

sales will increasingly shift to online channels. This develop-

ment is also reflected in numerous studies (see "Opportuni-

ties report" in this management report). 

The Allane Mobility Group has set itself the goal of further ex-

panding the online leasing market for private and commercial 

customers. In the 2025 financial year, the focus will be on a 

comprehensive branding campaign aimed at increasing the 

visibility of the ‘allane.de’ platform. Animated advertisements 

and moving image formats will be used to present the most 

attractive offers and highlight the diverse product portfolio in 

a targeted manner. Additional campaigns and co-operations 

are intended to gain further market share. 

The Allane Mobility Group is continuously developing its 

product and service offering in the Online Retail segment in 

order to reach new customer groups and achieve additional 

growth. In particular, sales and purchasing co-operations for 

the marketing of new cars are intended to support contract 

portfolio growth. 

In addition to expanding its range of products and services, 

the Allane Mobility Group attaches great importance to the 

further development of IT systems and the optimisation of 

customer processes. In order to further enhance the cus-

tomer experience and customer satisfaction, the ‘allan-e.de’ 

website and the processes for ordering, delivery and returns 

are to be made even more user-friendly. This should also ac-

tively promote the conclusion of new and follow-up contracts. 

The online retail business will continue to be supported by 

the four autohaus24 locations. 

 

G.E.G Captive Leasing 
The core of captive leasing is the "Allease" leasing portal de-

veloped by the Allane Mobility Group itself that enables the 

manufacturers Hyundai and Kia to market their vehicles to 

customers via their own dealer network. 

The Allane Mobility Group is continuously working on further 

optimising the quality of the leasing portal. In the 2025 finan-

cial year, the company plans to intensify its exchange with 

dealers and respond specifically to their requirements. 
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In addition, the Allane Mobility Group plans to further inten-

sify and expand new business as part of the partnerships with 

Hyundai and Kia launched in 2022 and 2023 respectively. In 

addition to the further development of systems and pro-

cesses, the focus will be on expanding the product range. Ad-

ditional service products, such as tyre service and fuel card 

service, are to be implemented. 

The aim is to further strengthen co-operation with Hyundai 

and Kia dealers, particularly in the commercial customer 

business. 

G.F Fleet Management business unit 

In the Fleet Management division, the Allane Mobility Group 

intends to continue to exploit the trend towards outsourcing 

fleet management for larger companies in order to acquire 

new customers. Business in existing markets is also to be fur-

ther strengthened in the coming years, particularly through 

the expansion of customer relationships. 

Allane will also continue to focus on intelligent IT solutions in 

the future and invest continuously in the further develop-

ment of its digital infrastructure and the digitalization of its 

business model. The aim is to further improve the level of ser-

vice for corporate customers and the user experience for 

company car drivers through digital solutions. By expanding 

self-service options and automating processes, personnel 

costs for user support can be reduced and shifted to other 

activities such as advisory services. The company expects 

positive effects on productivity and customer satisfaction. 

In the long term, the Fleet Management division is to develop 

into a full-service provider of corporate mobility. The mobility 

needs of employees have changed significantly in recent 

years, particularly in large cities. Although the company car is 

likely to remain a central component of corporate mobility, 

the demand from employees for flexible and individual mo-

bility options that integrate all modes of transportation is 

steadily increasing. Allane's Fleet Management division is 

therefore preparing to manage the entire spectrum of corpo-

rate mobility across all suppliers and providers: from classic 

company cars to other mobility solutions in the B2B business 

sector. For example, Allane develops customer-specific mo-

bility concepts that enable companies to increase their at-

tractiveness on the job market and better meet the mobility 

needs of their employees. 
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H. Financial outlook FDFI 

Taking into account the subordinated loan agreement con-

cluded in June 2025 by the majority shareholder Hyundai 

Capital Bank Europe GmbH to strengthen the risk-bearing 

capacity and the stabilization of the residual vehicle values on 

the used car market, the Executive Board expects positive 

business development in the 2025 financial year. For the 

2025 financial year, the Executive Board expects a contract 

portfolio in the range of 150,000 to 170,000 contracts (2024: 

143,500 contracts) and consolidated operating sales of EUR 

570 to 620 million (2024: EUR 412.9 million). The Executive 

Board expects EBT to be in the range of EUR 25 million to 

EUR 35 million (2024: EUR -49.3 million).  

The Allane Mobility Group's forecast for the 2025 financial 

year is based on moderate macroeconomic development and 

industry-specific trends. The company expects only a slight 

increase in gross domestic product in Germany, while the 

market environment is likely to remain largely stable.  

An important factor for the operating business is the devel-

opment of interest rates. After two interest rate cuts of 0.25 

percentage points each so far in 2025, the ECB's key interest 

rate now stands at 2.25%. The decline in interest rates should 

have a positive impact on the leasing business. 

The Allane Mobility Group also expects a slight increase in 

new car registrations in Germany in 2025, from which fleet 

leasing and indirectly fleet management in particular should 

benefit - not least because a high proportion of registrations 

are accounted for by commercial fleets. The captive leasing 

segment is also likely to be supported by this trend, as it is 

closely linked to Hyundai and Kia vehicle sales in Germany. 

Both brands are firmly established in the market and offer a 

wide range of models across various drive systems. In addi-

tion, the Allane Mobility Group's contract portfolio is being 

continuously expanded due to the existing contract terms, 

regardless of market developments. A general increase in 

new registrations should also have a positive impact on busi-

ness in the Online Retail segment.  

In addition, used car sales in Germany are expected to in-

crease in 2025. This development could facilitate the market-

ing of lease returns and have a positive impact on the Allane 

Mobility Group's operating result.  

The Allane Mobility Group will continue to consistently pur-

sue its FAST LANE 27 strategy to increase profitability in 

2025. The focus here is not only on concluding new contracts, 

but in particular on their economic quality. The key levers are 

margin-optimized leasing rate calculation and the deliberate 

avoidance of large-volume sales campaigns with limited 

earnings potential. In addition, the proportion of full-service 

products in all business areas is to be expanded in a targeted 

manner - including through attractive, target group-specific 

pricing. These measures are aimed at sustainably strengthen-

ing the Group's earning power while ensuring stable, value-

oriented growth. 

Overall statement on future development 

The Allane Mobility Group expects stable business develop-

ment in a moderately growing economic environment in 

2025. Falling interest rates and rising new vehicle registra-

tions should have a positive impact on the leasing and fleet 

management business, while the used vehicle market also of-

fers opportunities for growth. With the FAST LANE 27 strat-

egy, the company is focusing on increasing profitability, 

expanding service offerings and improving efficiency. 

Among other things, the strategy includes the further expan-

sion of partnerships with Hyundai and Kia as a key driver of 

future growth. 

After a challenging financial year 2024, the Allane Mobility 

Group expects a significant improvement in its net assets, fi-

nancial position and results of operations in 2025. Against 

the backdrop of the aforementioned market developments 

and internal measures to increase efficiency, the Allane Mo-

bility Group is confident about 2025. 
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E. Risk situation 

As a group of companies operating mainly in Germany, the 

Allane Mobility Group is exposed to a variety of risks that can 

have a significant impact on the Group's business, net assets, 

financial position and results of operations. 

E.E General market risks: economic and regulatory risks 

Economic risks: 

The Allane Mobility Group operates in two business areas: 

Leasing, which is divided into the operating segments Fleet 

Leasing, Online Retail, and Captive Leasing, and Fleet Man-

agement. In 2024, the focus of business activities remained 

in Germany. 

Both business areas are highly dependent on the overall eco-

nomic environment, as this has a significant impact on cus-

tomers' investment and spending propensity and thus on 

demand for leasing and fleet management services. 

The business development of the Allane Mobility Group may 

also be adversely affected by unforeseeable external influ-

ences such as natural and environmental disasters, terrorist 

attacks, epidemics, or pandemics. Such events can have a di-

rect negative impact on operations as well as on general de-

mand and the supply situation. 

Such external shocks may lead to payment defaults in the ex-

isting customer portfolio. Defaults by dealers or manufactur-

ers – particularly in connection with repurchase agreements 

– and by service providers are also possible. 

In addition, the technological transformation from combus-

tion technologies to alternative drive systems is giving rise to 

additional economic risks that could have a negative impact 

on the residual values of vehicles. 

Regulatory risks: 

The Allane Mobility Group's business is subject to numerous 

laws and regulations. There is a risk that Allane may fail to 

comply with all legal or regulatory requirements or to respond 

in a timely manner to changes in the legal or regulatory envi-

ronment. In addition to its obligations under the German 

Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and the German Banking Act 

(KWG), Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH obtained a license 

to provide payment services in accordance with the Payment 

Services Supervision Act (ZAG) in the 2024 financial year. 

Measures have been taken to implement the necessary pro-

cesses to comply with the associated notification and report-

ing requirements in the context of the ZAG. 

E.F Specific risks in the Leasing and Fleet Management 
business units 

The current market developments in the automotive sector 

are having a clear impact on all business segments. 

The weak economy is particularly noticeable, making both 

private and corporate customers more reluctant to make new 

purchases. In addition, rising interest rates are leading to 

higher leasing rates. At the same time, prices for new vehicles 

remain at a high level, as increased raw material costs and 

manufacturers' margin requirements leave little room for dis-

counts. Although some customer groups still have a pent-up 

demand for vehicle purchases, the high cost of living and fi-

nancial uncertainty are dampening their willingness to buy. 

This development is particularly noticeable in the online retail 

sector. Here, digital platforms are focusing on speed and cost 

transparency, but are reaching their limits when rising prices 

and expiring subsidies affect consumers' purchasing power. 

Manufacturer and bank-related leasing companies react with 

short-term discount campaigns or tactical approvals, which 

further increases the pressure on margins for online providers. 

In Fleet Leasing, which is geared towards business custom-

ers, the declining willingness to invest and economic uncer-

tainty are making long-term fleet planning more difficult. In 

this environment, the full-service approach of the Allane Mo-

bility Group, which includes leasing, maintenance, repairs, 

and insurance, creates clear added value compared to pure 

leasing models. 

In the Captive Leasing segment, the Allane Mobility Group 

benefits from strategic partnerships with Hyundai and Kia. 

The close connection to a car manufacturer brings clear ad-

vantages, for example through targeted marketing measures. 

At the same time, however, there is a specific concentration 

risk, as the sales and therefore indirectly the segment result is 

strongly influenced by the model portfolios and corporate 

strategy of Hyundai and Kia.  

B.6 – Report on risks and opportunities 
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With its Fleet Management, the Allane Mobility Group pur-

sues a holistic approach to managing company fleets. The 

aim is to use digital tools and standardized processes to en-

sure efficient management and a comprehensive mobility of-

fering. This strategic orientation opens up additional growth 

opportunities, but also requires high investments in IT infra-

structure, data protection measures and specialized services. 

At the same time, new mobility concepts such as car sharing 

or pay-per-use are becoming increasingly important. These 

trends are prompting companies to rethink their traditional 

fleet structures, which is also presenting fleet managers with 

new challenges. 

The current situation illustrates how strongly Allane Mobility 

Group's leasing and mobility offerings are linked to the over-

all economic development, and the accelerated electrifica-

tion also requires a continuous adjustment of the product 

and risk strategy. In order to meet these challenges, the Al-

lane Mobility Group relies on forward-looking risk manage-

ment, ongoing process optimization and targeted 

diversification of its business portfolio. 
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F. Internal control and risk management 
organisation  

F.E Risk management system 

Risk Management supports the management of the Allane 

Mobility Group in implementing the business and risk strat-

egy and is responsible for monitoring all relevant risks domes-

tic and abroad. 

The processes established at Allane SE for identifying, as-

sessing, managing, monitoring and communicating risks, as 

well as the rules governing the structural and procedural or-

ganization, are based on the minimum requirements for the 

risk management of banks and financial services institutions 

(MaRisk) established by the German Federal Financial Su-

pervisory Authority (BaFin).  

During the reporting period, Allane SE took measures to im-

plement the requirements pursuant to Section 25a of the 

German Banking Act (KWG) and the specific requirements 

set out in the MaRisk guidelines regarding the adequacy of 

risk management and the proper organization of business 

operations. In doing so, the complexity of the business model 

and the extent of the risks entered into by the company were 

taken into account. 

Allane SE has established the following committees - with no 

changes in the 2024 financial year - which are responsible for 

risk management, control and supervision, among other 

things: 

 The Risk Approval Committee (RAC) is the collegial 

committee that supports and advises the Managing Board 

on all risk management matters at Allane. For approvals 

granted by the Managing Board or Supervisory Board, the 

RAC provides support by reviewing and assessing the ap-

proval. The RAC, which meets monthly, is chaired by the 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO). 

 

 The Risk Control Committee (RCC) is a collegial com-

mittee responsible for monitoring and controlling Allane's 

risks. The RCC’s tasks are to ensure effective control of 

risks and to ensure that risks are managed in accordance 

with the risk appetite approved by the Supervisory Board, 

always taking a holistic view of all risks identified in the risk 

map of the risk framework. The RCC, which meets 

monthly, is chaired by the Chief Risk Officer (CRO). 

 

 The Residual Value & Pricing Committee (RVPC) is a 

committee responsible for the appropriateness and effi-

ciency of Allane's residual value determination. The RVPC, 

which meets quarterly, is chaired by the CRO. 

 

Allane SE only takes risks if it considers them to be calculable 

and if they are in line with the objectives set out in the corpo-

rate and Group strategy and the previously defined risk ap-

petite. 

Based on the risk strategy defined by the Executive Board, 

the identification, systematic recording and analysis, assess-

ment and prioritization as well as the analysis of the influ-

ences and effects of risks on the company are key 

components of the risk management system. This is intended 

to ensure a clear separation of responsibilities between the 

business and operating units, risk management, control and 

monitoring functions, and process-independent auditing. 

The materiality of risks is determined annually or as required 

(e.g. when introducing new products or business areas) as 

part of the risk inventory. The results form the basis for risk 

management, which is prepared quarterly for risk reporting - 

as part of the risk-bearing capacity calculation - and contains 

all of the company's material risks. Taking into account any 

outsourced processes, Allane SE has a risk management sys-

tem for monitoring all relevant risk items. This is intended to 

ensure a clear separation of responsibilities between the 

business and operating units, risk management, control and 

monitoring functions, and process-independent auditing. 

Allane SE has made appropriate provisions for default risks 

and other risks arising from its business activities 

F.F Internal control and risk management system for 
(Group) accounting (disclosures in accordance with 
sections FLM (H), GEI (H) of the HGB – German 
Commercial Code) 

The internal control and risk management system for the ac-

counting of the Group and the company includes organiza-

tional regulations and technical specifications for risk 

mapping in accounting. Additionally, general rules of conduct 

for employees are also set out in the company's internal Code 

of Conduct.  

Key elements of the internal control and risk management 

system are the clear and appropriate separation of functions 

in the Managing Board and management responsibilities, in-

cluding management control processes. This includes 
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centrally organized accounting and reporting for all Group 

companies, specialist requirements in guidelines, manuals 

and process descriptions as well as the application of Group 

guidelines Business transactions must be recorded in ac-

cordance with the dual control principle. Quality assurance 

processes must be ensured through regular review and con-

trol mechanisms, which are monitored by the ICS officer with 

the aid of tools. The system is supplemented by technical se-

curity measures, manual control processes, and regular com-

parison with planning and controlling processes. To this end, 

actual/target comparisons, deviation analyses, and effective-

ness tests are planned, which are to be carried out by the in-

ternal audit department. 

To increase data security, access restrictions and functional 

access rules are implemented as standard in the accounting-

related systems used. In addition, employees must be regu-

larly informed about information security and data protection 

guidelines and trained accordingly. 

Compliance with these security measures is intended to help 

ensure the integrity and reliability of financial reporting. In 

this context, it is intended that the Supervisory Board reviews 

the annual financial statements and consolidated financial 

statements, including the management report for the Group 

and the company, as well as the affiliation report, and dis-

cusses them with the Management Board and the auditor. 
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G. Risk management and controlling process 

In addition to integrating risks into the existing planning, re-

porting, control and early warning systems, the risk managers 

of the respective organizational units are responsible for reg-

ularly carrying out a Group-wide risk inventory as part of risk 

controlling. All business-relevant and significant risks are ex-

amined in this process. For this purpose, the assessments of 

those responsible and other relevant information are ana-

lyzed and aggregated. Significant changes in the risk assess-

ment and newly identified risks must be communicated 

immediately to the management of Allane SE and presented 

as part of the presentation of the risk inventory results. 

The individual risks identified are assigned to different loss 

classes and categorized according to risk type based on an 

assessment of their probability of occurrence and the poten-

tial amount of loss. The individual risks recorded in this de-

centralized manner are consolidated into a risk inventory by 

the central risk controlling department at Group level, which 

also assesses the materiality of the individual risks identified. 

The risk inventory result determined on this basis forms part 

of the reporting to the Managing Board and the Supervisory 

Board of Allane SE.  

The main types of risk are presented in aggregated form be-

low. 

G.E Counterparty default risk 

The counterparty default risk consists of lessees and fleet 

management customers not fulfilling their payment obliga-

tions during the term of the contract, or only partially fulfilling 

them, or vehicle suppliers not fulfilling the repurchase agree-

ments made with Allane SE, resulting in payment defaults. 

This risk in the customer business tends to increase in the 

event of a deterioration in the economic situation, which can 

lead to increased payment defaults by leasing and fleet man-

agement customers and vehicle suppliers with buyback obli-

gations. 

The established credit management system identifies the 

counterparty default risks of all individual exposures upon re-

ceipt of the leasing or fleet management contract. When set-

ting up an overall framework for leasing agreements with 

customers and vehicle buy-back agreements with manufac-

turers and dealers, the approval or information of certain 

bodies or committees (including the Risk Approval Commit-

tee) is required in accordance with the prescribed authority 

regulations if certain thresholds are exceeded, which are 

generally based on the present value of the outstanding pay-

ments from the leasing agreements or, in the case of vehicle 

buy-back agreements, on the total buy-back price agreed 

with the respective credit rating association. Before conclud-

ing fleet management and leasing contracts, the resulting 

risks and margins must be analyzed and prepared for the rel-

evant decision-makers. In the case of larger commitments, 

the Management Board is obliged to inform the Supervisory 

Board if certain thresholds are exceeded in leasing and vehi-

cle repurchase contracts. 

Credit risks must be monitored continuously and actively 

managed. In the fleet customer business, regular reviews of 

customer creditworthiness are also planned during the term 

of leasing and fleet management contracts. In accordance 

with the provisions of the authority and responsibility regula-

tions, the total credit limits granted are subject to regular re-

newal and creditworthiness checks. 

The guidelines of Allane SE require monthly determination of 

risk provisioning requirements. Individual value adjustments 

are made for all identifiable acute credit risks in the leasing 

business. 

Allane SE uses a variety of established procedures and meth-

ods to assess, manage, and monitor portfolio-related coun-

terparty risks. Regular portfolio analyses, which 

systematically examine the distribution and development of 

internal ratings and potential rating changes, among other 

things, are a central component of this process. As part of 

these analyses, particular attention is paid to concentration 

risks, especially single-security and country exposures. 

Limit structures are used to monitor counterparty default 

risks at portfolio level on a quantitative basis, in particular a 

CVaR limit and a dedicated NPL limit. Counterparty default 

risks are quantified on the basis of the Santander Consumer 

Bank standard with a confidence level of 99.95%. Key risk pa-

rameters are taken into account, including the present value 

of the exposure, borrower-specific probabilities of default, 

and a flat loss given default (LGD) of 70%. 

In addition, risk-specific stress tests in the form of sensitivity 

analyses are planned on a regular basis to assess the impact 

of extreme but plausible market developments on counter-

party default risk. 

The Allane Mobility Group also pays great attention to the 

economic stability of the vehicle suppliers it selects to pro-

vide repurchase commitments to the Allane Mobility Group. 
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The vehicle suppliers, like the leasing and fleet management 

customers, are subject to regular credit checks. 

Any negative changes in leasing or fleet management cus-

tomers or vehicle suppliers can therefore be identified imme-

diately and at an early stage, and appropriate counter-

measures can be initiated promptly. Exposures with in-

creased risk potential or items at risk of default are monitored 

particularly closely as part of receivables management. 

Counterparty default risk can give rise to further risks that can 

have a negative impact on Allane SE's risk profile due to con-

centrations of similar and different risk factors. This may result 

in portfolio-specific concentrations both in individual cus-

tomers and in individual sectors. In order to avoid risk con-

centrations, the company has set up suitable risk monitoring 

instruments to identify any concentrations in relation to indi-

vidual customers or sectors at an early stage. 

G.F Market price risk 

Market price risk describes the risk of loss due to changes in 

market prices. At Allane SE, the residual values of leased ve-

hicles and refinancing interest rates in particular are subject 

to market price risk. 

G.F.E Residual value risk 
Residual residual value risks of the Allane Mobility Group re-

sult from the marketing of vehicles at the end of the leasing 

contract if the achievable sales proceeds at this time are be-

low the residual value calculated at the beginning of the con-

tract. The main drivers of this risk include the vehicle type and 

general market conditions, as fluctuations in supply and de-

mand have a significant impact on the selling price. In addi-

tion, technological developments can quickly render certain 

engine types obsolete, which significantly reduces their mar-

ket value. Regulatory adjustments, such as the introduction 

of stricter environmental standards or government subsidies 

for new technologies, also have a direct impact on the market 

value of vehicles. 

Another significant factor is the concentration of certain ve-

hicle types or models in the leasing portfolio, which can fur-

ther increase the residual value risk. If the focus is strongly on 

certain segments, market changes, technological develop-

ments or regulatory adjustments can have a disproportionate 

impact on the overall value of the portfolio. 

The strategic partnerships with Hyundai and Kia in the cap-

tive leasing segment and the growing portfolio of vehicles 

with electric drives are also increasing the long-term re-

quirements for residual value risk management and the mar-

keting process. 

Since the fourth quarter of 2024, a provisional residual value 

approach has been applied to new business in the captive 

leasing segment, which takes into account discounts de-

pending on the respective drive type when calculating the 

contractually assumed residual value. 

The Allane Mobility Group continues to work closely with 

the Santander Group and Hyundai Capital Services to grad-

ually harmonize standards, procedures, and methods. The 

focus is primarily on the following aspects: 

 Development of own approaches for projecting future 

used car prices, coordination of sales channel differentia-

tion to recognize the special position of strategic cooper-

ation with OEMs (contract calculation phase). 

 Scenario analyses taking into account differentiated sales 

and marketing channels. 

 

 These aspects as well as planning, control and reporting 

are continuously monitored by numerous committees. 

 

Structured procedures that take both quantitative and quali-

tative elements into account are used to assess, manage, and 

monitor residual value risks. Monitoring is carried out at port-

folio level using a value-at-risk (VaR) limit and a specific limit 

for the total risks from residual value obligations (absolute re-

sidual value risk). Residual value risks are quantified by gen-

erating a loss distribution using Monte Carlo simulation at a 

confidence level of 99.95%. This is based on losses realized in 

the past from the remarketing process for returned vehicles. 

The procedures are continuously reviewed for adequacy and 

adjusted as necessary. 

The same model is used to determine unexpected risk for 

both direct and indirect residual value risks. Direct residual 

value risks relate to contracts without a buyback guarantee 

from dealers. Indirect residual value risks, on the other hand, 

are based on contracts with a buyback guarantee and are cal-

culated by multiplying the potential loss by the probability of 

default specific to the automotive industry. 

To supplement risk measurement, risk-specific stress tests in 

the form of sensitivity analyses are carried out regularly to 

identify the effects of extreme but plausible market develop-

ments. 
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Furthermore, the Allane Mobility Group interprets vehicle 

marketing channels as a key instrument for reducing residual 

value risks. An established, multi-stage process is currently 

used for this purpose. Vehicles that are not sold to a manu-

facturer, dealer or lessee under a buy-back agreement at the 

end of the lease are generally offered to dealers across Eu-

rope via self-operated used vehicle locations or via an online 

auction platform. With the increasing volume of vehicles 

from Captive Leasing, the marketing process is being ex-

panded to include the connection to the Hyundai/KIA dealer 

network. The Allane Mobility Group is thus making targeted 

preparations for the vehicle returns from 2026.  

In addition, the Allane Mobility Group maintains four auto-

haus24 sales locations throughout Germany, where its own 

sales specialists market vehicles to end customers. These lo-

cations are not only used for vehicle sales, but also offer the 

opportunity to hand in lease returns directly there by prior ar-

rangement.  

The Allane Mobility Group is particularly dependent on the 

development of the used car market, especially in Germany, 

for the free marketing of used leased vehicles. The Managing 

Board is monitoring current price trends on the used car mar-

ket very closely and in a differentiated manner.  

During the 2024 financial year, the price decline observed 

on the market for electric drive technologies continued. The 

residual value level in Allane SE's overall portfolio fell by 

around 11% over the course of the year. For selected EV 

models with a significant share of the overall portfolio, resid-

ual value adjustments of up to 25% were forecast. During 

the reporting period, there was a significant slowdown in the 

price decline and a bottoming out of the market. 

G.F.F Interest rate risk  
Interest rate risks relate to potential losses due to changes in 

market interest rates. They can arise if fixed-interest periods 

on the assets and liabilities side of the balance sheet are not 

congruent. Variable interest rates on financing instruments 

can also lead to an interest rate risk in the event of market 

changes. 

The Allane Mobility Group aims to raise refinancing funds 

with largely matching maturities in order to avoid maturity 

mismatches and concludes derivative contracts to hedge 

against interest rate risks. However, no guarantee can be 

given that such hedging will be fully effective or that losses 

will be completely avoided. 

Rising interest rates for refinancing instruments could result 

in higher refinancing costs and have a negative impact on 

earnings. 

Allane SE has structured procedures in place to assess, man-

age, and monitor interest rate risks, taking into account both 

a present value and an income statement perspective. Poten-

tial impacts are analyzed systematically as part of a limit sys-

tem. In particular, present value losses resulting from changes 

in the yield curve—including parallel shifts of up to 200 basis 

points—and various interest rate scenarios are evaluated. The 

results are reported regularly to management, differentiated 

according to control-relevant and other scenarios, whereby 

the Allane Mobility Group complies with the regulatory re-

quirements for banks and additionally examines how such in-

terest rate changes affect net interest income. 

Unexpected interest rate risks are quantified using historical 

simulation. This is based on an observation period starting in 

2008 and uses a confidence level of 99.95% and a holding 

period of 62 days. This approach is intended to enable a risk-

sensitive assessment of the potential impact of interest rate 

changes on the net asset value, financial position, and results 

of operations. 

G.G Liquidity risk 

The risk describes the risk that existing financial reserves are 

not sufficient to service the Group's financial liabilities when 

they fall due. Through its financial planning, the Allane Mobil-

ity Group attempts to ensure that sufficient liquidity is availa-

ble to pay the liabilities due under both normal and stress 

conditions. 

Since the change in the ownership structure in the 2020 fi-

nancial year, the aim has increasingly been to achieve refi-

nancing with matching maturities within the Group. 

Allane SE has various procedures and methods in place to as-

sess, manage, and monitor liquidity risks in accordance with 

the applicable regulatory framework. The structure and de-

velopment of existing financial liabilities are analyzed on an 

ongoing basis in order to identify potential risks at an early 

stage and enable appropriate control measures to be taken. 

The need for refinancing is to be assessed on a monthly basis 

as part of a multi-year refinancing plan. In addition, the de-

velopment of average refinancing costs is to be analyzed on 

an ongoing basis in order to identify potential cost risks at an 

early stage. The liquidity position itself is to be monitored 
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using monthly liquidity flow statements, which show the cu-

mulative liquidity outflow over a period of up to ten years. Al-

lane SE has a liquidity contingency plan that is used as part of 

liquidity contingency management and reviewed at regular 

intervals to ensure that it is up to date and appropriate. 

For the risk-bearing capacity calculation, the refinancing cost 

risks are quantified on the basis of historical loss distribution. 

A liquidity value-at-risk (LVaR) model with a confidence level 

of 99.95% is used to determine the potential monetary im-

pact of changes in refinancing costs. In addition, risk-specific 

stress tests in the form of sensitivity analyses are carried out 

regularly to ensure resilience to extreme but plausible market 

developments. Allane SE also has a wide range of asset-

based financing options at its disposal, such as forfaiting or 

the securitization of lease receivables. The company made 

use of this for the first time in 2016 and introduced an asset-

backed securities program (“ABS program”). In 2024, this 

ABS program was further expanded to diversify refinancing 

in a targeted manner. 

G.H Business strategy risk 

Allane SE considers business strategy risk to be the risk of po-

tential losses and reduced profits due to adverse strategic 

business developments, decisions or business segment-spe-

cific targets or a negative change in the economic environ-

ment. In addition to this, the failure to achieve sales targets, 

for example due to changing customer preferences or the 

market entry of new market participants as well as changing 

regulatory conditions, is also considered a strategic business 

risk. 

The management intends to manage the strategic risks 

through targeted measures, e.g. through diversified sales 

channels and suitable marketing strategies. These risks are 

to be monitored by (risk) controlling. 

G.I Operational risks 

Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss caused in partic-

ular by human behavior, technological failure, inappropriate 

or faulty processes or external events. Regulatory, legal and 

tax risks are also included. 

The Allane Mobility Group pursues a decentralized approach 

to managing operational risks, for the implementation of 

which specially trained coordinators from the individual de-

partments have been nominated. The Risk Controlling 

department is responsible for measuring and monitoring op-

erational risks. In the 2024 financial year, in-depth measures 

to identify operational risks, including the integration of addi-

tional sources of information, were driven forward. 

A total of 86 materialized operational risks with a total loss 

volume of EUR 496.8 thousand were identified in 2024. The 

most loss-making individual cases are assigned to the cate-

gory “External Fraud” and relate in particular to vehicle theft 

and shell company fraud. In the course of follow-up work, tar-

geted enhancements were made to the scope of controls and 

training was provided for authorized dealers. The aim is to 

prevent similar incidents in the future. 

Allane SE may also face operational risks arising from pend-

ing or potential legal disputes. Proceedings relating to dis-

putes over lease agreements have recently become less 

significant. In order to prevent legal disputes, the model lease 

agreements and the General Terms and Conditions are re-

viewed on an ongoing basis and amended as necessary. A 

specialized organizational unit has been established in the le-

gal department to handle, process, and monitor disputes in a 

structured manner.  

The business success of the Allane Mobility Group depends 

largely on the recognition value of the newly established 

brand. To minimize potential reputational and strategic busi-

ness risks, the separation from the Sixt brand will take place 

gradually over several years. At the same time, the new 

brand's profile will be raised step by step through targeted 

marketing measures. The complete brand change is ex-

pected to be completed by mid-2025.Process risk refers to 

the risk of losses resulting from inappropriate processes. 

Proper process execution must be ensured by the respective 

process owner. Process risk is monitored by means of organ-

izational safeguards and controls. Measures designed to pre-

vent errors are integrated into both the organizational 

structure and the process organization of the Allane Mobility 

Group and are intended to ensure a specified level of safety. 

As a process-independent institution, Internal Audit regularly 

reviews the processes and methods used. To this end, it uses 

a risk-oriented audit approach - both with regard to conform-

ity with statutory and regulatory provisions and compliance 

with Group requirements. 

Allane Mobility Group uses an IT system developed in-house 

to handle its leasing and fleet management business. Hard-

ware and software-related system malfunctions or failures 

can lead to a considerable impairment of operational pro-

cesses and even bring them to a standstill in an emergency. 

The high complexity of the IT system results in increased 
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requirements in terms of compatibility with existing systems 

when implementing new, replacement or supplementary 

software, which must be met in order to ensure the smooth 

continuation of business operations. 

In addition to internal operational risks, there is also the risk 

of targeted external attacks by criminals on the company's IT 

infrastructure and data, e.g. hacking or Distributed Denial of 

Service attacks. To counter this risk, the Allane Mobility 

Group maintains its own IT resources, capacities and infra-

structure. Its task is to permanently monitor, maintain, de-

velop and protect the Group's IT systems.  

The personal skills and expertise of employees are a key suc-

cess factor for the Allane Mobility Group. For example, in-

creased fluctuation and the resulting loss of expertise could 

impair the quality of service in the leasing or fleet manage-

ment business. To counteract this risk, the Allane Mobility 

Group is increasingly focusing on training and further educa-

tion, anchoring personnel development in its corporate cul-

ture and using targeted incentive systems. 

The Allane Mobility Group's business activities involve a large 

number of different contracts, most of which use standard-

ized agreements that must be mapped in the operational 

processing systems. Even minor formulation inaccuracies or 

changes to the legal or contractual framework can have a sig-

nificant impact on business activities. To counteract these 

risks, the Allane Mobility Group maintains a structured con-

tract management system that involves legal experts and is 

supplemented by comprehensive system controls. 

Other regulatory, legal and tax risks associated with business 

activities as a financial services institution are mitigated by a 

MaRisk-oriented compliance structure and the associated 

control and prevention mechanisms. Any regulatory, legal 

and tax law innovations or changes that arise are continuously 

monitored by the respective specialist departments of Allane 

SE, communicated to the management and implemented 

promptly and on time as part of projects. 

Outsourcing risk has been identified as a relevant risk since 

the 2023 financial year. Allane SE has provided additional re-

sources for its management - including the appointment of 

an outsourcing officer and the introduction of a comprehen-

sive framework. In addition, the audit and control rights de-

fined in the outsourcing agreements are exercised vis-à-vis 

the respective service providers on an ongoing basis. 

In addition to outsourcing risk, sustainability risks are also be-

coming increasingly important. Sustainability risks can have a 

significant impact on the Allane Mobility Group's business 

activities. They are therefore already taken into account in the 

existing risk management system and further integrated into 

the control processes. 

Sustainability risks relate to events or developments in the ar-

eas of the environment, social affairs and corporate govern-

ance that could have an actual or potential negative impact 

on the Allane Mobility Group's net assets, financial position, 

results of operations and reputation. Sustainability risks are 

already taken into account as potential risk drivers in the 

identified risk types, such as transformation risks with long-

term consequences for combustion engines or legal changes. 

In view of current social, economic and regulatory develop-

ments, the Allane Mobility Group is stepping up its efforts to 

further integrate sustainability risks into risk management 

and risk controlling. 

Allane SE conducts a structured Risk and Control Self-As-

sessment (RCSA) at least once a year to identify, evaluate, 

and manage operational risks. This process is designed to 

systematically identify potential operational risks and assess 

their probability of occurrence and potential damage. In ad-

dition, the continuous recording and analysis of actual claims 

in a central claims database is being further expanded. 

For the purposes of risk-bearing capacity calculations, oper-

ational risks are quantified both on the basis of an economic 

approach and in accordance with the regulatory framework 

for capital requirements (CRR). The higher value from both 

approaches is used for conservative reporting within the 

framework of internal risk-bearing capacity management. 

This approach is intended to ensure that operational risks 

are adequately reflected in both regulatory requirements 

and internal control requirements. 

G.J Investment Risk 

Due to the investment structure of the Allane SE, investment 

risk has been identified as a material risk. 

Allane SE defines investment risk as the risk of unexpected 

losses arising when the market value of investments falls, in-

cluding the risk of dividend defaults and the transfer of losses. 

There is an immediate risk of impact on earnings from Allane 

SE's 100% investment in Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH, 

as a profit transfer agreement has been in place between the 

two companies since the 2015 financial year. A profit transfer 

agreement with One Mobility Management GmbH has also 

been in place since the 2023 financial year. Losses incurred 
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by Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH and One Mobility Man-

agement GmbH therefore have a direct negative impact on 

the earnings position of Allane SE. 

The risk management and risk controlling system of Allane 

Mobility Consulting GmbH was partially transferred to Allane 

SE on the basis of an existing outsourcing agreement. The 

risk management methods and procedures applied at Allane 

SE are also used for Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH, taking 

into account appropriateness and proportionality. As a result, 

Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH is closely integrated into 

Allane SE's risk management and monitoring processes. This 

enables negative risk and earnings trends to be identified at 

an early stage so that suitable countermeasures can be initi-

ated in good time. 

As part of the risk-bearing capacity calculation, the invest-

ment risk is quantified using the look-through method, based 

on the assumption that the risks are aggregated at group 

level. In 2024, Allane SE further expanded the monitoring of 

risks in the subsidiaries in France and Switzerland. Integration 

into existing committees ensures active discussion and man-

agement of these units. Cooperation and the expansion of 

the risk management systems in the subsidiaries will become 

even more important in 2025. 
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H. Assessment of the overall risk profile by the 
Managing Board 

Allane SE has introduced a group-wide internal control and 

risk management system designed to identify at an early 

stage and actively manage developments that could lead to 

significant losses or jeopardize the continued existence of Al-

lane SE or the Group. The assessment of the overall risk pro-

file was further expanded in the 2024 financial year. All 

identified risks are regularly analyzed and evaluated as part of 

the established risk management system and communicated 

and documented in the course of committee work. The Man-

agement Board and Supervisory Board are informed 

promptly of the results so that any necessary countermeas-

ures can be initiated if required. 

The Allane Mobility Group's internal control and risk manage-

ment system is based on the requirements of the Santander 

Group and ensures for methodological adequacy in line with 

the principle of proportionality. 

The Allane Mobility Group must ensure that it has sufficient 

funds at all times to be able to bear the risks incurred (risk-

bearing capacity principle). As part of the risk-bearing capac-

ity calculation, which is a key component of the Allane Mobil-

ity Group's quarterly risk reporting system, the unexpected 

loss from the risks classified as material is compared with the 

available risk cover at a confidence level of 99.95%. The risk-

bearing capacity is given if the material risks can be covered 

on an ongoing basis by a corresponding risk cover amount. 

As at the reporting date of 31 December 2024, Allane re-

ported risk potential for counterparty default risk, market 

price risk (residual value and interest rate risk) and liquidity 

risk, business strategy and operational risk as well as invest-

ment risk in the amount of EUR 249.3 million.  

Internal capital (risk coverage potential) in accordance with 

the net asset value approach amounts to EUR 256 million. It 

consists primarily of EUR 83 million in balance sheet equity 

and EUR 173 million in capitalized assets, including the order 

book. This results in coverage of material risks of around 103%. 

Based on the investigations carried out, risk-bearing capacity 

was adequate throughout the reporting period. No limit vio-

lations were identified; however, the warning threshold of 110% 

was not reached as of December 31, 2024. As a result, the 

management immediately took measures to strengthen the 

risk-bearing capacity and initiated measures to increase in-

ternal capital. In addition, methodological refinements to 

quantify residual value risks were initiated after the balance 

sheet date. 

The main risks are distributed as follows as at 31 December 

2024:  

Risk type     

  Main risks 
in EUR million FDFH FDFG             
Residual value risk ELE.K EDM.L 

Counterparty default risk FG.M HM.D 

Operational risk EF.M EE.I 

Interest rate risk EE.K EJ.G 

Investment risk I.E H.J 

Liquidity risk D.D D.D 

Business strategic risk EH.D EI.L 

Total risk FHM.G FDK.E             
 

The main changes compared to the previous year's reporting 

date relate in particular to residual value risk, counterparty 

default risk and interest rate risk. The increase in residual 

value risk is mainly due to the strong growth in the contract 

portfolio as well as price developments and associated ex-

pectations on the used car market. The changes in counter-

party default risk are the result of two opposing effects: On 

the one hand, the methodological changeover to the Santan-

der Group's asset value model had a risk-reducing effect, 

while on the other hand the increased portfolio volume led to 

an increase in risk. Overall, however, the measured counter-

party default risk has fallen compared to the previous year. 

The interest rate risk is simulated using a historical loss distri-

bution based on interest rate fluctuations since the 2008 fi-

nancial year. The decrease in the capital requirement for the 

interest rate risk is due to both the lower interest rate volatility 

and the lower interest rate level. 

Operational risk is calculated on the basis of both an eco-

nomic approach and the regulatory basic indicator approach. 

The higher value of the two approaches is taken into account 

in the risk-bearing capacity calculation. The investment risk is 

quantified using the look-through method, while the liquidity 

risks are calculated on the basis of a historical loss distribu-

tion. The liquidity value-at-risk is used here, which quantifies 

the financial impact of changes in refinancing costs. 

Allane SE carries out quarterly stress tests based on the ma-

terial risks. The aim of these tests is to measure the consump-

tion of capital in a stress scenario and thus make the risk 

quantifiable. Extraordinary and extreme but plausible events 

are simulated for this purpose. As stress tests offer a forward-

looking perspective, their results also serve as early warning 

indicators and support proactive risk management 
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The following types of stress tests were taken into account in 

the risk-bearing capacity calculation as at 31 December 

2024: 

 Risk-specific stress tests (sensitivity analysis) 

 Inverse stress tests 

 Comprehensive stress tests 

 

The individual scenarios are derived from hypothetical and 

historical events and are adapted to current economic devel-

opments. They serve as an important source of impetus for 

initiating suitable measures if necessary. 

In addition to the presentation of the risk-bearing capacity 

calculation, the Allane Mobility Group calculates various 

metrics to capture risk appetite in the areas of solvency, earn-

ings volatility, concentration, liquidity and non-financial risks. 

These risk appetite metrics play a key role in the early identi-

fication of potential risks. In addition, risk appetite metrics are 

continuously monitored by various risk committees. 

Thanks to the internal control and risk management organi-

zation described above, the Allane Mobility Group considers 

itself to be adequately positioned to ensure the monitoring 

and management of the Group, particularly with regard to the 

current geopolitical risks. The company's risk exposure has 

increased disproportionately to the business volume due to 

the EV portfolio in the captive leasing segment.  

To ensure liquidity, the Allane Mobility Group draws on exist-

ing credit lines and refinancing options from within the Group. 

Based on the short and medium-term liquidity forecast - in-

cluding in stress situations - the Allane Mobility Group con-

tinuously monitors the utilization of financing instruments 

and derives any necessary measures. In addition, a liquidity 

contingency plan was drawn up in the 2023 financial year. 

Due in particular to the long-term contracts and customer di-

versification - especially in terms of sector and size, from 

large corporations to private customers - as well as the mar-

ket opportunities, especially against the backdrop of digitali-

zation and innovation. The ownership structure with two 

reliable partners – Santander Consumer Bank and Hyundai 

Capital Services – also contributes to access to capital and li-

quidity. 

At present, no risks have been identified that could individu-

ally or collectively jeopardize the continued existence of the 

company. Nevertheless, the stress test revealed an increased 

capital requirement, which was addressed by measures initi-

ated. 

I. Opportunities report 

Opportunities are understood to be possibilities arising from 

events, developments or actions that allow a company to se-

cure and/or outperform the scheduled targets. It is the oper-

ative business field's responsibility to identify and utilise 

opportunities as part of the corporate strategy. 

I.E Market opportunities 

Opportunities from general economic developments 
The Allane Mobility Group is highly dependent on the mac-

roeconomic environment in Europe, particularly in Germany. 

An improved economic situation may lead to increased in-

vestment by companies in fleet vehicles and fleet manage-

ment services as well as by private and commercial 

customers in new and used vehicles. This could have a posi-

tive impact on demand for Allane's products and services. 

In its planning for the 2025 financial year, the Allane Mobility 

Group takes into account economists' assessments of eco-

nomic trends and presents these in the forecast report. If the 

economy performs better than forecast, this could increase 

demand for the Allane Mobility Group's products and ser-

vices. 

Positive leasing situation 
The German leasing market is the second largest leasing mar-

ket in Europe after the UK and was characterized by a stable 

growth trend from 2013 to 2019, which was interrupted for 

the first time in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The 

leasing market has recovered since 2023 and, following sig-

nificant growth in the previous year, recorded a 4% decline in 

new business in terms of acquisition values in 2024, with the 

hire-purchase and leasing segments developing at roughly 

the same rate. It should be noted that the new business re-

ported in 2023 was distorted by special effects - including 

the delivery and recognition of vehicles that had already been 

ordered in previous years, as well as major projects in the rail 

sector that are planned and realized over several years. If 

these special effects were adjusted for, there would be a 

slight increase in balanced new business for 2024, according 

to BDL. 
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According to Allane, a recovery in the economy could have a 

positive effect on investment sentiment and therefore also 

on the leasing sector. 

Sources  
BDL, Leasing in Deutschland und Europa, bdl.leasingverband.de, as of 12 
February 2025; 
 BDL, BDL-RS 7-01-2025, Anlage, as of 10 February 2025 

Industry trends 
According to experts, the market for mobility and the needs 

of customers will continue to change significantly in the com-

ing years. This change is often driven by industry trends such 

as using instead of owning, flexibilization, individualization, 

car subscriptions, new mobility, urbanization, digitalization, 

connectivity, sustainability, alternative drive systems, electro-

mobility and customer focus.  

Leasing is becoming increasingly important, particularly in 

view of Germany's goal of achieving climate neutrality by 

2045. The transport and energy transition is a central pillar of 

climate policy. In addition, the energy crisis triggered by the 

Russia-Ukraine war has once again highlighted the need for 

energy independence for Germany as an industrial location. 

It is therefore more necessary than ever to switch to renewa-

ble energy generation, increase energy efficiency and save 

energy. In the opinion of the BDL, the leasing industry can 

support and drive forward the energy transition. 

Leasing providers such as the Allane Mobility Group can ben-

efit from current and future developments by developing and 

refining appropriate products and services for e-mobility. 

According to Dataforce, leasing remains the preferred form 

of procurement for fleet vehicles: In 2024, the leasing share 

in German fleets amounted to 63%, which corresponds to an 

increase of 2.1 percentage points. This is due in particular to 

the fact that electric vehicles will primarily be procured via 

leasing due to as yet unclear residual values. In addition, the 

use of car subscriptions will continue to increase in the future.  

Leasing has also further established itself in the private sector. 

According to LeasingMarkt.de, private individuals again ac-

counted for the majority of leasing contracts in 2024. They 

accounted for 58% of lessees. Compared to the record year 

of 2023, this represents a decrease of two percentage points. 

The Allane Mobility Group can benefit from the market trans-

formation described above, particularly with its leasing offer-

ing on allane.de, as the online platform enables private 

customers to configure and digitally order leased vehicles - 

both with combustion engines and alternative drive systems. 

In addition, Allane can exploit further growth potential in the 

leasing business through new cooperations with other OEMs. 

Sources 
Leasing Markt.de, Leasing Review 2024; 
Dataforce, Leasingmarket 2024: Short-term recovery, long-term decline in 
lease shares, as of 19 November 2024  

I.F Competitive opportunities  

Growth through cross-brand offering 
As a leasing company with a multi-brand offering, the Allane 

Mobility Group has competitive advantages over brand-

based providers. The company also has extensive expertise in 

assessing the useful life of vehicles and marketing used vehi-

cles. With its cross-brand full-service leasing and direct sales, 

the Allane Mobility Group has an integrated, future-oriented 

business model.  

According to a study by Deloitte, a change in the brand strat-

egy of many car manufacturers is expected by 2035 - towards 

cross-brand mobility solutions in order to appeal to a broader 

customer target group and better serve changing mobility re-

quirements. This trend confirms the strategic relevance of the 

Allane Mobility Group's offering model. Although there is 

currently a stronger focus on individual manufacturers in the 

Captive Leasing segment, the overarching business model 

remains clearly focused on brand diversity and customer cen-

tricity. 

Due to the developments described above, the Allane Mobil-

ity Group can exploit further growth opportunities in both the 

corporate and private customer business. 

Sources 
Deloitte, Future of Automotive Sales and Aftersales, June 2020. 

Internationalization oppertunities 
The Allane Mobility Group is continuously examining the ex-

pansion of its international presence in order to tap into fur-

ther growth potential. 

As part of its „FAST LANE 27“  strategy, the company plans to 

grow increasingly through internationalization in the future. 

To this end, Allane plans to further expand its cooperation 

with Hyundai and Kia in the business segment Captive Leas-

ing in the future and benefit from their expansion in the Eu-

ropean market. 

High relevance of supplementary services  
The trend for customers to make use of supplementary ser-

vices in addition to leasing financing for a vehicle has 
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continued in recent years. According to Dataforce, the 

growth potential in the leasing market lies "very clearly" in 

services. In 2023, 47% of companies in the fleet market have 

decided to conclude all leasing contracts with service com-

ponents. A further 14% have included individual services in 

their leasing contracts. According to the BDL, the trend to-

wards full-service leasing opens up "great opportunities" for 

leasing companies to differentiate themselves from tradi-

tional financing, as the latter leaves the labor-intensive areas 

of fleet management within the company. In addition, com-

panies want to continue working with partners who offer ser-

vices and packages as a "one-stop store" alongside financing.  

The Allane Mobility Group offers its fleet customers a com-

plete package as part of full-service leasing and takes over all 

administrative activities associated with the fleet. In addition, 

Allane Mobility Group develops motivation models with 

which companies can increase their attractiveness on the 

employer market and reward committed employees. 

The Allane Mobility Group is striving to gradually increase the 

proportion of supplementary services in the fleet business in 

individual contracts and thus increase the profitability of the 

contract portfolio. The scope and quality of the services also 

represent an important competitive differentiator. Thanks to 

the expertise the company has built up over decades and its 

close network of cooperation partners, Allane Mobility Group 

believes it is in a good position to benefit from the general 

increase in demand for services. 

In the business segment Online Retail as well as in the seg-

ment Captive Leasing, the provision of additional services for 

customers is also becoming increasingly important. Accord-

ing to Dataforce, around every second private leasing con-

tract includes service components.  

The Allane Mobility Group assumes that services will become 

increasingly relevant in the future, both for private and fleet 

customers. The company currently offers its private and com-

mercial customers service packages for damage manage-

ment, inspection, maintenance and wear and tear on its 

online platform allane.de.  

The Allane Mobility Group aims to continuously develop and 

extend its service portfolio. Above all, increasing the service 

ratio offers the opportunity to increase the profitability of the 

contract portfolio. 

Sources 
Dataforce, Dataforce Leasing Study 2023: Stagnating leasing shares in the 
fleet portfolio, 6 December 2023. 

Arval Mobility Observatory, Mobilitäts- und Fuhrparkbarometer 2024, 
Pressemitteilung, as of 7 May 2024; 
BDL, Per Leasing immer das neueste Modell fahren, bdl.leasingverband.de, as 
of 7 December 2021. 

Growth through marketing campaigns and cooperations 
In the business segment Online Retail, Allane uses various 

marketing campaigns to raise awareness of the online plat-

forms and thus increase the number of contracts concluded. 

Marketing campaigns can be carried out both in cooperation 

with a marketing partner and completely independently via 

the company's own brands. 

Growth through remarketing 
The remarketing remarketing of vehicles offers leasing pro-

viders the opportunity to gain a leading position in the used 

car market. According to the DAT, the number of new regis-

trations of ownership rose by an estimated 7.4% to 6.5 million 

units in 2024. The German Motor Vehicle Association (ZDK) 

predicts that economic uncertainties and a high propensity 

to save among private households will increase the reluc-

tance to buy new cars in 2025. The experts at the ZDK expect 

new registrations of 6.8 million units in 2025, for 2024 they 

expected 6.6 million units.   

Although used car prices fell again in 2024 due to the in-

creasing availability of used vehicles, the purchase price for a 

used car remained at a relatively high level. According to Au-

toScout24, a used car cost an average of EUR 26,942 in 2024, 

6% less than in the previous year. However, as a result of ex-

cess demand, the decline in the value of used cars slowed sig-

nificantly towards the end of the year. The price decline in the 

fourth quarter of 2024 was only around 3% compared to the 

same quarter of the previous year 

Fleet leasing and fleet management providers can benefit 

from a positive development in the used vehicle market, as 

they are already among the largest resellers in Europe and 

therefore enjoy a high level of customer confidence. In addi-

tion, they are able to offer their customers not only purchase, 

leasing and rental, but also a broad repair and maintenance 

network. They also have the opportunity to optimise the re-

sale value of their vehicles through cross-border marketing. 

The remarketing of vehicles is an integral part of Allane Mo-

bility Group's business model and takes place in particular via 

an online B2B auction platform and local used car locations 

operated by the Group. As part of the Group strategy, more 

international dealers have also been connected to the plat-

form since the 2018 financial year in order to intensify the 

marketing of lease returns abroad and reduce dependence 

on the German used car market. The overarching aim of this 
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measure is to contribute to improving the risk/return profile 

through active risk management. Allane Mobility Group cur-

rently operates four of its own locations in Germany for the 

remarketing of vehicles.  

Sources  
ZDK, ZDK-Prognose 2025: Rund 2,7 Millionen Pkw-Neuzulassungen, 28. 
November 2024; 
DAT, Jahresrückblick 2024, Januar 2025; 
AutoScout24, Marktreport: Gebrauchtwagenpreise im vierten Quartal 2024 
auf Stabilisierungskurs, 6. Februar 2025. 
 

I.G Opportunities through megatrends 

Customized online and mobile solutions 
According to Allane Mobility Group, digitalization is leading 

to the expansion of customer solutions in all business areas. 

In fleet leasing and fleet management, aspects such as auto-

mation, efficiency and process reliability are becoming in-

creasingly important for companies in addition to personal 

support 

The Allane Mobility Group attaches great importance to the 

development of modern online and mobile solutions. In busi-

ness with corporate customers, leasing and administrative 

processes are to be increasingly optimized with the help of 

reporting and apps. In business with private and commercial 

customers, the leasing process will be facilitated by an online 

configurator and digital ordering steps, among other things. 

Allane Mobility Group continues to develop the existing tools 

at regular intervals and is constantly examining opportunities 

to introduce further online and mobile solutions. 

Electromobility as a growth market 
Electromobility continues to gain in importance. The main 

reasons for this are accelerated climate change and the asso-

ciated climate targets as well as greater environmental aware-

ness, new mobility needs, better charging infrastructures and 

higher performance and ranges. In Europe, factors such as 

regulations and CO2 targets also play a particularly important 

role.  

According to a study by Continental, 39% of those who do not 

currently drive an electric vehicle can imagine choosing one. 

Interest in hybrid drives, which could facilitate the transition 

to e-mobility, is particularly high. Almost half of respondents 

in Germany (48%) and the USA (47%) and as many as 86% in 

China are considering a hybrid vehicle. In Germany, 25 to 34-

year-olds are particularly open to e-cars, with 68% of them 

considering an electric model.  

Despite challenges in individual markets, electromobility 

continues to develop dynamically. According to the Interna-

tional Energy Agency (IEA), the proportion of new passenger 

car registrations accounted for by electrically powered vehi-

cles will be around 80% in China, just under 60% in the EU 

and around 20% in the USA by 2030 under the current policy 

measures (Stated Policies Scenario). This development is be-

ing driven by massive investment in battery and charging in-

frastructure, falling costs for vehicles and batteries and 

ambitious electrification strategies by leading car manufac-

turers. A fundamental change in drive technologies is there-

fore likely to take place worldwide in the medium term. 

According to LeasingMarkt.de, the share of electric vehicles 

in the leasing sector remained at the previous year's level of 

24% in 2024.  

Allane promotes electromobility through cooperation with 

manufacturers and energy suppliers as well as consulting ser-

vices, e.g. with a view to improving the emissions balance. 

Technological advances in electric vehicles, initiatives by ve-

hicle manufacturers to promote this type of drive - such as 

the development of a nationwide infrastructure of charging 

stations - and the growing interest of companies in fleets that 

are optimized from an ecological perspective are opening up 

additional opportunities for the Allane Mobility Group. 

Flexibility through new mobility 
Although the private car is still the most popular means of 

transportation, management consultants McKinsey believe 

that the mobility ecosystem will change more by 2035 than 

at any time since the early days of the automobile. According 

to a study by the McKinsey Center for Future Mobility, 30% 

of respondents plan to make greater use of micromobility (e.g. 

e-bikes and e-scooters) or shared mobility in the next decade. 

According to McKinsey, many changes in the mobility eco-

system are based on the desire for a more pleasant mobility 

experience. Sustainability aspects are also becoming increas-

ingly relevant. McKinsey's survey results show that 46% of re-

spondents have already switched to more sustainable brands 

or products, and a further 16% are planning significant 

changes to promote sustainability. 

The Allane Mobility Group serves the growing trend towards 

“Mobility as a Service” and offers holistic mobility concepts 

that include other means of transportation in addition to the 

leased vehicle. In cooperation with partner companies, Allane 

enables its fleet customers to offer digital mobility budgets, 

for example, which their employees can flexibly adapt to their 

individual needs. This means that all modes of transport can 

be used, from private cars to bicycles and trains. 
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Sources  
Continental, Pressemitteilung: CONTINENTAL-MOBILITÄTSSTUDIE 2024, 
Das Auto ist für viele junge Menschen ein Statussymbol, 29.10.2024; 
McKinsey, The future of mobility, 19. April 2023; 
IES, The world’s electric car fleet continues to grow strongly, with 2024 sales 
set to reach 17 million, News, 23. April 2024 
IEA, Global EV Outlook 2025, Expanding sales in diverse markets. 
Leasingmarkt.de, Leasing-Rückspiegel 2024; 
 

I.H Assessment of the overall opportunities profile by the 
Managing Board 

Allane SE believes it is well positioned to benefit from the 

growth opportunities described above.  

The Allane Mobility Group has a business model that re-

sponds to the changing mobility needs of customers through 

its multi-brand offering and early positioning in the online di-

rect sale of new leased vehicles. The company reserves the 

right to accelerate its growth through targeted acquisitions. 

Further opportunities arise from the organization's focus on 

future national and international growth. The Allane Mobility 

Group has further diversified and thus strengthened its busi-

ness model through Captive Leasing, which was introduced 

with the „FAST LANE 27“ strategy. The company can also 

expand its position as a full-service provider with the intro-

duction of additional complementary services. Marketing 

campaigns and sales cooperations also play an important role, 

as they can help to increase awareness of the Allane Mobility 

Group, expand the contract portfolio and generate additional 

revenue. With its online auction platform and the completed 

expansion of its used car locations, the company is also in a 

position to benefit from the used car market. 

The expansion of the digital product and service portfolio en-

ables the Allane Mobility Group to exploit the growth poten-

tial in the area of digitalization. The digitalization of the 

business model should also contribute to process and cost 

optimization and thus have a positive impact on productivity 

and earnings development. Furthermore, the switch to elec-

tromobility creates new long-term potential for the Allane 

Mobility Group. 

The overall opportunity profile of Allane SE is additionally 

strengthened by the position of the anchor shareholder, 

Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH, and can be assessed as 

good. The partnership supports the strategic development of 

the Allane Mobility Group and creates a good basis for suc-

cessfully exploiting future growth opportunities. 
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Allane SE is exempt from the obligation to add a non-finan-

cial statement to the management report or Group manage-

ment report in accordance with Section 289b para. 2 and 

Section 315b para. 2 HGB, as it is included in the non-financial 

Group statement of Banco Santander S.A., which is included 

in the Group and company management report of Banco 

Santander S.A. for the 2024 financial year.The publication of 

the consolidated non-financial statement can be found in the 

annual report of Banco Santander S.A. in English at www.san-

tander.com under "Financial and Economic Information" in 

the "Shareholders and Investors" section. Banco Santander 

S.A. is the indirect controlling shareholder of Santander Con-

sumer Bank AG, which in turn is the majority shareholder of 

Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH.  

B.8 – Dependent company report 

 

As the largest shareholder of Allane SE, HCBE holds 92.07% of 

the ordinary shares and voting rights. In the 2024 financial year, 

Allane SE therefore had a relationship of dependence within 

the meaning of Section 17 AktG with Hyundai Capital Bank Eu-

rope GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, and its affiliated companies. 

Due to the indirect majority shareholding of Banco Santander 

S.A., Santander, Spain, in Allane SE, there was thus a relation-

ship of dependence of Allane SE within the meaning of sec-

tion 17 of the AktG with Banco Santander S.A., Santander, 

Spain, and its affiliated companies in the 2024 financial year.  

Hyundai Motor Company, Seoul, South Korea, holds a major-

ity stake of 59.70% in Hyundai Capital Services Inc, Seoul, 

South Korea. Hyundai Capital Services Inc., Seoul, South Ko-

rea, on the other hand, does not hold a majority stake in 

HCBE with 49.00% of the shares. Due to the joint venture 

structure and the equal composition of the Supervisory 

Board of HCBE with members of Hyundai and Santander, 

there was nevertheless a relationship of dependence within 

the meaning of section 17 of the AktG with Hyundai Motor 

Company, Seoul, Korea, and its affiliated companies in the 

2024 financial year. 

Therefore, pursuant to Article 9 (1) lit. c) (ii) SE Regulation, 

section 49 (1) SEAG in conjunction with section 312 of the 

(AktG), a report is prepared containing the following con-

cluding declaration by the Managing Board: "According to 

the facts and circumstances known to the Managing Board 

at the time legal transactions subject to disclosure require-

ments were conducted, Allane SE received appropriate con-

sideration in each case. Actions subject to disclosure 

requirements taken or actions omitted did not exist in the pe-

riod under review.“ 

 

B.7 – Non-financial declaration in accordance with sections 

289b to e and 315b and c of the HGB 



 

B – Management Report on the situation of the Group and the Company – Additional information for Allane SE (pursuant to the HGB) 

  Annual Report 2024 Page 69  

 

Fundamentals and business performance 
Allane SE based in Pullach, is the parent company of the Al-

lane Mobility Group. It assumes central management tasks 

and is responsible for the strategic and financial management 

of the Group. At the same time, Allane SE also acts as the op-

erating company for the leasing business in Germany. In this 

function, Allane SE is largely responsible for the net assets, 

financial position and earnings position as well as the oppor-

tunities and risks of the Allane Mobility Group. The above ex-

planations in the economic report of the Allane Mobility 

Group and the Leasing division also apply to Allane SE, unless 

otherwise stated below. 

The annual financial statements of Allane SE are prepared in 

accordance with the provisions of the German Commercial 

Code (HGB) in conjunction with the Ordinance on Account-

ing for Banks and Financial Services Institutions (RechKredV) 

and additionally in accordance with the provisions of the Ger-

man Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and generally form the ba-

sis for the appropriation of the annual result for the financial 

year to be resolved by the Annual General Meeting. In the 

2024 financial year, the resolution by the Annual General 

Meeting does not apply due to the net loss for the year 

The above explanations relate to the Allane Mobility Group 

and are the subject of Allane SE's capital market communica-

tion. The following explanations comply with the require-

ments of the German Commercial Code for the management 

report of Allane SE. They have no direct relevance for capital 

market communications relating to the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with IFRS. 

In order to achieve a solid equity position, the target range for 

the dividend payout - against the backdrop of the strategic 

growth in assets - was lifted in the 2024 financial year. Due to 

the net loss recorded in the 2024 financial year, the Manage-

ment Board of Allane SE intends to carry this forward in full 

and not distribute a dividend for the past financial year. This 

takes into account the continuing challenging and uncertain 

macroeconomic situation.  

The differences between the accounting and valuation meth-

ods according to HGB in conjunction with the Rech-KredV 

and IFRS can be classified into pure reporting differences 

 
 

and those with an impact on earnings. The differences in 

presentation are shown below: 

 Disclosure of vehicles held for sale after termination of a 

lease (HGB: other assets, IFRS: inventories) 

 Liabilities from advance payments received from full-

service contracts (HGB: other liabilities, IFRS: contract 

liabilities) 

 Liabilities from ABS transactions (HGB: deferred income, 

IFRS: current and non-current financial liabilities) 

 Leases classified as finance leases in accordance with 

IFRS 16 (HGB: lease assets, IFRS: other receivables and 

assets) 

 Rental payments for rights of use for rental agreements 

for office space and land (HGB: Other administrative ex-

penses, IFRS: right of use is recognized in property, plant 

and equipment and depreciated over the term of the 

contract) 

 Grants received for concluded lease agreements (HGB: 

deferred income, IFRS: lease assets) 

The differences between the accounting and valuation meth-

ods that have a significant impact on the HGB result and 

therefore lead to a significant deviation compared to the 

IFRS result are listed below: 

 According to HGB regulations, an impairment loss to the 

lower fair value must be recognized if the lease asset is 

expected to be permanently impaired. The depreciation 

requirement is calculated from the nominal value com-

parison between the original calculated residual value 

and the reassessment of the expected residual value at 

the end of the contract. Under IFRS, impairment is re-

quired if the carrying amount of a vehicle exceeds the 

expected recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 

of the asset corresponds to the higher of the fair value 

less costs to sell and the value in use. The value in use is 

determined using a present value calculation, taking into 

account the cash flows and margins inherent in the re-

spective lease agreement. If the recoverable amount is 

lower than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is 

recognized in the amount of the difference. In the re-

porting year, this deviation had a significantly greater 

negative impact on the HGB result compared to the 

IFRS result, as higher impairment losses on leased assets 

were necessary.  

B.9 – Additional information for Allane SE (pursuant to the 

HGB1) 
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 There is a further difference in the recognition of acqui-

sition costs when obtaining leases. Under HGB, the les-

sor's costs for preparing the contract (including 

commission for brokerage) are not added to the cost of 

the leased asset, but are recognized directly as an ex-

pense. In contrast, acquisition costs are allocated to the 

lease in accordance with IFRS requirements, capitalized 

and depreciated over the lease term with the leased as-

sets. In the reporting year, this deviation resulted in a 

greater burden on the HGB result compared to the IFRS 

result. 

The macroeconomic and sector-specific conditions of Allane 

SE are essentially the same as those of the Allane Mobility 

Group and are described in the economic report of the com-

bined management report.  

Based on the aforementioned differences, this results in the 

following commercial law equivalents for the Group's rele-

vant performance indicators:  

For the 2024 financial year, Allane SE's operating sales 

amounted to EUR 402.4 million (Allane Mobility Group's op-

erating sales according to IFRS: EUR 457.6 million). Allane 

SE's operating sales are expected to increase significantly in 

the 2025 financial year due to the expected further expan-

sion of the portfolio. 

In addition, the commercial law equivalent of earnings be-

fore taxes (EBT) for Allane SE amounts to EUR -135.7 million 

(earnings before taxes (EBT) of the Allane Mobility Group ac-

cording to IFRS: EUR -49.3 million). The Management Board 

anticipates a significant improvement in Allane SE's earnings 

before taxes (EBT) for the 2025 financial year. 

Net assets, financial position and result of 
operation 

As presented in the combined management report for the 

key financial performance indicators in accordance with IFRS, 

the 2024 financial year remained within the expectations set 

out in the previous year's management report in terms of the 

contract portfolio. This is mainly due to the successful con-

tract growth in the Captive Leasing segment. Consolidated 

operating revenue exceeded the original forecast communi-

cated in the 2023 management report and was in line with 

the forecast adjusted on 31 October 2024. The increase is 

due in particular to the growing Group contract portfolio in 

the Captive Leasing business segment, with a significant in-

crease in lease income (finance rate). The result from ordinary 

activities (consolidated earnings before taxes) in the 2024 fi-

nancial year was below the expectations adjusted on 31 

October 2024 and thus below the original forecast. This is 

due in particular to residual and market value differences. The 

risk provisions to be recognized for this were made in the 

form of impairment losses and had a significant negative im-

pact on consolidated earnings before taxes.  

Despite the overall economic situation and the geopolitical 

uncertainties, Allane SE has a solid basis, which is reflected in 

its net assets, financial position and results of operations. 

While the key financial performance indicators mentioned in 

the previous paragraph refer to the IFRS financial statements 

of the Allane Mobility Group, the following notes refer to the 

financial statements of Allane SE in accordance with the Ger-

man Commercial Code (HGB) in conjunction with the Ger-

man Accounting Regulation for Banks (RechKredV). 

Allane SE generated earnings (leasing income less leasing 

expenses) of EUR 363.6 million from the operating leasing 

business in the 2024 financial year (2023: EUR 251.4 million). 

In addition, net interest income and interest expenses led to 

a charge of EUR 43.7 million (2023: charge of EUR 14.1 mil-

lion). Furthermore,  there were personnel and administrative 

expenses of EUR 75.2 million (2023: EUR 74.4 million) and 

expenses from depreciation, amortization and impairment 

losses, in particular on leased assets, of EUR 338.8 million 

(2023: EUR 164.7 million). 

The result from ordinary activities amounted to EUR -

135.8 million in 2024 (2023: EUR 1.7 million). The company re-

ported net loss for the year of EUR -105.8 million (2023: EUR 

0.5 million) and, with the addition of profit carried forward 

from the previous year, a balance sheet loss off of EUR -

86.0 million (2023: EUR 21.7 million) remains. The significant 

difference between the annual result according to HGB and 

IFRS is mainly due to the different accounting and valuation 

methods according to HGB in conjunction with RechKredV 

and IFRS as explained under “Basis of business performance”. 

Significant differences arise from the different treatment of 

extraordinary amortization of leased assets and the recogni-

tion costs and contract acquisition costs for leases. 

As at the reporting date of 31 December 2024, Allane SE's 

material assets consisted of lease assets in the amount of 

EUR 1,971.5 million (2023: EUR 1,282.7million). The increase 

is mainly due to the growing contract portfolio in the Captive 

Leasing segment. 

Receivables from customers amounted to EUR 48.9 million 

as at 31 December 2024 (2023: EUR 35.2 million), including 

trade receivables of EUR 49.1 million1 (2023: EUR 34.8 
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million1) and other receivables of EUR -0.2 million1 (2023: 

EUR 0.5 million1). 

Receivables from banks amounted to EUR 2.5 million (2023: 

EUR 1.2 million). 

Other assets amounting to EUR 558.6 million (2023: EUR 

315.8 million) mainly include receivables from affiliated com-

panies. In particular, this includes receivables from Isar Valley 

of EUR 314.9 million (2023: EUR 111.2 million). These consist 

mainly of the sub-loan as part of the ABS transaction subor-

dinated loan granted. The increase is mainly due to the exten-

sion of the ABS transactions and the new ABS volume. As a 

result, in the 2024 financial year, the loan assets associated 

with new contracts were financed via the ABS program in ad-

dition to the credit lines drawn down from Santander Con-

sumer Bank AG. 

In addition, valuation allowances on receivables from Allane 

Schweiz AG were increased by EUR 21.5 million from EUR 3.5 

million to EUR 25.0 million in the 2024 financial year. 

1 Trade receivables do not include the specific impairment loss of EUR -4.0 
million (2023: EUR -3.0 million). These are recognized in other receivables. 

The main liabilities are other liabilities amounting to 

EUR 99.2 million (2023: EUR 94.8 million). Other liabilities 

mainly consist of liabilities in the amount of EUR 36.3 million 

(2023: EUR 28.4 million), which are attributable in particular 

to outstanding vehicle invoices and conditionally repayable 

residual value support from Captive Leasing segment.  

Other liabilities also include trade payables in the amount of 

EUR 32.7 million (2023: EUR 49.9 million).  

They also include advance payments received from full ser-

vice contracts in the amount of EUR 17.0 million (2023: EUR 

12.2 million).  

Deferred income in the amount of EUR 1,397.8 million (2023: 

EUR 510.8 million) mainly results from ABS program. The 

ABS program is carried out by Isar Valley S.A., in which Allane 

SE holds no capital shares. As at the reporting date, deferred 

income amounted to EUR 1,259.8 million (2023: EUR 444.4 

million), with the increase mainly attributable to the forfaiting 

of future lease payments under the ABS program.   

There are also liabilities to banks of EUR 995.2 million (2023: 

EUR 813.9 million). This is mainly due to long-term loans 

taken out with Santander Consumer Bank AG, Mönchen-

gladbach.  

Other provisions increased to EUR 37.0 million (2023: EUR 

27.0 million). The increase in provisions for outstanding in-

voices is primarily due to the fact that dealer bonuses and 

commissions in connection with new cooperations in Cap-

tive Leasing are outstanding.  

The share capital of Allane SE remained unchanged at EUR 

20.6 million on the balance sheet date. 

A total of EUR 87.3 million (2023: EUR 194.0 million) is re-

ported under equity. 

To strengthen the risk-bearing capacity, a subordinated loan 

in the amount of € 26 million was granted by the majority 

shareholder Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH in June 

2025. This measure was necessary as the internal capital cov-

erage ratio based on the net asset value approach was 103% 

on the balance sheet date, which was below the defined in-

ternal warning threshold of 110%. 

For the 2024 financial year, Allane SE reports an accumulated 

loss of EUR -86.0 million in its annual financial statements. 

The accumulated loss is offset by retained earnings of EUR 

12.6 million, which could not lead to an accumulated profit 

even if they were released in full. Against this backdrop, it is 

not possible to pay a dividend for the 2024 financial year, 

which means that a corresponding proposal for the appropri-

ation of profits (2023: EUR 0.09) by the Executive Board is 

unnecessary. The accumulated loss reported in the annual fi-

nancial statements will be carried forward. This corresponds 

to a dividend payout ratio of 0% (2023: 21%) based on the 

consolidated net profit.  

Based on the aforementioned differences, this results in the 

following commercial law equivalents for the Group's rele-

vant performance indicators:  

For the 2024 financial year, Allane SE's operating sales 

amounted to EUR 402.4 million (Allane Mobility Group's op-

erating sales according to IFRS: EUR 457.6 million). Allane 

SE's operating sales are expected to increase significantly in 

the 2025 financial year due to the expected further expan-

sion of the portfolio. 

In addition, the commercial law equivalent of earnings before 

taxes (EBT) for Allane SE amounts to EUR -135.7 million 

(earnings before taxes (EBT) of the Allane Mobility Group ac-

cording to IFRS: EUR -49.3 million). The Management Board 

anticipates a significant improvement in Allane SE's earnings 

before taxes (EBT) for the 2025 financial year. 
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Opportunities, risks and forecast 

As the parent company and operating leasing company, Al-

lane SE has a significant influence on the opportunities and 

risks of the Allane Mobility Group. Allane SE also has a signif-

icant influence on the Allane Mobility Group in terms of eco-

nomic development. Reference is therefore made to the 

overall assessment in the risk and opportunity report and the 

economic report of the Allane Mobility Group. 

In addition to the opportunities and risks of Allane SE as the 

parent company of the Allane Mobility Group, there are in-

vestment risks in the individual financial statements that are 

attributable to Allane SE's investments in its direct subsidiar-

ies. There is a direct earnings impact risk here, which is ex-

plained in the Allane Mobility Group risk report.  

Allane SE operates the Group-wide risk management system 

and the internal control system and is therefore an integral 

part of it.  

Due to the significant influence of Allane SE as the parent 

company on the operating leasing business of the Allane Mo-

bility Group, reference is made to the overall assessment in 

the forecast report in the management report of this annual 

report of the Allane Mobility Group with regard to the fore-

cast expectations. 

Investments 
As an operating leasing company, Allane SE makes invest-

ments in leased assets, intangible assets and property, plant 

and equipment assets as part of its normal business activities. 

Due to its financing function within the Allane Mobility Group, 

Allane SE can provide the Group companies with funds in the 

form of equity as well as loans if required. Potential start-ups 

or acquisitions may require investments at Allane SE. 

B.10 – Corporate governance declaration in accordance 

with sections 289f and 315d of the HGB 

 

For Allane SE, good and responsible corporate governance is 

an important way of securing and enhancing the trust of the 

capital market in the Company. Responsible management 

geared to long-term value creation has a high job value for 

the Company. The fundamental characteristics of good cor-

porate governance are efficient and trustful cooperation be-

tween the Managing Board and Supervisory Board, respect 

for the interests of shareholders and openness in corporate 

communications both externally and internally. The Manage-

ment Board reports on important aspects of corporate gov-

ernance in cooperation with the Supervisory Board in 

accordance with Sections 289f and 315d of the Han-

delsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code). The re-

port is also available on the website of Allane SE under 

ir.allane-mobility-group.com under ‘Corporate Governance’. 

1. Corporate governance declaration in 
accordance with sections 289f and 315d of the 
HGB 

The corporate governance declaration is part of the com-

bined management report of the Group and the company. 

Pursuant to section 317 (2) sentence 6 of the HGB, the 

disclosures made in accordance with sections 289f and 315d 

of the HGB are not included in the audit. 

Compliance with German Corporate Governance Code 

and declaration of conformity 

The recommendations of the Government Commission on 

the German Corporate Governance Code are an established 

benchmark for corporate management at German listed 

companies. The Managing Board and Supervisory Board of 

Allane SE have therefore dealt in detail with the requirements 

of the German Corporate Governance Code and issued the 

following declaration of conformity.  

The last declaration of conformity was published on 27 Feb-

ruary 2025. After this date, Allane SE decided to deviate from 

the recommendation in A.5, choosing not to include any ad-

ditional statements on the structure of the group-wide inter-

nal control system in the management report, as it considers 

the previous disclosures to be sufficient. This additional devi-

ation from the German Corporate Governance Code is 

planned to be included in the next regular update of the dec-

laration of conformity. 
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Declaration of conformity in accordance with section 161 

of the AktG 

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of the Com-

pany issued the last Declaration of Conformity pursuant to 

section 161 AktG on 27 February 2024. Since issuing the last 

Declaration of Conformity on 27 February 2024, Allane SE 

(the "Company") has complied with the recommendations of 

the "Government Commission on the German Corporate 

Governance Code" in the version of 28 April 2022 an-

nounced in the official section of the Federal Gazette (Bun-

desanzeiger) on 27 June 2022 with the following exceptions 

and currently complies and will in the future comply with the 

recommendations of the "Government Commission on the 

German Corporate Governance Code" in the version of 28 

April 2022 announced in the official section of the Federal 

Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on 27 June 2022 (hereinafter the 

"Code 2022") with the following exceptions: 

 The Corporate Governance Statement (Erklärung zur Un-

ternehmensführung) does not contain statements on the 

approach to the long-term succession planning regarding 

the Managing Board (section B.2 half-sentence 2 of the 

Code 2022). As the Company is part of the Hyundai 

Group as well as the Santander Group, it has access to in-

ternationally experienced and highly qualified manage-

ment personnel, which is the reason why the Company is 

of the opinion that a reporting on the approach to the 

long-term succession planning regarding the Managing 

Board would not benefit to any greater extent the infor-

mation interests of shareholders and investors. 

 

 In deviation from Section C.7 Sentence 1 of the Code 

2022, Mr. Norbert van den Eijnden is, in the opinion of the 

Supervisory Board, currently the only member of the 

Company's Supervisory Board who is independent from 

the company and the Managing Board. From the compa-

ny's point of view, this does not affect the proper and 

duely performance of tasks by the Supervisory Board and 

its members. 

 

 As head of Global Leasing at Santander Consumer Fi-

nance S.A., the Chairman of the Supervisory Board is not 

independent of the Company and the Management 

Board, contrary to section C.10 sentence 1 of the Code 

2022. The Company believes that this does not impair the 

effective performance of the duties and responsibilities of 

the Chairman of the Supervisory Board. 

 

 The Supervisory Board regularly reviews the effectiveness 

and efficiency of its work and the fulfilment of its tasks, 

but refrains from reporting in the corporate governance 

statement whether and how a self-assessment by the Su-

pervisory Board was carried out (section D.12, sentence 2 

of the Code 2022). In this regard, the Supervisory Board is 

of the opinion that the current structure of the Supervi-

sory Board does not have a degree of complexity that 

would require reporting on the self-assessment by the Su-

pervisory Board in accordance with the recommendation 

in section D.12 sentence 2 of the Code 2022. 

 

 The report of the Supervisory Board (Bericht des 

Aufsichtsrats) does not contain statements as to training 

and professional development measures and measures of 

induction for the members of the Supervisory Board (sec-

tion D.11 half-sentence 2 of the Code 2022). The Supervi-

sory Board is of the opinion that a reporting on training 

and professional development measures and measures of 

induction for the members of the Supervisory Board does 

not constitute essential information for shareholders or in-

vestors. 

 

 The Supervisory Board decides on a case-by-case basis 

how to take into account the age of candidates when ap-

pointing Managing Board members or proposing Supervi-

sory Board candidates for election, as the Supervisory 

Board believes that specifying a general age limit and, 

thereby, imposing a general restriction on selection, would 

not be in the interest of the Company. Therefore, a speci-

fied age limit for Managing Board Members or Supervi-

sory Board members has not been determined and is not 

reported in the Corporate Governance Statement (section 

B.5 and C.2 of the Code 2022). 

 

 The rules of procedure of the Supervisory Board are not 

published on the Company’s website (section D.1 half-

sentence 2 of the Code 2022). The Company does not 

consider the rules of procedure of the Supervisory Board 

to be an essential information for shareholders or inves-

tors which needs to be publicly available in addition to the 

information made available in the Corporate Governance 

Statement. 

 

 In deviation from the recommendation in Section D.4 

GCGC 2022, the Supervisory Board has not formed a 

Nomination Committee. Due to the current size of the Su-

pervisory Board, which allows efficient work of the entire 

body (Gesamtgremium), the formation of committees – 

with the exception of the Audit Committee formed with 

effect from December 16, 2021 – has not been deemed 

necessary to date. 
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 The peer group applied to assess the level of the manage-

ment board remuneration (section G.3 sentence 1 half-

sentence 2 of the Code 2022) is not disclosed, as in the 

opinion of the Supervisory Board such disclosure would 

not provide any further information for the shareholders or 

stakeholders of the Company. 

 

 Disclosure of the peer group used to assess the appropri-

ateness of the Executive Board's remuneration (Section 

G.3, sentence 1, clause 2 of the German Corporate Gov-

ernance Code 2022) is waived, as the Supervisory Board 

believes that such disclosure would not provide any fur-

ther insights for the shareholders or stakeholders of the 

company. 

 

 The remuneration for Supervisory Board members pro-

vided for in the Company’s Articles of Association only 

takes account of the larger time commitment of the chair-

person of the Supervisory Board, but neither of the dep-

uty chairperson of the Supervisory Board nor of the 

chairperson or members of committees (section G.17 of 

the Code 2022). With the exception of the additional time 

commitment required for the service as chairperson of the 

Supervisory Board, the Company, for the time being and 

subject to ongoing review of the required time commit-

ment in the individual case, considers service in other 

functions within the Supervisory Board as regular part of 

the duties of the Supervisory Board members. Further-

more, Supervisory Board members related to the current 

majority shareholder of the Company have waived their 

remuneration claims. 

 

 The Company discloses all price-sensitive information 

equally to analysts and all shareholders. However, the 

Company takes the view that disclosure to all shareholders 

also of non-price-sensitive information provided to finan-

cial analysts and similar parties (section F.1 of the Code 

2022) would not benefit to any greater extent the infor-

mation interests of shareholders. 

 

 The annual consolidated financial statements and the an-

nual report of the Company are published within the stat-

utory periods. Interim reports are published within the 

periods stipulated by stock exchange rules. The Company 

takes the view that compliance with the shorter publica-

tion deadlines recommended by section F.2 of the Code 

2022 does not benefit to any greater extent the infor-

mation interests of investors, creditors, employees and the 

public. 

 

 

Pullach, February 2025 

For the Supervisory Board  

of Allane SE   

 

Ignacio Barbadillo Llorens  

Chairman 

 

For the Managing Board  

of Allane SE 

 

Eckart Klumpp 

Chairman 

Álvaro Hernández 

Member of the Managing 

Board 

1.1 Remuneration report / Remuneration system 

The applicable remuneration system for the members of the 

Managing Board pursuant to section 87a (1) and (2) sentence 

1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), which was ap-

proved by the Annual General Meeting on 29 June 2021, and 

the resolution adopted by the Annual General Meeting on 29 

June 2021 pursuant to section 113 (3) of the German Stock 

Corporation Act (AktG) on the remuneration of the members 

of the Supervisory Board, as well as the remuneration report 

and the auditor's report pursuant to section 162 of the Ger-

man Stock Corporation Act (AktG), are publicly available on 

the website of Allane SE ir.allane-mobility-group.com in the 

section »Corporate Governance« under »Remuneration re-

port«. 

1.2 Relevant disclosures on corporate governance 

practices 

The practices used for managing Allane SE and the Allane 

Mobility Group fully comply with the statutory provisions.  

Strategic and operational management of the Group is per-

formed on the basis of planning policies and regular compre-

hensive reports to the Managing Board. Reporting covers the 

risk management system, the internal control system as well 

as the internal audit system.  

The risk management system, the functioning and extent of 

which is documented in the risk manual, specifies several 

types of reports to support management with the identifica-

tion, assessment and control of risks. Among other things, the 
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Managing Board and the Supervisory Board receive a com-

prehensive risk report each year. In addition, the Managing 

Board is regularly informed about relevant issues by the 

Company’s functional units. The internal control system con-

sists of measures and controls, for example, to ensure com-

pliance with statutory provisions and corporate guidelines. It 

specifies regular reports by the Company’s business units, 

audit reports and regular working meetings relating to differ-

ent topics. The internal audit system relates to measures such 

as planned audits and other audits, the results of which are 

documented in the respective audit and activity reports to 

the Managing Board. 

1.3 Compliance within the Allane Mobility Group 

As a financial services institution, in accordance with section 

1 (1a) no. 10 KWG, Allane SE is subject to the provisions of 

MaRisk and section 25a (1) sentence 3 no. 3 KWG. This re-

sults in requirements for the implementation and design of a 

compliance function. 

The Managing Board of Allane SE has appointed a central 

compliance officer who, in cooperation with the internal audit 

department and the legal department of Allane SE, is respon-

sible for coordinating and monitoring all compliance 

measures and compliance processes within the Allane Mobil-

ity Group.  

The success of the Allane Mobility Group is not only driven by 

its excellent business policy, but also by the harmonisation of 

business principles with the highest moral and ethical stand-

ards, and the trust that customers, suppliers, shareholders 

and business partners place in. In order to win and keep this 

trust, it is a precondition that the Managing Board and the 

employees of the Company in any situation and continuously 

comply with the high standards of legislation, ethics and so-

cial skills. The Code of Conduct of Allane SE and its affiliated 

companies, which is mandatory for all employees, contains 

these behavioural principles for the acting individuals’ deal-

ings in relation to third parties and within the Company. The 

Code of Conduct defines compliance-relevant procedures 

on the part of management and provides specific instructions 

for action in the following areas of compliance: corruption 

and bribery, money laundering, antitrust law, data protection, 

insider information and conflicts of interest. In addition, all 

departments are required to coordinate key legal or regula-

tory processes and procedures with the legal department, 

the compliance officer and internal audit. The internal audit 

department carries out plan audits and project-accompany-

ing audits based on risk-oriented audit planning. Within the 

scope of these rule audits, business processes are examined 

not only with regard to economic risk aspects but also with 

regard to possible compliance risks and compliance with the 

applicable internal (work instructions, processes) and exter-

nal regulations. At the same time, the audit department sup-

ports the compliance function in monitoring the compliance 

measures implemented by carrying out ad-hoc checks as re-

quired. 

The compliance function constantly monitors the main de-

fined compliance areas of Allane SE, initiates the necessary 

measures and accompanies their implementation. To be-

come aware of potential compliance defaults, Allane SE of-

fers its employees different reporting channels via the 

superior, the compliance officer or the ombudsman. The 

compliance officer maintains regular contact with the Man-

aging Board and assists as well as advises it with regard to 

preventive measures. 

1.4 Working practices of Managing Board and 

Supervisory Board 

As European Stock Corporation (Societas Europaea) Allane 

SE is governed by the German Aktiengesetz (AktG – German 

Public Companies Act), the specific European SE regulations 

and the German SE Implementation Act. Allane SE has a du-

alistic management system with a clear division of corporate 

management and its supervision between the Managing 

Board and Supervisory Board. The Managing Board is there-

fore strictly separated from the Supervisory Board, which 

monitors the activities of the Managing Board and decides 

on its composition. Simultaneous membership in both bodies 

is not permitted. The Articles of Association of Allane SE are 

publicly available on the website at ir.allane-mobility-

group.com in the “Investor Relation” section under “Corpo-

rate Governance”. 

1.4.1 Managing Board 

The Managing Board of Allane SE manages the Company on 

its own responsibility and represents Allane SE in transac-

tions with third parties. It conducts business in accordance 

with the legal provisions, the Articles of Association and the 

rules of procedure for the Managing Board. 

As the central task of corporate management, the Managing 

Board defines long-term goals and strategic orientation for 

the Company and the Group, agrees these with the Supervi-

sory Board and coordinates their implementation. The Man-

aging Board determines the internal corporate organization, 

decides on key management positions and manages and 
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monitors the Group's business by planning and determining 

budgets, allocating resources and monitoring and deciding 

on key individual measures.  

The members of the Managing Board are jointly responsible 

for the entire management. Without affecting the overall re-

sponsibility of all members of the Managing Board, the indi-

vidual members manage the areas assigned to them within 

the framework of the Managing Board resolutions on their 

own responsibility. The distribution of tasks among the mem-

bers of the Managing Board is set out in a written business 

allocation plan attached to the rules of procedure of the Man-

aging Board.  

The Managing Board as a whole makes decisions on all mat-

ters of fundamental and material importance as well as in le-

gally or otherwise binding cases. The rules of procedure of 

the Managing Board provide for a catalogue of measures that 

require discussion and decision by the Managing Board as a 

whole. 

In 2024, the Managing Board consisted of the members Mr. 

Eckart Klumpp and Mr. Álvaro Hernández. Mr. Eckart Klumpp, 

Chairman of the Managing Board of Allane SE, was responsi-

ble for Group Strategy and Development, Sales, Marketing, 

Operations, Purchasing, Remarketing and Human Resources. 

Mr. Álvaro Hernández, Chief Financial Officer of Allane SE, 

was responsible for Accounting, Controlling, Treasury & Fi-

nancing, Investor Relations, Risk Management, Internal Audit, 

Legal, Compliance and IT.  

1.4.2 Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board of Allane SE consists of six members 

in accordance with article 10 (1) of the Articles of Association.  

All members are elected by the Annual General Meeting in 

accordance with legal provisions and the provisions of the Ar-

ticles of Association (Article 10 (2) of the Articles of Associa-

tion). Apart from the audit committee formed on 

16 December 2021, there were no other committees in the 

2024 financial year. 

The main tasks of the Supervisory Board include appointing 

the members of the Managing Board and monitoring the 

Managing Board. The Supervisory Board generally adopts its 

resolutions at meetings. However, by order of the Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board, resolutions of the Supervisory 

Board may also be passed outside of meetings (or by way of 

a combined resolution) by means of oral or telephone voting, 

voting in text form (Section 126b BGB) and/or using other 

means of telecommunication or electronic media (Section 14 

(2) of the Articles of Association). Furthermore, resolutions 

may also be passed in the aforementioned manner without a 

timely instruction of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

if no member of the Supervisory Board objects (Section 14 (3) 

of the Articles of Association). Unless otherwise stipulated in 

the Articles of Association or by law, resolutions of the Super-

visory Board must be passed unanimously with all votes cast. 

Insofar as resolutions of the Supervisory Board concern the 

areas of risk impact (including residual value risk), finance, fi-

nancing, compliance, auditing, legal, operations or other ar-

eas that are not directly related to the company's operating 

activities, resolutions of the Supervisory Board require a sim-

ple majority of the votes cast, unless otherwise stipulated by 

law (Section 14 (7) of the Articles of Association). Further de-

tails on the meetings and activities of the Supervisory Board 

in the 2024 financial year are presented in the Report of the 

Supervisory Board. 

The Audit Committee monitors accounting and the account-

ing process in particular. Its tasks include examining the com-

pany's annual financial statements, the annual financial 

statements of the subsidiaries and the consolidated financial 

statements, including the respective management reports, 

the auditors' reports, the Managing Board's proposal for the 

appropriation of net retained profits and the dependent 

company report. The Audit Committee prepares the Supervi-

sory Board's resolution on the adoption of the annual finan-

cial statements and the approval of the consolidated financial 

statements and discusses the interim reports with the Man-

aging Board prior to their publication. The Audit Committee 

also deals with sustainability reporting. The Audit Committee 

also deals with the monitoring of the audit of the financial 

statements, in particular the selection and independence of 

the auditor, the quality and efficiency of the audit process and 

the services provided by the auditor. The Audit Committee 

prepares the Supervisory Board's resolution on the proposal 

for the election of the auditor to the Annual General Meeting; 

this includes, in particular, making a recommendation and 

obtaining a declaration of independence from the auditor to 

be proposed to the Annual General Meeting for election. The 

tasks of the Audit Committee also include issuing the audit 

mandate to the auditor elected by the Annual General Meet-

ing and concluding the mandate and fee agreement as well 

as developing and determining the focal points of the audit. 

The Audit Committee is also responsible for the ongoing 

monitoring of the effectiveness of the internal control system, 

the risk management system, the internal audit system and 

the compliance system. This also includes dealing with com-

pliance matters relating to capital market law within the area 

of responsibility of the Supervisory Board. 
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The Chairman of the Audit Committee regularly reports to 

the Supervisory Board on the meetings of the Audit Commit-

tee and the activities of the Audit Committee. The Chairman 

of the Audit Committee regularly discusses the progress of 

the audit with the auditor and reports on this to the commit-

tee. The Audit Committee also consults regularly with the au-

ditor without the Managing Board. 

The Audit Committee consists of three members. As at 31 De-

cember 2024, it consisted of Jochen Klöpper, Norbert van 

den Eijnden and Keunbae Hong, with Norbert van den 

Eijnden holding the office of Chairman of the Audit Commit-

tee. The Audit Committee as a whole is familiar with the sec-

tor in which the company operates. On the Supervisory Board 

and its Audit Committee, Jochen Klöpper, Norbert van den 

Eijnden and Keunbae Hong in particular have expertise in 

both accounting and auditing. Their expertise also relates to 

sustainability reporting and its audit.  

Jochen Klöpper has expertise in the areas of accounting and 

auditing due to his many years as a member of the Managing 

Board, Chief Risk Officer and Chief Credit Officer in interna-

tional companies and due to the Supervisory Board and Ad-

visory Board functions he has held . In particular, Jochen 

Klöpper has been a member of the Managing Board and 

Chief Risk Officer of Santander Consumer Bank AG since 

2015. Previously, he was Chief Risk Officer of the Austrian 

Bawag PSK AG and Chief Credit Officer of Deutsche Bank 

S.p.a., Italy. 

Norbert van den Eijnden also has expertise in the fields of ac-

counting and auditing. In the course of his professional career, 

Norbert van den Eijnden was CEO of Alphabet International 

GmbH, the leasing company of the BMW Group, for more 

than ten years and in this function also a member of the 

Board of BMW Financial Services. Norbert van den Eijnden 

was also a long-standing member of the Managing Board of 

Athlon Holding N.V., a listed company. Norbert van den 

Eijnden is also a member of the Supervisory Board and the 

Audit & Risk Committee of Bovemij N.V., among others. 

Keunbae Hong has expertise in the fields of accounting and 

auditing from his many years in management positions and 

as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of various international com-

panies. Keunbae Hong is currently Head of Global Finance 

Department at Hyundai Capital Services, Inc, Korea. Previ-

ously, he was CFO at Hyundai Capital America, USA.  

Jochen Klöpper, Norbert van den Eijnden and Hyung Seok 

Lee in particular therefore qualify as financial experts within 

the meaning of Section 100 (5) AktG and recommendation 

D.3 GCGC.  

The Managing Board and Supervisory Board work closely to-

gether for the benefit of the Allane Mobility Group. The Man-

aging Board informs the Supervisory Board regularly, 

promptly and comprehensively about all issues relevant to 

the company and the Group, in particular about strategic 

planning, business development, the risk situation, risk man-

agement and compliance as well as the results of internal au-

dits. The Managing Board coordinates the strategic direction 

of the company with the Supervisory Board and discusses the 

implementation of the strategy at regular intervals. Docu-

ments required for decision-making, in particular the annual 

financial statements of Allane SE, the consolidated financial 

statements and the report on the situation of the Group and 

the company, including the auditors' reports, are forwarded 

to the members of the Supervisory Board prior to the respec-

tive meeting. The Articles of Association and the rules of pro-

cedure of the Management Board contain a catalog of 

measures requiring the approval of the Supervisory Board. 

1.5 Objectives of Supervisory Board for its composition 

and status of implementation 

The Supervisory Board has set targets for its composition and 

developed a skills profile for the entire Board. 

Accordingly, the Supervisory Board must be composed in 

such a way as to ensure qualified monitoring and advice of 

the Managing Board by the Supervisory Board. Overall, its 

members should have the knowledge, skills and professional 

experience required to properly perform the duties of a Su-

pervisory Board in a capital market-oriented, internationally 

active company with the Leasing for Private and Business 

Customers and Fleet Management divisions. 

1.5.1 Profile of competence 

Overall, the Supervisory Board should have the skills that are 

considered essential in view of the activities of the Allane 

Mobility Group. In particular, this includes in-depth experi-

ence and knowledge of 

 the management of a large or mid-sized international 

company; 

 the leasing and fleet management business; 

 the fields of marketing, distribution and digitalization; 

 the main markets in which the Allane Mobility Group is ac-

tive; 

 bookkeeping and accounting; 
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 controlling/risk management; 

 the area of governance/compliance and 

 on sustainability issues of importance to the Allane Mobil-

ity Group. 

 

In addition, in view of the requirements of Section 100 (5) 

AktG, at least one member of the Supervisory Board must 

have expertise in the field of accounting and at least one 

other member of the Supervisory Board must have expertise 

in the field of auditing. The expertise in the area of accounting 

should consist of special knowledge and experience in the 

application of accounting principles and internal control and 

risk management systems and the expertise in the area of au-

diting should consist of special knowledge and experience in 

auditing. Accounting and auditing also include sustainability 

reporting and its audit. The Chairman of the Audit Commit-

tee should be an expert in these areas. The members as a 

whole must be familiar with the sector in which the company 

operates. 

1.5.2 Requirements for the composition of the entire 

board and the individual members 

Competence and diversity  

Qualifications and personal competence are the most im-

portant prerequisites for appointments to the Supervisory 

Board. The Supervisory Board will always give priority to 

these requirements, which are essential for the fulfillment of 

its statutory duties, when making proposals for the election 

of Supervisory Board members. 

Overall, the Supervisory Board pursues the goal of optimally 

fulfilling its monitoring and advisory function through the di-

versity of its members. Diversity includes, in particular, 

internationality as well as different horizons of experience 

and life paths. When preparing nominations or proposals for 

appointments, the extent to which different, mutually com-

plementary professional profiles, professional and life expe-

rience and an appropriate representation of both genders 

benefit the work of the Supervisory Board should be consid-

ered on a case-by-case basis. The Supervisory Board will also 

support the Managing Board in strengthening diversity 

within the company. 

In-depth knowledge of work areas relevant for Company 

All members of the Supervisory Board should have in-depth 

knowledge and experience in the areas of work that are im-

portant to the company and fulfill the other professional and 

personal requirements arising from the applicable regula-

tory requirements. 

Management experience 

The Supervisory Board should include at least two members 

who have experience in the management or supervision of a 

medium-sized or large company. 

Internationality 

At least two members of the Supervisory Board should have 

business experience in Allane SE's main sales markets and be 

able to competently support Allane SE in the context of fur-

ther internationalization. 

Qualifications matrix 

The following skills matrix illustrates the existing skills and the 

status of implementation in relation to the skills profile and 

the diversity concept described in section 1.6.2 based on the 

requirements for Supervisory Board members: 
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Qualification Matrix               

    
Barbadillo 

Llorens 
van den 
Eijnden 

Hanswil-
lemenke 

Keunbae 
Hong Kellershof Klöpper Williams                                     

Affiliation Member since 17.06.2024 29.03.2022 10.12.2020 30.06.2023 17.05.2024 05.08.2020 14.04.2023 

  Ausgeschieden - - 27.06.2024 - - - - 

Diversity Gender M M M M W M M 

  Year of Birth 1966 1959 1968 1969 1970 1970 1963 

  Nationality Spain Netherlands Germany South Korea Germany Germany USA 

Expertise Leasing and 

Fleet 
Management       

  Marketing, 

Sales       

  Corporate and 

Human 
Resources 

Management       

  Internationality       

  Financial 

Accounting       

  Controlling, 

Risk 
Management       

  Governance, 

Compliance       

  Digitisation       

  Sustainability, 

ESG       

Financial 

expertise2 Accounting3       

  Auditing4                                           
1  Good and in-depth knowledge beyond the legal minimum requirements for the members of the Supervisory Board 

2 Within the meaning to Article 100 paragraph 5 AktG (Aktiengesetz: German Stock Corporation Act) 
3 Including internal control and risk management systems and sustainability reporting and their audit 

4 Including sustainability reporting and its audit 

Number of independent members/no material conflicts of 

interests 

The Supervisory Board should have an appropriate number 

of independent members. In view of the company's owner-

ship structure, the Supervisory Board believes that this is the 

case if at least two of the six members of the Supervisory 

Board as defined in the Articles of Association are independ-

ent within the meaning of Section C.6 of the German Corpo-

rate Governance Code. The Supervisory Board will base its 

election proposals on these requirements.  

Furthermore, no persons should be proposed for election to 

the Supervisory Board who, due to other activities, could po-

tentially enter into a significant, not merely selective or tem-

porary conflict of interest. 

Implementation/composition of the Supervisory Board 

The current composition of the Supervisory Board meets the 

aforementioned objectives. Due to their different back-

grounds and experience, the members of the Supervisory 

Board as a whole represent the diversity that is necessary for 

the optimal performance of their supervisory duties. In par-

ticular, the Supervisory Board as a whole has the knowledge, 

skills and professional experience required to properly per-

form the duties of a Supervisory Board of a capital market-

oriented, internationally active company in the Fleet Man-

agement and Leasing for private and business customers di-

visions. Due to their previous professional activities, all 

members of the Supervisory Board have particular industry 

expertise and experience in the company's main sales mar-

kets as well as experience in the management or supervision 

of a medium-sized or large company. They are therefore fa-

miliar with the sector in which the company operates as a 

whole. With Mrs. Eva Kellershof and Mr. Norbert van den 

Eijnden, there are currently two independent shareholder 

representatives on the company's Supervisory Board. 

As part of the selection process and the nomination of candi-

dates for the Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board takes 

into account the aforementioned objectives for the 
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composition of the Supervisory Board in addition to the re-

quirements of the law and the GCGC and strives to fulfill the 

competence profile for the entire Board.  

1.6 Diversity Concept 

1.6.1 Managing Board 

Diversity aspects in the composition of the Managing 

Board 

Overall, the Managing Board should have the competencies 

that are considered essential in view of the activities of the 

Allane Mobility Group. In the opinion of the Supervisory 

Board, these include: 

 complementary professional profiles and different profes-

sional and educational backgrounds; 

 highest personal integrity; 

 in-depth practical experience in dialogue with the various 

stakeholders, including in-depth knowledge of capital 

market requirements; 

 profound experience in IT management and understand-

ing of the increasing digitalisation of the business model; 

 many years of experience in value-based strategy devel-

opment and change management; 

 many years of experience in the management of large 

companies; 

 knowledge of accounting and financial management; 

 solid knowledge of risk management; 

 international experience and 

 adequate representation of both sexes and different ages. 

 

The employment contracts of the members of the Managing 

Board should generally end when they reach the statutory re-

tirement age (currently 67). 

Objectives pursued with the diversity concept 

In the opinion of the Supervisory Board, taking into account 

complementary professional profiles and different profes-

sional and educational backgrounds is already part of the 

duty of proper management. In addition, the different back-

grounds and experiences of the individual members of the 

Managing Board are crucial in order to be able to analyze cur-

rent challenges, problems and strategies from different per-

spectives and thus make a decision for the benefit of the 

company. 

Profound experience in IT management and a profound un-

derstanding of digitalization are essential in order to success-

fully lead the company into the future in view of the ongoing 

digitalization of the business model and the enormous rele-

vance of modern IT structures for all areas of the company. 

In the opinion of the Supervisory Board, many years of expe-

rience in the management of larger companies, strategy de-

velopment and change management are decisive and 

indispensable elements of modern top management. The 

Managing Board also requires sound practical experience in 

dialog with various stakeholders, including in-depth 

knowledge of the requirements of the capital market. In par-

ticular, the Supervisory Board is of the opinion that successful 

corporate management requires consistent communicative 

involvement of the lower management levels by the Manag-

ing Board.  

The Supervisory Board also strives for an appropriate repre-

sentation of both genders and different age groups on the 

Managing Board, as it believes that mixed teams achieve the 

same or better results than teams in which only one gender is 

represented. As the Managing Board currently consists of 

only two members, the Supervisory Board believes that a 

strict quota at this point would, on the one hand, lead to a sig-

nificant restriction of suitable candidates and, on the other 

hand, jeopardize future cooperation with deserving members 

of the Managing Board who are familiar with the Company. 

Manner of implementation 

When making appointments to the Managing Board, the Su-

pervisory Board takes into account the diversity aspects de-

scribed above. In addition, the Managing Board and 

Supervisory Board regularly discuss suitable successor can-

didates and high potentials from within the Group in order to 

ensure the continuous development of promising talent.  

1.6.2 Supervisory Board 

Diversity aspects in the composition of the Supervisory 

Board 

The Supervisory Board has drawn up a comprehensive com-

petence profile for its composition and formulated detailed 

requirements for the composition of the entire Supervisory 

Board and its individual members. 

Accordingly, the Supervisory Board should have the overall 

competencies that are considered essential in view of the ac-

tivities of the Allane Mobility Group.  

The most important prerequisites for filling the seats on the 

Supervisory Board are professional qualifications and per-

sonal competence. The Supervisory Board will consider these 

conditions, which are indispensable for the fulfilment of its 
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statutory obligations, when making nominations for election 

of members of the Supervisory Board. 

The Supervisory Board also pays particular attention to dif-

ferent, complementary professional profiles, professional 

and life experience and an appropriate representation of 

both sexes. 

The Supervisory Board maintains that it does not define an 

age limit or a rule limit for membership of the Supervisory 

Board.  

Objectives pursued with the diversity concept 

Overall, the Supervisory Board pursues the goal of optimally 

fulfilling its monitoring and advisory function through the di-

versity of its members. Diversity includes, in particular, inter-

nationality as well as different horizons of experience and life 

paths. When preparing nominations or proposals for appoint-

ments, the extent to which different, complementary profes-

sional profiles, professional and life experiences and an 

appropriate representation of both genders benefit the work 

of the Supervisory Board should be considered on a case-by-

case basis. 

In addition, the different backgrounds and experiences of the 

individual Supervisory Board members are crucial in order to 

be able to analyze current challenges, problems and strate-

gies from different perspectives and thus make decisions for 

the benefit of the company. The Supervisory Board's aim is to 

always be in a position to competently advise and monitor the 

Managing Board and to be able to appropriately recognize 

and support new developments in the industry.  

Manner of implementation 

The Supervisory Board takes the diversity aspects described 

above into account when making proposals for the election 

of Supervisory Board members. The Supervisory Board also 

undergoes an annual efficiency review. The review covers the 

effective performance of the tasks assigned to the Supervi-

sory Board, including the practicability of the procedural reg-

ulations in the Supervisory Board's rules of procedure, as well 

as the efficiency of the committee's work. Diversity aspects 

are also taken into account.  

2. Further disclosures on corporate governance 

Notification concerning directors' dealings 

Allane SE was not notified of any reportable purchase or sale 

transactions of Allane SE shares or related financial instru-

ments by persons subject to reporting requirements 

(directors' dealings or managers' transactions) in the 2024 fi-

nancial year. Corresponding notifications are published on 

the company's website ir.allane-mobility-group.com in the 

"Financial Reports" section under "Directors' Dealings". 

Determinations pursuant to sections 76 (4) and 111 (5) 

AktG  

In accordance with Section 111 (5) AktG, the Supervisory 

Board of Allane SE has set targets for the proportion of 

women on the Supervisory Board and the Management 

Board and decided that the targets should be achieved by 

December 31, 2027. For the proportion of women on the Su-

pervisory Board, the Supervisory Board has set a target of 

16.67% (corresponding to 1/6) based on the current composi-

tion. The Supervisory Board has set a target of 0% for the 

Management Board. The Supervisory Board gave the follow-

ing reasons for setting the target figure for the Management 

Board: The background to this is that with the current com-

position of the Management Board with Mr. Eckart Klumpp 

(Chairman of the Management Board) and Mr. Álvaro Her-

nández (Chief Financial Officer), the proportion of women on 

the Management Board of Allane SE is 0%. The members of 

the Management Board are appointed until December 31, 

2026 (Mr. Eckart Klumpp) and until September 30, 2027 (Mr. 

Álvaro Hernández). The Supervisory Board currently has no 

intention of changing the current Executive Board team. The 

Supervisory Board is also not planning to appoint a third 

member to the company's Management Board. Therefore, 

under the current circumstances, the target for the propor-

tion of women on the Management Board is set at 0%. 

The Managing Board of Allane SE set the target figures for 

the proportion of women at the first and second manage-

ment levels below the Managing Board at 20% and 30% in 

accordance with Section 76 (4) AktG and resolved that both 

targets should be achieved by 30 June 2026. 

Disclosures relating to the auditor 

The ordinary Annual General Meeting on 27 June 2024 

adopted the proposal of the Supervisory Board to appoint 

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsge-

sellschaft, Munich, as auditor for financial year 2024 for Al-

lane SE and the Allane Mobility Group. 

Pullach, 12 June 2025 

Allane SE 

The Managing Board 

Eckart Klumpp  Álvaro Hernández
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of Allane Mobility Group, Pullach, for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2024 

Consolidated Income Statement           
in EUR thou. Notes   FDFH   FDFG     
Revenue /H.E/   KHK,FLF   JEM,FHG 

Other operating income /H.F/   L,LKH   ED,LFG 

Fleet expenses and cost of lease assets /H.G/   GHK,GID   GFE,DDI 

Personnel expenses /H.H/   II,ELD   IF,LMK 

a) Wages and salaries   HJ,LKJ   HH,LFM   

b) Social security contributions   L,GDI   L,DJL   

Net losses arising from the derecognition of financial assets /H.I/   F,GFL   E,IDM 

Net impairment expenses (-)/ income (+) from financial assets /H.J/   –KJF   –F,DKH 

Other operating expenses /H.K/   FL,IJM   GE,IKK 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)     GFE,MJK   FFE,DDI 

Depreciation and amortisation /H.L/   GFH,FLM   EMF,GLL 

a) Depreciation of lease assets   GEE,ILG   EKL,IHJ   

b) Depreciation of property and equipment   I,HHM   J,EIM   

c) Amortisation of intangible assets   K,FIK   K,JLG   

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)     –F,GFF   FL,JEK 

Net finance costs (-) expenses (+) income /H.M/   –HK,DFD   –EI,MLG 

a) Interest income   JIF   GGL   

b) Interest expense   –HK,GLK   –EJ,GIH   

c) Other net financial income (-) losses (+) gains   –FLH   GF   

Earnings before taxes (EBT)     –HM,GHF   EF,JGH 

Income tax expense (-) income (+) expenses /H.ED/   –ED,EGG   G,KLD 

Consolidated result /H.EE/   –GM,FDL   L,LIG 

 Of which attributable to shareholders of Allane SE     –GM,FDL   L,LIG 

            

Earnings per share – basic and diluted (in Euro) /H.EF/   –E.MD   D.HG     
 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income       
in EUR thou. Notes FDFH FDFG 

Consolidated result /H.EE/ –GM,FDL L,LIG 

        

Other comprehensive income (not recognised in the income statement)   –L,JLF –H,DKL 

 Thereof components that could be reclassified to income statement in the future       

 Currency translation gains/losses /H.FG/ –GGE LHE 

 Change of derivative financial instruments in hedge relationship   –M,HHJ –J,GIE 

 Related deferred taxes   E,DLI E,GMK 

 Thereof components that will not be reclassified to income statement in the future       

 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans  /H.FI/ EF –ED 

 Related deferred taxes   –F HI 

Total comprehensive income   –HK,LMD H,KKJ 

 Of which attributable to minority interests   –L,GJE –H,MIH 

 Of which attributable to shareholders of Allane SE   –GM,IFM M,KGD 

 

C.1 – Consolidated income statement and statement of 

comprehensive income  
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of Allane Mobility Group, Pullach, as at 31 December 2024  

Assets       
in EUR thou. Notes GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG         
Non-current assets       

Goodwill /H.EG/ H,EGH H,EGH 

Intangible assets /H.EH/ EL,LKG FD,IMI 

Property and equipment /H.EI/ GL,MIL GK,FDH 

Lease assets /H.EJ/ F,EEH,HED E,HDJ,HHH 

Financial assets   FL FL 

Other receivables and assets /H.FD/ I,LFI G,MIM 

Deferred tax assets /H.ED/ F,EHH KGD 

Total non-current assets   F,ELH,GKE E,HKG,DMH 

        

Current assets       

Inventories /H.EK/ GJ,IHK HH,HIE 

Trade receivables /H.EL/ EDI,ELF ML,GMJ 

Receivables from related parties /H.EM/ JD,JKI H,FDH 

Other receivables and assets /H.FD/ HH,DJG HK,KKH 

Income tax receivables   F,EII FDH 

Bank balances /H.FE/ L,DKK I,ELK 

Total current assets   FIJ,KDD FDD,FEI 

        

Total assets   F,HHE,DKE E,JKG,GDM         
 

Equity and liabilities       
in EUR thou. Notes GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG         
Equity       

Subscribed capital /H.FF/ FD,JEF FD,JEF 
Capital reserves   EGI,DHI EGI,DHI 
Other reserves /H.FG/ GL,LJD LD,FHI 
Minority interests /H.FH/ –J,DKG F,FLK 
Total equity   ELL,HHG FGL,ELM 

        
Non-current liabilities and provisions       

Provisions for pensions /H.FI/ EFL EHF 
Other provisions /H.FJ/ FFJ FFJ 
Financial liabilities /H.FK/ E,JII,MLF MFD,KDM 
Other liabilities /H.GD/ IG,IJL HD,DJG 
Deferred tax liabilities /H.ED/ EL,MID GF,GMK 
Total non-current liabilities and provisions   E,KFL,LIH MMG,IGJ 

        
Current liabilities and provisions       

Other provisions /H.FH/ H,GMJ G,LEF 
Income tax liabilities   H,GLE H,DII 
Financial liabilities /H.FK/ GEJ,LHJ FIJ,FEM 
Trade payables /H.FM/ EDF,FMJ EEJ,GDE 
Contract Liabilities /H.GE/ FJ,FDF FD,KLH 
Liabilities to affiliated companies /H.FL/ EE,DIG IJ 
Other liabilities /H.GD/ IL,JDD HD,GIJ 
Total current liabilities and provisions   IFG,KKG HHE,ILH 

        
Total equity and liabilities   F,HHE,DKE E,JKG,GDM                 
  

C.2 – Consolidated balance sheet 
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of Allane Mobility Group, Pullach, for the 2024 financial year 

Consolidated cash flow statement       
in EUR thou. Notes FDFH FDFG                 
Operating activities       

Consolidated result /H.EE/ –GM,FDL L,LIG 

Income taxes recognised in income statement /H.ED/ –ED,EGG I,HIK 

income taxes received   HJ E,JMH 

Income taxes paid   –H,DHH –H,MMG 

Financial result recognised in income statementE /H.M/ HK,DFD EI,MLH 

Interest received   L,IDI GFG 

Interest paid   –ID,IEL –EE,FMF 

Depreciation and amortisation /H.L/ GFH,FLM EMF,FEG 

Income from disposal of fixed assets   –GG,JHF –GM,LML 

Other (non-)cash expenses and income   –EE,KDH –JML 

Gross cash flow   FGD,JED EJK,JHG 

Proceeds from disposal of lease assets   FJJ,JMG FIM,MGE 

Payments for investments in lease assets   –E,FHG,GJG –LEE,MJD 

Change in inventories /H.EK/ K,MDH –H,IDI 

Change in trade receivables /H.EL/ –J,KLJ –EI,JMM 

Change in trade payables /H.FM/ –EH,DDJ HJ,LKD 

Change in other net assets   –EH,DED EL,HLI 

Net cash flows from (+)/ used in (-) operating activities   –KKF,MIK –GGM,FGJ 

        

Investing activities       

Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets and equipmentF   E,IGJ E,EME 

Payments for investments in intangible assets and equipment /H..H/ to /H.EI/ –L,HKE –EG,KKG 

Net cash flows from (+)/ used in (-) investing activities   –J,MGI –EF,ILF 

        

Financing activities       

Dividends paid   –E,LII –E,LII 

Proceeds from bank loans (incl. ABS-transaction)G /H.FK/ E,DDE,EHM IKL,FDD 

Payments made for redemption of bonds and bank loans (incl. ABS-transaction)H /H.FK/ –EMG,FID –GHG,DEK 

Proceeds from current financial liabilities I,J /H.FK/ –FG,MJK EEL,HJK 

Net cash flows from (+) / used in (-) financing activities   KLF,DKK GIE,KMI 

        

Net change in cash and cash equivalents   F,ELI –FF 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   F HE 

Cash and cash equivalents at E Jan.K,L   I,ELK I,EJL 

Cash and cash equivalents at GE Dec.M /H.FE/ K,GKF I,ELK                 
1 Excluding income from investments. 
2  The proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment in the amount of EUR 1,175 thousand were reported in the previous year under cash inflow    
(+)/outflow (-) from operating activities under proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets. 
3 Proceeds from bank loans (incl. ABS transaction) include proceeds from financing of affiliated companies in the amount of EUR 240,000 thousand (2023: 

EUR 370,000 thousand). 
4 Payments for redemption of bond and bank loan (incl. ABS transaction) include payments for redemption of financing of affiliated companies in the amount of 

EUR 40,000 thousand (2023: EUR 220,000 thousand). 
5 This includes payments received from the financing of affiliated companies in the amount of EUR 0 thousand (2023: EUR 180,000 thousand) and payments 

from the repayment of financing from affiliated companies in the amount of EUR 0 thousand (2023: EUR 140,000 thousand). 
6 Short-term borrowings with a maturity period of up to three months and quick turnover. 
7 Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 2023 consists of bank balances (EUR 5.168 thousand). 
8 Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 2024 consist exclusively of bank balances (EUR 5.186 thousand). 
9 Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2024 consist of bank balances (EUR 8.078 thousand) and bank overdrafts (EUR -706 thousand). 

C.3 – Consolidated cash flow statement 
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of Allane Mobility Group, Pullach, as at 31 December 2024 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity           
      Other reserves       

in EUR thou. 
Subscribed 

capital 
Capital 

reserves 
Retained 
earnings 

Currency 
translation 

reserve 
Other 
equity 

Equity 
attributable 

to 
shareholde
rs of Allane 

SE 
Minority 
interests 

Total 
equity                                     

E.E.FDFH FD,JEF EGI,DHI EF,MKM H,ELM JG,DKK FGI,MDF F,FLK FGL,ELM 

                  

Konzernergebnis - - - - –GM,FDL –GM,FDL - –GM,FDL 

Other comprehensive income - - - –GGE ED –GFE –L,GJE –L,JLF 

Dividends paid - - - - –E,LII –E,LII - –E,LII 

Transfer to retained earnings - - - - - - - - 

                  

GE.EF.FDFH FD,JEF EGI,DHI EF,MKM G,LIK FF,DFH EMH,IEL –J,DKG ELL,HHG                                     
 

      Other reserves       

  
Subscribed 

capital 
Capital 

reserves 
Retained 
earnings 

Currency 
translation 

reserve 
Other 
equity 

Equity 
attributable 

to 
shareholde
rs of Allane 

SE 
Minority 
interests 

Total 
equity                                     

E.E.FDFG FD,JEF EGI,DHI EF,HLL G,GHK IJ,IGI FFL,DFL K,FHE FGI,FJL 

                  

Konzernergebnis - - - - L,LIG L,LIG - L,LIG 

Other comprehensive income - - - LHE GI LKJ –H,MIH –H,DKL 

Dividends paid - - - - –E,LII –E,LII - –E,LII 

Transfer to retained earnings - - HME - –HME D - D 

                  

GE.EF.FDFG FD,JEF EGI,DHI EF,MKM H,ELM JG,DKK FGI,MDF F,FLK FGL,ELM                                     
See also Notes \4.22\ to \4.24\
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E. General disclosures 

E.E Information about the Company 

Allane SE domiciled in Dr.-Carl-von-Linde-Straße 2, 82049 

Pullach, Germany, is registered in section B of the commer-

cial register at the Munich Local Court (Amtsgericht), under 

the docket number 227195 and is the parent company of the 

Allane Mobility Group. The Company has been established 

for an indefinite period. 

In accordance with its Articles of Association, the object and 

purpose of the Company is  

(a) the leasing business relating to motor Vehicles and other 

road and land Vehicles including, in particular, e-bikes and 

bikes (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Vehicles”) and 

Vehicle accessories as a lessor,  

(b) the provision of other paid services for the use of Vehicles,  

(c) the administration of Vehicle fleets and Vehicle accesso-

ries (Vehicle fleet management),  

(d) the brokerage of purchase agreements, leasing agree-

ments, agreements regarding the grant of use against pay-

ment as well as insurances relating to Vehicles and Vehicle-

related goods,  

(e) the exploitation of, and the trade with, vehicles and spare 

parts, lubricants, fuels, and process materials as well as vehi-

cle accessories,  

(f) the performance and brokerage of mobility services and 

Vehicle-related services; as well as  

(g) the sale and distribution of online advertising spaces. 

The Company is entitled to carry out all transactions and 

measures that are related to the aforementioned activity ar-

eas or that are otherwise suitable to serve the business pur-

pose directly or indirectly. 

The Company may establish branches and permanent estab-

lishments in Germany and abroad, establish, acquire or par-

ticipate in other companies in Germany and abroad, as well 

as establish, acquire or participate in such companies in Ger-

many and abroad and manage such companies. The limits 

applicable to the business activities of the Company shall also 

apply to the business activities of subsidiaries and associated 

companies. 

The Company may furthermore pursue its operations fully or 

partially through subsidiaries or associated companies. The 

Company is especially entitled to transfer or assign partially 

or fully its operations to subsidiaries or associated companies. 

The Company can limit its business activities to one or spe-

cific purpose of the aforementioned objects, and also to the 

activity of a holding company and/or the administration of 

other own assets. 

At the reporting date, the Company’s subscribed capital 

amounted to EUR 20,611,593.00. It is divided into 20,611,593 

ordinary bearer shares. All shares are no-par value bearer 

shares. All shares have been fully paid up. 

The Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH (HCBE), based in 

Frankfurt am Main, holds just over 92% of the ordinary shares 

and voting rights in Allane SE and is therefore the largest 

shareholder and parent company of Allane SE. HCBE is a 

subsidiary of Santander Consumer Bank AG, Mönchenglad-

bach, Germany, and a holding of Hyundai Capital Services Inc, 

Seoul, Korea. The parent company and ultimate Group com-

pany that prepares the consolidated financial statements for 

the largest group of companies is Banco Santander S.A. 

headquartered in Santander, Spain. These consolidated fi-

nancial statements were published in the electronic Federal 

Gazette until the 2021 financial year-end. The consolidated 

financial statements of Banco Santander S.A. for subsequent 

financial years are published in English by the Comisión 

Nacional del Mercado de Valores (CNMV). 

E.F General disclosures of the consolidated financial 
statements 

The consolidated financial statements of Allane SE as at 

31 December 2024 have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 

adopted by the EU and the applicable commercial law regu-

lations according to section 315e (1) of the HGB (German 

Commercial Code). 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

on the historical acquisition and production costs basis. Ex-

cluded are certain financial instruments that have been 

measured at fair value as of reporting date. The appropriate 

explanations are given in the sections entitled „Reporting 

and valuation methods“ and „Additional disclosures on finan-

cial instruments“.  
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The consolidated income statement was prepared in accord-

ance with the nature of expense method using the two-state-

ment approach. 

The Group currency of Allane SE is Euro (EUR). Unless spec-

ified otherwise the amounts presented in the consolidated fi-

nancial statements are in ‘EUR thousand’. Due to rounding it 

is possible that individual figures in these consolidated finan-

cial statements do not add up exactly to the totals shown. For 

the same reason, the percentage figures presented may de-

viate slightly the absolute figures to which they relate. 

The annual financial statements of Allane SE, the consoli-

dated financial statements and the management report on 

the Group’s and the Company’s situation are published in the 

Company Register (Unternehmensregister). 

The following amendments and revisions to the IFRS became 

effective, where applicable, for the Allane Mobility Group 

consolidated financial statements as of 1 January 2024: 

 Amendment to IAS 1 – Classification of liabilities as current 

or non-current liabilities with covenants; 

 Amendments to IFRS 16 – Lease Liabilities in a Sales and 

Leaseback Transaction; 

 Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7– Supplier Financing Ar-

rangements; 

 

The application of these amendments and interpretations 

had no or no material impact on the financial position and fi-

nancial results of the Allane Mobility Group. 

The following new and/or amended standards/interpreta-

tions have been ratified by IASB but are not yet mandatory. 

The Company has not applied these regulations prematurely: 

Standard/Interpretation Description 
Adoption by EU-
Comission Applicable as at                 

Amendments to IAS FE Lack of Exchangeability Yes DE.DE.FDFI 

Amendments to IFRS M and IFRS K 

 Classification and measurement of financial instruments No DE.DE.FDFJ 

Amendments to IAS K, IFRS E, IFRS K, 

IFRS M and IFRS ED Annual improvements to the IFRS - Vol. EE No DE.DE.FDFJ 

IFRS EL Presentation and disclosure in financial statements No DE.DE.FDFK 

IFRS EM Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures No DE.DE.FDFK                 
 

No material changes are expected from the application of the 

other published new and/or amended standards and inter-

pretations. There are currently no plans to apply any of the 

new or amended standards and interpretations prematurely. 

In October 2021, the OECD published model tax rules for the 

reform of the international tax system, referred to formally as 

the Global Anti-Base Erosion Rules (GloBE), or informally as 

the Pillar II international tax rules. Thes rules seek to impose a 

global minimum tax rate at least 15% for large international 

groups.  

On 22 December 2022, the European Commission adopted 

Directive 2022/2523, which aims to ensure a minimum effec-

tive tax rate for the global activities of large multinational 

groups. The directive follows closely the OECD framwork for 

combating base erosion and profit shifting. In addition, the 

OECD has also published implementation guidelines and a 

report on “safe harbours” to simplify the implementation of 

these regulations. 

Pillar Two legislation has been enacted in all countries in 

which the Allane Mobility Group operates. On December 21, 

2024, Law 7/2024 was published in Spain, which introduces 

minimum taxation for multinational and large national corpo-

rate groups for all financial years from January 1, 2024. There-

fore, Banco Santander S.A. is the ultimate parent company for 

Pillar II purposes. The Allane Mobility Group, as part of the 

Santander Group, falls within the scope of the adopted legis-

lation.  

Based on the temporary simplification rules of the OECD, the 

Santander Group has carried out an assessment of the po-

tential risks in relation to additional income tax through Pillar 

II. For this purpose, a “simplified test of the effective tax rate” 

was carried out based on the latest available data from the 

country-by-country report for multinational enterprise 

groups (CbCR).  

Based on this assessment and the information provided by 

the Santander Group, the legal representatives of Allane SE 

have come to the conclusion that the effective tax rate of 
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Pillar II is above 15% in all markets (operating jurisdictions) of 

the Allane Mobility Group. Therefore, no tax burden is ex-

pected from the application of Pillar II in 2024. 
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F. Consolidation 

F.E Consolidated companies 

The scope of consolidated companies derives from the appli-

cation of IFRS 10 “Consolidated financial statements” and 

IFRS 11 “Joint arrangements”. 

Allane SE acts as an operative leasing company and as parent 

company of the Allane Mobility Group. Allane SE holds 100% 

shareholdings in the following subsidiaries that are consoli-

dated in the consolidated financial statements: 

 autohaus24 GmbH, Pullach/Germany 

 Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH, Pullach/Germany 

 Allane Services GmbH & Co. KG, Rostock/Germany 

 Allane Schweiz AG, Urdorf/Switzerland 

 Allane Mobility Consulting AG, Urdorf/Switzerland 

 Allane Location Longue Durée SARL, Rueil-Malmai-

son/Frankreich 

 Allane G.m.b.H., Vösendorf/Austria 

 Allane Mobility Consulting B.V., Hoofddorp/Netherlands  

 One Mobility Management GmbH, Pullach/Germany 

 

 

 

 

 

Additionally, Isar Valley S.A., Luxembourg, in which the Allane 

Mobility Group holds an equity interest of 0%, is fully consol-

idated because of control according to IFRS 10. Control ex-

ists because the Allane Mobility Group has power over the 

relevant activities of Isar Valley S.A. due to its structure and 

the operating activities of Isar Valley S.A, are dependent on 

the Allane Mobility Group. Therefore, the Allane Mobility 

Group is exposed to variable returns from these activities, 

which it can affect. 

Furthermore, the Allane Mobility Group furthermore holds 

interests in the following companies, which due to their low 

operating activities have not been consolidated because of 

their insignificance in the aggregate for the presentation of a 

true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and re-

sults of operations as well as the cash flows of Allane Mobility 

Group. The combined revenue of these companies amounts 

to less than 1% of consolidated revenue. 

 

 

List of shareholdings           
Name Domicile Equity Equity interest Umsatzerlöse Annual result                         
Allane Mobility Consulting Österreich GmbH Vösendorf/Austria –E,EKD,LFF EUR EDD.D% KF,FFD EUR –FKG,IGK EUR 

Allane Mobility Consulting SARL Rueil-Malmaison/France –E,MHK,DJG EUR EDD.D% E,EKL,GII EUR –GJD,LDI EUR 

Allane Service Verwaltungs GmbH Rostock/Germany FM,DKG EUR EDD.D% MLG EUR E,EIG EUR                         
 

Allane Mobility Consulting SARL, Rueil-Malmaison/France, 

ceased its business operations as of December 31, 2024, but 

will continue to exist as a legal Group investment beyond the 

balance sheet date. 

In accordance with section 264b of the HGB, Allane Services 

GmbH & Co. KG, Rostock, is exempt from the duty to prepare 

and publish annual financial statements under the provisions 

applicable to corporations. 

F.F Changes in the scope of consolidation 

There have been no changes to the scope of consolidation of 

the Allane Mobility Group since the balance sheet date of 31 

December 2023. 

F.G Consolidation Methods 

The individual financial statements included in the consoli-

dated financial statements are uniformly prepared in accord-

ance with the IFRS accounting policies applicable to the 

Allane Mobility Group as at the balance sheet date 31 Decem-

ber 2024. Where necessary, the annual financial statements 
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of the consolidated companies are adjusted to bring them 

into line with the accounting policies used within the Group. 

Subsidiaries are those companies in which the Group has ex-

isting rights that give it the ability to direct their main activi-

ties. The main activities are the activities that have a material 

impact on the profitability of the company. Control thus exists 

if the Group is exposed to variable returns from the relation-

ship with a company and its power over the relevant activities 

gives it the opportunity to influence these returns. Generally, 

the possibility of control is based on a direct or indirect ma-

jority of the voting rights by Allane SE. Subsidiaries are con-

solidated from the date on which the possibility of control 

exists. They are no longer consolidated when this possibility 

ceases to exist. 

Business combinations are performed in accordance with 

IFRS 3, which requires business combinations to be ac-

counted for using the acquisition method. Assets and liabili-

ties acquired must generally be recognised at fair value. Any 

excess of the cost of the business combination over the 

Group’s share of the net fair values of the acquiree’s assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities (consideration transferred) 

is recognised as goodwill and tested for impairment (“Impair-

ment Test”) on a regular basis, and at least once a year. The 

consideration transferred includes mainly the fair value of the 

assets transferred (e.g. nominal values of means of payment). 

Acquisition-related costs will be recognized as expenses 

when they accrue. 

The assets and liabilities from a business combination which 

are recognised at their fair values are depreciated or amor-

tised over their applicable useful lives. If they have an indefi-

nite useful life, any need to recognise impairment losses is 

determined using the same method as for goodwill. 

In the event that significant parts of a company are acquired 

(asset deal) without an acquisition of shares, IFRS 3 is to be 

applied as described above, if not only an asset or a group of 

assets is purchased, but a business operation (business). A 

business operation consists of resource input and the appli-

cable processes, which can deliver services.  

Joint ventures are recognised in accordance with the at-eq-

uity method pursuant to the regulations in IFRS 11 as well as 

IAS 28. 

Intra-Group transactions are eliminated in the course of con-

solidation. Significant receivables, liabilities and provisions 

between consolidated companies are offset against each 

other, and inter-company profits and losses are eliminated. 

Intra-Group income is offset against the corresponding ex-

penses.  

F.H Foreign currency translation 

The financial statements of consolidated foreign subsidiaries 

are translated using the functional currency concept. The 

subsidiaries’ functional currency is in each case the local cur-

rency, as the subsidiaries operate independently in their re-

spective markets. Assets and liabilities are translated at the 

closing rate, equity at historic rates. Income statement items 

are translated at the average rates for the year. The resulting 

difference as against the closing rate is recognised in the 

other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as 

currency translation differences. 

Goodwill arising out of the acquisition of a foreign business 

operation and any fair value adjustments to the identifiable 

assets and liabilities will be treated as assets and liabilities of 

the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. The 

resulting differences from translation are recognised in the 

currency translation reserve. 

The exchange rates applied for currency translation in rela-

tion to the Euro) purposes are shown in the table below: 

Exchange rates       
  Closing rate Average rate 
  GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG FDFH FDFG                     
Swiss 

Francs D.MHE D.MFJ D.MIG D.MKF                     
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G. Reporting and valuation methods 

G.E Income statement 

Revenue 
The Allane Mobility Group mainly acts as lessor to its custom-

ers for leases classified as operating leases. At the inception 

of the lease, the Allane Mobility Group examines all necessary 

criteria in accordance with IFRS 16 in order to classify the 

lease accordingly. The resulting lease income is recognized 

pro rata temporis over the term of the respective lease. Other 

lease income is measured at the value of the payments re-

ceived or future payments to be received and represents the 

amounts expected to be received for goods and services in 

the normal course of business. Amounts received as a special 

lease payment at the inception of the lease are recognized as 

deferred income and recognized in profit or loss on a 

straight-line basis over the agreed lease term.  

Although the vast majority of leases are classified as operat-

ing leases, the Group also enters into leases that are classified 

as finance leases, as substantially all the risks and rewards in-

cidental to ownership are transferred to the lessee. Income 

from finance leases is divided into interest payments and re-

payment of the receivable. Only the interest portion is recog-

nized in financial income. Interest income from finance leases 

is shown in cash flow as interest income. The financial income 

is distributed over the term of the lease on a scheduled basis. 

The lease payments for the reporting period are offset 

against the gross investment in the lease in order to reduce 

both the nominal amount and the unrealized financial income. 

When recognizing revenue in accordance with IFRS 15, the 

Allane Mobility Group generally differentiates between the 

extent to which it acts as a principal in the underlying con-

tractual relationship (performance obligation is entered into 

by Allane, revenue recognition on a gross basis) or as an 

agent (Allane is instructed to enter into a performance obli-

gation, revenue recognition on a net basis). In the case of 

recognition as principal, revenue is recognized upon delivery 

and transfer of economic ownership (transfer of control) if the 

amount of revenue and the costs to be incurred can be relia-

bly determined and an inflow of benefits from the buyer is 

probable. In the case of revenue recognition as an agent, only 

the fee or commission agreed in exchange for the commis-

sion is recognized in the income statement. The distinction 

between revenue recognition as principal or agent is made by 

the Allane Mobility Group primarily in the recognition of full 

services (Leasing and Fleet Management division) and in the 

recognition of sales revenue from customer vehicles (Fleet 

Management division). When recognizing full services, the 

components "Fuel", Vehicle tax and licence fees" and "Re-

placement vehicles" in the Leasing business division and 

"Fuel", "Damage management", "Maintenance and wear", 

"Tyres", "Vehicle tax and licence fees", "Replacement vehi-

cles" and "Logistics" in the Fleet Management business divi-

sion, which were previously recognized as principal (gross 

basis) in the income statement, will be recognized as agent 

(net basis). The service com ponents, which are invoiced un-

der a flat-rate contract, will continue to be recognized as prin-

cipal (gross basis) in the income statement due to the 

performance commitment and pricing by the Allane Mobility 

Group. 

In addition, the Allane Mobility Group began marketing non-

Group lease returns in the 2024 financial year. “Remarketing 

as a Service” started in the 2024 financial year and has so far 

focused exclusively on lease returns from the parent com-

pany Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH, with the Allane 

Mobility Group always acting as an agent. As a result, only 

commission income from the brokerage of lease returns is 

recognized in the income statement.  

The Allane Mobility Group recognizes revenue from service 

components as part of a full-service contract with customers, 

such as for maintenance and tire change services, at a spe-

cific point in time. Revenue is recognized at a point in time 

when the specific service is provided. The customer's pay-

ments are recognized as a contract liability (advance pay-

ment received) until the service is performed. In the case of 

full-service maintenance and wear-related tire replacement, 

experience shows that the specific service is not incurred un-

til a later point in time during the contract term, as the Allane 

Mobility Group mainly leases new vehicles. The further back 

the date on which the full service is due, the greater the con-

tractual obligation. 

Net finance costs 
Interest income and expense presented in net finance costs 

are recognised on an accrual basis taking into account the 

outstanding loan amount and the applicable rate of interest. 

The effective interest method is applied for this. 

Derivatives and hedging relationship 
The Group designates individual financial instruments, in-

cluding derivatives, as cash flow hedges. Hedge accounting 

is carried out in accordance with IFRS 9. 

At the beginning of hedge accounting, the eligibility and de-

tails of the hedging relationship between the hedged item 

and the hedging instrument as well as the corresponding risk 
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management objectives and strategies are documented. 

Furthermore, both when the hedging relationship is entered 

into and during its course, it is regularly documented whether 

the hedging instrument designated in the hedging relation-

ship meets the requirements for hedge effectiveness. 

The effective portion of the change in the fair value of deriv-

atives that are suitable for cash flow hedges and have been 

designated as such is recognized in other comprehensive in-

come under the item "Changes in derivative financial instru-

ments in hedging relationships". The result attributable to the 

ineffective portion is recognized immediately in profit or loss 

and reported in the financial result. Amounts recognized in 

other comprehensive income are reclassified to the income 

statement in the period in which the hedged item is recog-

nized in profit or loss. They are reported in the income state-

ment in the same item in which the underlying transaction is 

reported. Disclosures on the fair values of derivatives used for 

hedging purposes are presented under "Additional disclo-

sures on financial instruments". 

Hedge accounting ends when the hedging instrument ex-

pires, is sold or terminated or no longer meets the criteria for 

hedge accounting. The full gain or loss recognized in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at this 

time remains in equity and is only recognized in profit or loss 

when the forecast transaction is also recognized in the in-

come statement. If the expected transaction is no longer ex-

pected to occur, the entire profit or loss recognized in equity 

is immediately transferred to the income statement. 

In addition to interest rate derivatives, there are currency de-

rivatives for hedging intragroup receivables in Swiss francs 

which, unlike the interest rate derivatives, are not part of a 

hedging relationship in accordance with IFRS 9. The gain or 

loss resulting from the change in the currency derivative is 

recognized immediately in the income statement. 

Derivatives are generally recognized at fair value upon initial 

recognition and subsequently remeasured at fair value at the 

end of each reporting period. The fair value of interest rate 

derivatives is calculated by discounting the expected future 

cash flows over the remaining term of the contract using cur-

rent yield curves. The recognition of subsequent changes in 

fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as 

a hedging instrument. 

The Group applies hedge accounting for certain interest rate 

derivatives, which are reported under non-current other re-

ceivables and assets. The Group uses these financial instru-

ments to hedge the cash flows from variable-interest 

liabilities from the asset-backed securities program against 

changes in the underlying interest rate.  

The company assesses the effectiveness of the compensa-

tion of the changes in the cash flows of the hedged item by 

the hedging instrument using the critical terms match 

method (prospective) and the determination of ineffective-

ness using the cumulative dollar offset test using the hypo-

thetical derivative method (retrospective). 

Ineffectiveness can mainly occur due to a market value not 

equal to zero at the time of designation of the hedging rela-

tionship. If, in rare cases, there are unexpected repayments in 

the asset-backed securities program, the hedging instru-

ments are de-designated accordingly to avoid over-hedging. 

Income taxes 
Income tax expenses represent the sum of current tax ex-

penses and deferred taxes.  

The current tax expense is calculated on the basis of the tax-

able income for the year. Taxable income differs from the re-

sult from ordinary activities (EBT) in the consolidated income 

statement due to income and expenses that are only taxable 

or tax-deductible in later years or never.  

Deferred taxes are the expected tax burden or relief from the 

differences between the carrying amounts of assets and lia-

bilities in the consolidated financial statements and the car-

rying amounts used to calculate taxable income. 

In accordance with the balance sheet liability method set out 

in IAS 12 Income Taxes, deferred taxes are recognized for all 

temporary differences arising from the difference between 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the corre-

sponding tax base. Deferred tax assets are only recognized to 

the extent that it is sufficiently probable that taxable profits 

will be available against which the deductible temporary dif-

ferences can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 

each reporting date and reduced in value if it is no longer 

probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to re-

alize the claim in full or in part. 

Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the expected tax 

rates and tax laws that are expected to apply at the time the 

liability is settled or the asset is realized. The currently valid 

tax rates are used as a basis until changes in tax law are 

passed.  
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Deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss in the consoli-

dated income statement. They are only recognized in other 

comprehensive income if they relate to items recognized di-

rectly in equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only off-

set against each other if there is a legally enforceable right to 

offset current tax assets and liabilities relating to income 

taxes levied by the same tax authority and if the Group in-

tends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net ba-

sis. 
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G.F Assets 

Goodwill 
Goodwill resulting from a business combination is recog-

nized at cost less any necessary impairment losses and is re-

ported separately in the consolidated balance sheet. For the 

purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated on ac-

quisition to those cash-generating units (or groups thereof) 

of the Group that are expected to benefit from the synergies 

of the business combination. Under essential aspects, good-

will was therefore tested at business unit level. If these did not 

generate any revenue from third parties, the impairment test 

was carried out at business division level, allocated to the 

goodwill. The impairment test of the goodwill of Autohaus24 

GmbH and the significant parts of the business operations of 

SL Car Sales GmbH, Garching, acquired in the 2020 financial 

year, as well as assets and contracts attributable to these 

business operations, was carried out taking the business divi-

sion Leasing of Allane SE into account as a cash-generating 

unit. 

Cash-generating units to which a portion of goodwill has 

been allocated must be tested for impairment at least annu-

ally. If the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is 

less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss 

is first allocated to the carrying amount of any goodwill allo-

cated to the unit and then pro rata to the other assets based 

on the carrying amount of each asset within the unit. The re-

coverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value 

less costs to sell. 

Any impairment of goodwill is recognized directly in the in-

come statement. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill 

may not be reversed in future periods. 

The annual impairment test is based on the management's 

planning for the cash-generating unit. The planning assump-

tions used to determine the value in use are adjusted annually 

to reflect current market conditions and the company's earn-

ings situation. The model used for the impairment test is 

based on the discounted cash flow method using a multi-year 

plan and a growth factor of 1% when deriving the sustainable 

result. The capitalization interest rates used (as weighted av-

erage cost of capital, WACCs, pre-tax figures and growth dis-

count) amounted at 7.0% at the time of the valuation during 

the year (previous year: between 6.2% and 6.6%). In the 2024 

financial year, the Allane Mobility Group set the date of the 

annual impairment test as September 30. The assumptions 

used in the model are based on external observations. The 

Allane Mobility Group is of the opinion that no reasonably 

conceivable change in the basic assumptions on which the 

determination of the recoverable amount is based would re-

sult in the cumulative carrying amount of the cash-generat-

ing unit exceeding its cumulative recoverable amount. 

Intangible assets 
Intangible assets include purchased and internally developed 

software, as well as any advance payments in respect of in-

tangible assets. 

Purchased intangible assets are reported at acquisition cost 

less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Inter-

nally generated intangible assets are only capitalised at pro-

duction cost if the criteria set out in IAS 38 have been met. If 

the capitalisation criteria have not been met, the expenses 

are recognised in the income statement in the year in which 

they are incurred. Intangible assets are amortised on a 

straight-line basis over a useful life of three to five years. In 

accordance with IAS 36, intangible assets whose useful lives 

cannot be determined or are generally indefinite are tested 

for impairment on an annual basis and, where necessary, writ-

ten down to their fair value. 

Property and equipment 
Property and equipment are carried at cost less straight-line 

depreciation and recognised impairment. Depreciation is 

taken so that the acquisition costs of assets are depreciated 

on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives. The 

expected useful lives, residual values and depreciation meth-

ods are re-evaluated at the end of each reporting period and 

all necessary changes in estimates are applied prospectively. 

Depreciation is based on the following useful lives, which are 

determined uniformly throughout the Group for the majority 

of assets: 

Useful lives   
  Period         
Operating and office equipment E to ED years         
 

Property and equipment are derecognised either when they 

are disposed of or when no further economic benefit is to be 

expected from the continued use of the asset. The resulting 

gain or loss from the sale or retirement of property or equip-

ment is determined as the difference between the sales pro-

ceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised 

in profit or loss. 

Impairment of non-current non-financial assets 
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of property and 

equipment and intangible assets as well as the lease assets at 
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each balance sheet date to determine if there are any indica-

tions for an impairment of these assets. If any such indications 

can be detected, the recoverable amount of the asset is esti-

mated to determine the extent of the possible impairment ex-

pense. 

Leases 
The Allane Mobility Group assesses at the commencement 

date of the contract whether a contract is or contains a lease. 

A contract is or contains a lease if the contract conveys the 

right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 

time in exchange of consideration. The Allane Mobility Group 

acts both as lessor and as lessee 

Allane Mobility Group as lessor 
Leases are classified as finance leases if the lease agreement 

transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 

ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as op-

erating leases. The Allane Mobility Group also concludes 

buy-back agreements with the suppliers of the respective ve-

hicles. In the overall view of all facts and conditions in con-

nection with the repurchase agreement and the use of the 

vehicles by the Allane Mobility Group during the period from 

the acquisition to the final (own) marketing of the vehicles, 

the Allane Mobility Group retains significant opportunities 

and risks associated with ownership. 

The Allane Mobility Group leases assets as operating leases, 

which are recognized at cost less scheduled straight-line de-

preciation, taking into account calculated residual values. The 

period of scheduled depreciation corresponds to the lease 

term. The residual values are based on the repurchase values 

contractually agreed with the suppliers for each vehicle type. 

If no repurchase values have been agreed, the residual value 

is based on the expected market value. The estimation of re-

sidual values requires assumptions about the age and mile-

age of the vehicle at the time of sale as well as the market 

conditions on the used vehicle market. The resulting market 

price risk is regularly reviewed by the Group by estimating re-

sidual values and adjusting depreciation. Changes in the ex-

pected residual value lead either to a prospective adjustment 

of the scheduled depreciation or, if there are indications of 

this, to an impairment. Impairment losses are recognized on 

a case-by-case basis if the carrying amount of the individual 

vehicle exceeds the expected recoverable amount. The re-

coverable amount of the asset corresponds to the higher of 

the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use. If the re-

coverable amount is less than the carrying amount, an impair-

ment loss is recognized in the amount of the difference. The 

impairment test is based on internal company forecasts of fu-

ture development and standard market discount rates and 

takes into account both external and internal information on 

potential impairment. In accordance with IFRS 16, leased as-

sets are reported under non-current assets. 

When determining the value in use of the vehicles in the 

leased assets and the resulting determination of impairment, 

the Management Board uses assumptions and estimates that 

have a significant influence on the measurement of the 

leased assets. This mainly relates to the determination of the 

discount rate for calculating the value in use and the ex-

pected recovery channels for vehicle returns, in particular for 

purely electric vehicles in the Captive Leasing segment.  

As at the reporting date, a discount rate of 6.0% was used for 

the calculation. A reduction of 0.5 percentage points would 

reduce the impairment loss by EUR 5.8 million, while an in-

crease of 0.5 percentage points would lead to an additional 

impairment loss of EUR 6.3 million.  

Furthermore, it is assumed that 15% of all-electric vehicles in 

the Captive Leasing segment are marketed via the compa-

ny's own end customer channels. A reduction in this ratio by 

5.0 percentage points would increase impairment losses by 

EUR 1.9 million; an increase of 5.0 percentage points would 

reduce them by EUR 1.9 million. 

Lease assets that the Allane Mobility Group has leased out as 

finance leases are recognised at the present value of the con-

tractually agreed payments as assets under other receivables 

and assets. Lease payments are apportioned between inter-

est payments and repayments of the leasing receivable, to 

achieve a constant periodic rate of interest on the receivable. 

Only the interest portion is recognised through profit or loss.  

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease compo-

nents the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration 

under the contract to each component. 

Sale-and-Leaseback 
As a lessor, Allane Mobility Group also offers sale and lease-

back transactions. Sale and leaseback transactions are of-

fered exclusively as part of an operating lease. The respective 

leased out assets in operate lease contracts are depreciated 

to their contractual residual values on a straight-line basis 

over the respective lease terms. Impairment losses are recog-

nised in the event that an indication of impairment is given, at 

least once a year an impairment test for verification is exe-

cuted. This involves determining whether the carrying 

amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount of the asset corresponds to the higher of the fair 

value less costs to sell and the value in use. If the recoverable 
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amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss 

is recognized in the amount of the difference. 

The Allane Mobility Group does not act as lessee in a sale and 

leaseback transaction. 

Allane Mobility Group as lessee 
The Allane Mobility Group also acts as contractual lessee in 

lease agreements relating in particular to rental agreements 

for land and buildings The leases carry a term of up to 25 

years, but may also include renewal options. The measure-

ment of extension and termination options was based on the 

findings at the time of first-time adoption respectively at 

lease commencement date. 

According to IFRS 16 right of use assets comprise the initial 

measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease pay-

ments made at or before the commencement day, less any 

lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. Right-

of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term. The capitalized Right of use assets, resulting from 

leasing relationships, are based on the following remaining 

useful lives: 

Useful lives   

  Period         
Aktivierte Nutzungsrechte J to FIF months         
 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of 

the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 

date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this 

rate can not be readily determined, Allane Mobility Group 

uses its incremental borrowing rate. Except for short-term 

leases and leases of low value. For these leases, the Allane 

Mobility Group recognizes the lease payments as operating 

expenses. 

For leases that were concluded before the date of first-time 

adoption, the Allane Mobility Group decided not to review 

again whether an agreement is or contains a lease at the time 

of first-time adoption, but to retain the previous assessment 

made under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. 

Some leases have variable lease payments linked to an index 

or (interest-)rate. Any adjustments to the index are recog-

nised as addition during the current reporting period and an 

estimate of possible index adjustments is not included in the 

measurement of the lease liability. Agreements including re-

newal options for which exercise is deemed sufficiently 

certain, the underlying estimated term of the lease includes 

the renewal. For leases with a term of twelve months or less, 

the election option was exercised, and their payments are 

recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line 

basis. Leases without a written agreement and which are of 

minor importance were classified as short-term leases. Spe-

cial termination rights on our part were not considered likely 

to be exercised. 

Inventories 
The item inventories consist to the major part of vehicles in-

tended for sale. These are measured at amortised costs and 

are regularly compared with the estimated net realisable 

value. The residual carrying amount is regularly and at the re-
porting date 31st of December 2024, compared with the esti-
mated net realizable value. If this is lower, an impairment loss 

is recognised. 

Financial assets, other receivables and assets 
Financial assets consist of receivables, including receivables 

from finance leases, equity instruments, cash and cash 

equivalents and derivatives. Financial assets are recognised 

if the Group has a contractual right to receive cash or other 

financial assets from another party. The classification of fi-

nancial assets is based on the business model in which the 

instruments are held and the composition of the contractual 

cash flows. The business model is determined at portfolio 

level and is based on management's intentions and past 

transaction patterns. Cash flows are analysed on the basis of 

the individual instruments. Purchases and sales of financial 

assets are generally recognised on the settlement date. Fi-

nancial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus trans-

action costs, if applicable. Transaction costs incurred on the 

acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. Trade re-

ceivables that do not contain a significant financing compo-

nent are recognised at the transaction price. Subsequent 

measurement is based on the allocation of the financial as-

sets to the categories recognised in accordance with IFRS 9. 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following 

measurement categories: at fair value, with changes recog-

nised either through profit or loss or through other compre-

hensive income and at amortised cost.  

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual 

cash flows and those cash flows represent solely payments 

of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost us-

ing the effective interest method. Trade receivables, finan-

cial receivables and loans reported in other assets, as well as 
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cash and cash equivalents are assigned to this measurement 

category.  

Interest income from items in this category is calculated us-

ing the effective interest method. 

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows 

and for sale (business model “hold-to-collect and sell”), and 

whose cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 

interest (business model “hold-to-collect and sell”) are 

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

These are, in particular, debt instruments not held to ma-

turity. Changes in the fair value are recognised in other com-

prehensive income. Changes in fair value are only 

recognised in profit or loss when the instrument is disposed 

of. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 

the net finance costs using the effective interest rate 

method. At present, the Group does not report any debt in-

struments that are not held to maturity.  

Assets, that are not measured at amortised cost (business 

model “hold-to-collect and sell”) or at fair value through 

other comprehensive income (business model “hold-to-col-

lect”), are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Equity 

instruments and receivables from derivatives reported in 

other financial assets are assigned to this category. Changes 

in the fair value are recognised in profit or loss. The gain or 

loss resulting from the measurement of derivative financial 

instruments is immediately recognised in profit or loss, un-

less the derivative is designated and effective as hedging in-

strument in a hedging relationship (hedge accounting). In 

this case, the timing of the recognition in the income state-

ment of the measurement results depends on the type of 

hedging relationship. 

For financial assets, with the exception of financial assets 

measured at fair value through profit or loss, the expected 

credit losses are determined at each reporting date and 

taken into account in the measurement. The impairment 

method depends on whether there has been a significant in-

crease in credit risk since the loan was granted. In the case 

of trade receivables and receivables from finance leases, the 

Group applies the simplified approach, accord-ing to which 

a risk provision is recognized for all instru-ments in the 

amount of the expected losses over the re-maining term. 

Some categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, 

are tested for impairment on a portfolio basis. For the assess-

ment on a portfolio basis, assets with similar risk characteris-

tics such as customer group, customer credit rating or 

transaction type are grouped together in order to determine 

an impairment based on the past due date and the expected 

probability of default. 

When assessing the portfolio-based impairment, the Group 

uses in addition to management expectations, the historical 

information on the timing of recoveries and defaults and 

makes necessary adjustments to reflect current and ex-

pected future economic conditions that may affect the de-

faults. 

In the case of financial assets measured at amortised cost, 

the impairment loss corresponds to the difference between 

the carrying amount of the asset and the net present value 

of expected future cash flows determined on the basis of the 

original effective interest rate of the asset. 

An impairment of the affected financial assets is recognised 

in an impairment account (allowance account). Changes in 

the carrying amount of the impairment account are recog-

nised in the income statement.  

When the Group considers that there are no realistic pro-

spects of recovering the asset, the relevant amount is writ-

ten-off. 

The Group also derecognises a financial asset if the contrac-

tual rights to cash flows from the financial asset expire or the 

financial asset and practically all the opportunities and risks 

associated with the financial asset are transferred to a third 

party.  

G.G Equity and liabilities 

Equity 
Equity includes other comprehensive income resulting from 

exchange rate differences of consolidated entities, for which 

the functional currency differs from the currency of the 

Group, reserve for derivative financial instruments in hedging 

relationship and actuarial gains or losses from the remeasure-

ment of defined benefit pension plans and the respective de-

ferred tax effects. 

Provisions for pensions 
Provisions for pensions are measured using the projected 

unit credit method. The measurement is based on actuarial 

valuations by independent third parties relying on financial 

and demographic assumptions. The assumptions are re-

viewed for appropriateness at each balance sheet date. 
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The pension provisions reported in the consolidated balance 

sheet result from the balance between the obligations from 

the defined benefit plans and the associated plan assets as at 

the balance sheet date. Service costs are recognised in per-

sonnel expenses within the consolidated income statement, 

while net interest income is recognised as part of the finance 

costs. Remeasurements of the defined benefit obligation, net 

of tax are recognised in other equity. These amounts recog-

nised in other equity are not recognised in the income state-

ment in the future. 

Provisions 
Adequate provisions are recognised for potential obligations 

to third parties if these are attributable to a past event, if uti-

lisation is more likely than not and a reliable estimate can be 

made of the probable amount of the obligation. Such liabili-

ties are only carried as provisions if their amount is uncertain 

and payment to settle the obligation is probable. The meas-

urements are made with the best estimate of the considera-

tion required to settle the present obligation at the balance 

sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties in-

herent in the obligation. Where a provision is measured on 

the basis of the estimated cash flows for meeting the obliga-

tion, these cash flows are discounted if the impact on interest 

is significant. 

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are measured on initial recognition at 

their fair value and subsequently – with the exception of de-

rivative financial instruments and contingent consideration 

resulting from a business combination, which are measured 

at fair value – according to the effective interest method at 

amortised costs less directly attributable transaction costs, 

where applicable. Leasing payments for liabilities to the les-

sor are divided up into an interest portion and a redemption 

portion. Only the interest portion is recognised as expense 

within the net finance costs. 

G.H Estimation uncertainties and discretionary decisions 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, it is often 

necessary to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

both the items reported in the consolidated balance sheet 

and the consolidated income statement, as well as in the dis-

closures contained in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements. The amounts actually realised may differ from the 

reported amounts. Changes are recognised in the income 

statement on the date at which an improved knowledge is 

gained.  

Estimation uncertainties and discretionary decisions, partic-

ularly in connection with the potential impact of climate 

change and the Russia-Ukraine war on residual value risks, 

were taken into account when preparing the consolidated fi-

nancial statements. In addition, developments on the used 

car market were also monitored in the reporting year, which 

could lead to additional uncertainties regarding the future re-

coverability of certain assets as a result of changes in market 

conditions, including changes in demand, economic uncer-

tainties and regulatory developments. However, as at the re-

porting date, these factors did not have any material impact 

on the valuation beyond the assumptions already taken into 

account.  

The estimates and assumptions made are outlined in the dis-

closures on the individual items. The areas in which amounts 

are most significantly affected are the following:  

The value adjustment for impairment losses, which is regu-

larly reviewed and posted for the leased assets, generally rep-

resents a provision for future marketing at the end of the 

individual lease term of the lease portfolio existing on the re-

spective reporting date and has therefore not yet been real-

ized on the respective reporting date. The Management 

Board draws on external industry expertise to assess the de-

velopment. 

Goodwill is measured on the basis of expected developments 

and estimated parameters, property and equipment is meas-

ured on the basis of the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

Lease assets are measured based on the estimated useful 

lives of the vehicles and taking into account the expected re-

sidual value of the vehicle, lease assets intended for sale are 

measured on the estimation of the expected net realisable 

value. When classifying the leasing contracts of the Allane 
Mobility Group as lessor with an existing repurchase agree-
ment with the seller of the vehicles, the Group considers the 
overall view of all circumstances and conditions to be that, 
despite the existence of a residual value guarantee, significant 
risks and opportunities associated with ownership remain 
with the Allane Mobility Group. 

Valuation allowances are charged on receivables based on 

an assessment of the expected credit risks, which are based 

on management expectations and historical default rates. 

Derivatives are valued using a calculation model based on 

yield curves obtained from a market data platform. The need 

for provisions is determined using the best estimate of the 

most probable settlement amount of the present obligation 

at the balance sheet date. Provisions for pensions are based 
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on actuarial valuations derived from financial and demo-

graphic assumptions. 

Trade receivables consist of lease installments due immedi-

ately or in the short term (operating leases) as well as receiv-

ables due immediately or in the short term from full service, 

fleet management and vehicle marketing. There are also a 

comparatively small number of receivables from finance 

leases, which are also essentially current. The Allane Mobility 

Group expects that any payment difficulties and defaults due 

to the weak overall economy will only occur noticeably in the 

medium to long term, if at all. Due to the short-term nature of 

our receivables portfolio, the scenarios used to determine the 

expected credit loss have no material impact. As part of its 

early warning, monitoring and control measures, the Allane 

Mobility Group has not yet identified any significant direct 

impact of the weak economy on the receivables portfolio. The 

partners' receivables are being monitored on an ongoing ba-

sis. If necessary, measures are initiated at short notice to iden-

tify non-recoverable receivables at an early stage and to 

adjust or derecognize these receivables in line with their 

value.  
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H. Explanations and disclosures on individual 
items of the consolidated financial statements 

H.E Income statement 

\4.1\ Revenue is broken down as follows: 

 

 

 

 

Revenue               
  Germany Abroad Total Change 
in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG FDFH FDFG FDFH FDFG in %         
Leasing Business Unit               

Leasing revenue (finance rate) FLL,JFF ELI,LIE GF,DLH FM,HLI GFD,KDK FEI,GGJ HL.M 

Other revenue from leasing business EDE,EGH ME,HEK EH,DKE EH,GLH EEI,FDH EDI,LDE L.M 

Sales revenue FIH,FLD FIK,FLM GE,LKJ EI,KGM FLJ,EIJ FKG,DFK H.L 

Total Leasing JHH,DGJ IGH,IIK KL,DGE IM,JDK KFF,DJK IMH,EJH FE.I 

                

Fleet Management Business Unit               

Fleet management revenue FE,HLM FE,HML FDJ JD FE,JMH FE,IIL D.J 

Vermittlungserlöse/Verkaufserlöse G,IFD G,IFF - - G,IFD G,IFF D.D 

Total Fleet Management FI,DDL FI,DEM FDJ JD FI,FEH FI,DKM D.I 

                

Group total JJM,DHI IIM,IKJ KL,FGK IM,JJK KHK,FLF JEM,FHG FD.K          

The Group is divided into two business units: Leasing and 

Fleet Management. The Leasing division is divided into 

three business segments: Fleet Leasing, Online Retail and 

Captive Leasing. The Fleet Management division com-

prises only the segment of the same name and no others.   

These four business segments form the basis of segment re-

porting. Their main activities are structured as follows: 

 

Segments      
Fleet Leasing Vehicle leasing including additional services for 

companies as well as for private individuals and sale of 

lease assets 

Online Retail Sales of leasing offers to private and business 

customers via Allane SE's online platforms 

Captive Leasing A form of leasing in which the manufacturer (OEM) 

leases its products to the customer via Allane SE 

Fleetmanagement Fleet management services and brokerage / sale of 

used customer vehicles     
 

Leasing revenue (“finance rate”), other revenue from leasing 

business and fleet management revenue are together de-

scribed as ‘operating revenue’. Sales revenue are not in-

cluded in this item. 

In the Leasing business unit, operating revenue comprises in-

come from contractually agreed lease instalments, as well as 

revenue relating to service components such as repairs and 

tires, as well as revenue from the settlement of accident 

claims and franchise fees. 

In addition to proceeds from the marketing of lease returns, 

sales revenue is made up of proceeds from third-party vehi-

cles, insurance proceeds from the settlement of accidental 

lease returns and sales commissions associated with market-

ing. 

The leasing segment in general sells its vehicles directly and 

therefore repots all proceeds from the sale of used vehicles 

under sales revenue. 

In the Fleet Management business unit fleet management 

revenue comprises revenue relating to service components 

and contractual service fees. Additionally, the Fleet Man-

agement business segment reports revenue from the bro-

kerage / sale of used vehicles bought from customers.  

Revenues of the Allane Mobility Group include compensa-

tion payments from third parties totalling EUR 10.473 thou-

sand (2023: EUR 5,594 thousand). 
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\4.2\ Other operating income in the amount of EUR 8.874 

thousand (2023: 10,823 EUR thousand) include income from 

currency translation of EUR 1,600 thousand (2023: EUR 2,153 

thousand). The expenses from currency translation are in-

cluded within other operating expenses (for detailed infor-

mation see 4.7 operating expenses). This item also includes 

income from cost allocations to third parties in the amount of 

EUR 448 thousand (2023: EUR 296 thousand), income from 

the reversal of provisions in the amount of EUR 1,154 thou-

sand (2023: EUR 2,748 thousand) and income from own work 

capitalized in the amount of EUR 3,492 thousand (2023: EUR 

2,908 thousand).  

\4.3\ Fleet expenses and cost of lease assets are broken 

down as follows: 

Fleet expenses and cost of 

lease assets     
        
in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG Change in %                 
Selling expensesE FHM,KKF FGK,KEH I.E 

Repair, maintenance and 

reconditioning  IE,LMJ IF,LLJ –E.M 

Vehicle licenses and 

deregistration EM,IJG EE,GGL KF.I 

Insurance J,JGM I,KLF EH.L 

Vehicle return expenses H,GLI G,EGD HD.E 

Transportation G,HFK G,EHL L.M 

Fuel HEJ IH >EDD 

External rent expenses FJG GKD –FM.D 

Taxes and dues EEE JM JE.D 

Radio license fees FK K >EDD 

Other expenses ED,LIE J,IDK JJ.L 

Group total GHK,GID GFE,DDI L.F                 
1  Including impairment losses on leased assets held for sale of EUR 0.1 
million (2023: Impairment loss EUR 1.0 million) 

\4.4\ Personal expenses increased from EUR 52,897 thou-

sand in the previous year to EUR 55,180 thousand in the re-

porting year, due to higher wages and salaries. In addition, 

social security contributions also increased slightly. These 

mainly relate to pension insurance amounts of EUR 3,383 

thousand (2023: EUR 2,338 thousand) primarily result from 

the statutory German pension insurance.  

Expenses for defined benefit plans are included in the 

amount of EUR 81 thousand (2023: EUR 48 thousand). 

 

Personnel 

expenses       
in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG Change in % 

Wages and salaries HJ,LKJ HH,LFM H.J 

Social security contributions L,GDI L,DJL F.M 

Group total II,ELD IF,LMK H.G 

 

Average number of employees during the year:  

Employees in the Group     

  FDFH FDFG             
Female employees GEF GFG 

Male employees GME HDK 

Group total KDG KGD             
 

The Leasing business unit employed 628 (2023: 664) mem-

bers of staff and the Fleet Management business unit 75 

(2023: 66) members of staff. 

\4.5\ Net Losses arising from the derecognition of financial 
assets recognised in profit or loss: In the 2024 financial year, 

the following income and expenses were recognized in the 

income statement in connection with derecognized financial 

assets measured at amortized cost. 

Net losses arising from 

the derecognition of 

financial assets     

in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG Change in %     
Income from 

derecognized 

receivables LEK KDL EI.I 

Expenses from 

derecognized 

receivables –G,EHJ –F,FEL –HE.L 

Group total –F,GFL –E,IDM –IH.G     
 

\4.6\ Net impairment losses/gains from financial assets 
recognized in profit and loss: During the 2024 financial 

year, the following gains/losses were recognized in profit or 

loss in relation to impaired financial assets measured at 

amortised costs. 
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Net impairment losses (-)/gains (+) 

from financial assets 

    
in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG Change in %     
Reversal of previous 

impairment losses on 
trade receivables FFE ELD FF.M 

Impairment losses on 

trade receivables –MKE –E,DIH K.M 

Impairment losses on 

receivables from 
unconsolidated affiliate 
companies –JHG –JHM D.M 

Impairment losses on 

other assets JGE –IIE >EDD 

Group total –KJF –F,DKH JG.F                 
1 The impairment of other assets mainly includes value adjustments to 

creditors with debit balances. 
 

\4.7\ The following table contains a breakdown of other op-
erating expenses: 

Other operating expenses     
in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG Change in %     
IT expenses EF,LKE EE,IKE EE.F 

Audit, legal, advisory 

costs, and investor 
relations expenses H,GIG I,FIK –EK.F 

Other personnel services F,GIF G,DJJ –FG.G 

Rental expenses for 

business premises E,KFJ E,JFL J.D 

Other selling and 

marketing expenses E,GKM G,KEH –JF.M 

Expenses for foreign 

currency translation E,DID E,GMI –FH.K 

Miscellaneous expenses H,LGL H,MHI –F.F 

Group total FL,IJM GE,IKK –M.I     
 

Rental expenses for business premises include expenses for 

short-term leases in the amount of EUR 131 thousand (2023: 

EUR 134 thousand). Total payments made for leasing con-

tracts in the 2024 financial year amounted to EUR 3,612 thou-

sand (2023: EUR 3,291 thousand). 

In the consolidated financial statements of the Allane Mobil-

ity Group, fees of EUR 845 thousand were recognized as op-

erating expenses for the audit of the 2024 consolidated 

financial statements. Of this amount, fees for audits of the fi-

nancial statements of Allane SE subsidiaries in the 2024 fi-

nancial year, which were deferred for audit performances 

refered to network companies in the PwC (“Pricewater-

houseCoopers”) network, amounted to EUR 161 thousand. In 

the previous year, fees of EUR 656 thousand were recognized 

as operating expenses for the audit of the 2023 consolidated 

financial statements. Non-audit services of EUR 47 thousand 

were incurred in the 2024 financial year for the interim audit 

to obtain the ZAG license for Allane Mobility Consulting. 

IT expenses fell compared to the previous year to EUR 12,871 

thousand (2023: EUR 11,571 thousand). The expenses were 

incurred for operations and the modernization of the IT infra-

structure, applications and software. The decrease in legal 

and consulting costs to EUR 4,353 thousand was mainly due 

to lower legal and consulting costs, while the costs for the an-

nual financial statements increased. 
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\4.8\ Expenses for depreciation and amortisation in the fi-

nancial year are explained in more details below: 

Depreciation and 

amortisation     
in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG Change in %     
Lease assets GEE,ILG EKL,IHJ KH.I 

Property and equipment I,HHM J,EIM –EE.I 

Intangible assets K,FIK K,JLG –I.I 

Group total GFH,FLM EMF,GLL JL.J     
 

The depreciation of lease assets has increased in the report-

ing year 2024 above prior year’s level to EUR 311.583 thou-

sand (2023: EUR 178,546 thousand). This is mainly due to the 

significant increase in the average portfolio of leased assets 

in the 2024 financial year. Depreciation of leased assets in-

cludes impairment losses on leased assets in the amount of 

EUR 53,134 thousand (2023: EUR 4,061 thousand) and rever-

sals of impairment losses in the amount of EUR 683 thousand 

(2023: EUR 0 thousand). Accumulated impairment loss 

amounts as of 31 December 2024 EUR 62,838 thousand 

(2023: EUR 10,520 thousand). Amortization of intangible as-

sets decreased by EUR 426 thousand compared to the pre-

vious year to EUR 7,257 thousand (2023: EUR 7,508 

thousand). In addition to scheduled amortization in the 

amount of EUR 7,088 thousand (2023: EUR 6,709 thousand), 

impairment losses of EUR 169 thousand (2023: EUR 799 

thousand) due to limited recoverability contributed to this 

development. 

\4.9\ Net Finance costs have deteriorated year-on-year from 

EUR –15,983 thousand to EUR –47.020 thousand. This is 

mainly due to rising refinancing costs as a result of increased 

financing requirements coupled with persistently high inter-

est rates. The increased financing requirement is the result of 

a rapidly growing leasing contract portfolio. The associated 

loan relationships were concluded in particular with the re-

lated company Santander Consumer Bank AG, Mönchen-

gladbach. In addition, the ABS program was increased by 

EUR 350 million in the reporting year. The following table 

shows the breakdown of the financial result in detail: 

Net finance costs   

in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG     
Other interest and similar income IJF GDH 

Other interest and similar income from 

related parties MD GI 

Interest and similar expenses –FE,GEI –E,JFF 

Interest and similar expenses for related 

parties –FJ,DKF –EH,KGF 

Other net financial result –FLI GE 

Group total –HK,DFD –EI,MLG     
 

Interest expenses for lease liabilities amounted to EUR 807 

thousand in the 2024 financial year (2023: EUR 638 thou-

sand).  

The other financial result consists of valuation gains/losses 

from the ineffective portion of derivatives in hedging rela-

tionships. 

\4.10\ Income tax expense comprises the following: 

Income tax expense (-) 

income (+) expenses     
in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG Change in % 

Current income tax for the 

reporting period F,GKG I,HIK –IJ.I 

Deferred taxes –EF,IDJ –E,JKJ <-EDD 

Group total –ED,EGG G,KLD <-EDD 

 

The current income tax expense for the financial year 2024 of 

EUR 2,373 thousand (2023: EUR 5,457 thousand) includes 

tax expense from previous years in the amount of EUR 537 

thousand (2023: EUR 189 thousand). 

The following tax reconciliation explains the relationship be-

tween the expected and effective tax expense reported. The 

expected tax expense results from the application of an in-

come tax rate of 26.4% (2023: 26,4%) to consolidated profit 

for the period (before taxes) in accordance with IFRS. The in-

come tax rate is made up of corporation tax at 15% (2023: 15%) 

a solidarity surcharge of 5,5% (2023: 5,5%) as well as trade tax 

a 10.5% (2023: 10,5%). 
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Reconciliation of taxes   

in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG         
Consolidated profit before taxes in 

accordance with IFRS –HM,GHF EF,JGH 

Expected income tax expense –EG,DGI G,GGE 

Effect of different tax rates outside 

Germany HFE –F 

Changes in permanent differences GFJ EKE 

Changes in impairments E,KLI EFL 

Non-deductible operating expenses EMH FDL 

Tax-exempt income - –H 

Income taxes from other periods 

(current and deferred) IGK ELM 

Change in tax rates JE EIJ 

Other effects –HFG –GMK 

Reported tax expense –ED,EGG G,KLD         
 

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax without impact on the 

income statement amounted to EUR 1,687 thousand (2023: 

EUR 662 thousand). The change compared to the previous 

year amounts to EUR 2,349 thousand (2023: -1,449 thou-

sand). 

The development of deferred taxes in the consolidated in-

come statement is as follows: 

Deferred taxes   
in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG     
From temporary differences H,EGJ –E,ILD 

From loss carryforwards –EJ,JHF –MJ 

Group total –EF,IDJ –E,JKJ     
 

The following overview outlines the sources of the deferred 

tax assets and liabilities: 

 

Deferred taxes         
  Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities 
in EUR thou. GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG         
Lease assets LDF JDI EF,JLK GF,LGM 

Receivables - HJ F,IHL KKJ 

Other assets E,KFJ EM EF,JDK J,JJD 

Liabilities and provisions L,KIJ ED,GDL EK,JGE G,EEE 

Tax loss carryforwards EK,GLG KHE - - 

  FL,JJK EE,KEM HI,HKG HG,GLJ 

Offsetting –FJ,IFG –ED,MLM –FJ,IFG –ED,MLM 

Group total F,EHH KGD EL,MID GF,GMK         
 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if the 

Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the current in-

come tax assets against current income tax liabilities and they 

relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority. 

On the unused corporate tax losses carried-forward of 

EUR 83.555 thousand (2023: EUR 10,711 thousand) no de-

ferred tax assets were recognised in respect of EUR 17,408 

thousand (2023: EUR 7,696 thousand) and on the unused 

trade tax losses carried-forward of EUR 71,080 thousand 

(2023: EUR 7,643 thousand) no deferred tax assets were rec-

ognised for EUR 5,555 thousand (2023: EUR 4,816 thousand). 

The loss carry-forwards for which deferred tax assets have 

been recognised are expected to be used during the five-

year planning period. The losses may be carried forward in-

definitely. 

The development of deferred tax liabilities on lease assets 

has resulted from the increasing difference between the IFRS 

carrying amount and the tax base value. 

There were no deductible temporary differences in the finan-

cial year for which no deferred taxes were recognised (2023: 

0 EUR thousand). 

The temporary differences taxable upon realization in con-

nection with interests held in the Group's subsidiaries and for 

which no deferred tax liabilities were recognised in the re-

porting periods presented amount to EUR 6,172 thousand 

(2023: EUR 1,573 thousand). 

\4.11\ In the 2024 financial year, the consolidated result was 

heavily impacted by the impairment loss, resulting in a con-

solidated net loss of EUR -39,208 thousand (2023: consoli-

dated net profit of EUR 8,853 thousand). As in the previous 

year, minority interests are not to be taken into account. 
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In the previous year a dividend of EUR 0.09 per ordinary 

share was paid. This corresponds to a total distribution to 

shareholders in the amount of EUR 1,855 thousand. This was 

recognised in the 2024 financial year.  

For the 2024 financial year, Allane SE reports an accumu-

lated loss of EUR -86.0 million in its annual financial state-

ments. The accumulated loss is offset by retained earnings of 

EUR 12.6 million, which could not lead to an accumulated 

profit even if they were released in full. Against this back-drop, 

it is not possible to pay a dividend for the 2024 finan-cial year, 

which means that a corresponding proposal for the appropri-

ation of profits (2023: EUR 0.09) by the Executive Board is 

unnecessary. The accumulated loss reported in the annual fi-

nancial statements will be carried forward.  

 

\4.12\ Earnings per share are as follows: 

Earnings per share       
    FDFH FDFG                 
Consolidated result in EUR 

thou. –GM,FDL L,LIG 

Consolidated result attributable 

to shareholders of Allane SE 

in EUR 

thou. –GM,FDL L,LIG 

Weighted average number of 

shares   FD,JEE,IMG FD,JEE,IMG 

Earnings per share – basic and 

diluted in EUR –E.MD D.HG                 
 

The basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the 

parent’s share of earnings after taxes to the weighted average 

number of shares during the current financial year. Diluted 

earnings per share is calculated on the basis of conversion of 

all dilutive instruments into ordinary shares. 

There were no financial instruments outstanding over the fi-

nancial year 2024 that could cause dilutive effects. Therefore, 

the diluted earnings per share correspond in the amount to 

the basic earnings per share.  
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H.F Balance Sheet 

Assets 
 
\4.13\ bis \4.16\ The changes in the Group’s non-current as-
sets (without financial assets) are shown below:

Consolidated statement of changes in non-current 

assets         

  Acquisition and production costs 

in EUR thou. DE.DE.FDFH 

Foreign  
exchange  

differences Additions Disposals Transfers GE.EF.FDFH                             
Goodwill H,GDL - - - - H,GDL 

Purchased software M,JHF - - - - M,JHF 

Internally developed software FJ,MLI - - - E,JFM FL,JEH 

Internally developed software in progress G,LFJ - J,GGG MJK –E,JFM K,IJG 

Payments on account of software - - - - - - 

Intangible assets HD,HIH - J,GGG MJK - HI,LFD 

Right of use assets HD,LGE –FI J,DEG - - HJ,LFD 

Operating and office equipment EH,IFE –EF F,EGM G,DHD IEM EH,EFK 

Property and equipment II,GIF –GJ L,EIF G,DHD IEM JD,MHK 

Lease assets E,JEM,HFH –E,EFD E,FHH,EFF HDD,EKE –IEM F,HJD,MKJ 

Total E,KEM,IGK –E,EIK E,FIK,LHK HDH,EKL - F,IKF,DIE                             
1 This includes disposals in the amount of EUR 798 thousand for production costs capitalized in the previous year, which proved not to be eligible for 
capitalization in the 2024 financial year 

 

Consolidated statement of changes in non-current 

assets         

  Acquisition and production costs 

in EUR thou. E Jan. FDFG 

Foreign  
exchange  

differences Additions Disposals Transfers GE Dec. FDFG                             
Goodwill H,GDL - - - - H,GDL 

Purchased software M,IML - HH - - M,JHF 

Internally developed software FG,EII - - F,JFH J,HII FJ,MLI 

Internally developed software in progress F,HMM - L,ILE   –J,HII G,LFJ 

Payments on account of software - - - - - - 

Intangible assets GI,FIF - L,JFI G,HFG - HD,HIH 

Right of use assets GD,HMD ME ED,FIE - - HD,LGE 

Operating and office equipment EF,MLE HG I,EHK G,LHL EML EH,IFE 

Property and equipment HG,HKE EGG EI,GML G,LHL EML II,GIF 

Lease assets E,EMK,LKM H,IFI LEF,KFD GMI,IDG –EML E,JEM,HFH 

Total E,FLE,JJM H,JIL LGJ,KHG HDF,KKI - E,KEM,IGK                             
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Consolidated statement of changes in 

non-current assets             
  Depreciation/Amortisation Carrying amounts 

in TEUR DE.DE.FDFH 

Foreign  
exchange  

differences 

Depreciation/ 
Amortisation  

in the financial  
year Disposals Transfers GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFH 

GE Dec. 
FDFG                                     

GoodwillE EKH - - - - EKH H,EGH H,EGH 

Purchased softwareF J,GEE - E,EMI - - K,IDJ F,EGJ G,GGE 

Internally developed 

softwareF EG,IHL - I,LMG - - EM,HHE M,EKG EG,HGL 

Internally developed 

software in progressF - - EJM EJM - - K,IJG G,LFJ 

Payments on account of 

softwareF - - - - - - - - 

Intangible assetsF EM,LIM - K,FIK EJM - FJ,MHK EL,LKG FD,IMI 

Right of use assetsG EF,EJG –M G,GII - - EI,IDM GE,GEE FL,JJL 

Operating and office 

equipmentG I,MLI –H F,DMH E,KFM EGI J,HLE K,JHK L,IGK 

Property and equipmentG EL,EHL –EG I,HHM E,KFM EGI FE,MMD GL,MIL GK,FDH 

Lease assetsH FEF,MLD –GKE GEE,ILG EKK,HME –EGI GHJ,IJJ F,EEH,HED E,HDJ,HHH 

Total FIE,EJE –GLH GFH,FLM EKM,GLL - GMI,JKK F,EKJ,GKG E,HJL,GKJ                                     
1 Depreciation includes impairments in the amount of EUR 0 thousand (2023: EUR 174 thousand) and EUR 0 thousand of reversal of impairment losses (2023: 
EUR 0 thousand). 
2 Depreciation includes impairments in the amount of EUR 169 thousand (2023: EUR 799 thousand) and EUR 0 thousand of reversal of impairment losses 
(2023: EUR 0 thousand). 
3 Depreciation includes impairments in the amount of EUR 0 (2023: EUR 0 thousand) and EUR 0 thousand of reversal of impairment losses (2023: EUR 0 
thousand). 
4 Depreciation includes impairments in the amount of EUR 53,134 thousand (2023: EUR 4,061 thousand) and EUR 683 thousand of reversal of impairment losses 
(2023: EUR 1,701 thousand). 

Consolidated statement of changes in 

non-current assets             
  Depreciation/Amortisation Carrying amounts 

in TEUR E Jan. FDFG 

Foreign  
exchange  

differences 

Depr./ 
Amor.  

fin. year Disposals Transfers 
GE Dec. 

FDFG 
GE Dec. 

FDFG 
GE Dec. 

FDFF                                     
GoodwillE - - EKH - - EKH H,EGH H,GDL 

Purchased softwareF I,DHF - E,FJM - - J,GEE G,GGE H,IIJ 

Internally developed 

softwareF ED,KGF - I,HHD F,JFH - EG,IHL EG,HGL EF,HFG 

Internally developed 

software in progressF - - KMM KMM - - G,LFJ F,HMM 

Payments on account of 

softwareF - - - - - - - - 

Intangible assetsF EI,KKH - K,IDL G,HFG - EM,LIM FD,IMI EM,HKL 

Right of use assetsG M,EEG GM G,DEF - - EF,EJG FL,JJL FE,GKK 

Operating and office 

equipmentG I,GEG FD G,EHK F,IED EI I,MLI L,IGK J,MEE 

Property and equipmentG EH,HFJ IM J,EIM F,IED EI EL,EHL GK,FDH FM,DHI 

Lease assetsH FDI,HHK E,FKK EKL,IHJ EKF,FKI –EI FEF,MLD E,HDJ,HHH MMG,EMF 

Total FGI,JHK E,GGI EMF,GLL EKL,FDM - FIE,EJE E,HJL,GKJ E,DHJ,DFG                                     
 

Non-current und current assets 
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\4.13\ Goodwill amounting to EUR 4.134 thousand (2023: 

EUR 4.134 thousand) resulted from consolidation of the com-

panies autohaus24 GmbH and the company Flottenmeister 

GmbH, Pullach, included in the 2019 financial year, which was 

merged with Allane Mobility Consulting GmbH in the 2020 

financial year. In the 2020 financial year, material parts of the 

business operations of SL Car Sales GmbH, Garching, were 

acquired as well as assets and contracts affiliated with this 

business operation. The decrease of EUR 174 thousand in the 

goodwill is due to a full impairment of goodwill from the ac-

quisition of Allane Mobility Consulting AG, Switzerland. This 

was carried out as part of an impairment test due to the ter-

mination of customer relationships. 

No extraordinary impairment losses were recognized on 

goodwill in the 2024 financial year (2023: EUR 174 thousand). 

\4.14\ Intangible assets include internally developed soft-

ware amounting to EUR 9.173 thousand (2023: EUR 13,438 

thousand) and purchased software amounting to EUR 2.136 

thousand (2023: EUR 3,331 thousand). It also includes ad-

vance payments in respect of internally developed software 

amounting to EUR 7,563 thousand (2023: EUR 3,826 thou-

sand).  

The depreciation and amortisation of EUR 7,257 thousand 

(2023: EUR 7,508 thousand) in the 2024 financial year in-

cluded extraordinary impairment of EUR 169 thousand (2023: 

EUR 1,726 thousand) due to lack of value. 

\4.15\ The item Property and equipment includes operating 

and office equipment (mainly Company cars, IT systems, fix-

tures and fitting and office equipment) in the amount of EUR 

7,647 thousand (2023: EUR 8,537 thousand), as well as right-

of-use assets (mainly properties) in the amount of EUR 31,311 

thousand (2023: EUR 28,668 thousand). In the 2024 financial 

year, existing rental agreements for the selected used car 

marketing locations were extended ahead of schedule. At the 

same time, the rights of use increased due to the relocation 

of the registered office to Garching. 

The depreciation and amortisation of EUR 5,449 thousand 

(2023: EUR 6,159 thousand) in the 2024 financial year did not 

include any impairment losses on property, plant and equip-

ment of the Allane Mobility Group (2023: EUR 0 thousand).  

\4.16\ Lease assets decreased to EUR 2,115,273 thousand 

(2023: EUR 1,406,444 thousand). The Group as lessor pri-

marily leases out vehicles of various brands, mainly under 

full-service lease agreements. The outstanding lease 

payments from operating lease contracts are spread over 

the following years: 

Operating Leases   

in EUR thou. GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG     
FDFH   FFE,LDF 

FDFI GKL,FGK EJM,ELI 

FDFJ GJL,GIH EDL,GMH 

FDFK GGH,HKH HF,HEE 

FDFL EMM,FKJ IFG 

FDFM FK,EID GG 

FDGD und später JEH D 

  E,GDL,EDJ IHF,GHL     
 

The amounts shown include only the portion of the so-called 

finance instalment. The contracts with a fixed term generally 

contain agreements on the running performance of the vehi-

cles. The resulting contingent lease payments recognised as 

income in the current financial year amounted to EUR -1,278 

thousand (2023: EUR -1,607 thousand). In addition to these, 

the Group estimated calculated residual values covered by 

buyback agreements in the amount of EUR 85,107 thousand 

(2023: EUR 101,600 thousand) at the end of the lease and 

further calculated residual values not covered by third parties 

in the amount of EUR 1,496,432 thousand (2023: 

EUR 895,213 thousand) at the end of the lease. In 2024 finan-

cial year there were depreciation on lease assets in the 

amount of EUR 311,582 thousand (2023: EUR 178,546 thou-

sand), herein impairment losses of EUR 53,134 thousand 

(2023: EUR 4,061 thousand) were recognised on lease assets, 

as well as appreciations amounted to EUR 638 thousand 

(2023: EUR 1,701 thousand). 

As of the reporting date 31 December 2024 lease assets of 

EUR 44,625 thousand (2023: EUR 38,626 thousand) are 

pledged as collateral to banks. Furthermore, lease assets 

were assigned as a security as part of the ABS-program in the 

amount of EUR 1,199,008 thousand (2023: EUR 

343,877 thousand). 

As at 31 December 2024, Allane Mobility Group, as lessor, had 

entered into a small portion of its lease assets amounting to 

EUR 578 thousand under operate sale and leaseback agree-

ments. 

\4.17\ Inventories consist mainly of lease assets intended for 

sale in the amount of EUR 36,650 thousand (2023: EUR 

44,451 thousand).  

\4.18\ Trade receivables result almost exclusively from ser-

vices invoiced in the course of leasing and fleet management 
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business and from vehicle deliveries. Thereby valuation al-

lowances were recognised for expected credit losses. 

\4.19\ Receivables from related parties in the amount of 

EUR 55,969 thousand (2023: EUR 4,204 thousand) mainly 

consist of service commissions for the brokerage of vehicles 

from Hyundai Motor Deutschland GmbH. A detailed over-

view of this can be found in section 5.3 “Related party disclo-

sures” 

\4.20\ Other receivables and assets can be broken down 

as: 

Other receivables and assets   
in EUR thou. GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG         
Financial other receivables and assets     

 Finance lease receivables J,IIM E,LHM 

 Interest rate swap JDE F,MGH 

 Miscellaneous assets M,EKI K,EIK 

Non-financial other receivables and 

assets     

 Other tax receivables EL,HMK FJ,LGM 

 Insurance claims ED,FME L,HML 

 Deferred expense H,JLF H,HIJ 

Group total HM,LDI IE,KGG 

      

thereof current HG,MLD HK,KKH 

thereof non-current I,LFI G,MIM             
 

The finance lease receivables result from lease agreements 

with customers that are classified as finance leases. The inter-

est rate implicit in the leases is fixed at the inception of the 

lease for the entire term. The agreements partly contain put 

options on the part of the Group as lessor. The valuation al-

lowance on finance lease receivables amounted to EUR 0.0 

thousand (2023: EUR 0.0 thousand) in total. 

The outstanding lease payments from finance lease contracts 

are spread over the following years as follows:  

Finance leases   
in EUR thou. GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG         
FDFH   E,DGH 

FDFI E,LGL IJF 

FDFJ G,JFF EKD 

FDFK E,EDL EKJ 

FDFL LGJ EFM 

FDFM IL D 

FDGD und später D D 

  K,HJE F,DKF         
 

Miscellaneous assets in the amount of EUR 9,175 thousand 

(2023: EUR 7,157 thousand) mainly include volume bonus re-

ceivables from suppliers and service providers.  

 

Deferred expenses in the amount of EUR 4,682 thousand 

(2023: EUR 4,456 thousand) consist mainly of advance pay-

ments made for future licenses and other services, advance 

payments for product-related insurance and vehicle taxes, 

and bonus payments made to customers relating to the en-

tire period of the lease. 

 

\4.21\ Bank balances of EUR 8,077 thousands (2023: EUR 

5,187 thousand) include short-term deposits at banks with 

terms of up to one month. As at December 31, 2024, there 

were bank overdrafts in the amount of EUR 706 thousand 

(2023: EUR 0 thousand). As at December 31, 2024, the bank 

balance less the overdraft facility corresponds to the cash 

and cash equivalents according to the consolidated cash flow 

statement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

C – Consolidated financial statement – Notes to the consolidated financial statements

  Annual Report 2024 Page 113  

Liabilities 

Equity and liabilities 
The Allane Mobility Group’s equity decreased year-on-year 

to a total of EUR 189,327 thousand (2023: EUR 238,189 thou-

sands). Therein, the subscribed capital of Allane SE 

amounted unchanged to EUR 20,612 thousand. 

\4.22\ Subscribed capital of Allane SE 

Share capital     

  
No-par value 

shares 

Nominal 
value 

in EUR 
No-par value 

shares 

Nominal 
value 

in EUR 
  GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG                     
Ordinary 

shares FD,JEE,IMG FD,JEE,IMG FD,JEE,IMG FD,JEE,IMG 

Total FD,JEE,IMG FD,JEE,IMG FD,JEE,IMG FD,JEE,IMG                     
 

The subscribed capital of Allane SE as of 31 December 2024 

amounts to a total of EUR 20,611,593.00 and is divided into 

20,611,593 ordinary bearer shares. The shares of the Com-

pany are no-par value shares with a pro-rata amount of sub-

scribed capital of EUR 1.00 per share. The shares are fully 

paid in. The rights and obligations of the shareholders are set 

out in detail in the provisions of the German Stock Corpora-

tion Act (AktG), in particular sections 12, 53a et seq., 118 et seq. 

and 186 AktG. 

Conditional capital 
In accordance with section 4 (4) of the Articles of Association, 

by resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 1 June 2016, 

the Company's share capital is conditionally increased by up 

to a total of EUR 4,122,318.00 (Conditional Capital 2016). The 

Conditional Capital 2016 serves the purpose of granting 

shares to the holders and/or creditors of convertible bonds 

as well as the holders of option rights from option bonds. Fur-

ther details follow from the aforementioned article of the Ar-

ticles of Association. 

In addition, the Company's share capital has been condition-

ally increased by a total of up to EUR 1,000,000.00 (Condi-

tional Capital 2017) in accordance with section 4 (5) of the 

Articles of Association by resolution of the Annual General 

Meeting on 29 June 2017. Conditional Capital 2017 is used to 

service the stock option program 2017 and will only be ef-

fected to the extent that subscription rights are issued under 

the stock option program 2017 and the holders of the sub-

scription rights make use of their exercise rights. Further de-

tails follow from the aforementioned article of the Articles of 

Association. 

\4.23\ Retained earnings 

Retained earnings     
in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG 

Balance as at E Jan. EF,MKM EE,DHI 

Transfer to retained earnings - E,HHG 

Balance as at GE Dec. EF,MKM EF,MKM 

 

\4.23\ Currency translation reserve 

Currency translation reserve     
in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG 

Balance as at E Jan. H,ELE G,GHK 

Differences arising from the translation of the 

financial statements of foreign subsidiaries –GEM LHE 

Balance as at GE Dec. G,LJF H,ELM 

 

\4.23\ Other Equity 

Other equity     
in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG 

Balance as at E Jan. JG,DKK IJ,IGI 

Consolidated result –GM,FDL L,LIG 

Dividends paid –E,LII –E,LII 

Other comprehensive income ED GI 

Transfer to retained earnings - –E,HHG 

Balance as at GE Dec. FF,DFH JG,DKK 

 

Other equity mainly includes the consolidated unappropri-

ated profit and the revaluation reserve from the initial transi-

tion to IFRS accounting. 

\4.24\ Minority interests relate to the subscribed capital of 

Isar Valley S.A., Luxembourg, in which Allane Mobility Group 

holds no capital interest. Minority interest has decreased in 

the year under review from EUR 2,287 thousand to EUR –

6,073 thousand due to the effective portion of the hedging 

relationship recognised in the other comprehensive income.  
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Liabilities and provisions 
\4.25\ Provisions for pensions amount to EUR 128 thousand 

(2023: EUR 142 thousand). 

Pension schemes in the Allane Mobility Group contain mainly 

defined contribution pension plans under statutory pension 

insurance. In Switzerland each employer is required by law to 

provide post-employment benefits schemes against the eco-

nomic risks of retirement, death and invalidity to entitled em-

ployees. Therefore, Allane offers its Swiss employees funded 

defined benefit plans, which are managed by an external 

pension fund. The pension fund is responsible for the invest-

ment policy and asset management, as well as for all changes 

in the plan conditions and the determination of contributions 

to finance the benefits. In case of underfunding the pension 

fund can raise additional contributions from employers and 

employees. 

The valuation of the provisions for pensions relies on actuarial 

reports. 

The reports use the following actuarial assumptions: 

Actuarial assumptions   
in % FDFH FDFG         
Discount rate D.MI E.ID 

Assumed salary increase E.ID E.ID 

Assumed pension increase - - 

Mortality table BVG FDFD GT BVG FDFD GT         
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The following table shows the development of the defined 

benefit pension plan:  

 

 

Development of defined benefit pension 

plans           

  
Defined benefit obligations  

(DBO) 
Fair value of plan assets Net balance of defined 

benefit obligations 
in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG FDFH FDFG FDFH FDFG                 
Balance as at E Jan. E,GJK E,HLH E,FFI E,GKI EHF EDL 

              

Additions for previous years - - - - - - 

Current service costs LE HL - - LE HL 

Past service cost and plan compensation –E –E - - –E –E 

Net interest costs of defined benefit obligations EM FE EL FE E –D 

Expenses recognised in the consolidated 
income statement MM JL EL FE LE HK 

              

Gain/loss on plan assets - - EDF FD –EDF –FD 

Actuarial gains/losses LM EHM - - LM EHM 

Experience gains/losses FG KK - - FG KK 

Changes in demographic assumptions - - - - - - 

Changes in financial assumptions JK KF - - JK KF 

Remeasurement for defined benefit 
obligations recognised in other comprehensive 
income LM EHM EDF FD –EF EFM 

              

Employer contributions - - LD JI –LD –JI 

Plan participants' contributions LD JI LD JI - - 

Benefits paid –EHE FKL –EHE FKL - - 

Foreign currency translation effects –FD –JKJ –EL –IMM –F –KK 

Other reconciling items –LF –GGG E –EMF –LF –EHF 

              

Balance as at GE Dec. E,HKH E,GJK E,GHJ E,FFI EFL EHF                 
 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obliga-

tion was around 17 years (2023: 16 years). Employer contribu-

tions expected to be paid for defined benefit obligations in 

the 2024 financial year amount to EUR 87 thousand.  

The pension scheme is provided through an external pension 

fund, which manages the plan assets. 

As at balance sheet date, the plan assets are attributable to 

other assets without quoted market prices. 
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Sensitivity analysis 

The sensitivity analysis assumes in each case a parallel shift 

by a quarter and a half percentage point upwards and down-

wards respectively.  

 

 

This would result in the changes of values of the reported 

defined benefit obligations presented in the following table: 

 

Sensitivity analysis of defined benefit obligations     
        

in EUR thou. 
Changes in the defined 

benefit obligations FDFH FDFG                 
Discount rate +D.FI percentage points –JE –FF 

Discount rate –D.FI percentage points JJ FL 

Assumed salary increase +D.I percentage points H F 

Assumed salary increase –D.I percentage points –L –H 

Assumed pension increase +D.FI percentage points FD EH 

Assumed pension increase –D.FI percentage points –EM –EG 

Life expectancy –E year –EG –M 

Life expectancy +E year EI ED                 
 

\4.26\ The obligations reported in the financial year 2024 un-

der other provisions are expected to be settled in the 

amount of EUR 4,396 thousand within one year and in the 

amount of EUR 226 thousand between one and five years. 

Other current provisions mainly comprise provisions for per-

sonnel-related matters, provisions for litigation arising from 

revocations of lease agreements in the first and second in-

stance, and provisions for warranties. The increase is mainly 

attributable to provisions for legal disputes arising from rev-

ocations of lease contracts. 

Other provisions   

in EUR thou. 
Personnel Miscellan

eous Total 

Balance as at E Jan. G,HDL JGD H,DGL 

Additions G,EMJ GKG G,IJM 

Changes in the scope of 

consolidation D - D 

Reversals –HKH –ED –HLG 

Utilised –F,EDI –GMI –F,HMM 

Foreign exchange differences –G - –G 

Balance as at GE Dec. H,DFG IMM H,JFF 

        

thereof non-current - FFJ FFJ 

thereof current H,DFG GKG H,GMJ                 
 

\4.27\ Financial liabilities comprise liabilities to banks, liabil-

ities from ABS program as well as in the previous year bonds 

finance lease liabilities for refinancing the lease assets.

Financial liabilities             

  
Residual term of up to E year Residual term of E to I years Residual term of more than I 

years 
in EUR thou. GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG                 
Liabilities to banks GDE,LGH FHJ,GHM E,JFI,LLG LMG,LLH - - 

Lease liabilities F,KJK F,LHM M,GMJ L,JED FD,KDG EL,FEI 

Other liabilities EF,FHJ K,DFD - - - - 

Group total GEJ,LHJ FIJ,FEM E,JGI,FKM MDF,HMH FD,KDG EL,FEI                 
 

Refinancing was done especially through credit lines granted 

by Santander Consumer Bank AG and an ABS program. 

Liabilities to banks, reported as at 31 December 2024, with a 

residual term of one to five years, result from claims granted 

by the Santander Consumer Bank AG in the amount of 

EUR 900 million. The revolving loan from Santander Con-

sumer Bank AG is based on a credit facility agreement con-

cluded for an indefinite period in the 2020 financial year. The 

agreement includes a "change of control" clause, which gives 

the lender the right to call in the loans and interest liabilities 

immediately in the event of a change of control. In addition, 
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the Allane Mobility Group has set up an asset-backed secu-

rities program to refinance leasing contracts which has a 

maximum financing volume of EUR 1,050 million (as of 31 De-

cember 2024: EUR 945 million were claimed). The program 

results in variable-interest financial liabilities that are repaid 

on the basis of a repayment schedule in accordance with the 

lease contract structure. 

The loans are recognised initially at fair value, less directly at-

tributable transaction costs. Subsequent measurement is 

carried out at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method. To mitigate interest rate risks the company con-

cluded interest rate swap agreements over the amortisation 

period of the related lease contract portfolio.  

In the 2023 financial year, liabilities to banks with a remaining 

term of up to one year include equal amounts of short-term 

borrowings at variable interest rates within the framework of 

the credit lines available to the Allane Mobility Group and the 

current portion of the liabilities from the asset-backed secu-

rities program. 

The liabilities to banks have been secured by transferring 

ownership of assets. Other liabilities include mainly financing 

with other financing partners and accrued interests. 

The reconciliation of current and non-current financial liabil-

ities is outlined below: 

Reconciliation of financial liabilities     

in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG     
Balance as at E Jan. E,EKJ,MFL LDK,LGL 

Net change in cash flows KHE,MEM GHF,JLE 

 thereof interest payment –HF,DEG –ED,MJM 

Other non-cash movements IG,FKI FJ,HDM 

 thereof interest expenses (+) / income (-) HK,FGL EJ,DJI 

 thereof lease liabilities J,DGK ED,GHH 

Change in bank overdrafts (cash and cash equivalents) KDJ - 

Balance as at GE Dec. E,MKF,LFL E,EKJ,MFL             

\4.28\ The liabilities to related parties relate mainly to the 

current transactions with affiliates companies of the Allane 

SE, which are not included in the consolidated financial state-

ments of Allane Mobility Group. A detailed overview of this 

can be found in section 5.3 “Related party disclosures”. 

\4.29\ Trade payables comprise current liabilities arising 

from deliveries to the Group, mainly from the purchase of ve-

hicles for the lease fleet, and other purchases in the course of 

operating activities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

\4.30\ Other liabilities are broken down as follows: 

Other liabilities     

in EUR thou. GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG     
Financial other liabilities     

 Interest rate swap L,JKD - 

 Miscellaneous liabilities FE,HMM EE,LEG 

Non-financial other liabilities     

 Deferred income LE,DFG JK,HEE 

 Payroll liabilities GDI FME 

 Tax liabilities JKE MDH 

 Miscellaneous liabilities - - 

Group total EEF,EJL LD,HEM 

      

thereof current IL,JDD HD,GIJ 

thereof non-current IG,IJL HD,DJG             
 

In addition to liabilities from customer deposits in the amount 

of EUR 4,699 thousand (2023: EUR 4,476 thousand), other 

liabilities mainly include other liabilities in the amount of EUR 

11,223 thousand (2023: EUR 0 thousand). In the 2024 finan-

cial year, other liabilities consist primarily of contingently re-

payable residual value support from the Captive Leasing 

segment. Deferred income relates mostly to the deferral of 

income from advance payments by lessees. Deferred income 
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from one-time lease payment is short-term in the amount of 

EUR 36,626 thousand (2023: EUR 27,937 thousand) with a 

remaining term of up to one year, and an amount of 

EUR 44,394 thousand (2023: EUR 39,474 thousand) is long-

term with a remaining term between one and five years. 

\4.31\ Contract liabilities include down payments for full-

service contracts, which are billed to the customer on a flat-

rate basis until the actual full service is provided. Revenue is 

recognized at a point in time when the full service is actually 

provided.  The later the service is provided during the term of 

the contract, the higher the contract liability. The amount of 

EUR 7,728 thousand included in contract liabilities as of 31 

December 2023 was recognized as revenue in the 2024 fi-

nancial year. In total the contract liabilities amounted to 

EUR 20,140 thousand in the 2024 financial year (2023: 

EUR 10,928 thousand).  
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H.G Additional Disclosures on Financial Instruments 

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair val-

ues of the individual financial assets and liabilities for each 

single category of financial instrument. The fair value of 

financial assets and liabilities that are not regularly meas-

ured at fair value, but for which the fair value is to be speci-

fied, are assigned in the following table to the measurement 

levels of the fair value hierarchy according to IFRS 13. 

 

Financial instruments     

  
Measurement 

categoryE 

Measurement 
basis for fair 

value Carrying amount Fair value 
in EUR thou.     GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG             
Non-current assets             

Financial assets FVTPL Level G FL FL FL FL 

Finance lease receivables IFRS EJ   I,EEI MFM I,ELE MFH 

Interest rate derivatives FVTPL Level F JDE F,MGH JDE F,MGH 

Other receivables AC   EDM MK EDM MK 

Total     I,LIG G,MLK I,MEM G,MLF 

              

Current assets             

Finance lease receivables IFRS EJ   E,HHH MFE E,HIK MFE 

Trade receivables AC   EDI,ELF ML,GMJ EDI,ELF ML,GMJ 

Receivables from related parties AC   JE,EMD H,FDH JE,EMD H,FDH 

Currency derivatives FVTPL Level F HDE - HDE - 

Other receivables AC   L,JJI K,DJD L,JJI K,DJD 

Total     EKK,FLG EED,ILE EKK,FMJ EED,ILE 

              

Non-current liabilities             

Liabilities to banks AC   E,JFI,LLG LMG,LLH E,JDK,FLL LJJ,IDM 

Lease liabilities IFRS EJ   GD,DMM FJ,LFI GD,DMM FJ,LFI 

Currency derivatives FVTPL Level F E,EII - E,EII - 

Interest rate derivatives FVTPL Level F L,JKD - L,JKD - 

Other financial liabilities AC   IDD ILL IDD ILL 

Total     E,JJJ,GDJ MFE,FMK E,JHK,KEF LMG,MFF 

              

Current liabilities             

Liabilities to banks AC   GDE,LGH FHJ,GHM GFH,LLL FIH,MFL 

Lease liabilities IFRS EJ   F,KJK F,LHM F,KJK F,LHM 

Liabilities to related parties AC   EE,DIG IJ EE,DIG IJ 

Currency derivatives FVTPL Level F - E,GIM - E,GIM 

Other financial liabilities AC   EF,FHJ K,DFD EF,FHJ K,DFD 

Trade payables AC   EDF,FMJ EEJ,GDD EDF,FMJ EEJ,GDD 

Financial other liabilities AC   IK,JFI GK,LDG IK,JFI GK,LDG 

Total     HLK,LFD HEE,KGK IED,LKH HFD,GEI 
                            
1 FVTPL - Fair value through profit or loss, AC - At amortized cost 
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The financial instruments in above table are classified into 

three levels depending on the measurement basis:  

 Level 1 - measurements are based on prices quoted in ac-

tive markets  

 Level 2 - measurements are based on parameters other 

than quoted prices that are observable either directly as 

prices or are indirectly derived from prices 

 Level 3 – measurements are based on models that use pa-

rameters that are not based on observable market data, 

but rather on assumptions 

 

There have been no transfers between the individual meas-

urement levels. 

Due to factors that change in the course of time, the reported 

fair values can only be regarded as indicative of the values ac-

tually realisable on the market. The fair values of the financial 

instruments were calculated on the basis of market data 

available at the balance sheet date and the methods and as-

sumptions described below. 

For all current as well as non-current financial instruments it 

was assumed that the carrying amount (amortised cost) is a 

reasonable approximation of fair value unless not specified 

otherwise in the table.  

The fair values of the finance lease receivables reported as as-

sets and the bonds, finance lease liabilities, liabilities to banks 

and liabilities to related parties reported as liabilities were cal-

culated as the present values of the future expected cash 

flows. Standard market interest rates of between 3.0% p.a. 

and 3.5% p.a. (2023: between 3.7% p.a. and 4.0% p.a.) based 

on the respective maturities were used for discounting.  

Finance lease receivables and lease liabilities are measured 

in accordance with IFRS 16. 

In the year under review, financial assets are allocated to the 

FVTPL (Fair Value Through Profit and Loss) measurement 

category and are valued on the basis of the net assets value. 

The net gain recognised in profit or loss resulted from the fair 

value measurement amounts to EUR 0 thousand (2023: EUR 

0 thousand). At present there is no intention to dispose these 

equity instruments. 

Net gains from financial assets on the AC measurement cat-

egory (measured at amortised cost) amount to EUR 817 thou-

sand (2023: EUR 708 thousand) and relate to income from 

payments received on receivables previously written off. 

As in the previous year, there were no net gains or losses in 

the financial year on financial liabilities measured at amor-

tised cost (AC measurement category). 

Total interest income from financial assets not measured at 

fair value through profit or loss amounts to EUR 652 thou-

sand (2023: EUR 338 thousand). This includes interest in-

come from finance lease in the amount of EUR 398 thousand 

(2023: EUR 162 thousand).  

Total interest expense on financial liabilities not measured at 

fair value through profit or loss amounts in the reporting year 

2024 to EUR 47,387 thousand (2023: EUR 16,354 thousand). 

This includes interest expense from payments of interest de-

rivatives in a hedging relationship in the amount of EUR 0 

thousand (2023: EUR 0 thousand). 

The interest rate and currency derivatives are subsequently 

measured at fair value (level 2 measurement). There were as-

sets from interest rate and currency derivatives in the amount 

of EUR 1,002 thousand as at the balance sheet date (2023: 

EUR 2,934 thousand), of which EUR 401 thousand (2023: 

EUR 0 thousand) was not in a cash flow hedge relationship. 

There are financial liabilities in the amount of 

EUR 8,670 thousand from interest rate derivatives (2023: 

EUR 0 thousand). All in all, a volume of EUR 944 mil-

lion (2023: EUR 333 million) is hedged with interest rate de-

rivatives carrying fixed interest rates between –0,6% p.a. and 

3,0% p.a. (2023: between -0.6% p.a. and 0.0% p.a.) and re-

maining term of up to five years (2023: three years). Of these, 

EUR 945 million (2023: EUR 111 million) are in a cash flow 

hedge relationship according to IFRS 9. The variable interest 

rate is based on the 1-month Euribor. 

As at 31 December 2024, the Company held interest rate de-

rivatives to hedge interest payment flows (interest rate risk). 

The following table presents the impact of the hedging in-

struments on the amount, timing and uncertainty of future 

cash flows and the effects of the recognition of hedging in-

struments on the financial statements. 



 

C – Consolidated financial statement – Notes to the consolidated financial statements

  Annual Report 2024 Page 121  

Profile of timing             

in EUR thou. GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFI GE.EF.FDFJ GE.EF.FDFK GE.EF.FDFL GE.EF.FDFM                 
Nominal amount of the hedging instrument MHH,JDF KMI,LLG ILF,IGK FIF,HIK EK,LLL KK 

Average of fixed interest rate F.HDG% F.IIL% F.HJH% F.HJK% F.IFD% F.DGD%                 
 

Amounts of designated hedging instruments in balance sheet and hedging 

ineffectiveness   
  GE.EF.FDFH Financial year FDFH 

in EUR 
thou. Nominal amount 

Carrying amount 
Asset 

Balance sheet 
line item 

Changes in 
value recognized 

in other 
comprehensive 

income 

Income from 
ineffectiveness 

in the income 
statement 

Profit or loss line 
item for 

ineffectiveness     
  

MHH,JDF L,DKD 

(Non-current) 

Other receivables 
and assets 

 H,MDJ –FGD Net finance costs     
 

Sensitivity analysis 
The sensitivity analysis assumes a parallel shift in the yield 

curves of +100/-100 basis points for variable-rate financial li-

abilities. Taking into account the existing interest rate deriva-

tives this would result in changes in equity and profit and loss 

by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all 

other variables remain constant and does not include any tax 

effects.  

The sensitivity analysis for the reported interest rate deriva-

tives assumes a parallel shift in the yield curves of +100/-100 

basis points. This would result in a change in the reported fair 

values (other non-current assets/other non-current liabilities) 

of EUR 21,314 thousand / EUR –21,314 thousand (2023: EUR 

807 thousand / EUR –807 thousand). 

The sensitivity for the reported currency derivatives as-
sumes a change in the EUR exchange rate of +10/-10 per-

centage points. The reported values (other current 

assets/other current liabilities) would then change by EUR 

2,781 thousand / EUR –4,053 thousand (2023: EUR 2,785 

thousand / EUR –2,375 thousand). 

The changes in value assumed in the sensitivity analysis for 

the interest rate and exchange rate risk would have the fol-

lowing effects on the derivatives measured at fair value: 

Sensitivity of interest and exchange rate 

risks           

in EUR thou. 

Effect on profit and loss 
Change in exchange rates 

and yield curves 

Effect on other 
comprehensive income 

Change in exchange rates 
and yield curves 

Effect on equity 
Change in exchange rates 

and yield curves                 
GE.EF.FDFH F,LGG –H,DIH FE,FJF –FE,GEG FH,DMI –FI,GJK 

GE.EF.FDFG F,KLL –F,GKL LDH –LDH G,IMF –G,ELF                 
 

Financial risk management and hedging 
The Allane Mobility Group is exposed to the following finan-

cial risks, which are addressed through the risk management 

system that has been implemented. 

Allane SE has an internal control and risk management sys-

tem throughout the Group designed to identify at an early 

stage all developments that can lead to significant losses or 

endanger the existence of the Company or of the Group. 

Efficient tools ensure that risks are centrally and decentrally 

identified, evaluated and managed swiftly. The risk manage-

ment system comprises all activities for the systematic han-

dling of potential corporate risks - from the identification and 

recording, analysis and evaluation to the management and 

monitoring of significant risks. It is defined in a formal process 

in which all relevant Group divisions are firmly integrated. The 

implemented risk management system thus records the rele-

vant individual risks. 
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The internal audit department is responsible for monitoring 

and evaluating the efficiency of the risk management system. 

Moreover, risk management is handled in accordance with 

the principle of segregation of duties and monitoring. Finan-

cial risks are thereby identified, evaluated and secured in col-

laboration with the operating units. Management has 

prepared a written risk management manual and has defined 

guidelines for certain areas such as interest rate risks, coun-

terparty default risks, residual value risks and liquidity risks. 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk arises from the Group’s operating activities. 

Changes in prevailing interest rates impact the profitability of 

the Group’s leasing business, as the interest rates underlying 

the lease instalments are set for the term of the lease at the 

beginning of the lease agreement. In its dealings with corpo-

rate customers, the Group generally tries to counter such in-

terest rate risk by including interest escalation clauses in 

individual framework agreements that apply to all new leasing 

contracts concluded under such framework agreements. In 

addition, the interest rate risk is kept to a minimum by bor-

rowing funds with matching maturities. 

The Allane Mobility Group is also exposed to risk arising from 

variable interest rate liabilities. The Group is exposed to the 

interest rate risk resulting from lease contracts being based 

on fixed interest rates and external financing partly being 

based on floating interest rates. Differences between fixed 

interest rates under lease contracts and floating interest rates 

paid for borrowed funds create a risk of wider spreads be-

tween financial revenues and financial costs which, if nega-

tive, may lead to losses on the Group’s lease contracts. 

While the Allane Mobility Group enters into derivative con-

tracts to hedge its interest rate exposure, there can be no 

guarantee that such hedge will be effective or that losses will 

be completely avoided. 

Increased costs of borrowings may have a material impact on 

the Group’s cost base, which the Group may not be able to 

pass on to the same degree to the Group’s customers.  

It needs to be considered that the financing behaviour of fi-

nancial institutions may change significantly due to ongoing 

structural changes in the credit industry, for example higher 

equity requirements or changes in the weighting of risks. De-

pending on the development of Allane Mobility Group’s own 

creditworthiness, external financing might become more 

costly. This is particularly important as the Allane Mobility 

Group also enters into variable interest rate liabilities. In 

addition this also relevant for the extension and renewal of fi-

nancing. 

Market price risk 
The market price risk describes the danger of a loss caused 

by changes to market prices. For Allane SE it is especially the 

residual values of leasing vehicles that are subject to the mar-

ket price risk. 

To counteract the market price risk involved in the disposal of 

vehicles within the Allane Mobility Group the residual values 

of the vehicles included in the calculation of the leasing con-

tract are hedged partly by buyback agreements with dealers 

or manufacturers depending on market conditions. 

In marketing used leased vehicles, the Allane Mobility Group 

is dependent on developments in the used car market, par-

ticularly in Germany. The vehicles to be sold directly by the 

Allane Mobility Group on the used car market are subjected 

to regular appraisals based on the Group's own experience 

and market observations. These vehicles are marketed in a 

multi-stage process. The most advantageous recycling chan-

nel for the Allane Mobility Group is evaluated for each vehicle. 

The Allane Mobility Group primarily uses online auction plat-

forms and its own used vehicle sites. To a limited extent, buy-

back agreements, which are optional for the Allane Mobility 

Group, are contractually agreed with dealers or manufactur-

ers in order to partially hedge the residual value of the vehi-

cles on which the lease agreements are based. As a rule, 

however, the opportunities arising from own marketing out-

weigh the risks. 

The Board of Management is also monitoring the general po-

litical discussion on new emission requirements in accord-

ance with the Euro 7 standard, as well as government subsidy 

measures for electric drive technology and their impact on 

future business. Due to the introduction of newer drive tech-

nologies, there is a higher potential for uncertainty in the con-

text of determining residual vehicle values. 

Another significant factor that can further increase the resid-

ual value risk is the concentration of certain vehicle types or 

models in the leasing portfolio. A high concentration on cer-

tain vehicle types or models can lead to changes in market 

conditions, technological developments or regulatory 

changes having a greater impact on the overall value of the 

portfolio. 
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Counterparty default risk 
The counterparty default risk arises if lessees and fleet man-

agement customers fail to meet their payment obligations 

fully or partly during the contract term or if vehicle suppliers 

cannot fulfil their buyback agreements towards Allane SE, re-

sulting in payment defaults. 

To reduce the counterparty default risk, credit assessments 

are carried out in accordance with internal guidelines prior to 

the contract conclusion. Furthermore, creditworthiness of 

customers is regularly monitored during the lease period. 

This precautionary measure helps to avoid and/or mitigate 

future risks arising from existing customers.  

The Allane Mobility Group therefore also pays high attention 

to the economic stability of its vehicles dealers. The vehicles 

dealers are subject to regular and strict creditworthiness re-

views. Should contractual partners not be able to meet their 

repurchase commitments, Allane Mobility Group would be 

forced to sell the vehicles directly in the used car market. 

Vehicle suppliers in the captive have a right of first refusal 

with regard to the utilization of vehicles purchased from the 

supplier. If the right of first refusal is not exercised by the sup-

plier, the Allane Mobility Group would be forced to sell the 

respective vehicles directly on the used vehicle market. 

Deposits with banks consist only to a small extent of deposits 

available on demand. The ratings of the banks are monitored 

on an ongoing basis. The default risk is estimated to be neg-

ligible on the basis of the awarded external ratings. 

The risk measurement and control systems as well as the or-

ganisation of the credit risk management of Allane SE comply 

with the minimum requirements for risk management of 

banks and financial institutions (MaRisk) as defined by Bun-

desanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (BaFin; Federal 

Financial Supervisory Authority). 

For expected default risks a valuation allowance is recognised. 

The relevant receivable is written-off when the recovery is no 

longer expected. 

Overall, there are no significant risk concentrations in the 

area of counterparty default risk.  
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Analysis of trade receivables 
The trade receivables are classified in the following table: 

 

Analysis of trade receivables by risk class      

  
Gross 

receivables Impairments 
Net 

receivables 
in EUR thou.     GE.EF.FDFH         
very low JK,MLF EG JK,MJM 

low HG,IIG IHK HG,DDK 

highly increased K,EFG G,LGL G,FLJ 

Total EEL,JIM H,GMK EEH,FJF         
 

Analysis of trade receivables by risk class      

  
Gross 

receivables Impairments 
Net 

receivables 
in EUR thou.     GE.EF.FDFG         
very low IG,HIE G IG,HHM 

low HG,FEE EJH HG,DHJ 

highly increased I,GMJ G,HMI E,MDE 

Total EDF,DIM G,JJF ML,GMJ         
 

Trade receivables predominantly comprise receivables from 

Leasing and Fleet Management end-customers of the Allane 

Mobility Group and receivables from suppliers relating to the 

sale of used vehicles as part of their buyback commitments, 

or commercial and private buyers as part of the sale on the 

open market. 

The maximum default amount is the reported carrying 

amount of the net receivable less collected collaterals (e.g. 

customer-security deposits in the amount of EUR 4,699 

thousand). In the reporting year 2024, no credit derivatives or 

similar hedging instruments were used to cover credit risk in 

the period under review. Part of the receivables are secured 

through customer deposits. 

The Group applies the simplified approach for impairment 

described in IFRS 9, whereby an impairment allowance in the 

amount of expected credit losses over the lifetime of the re-

ceivable is recognised for all instruments irrespective of their 

credit quality. To measure the expected credit losses, param-

eters such as customer group, credit quality, transaction type 

and maturity are used. For individual combinations of the 

aforemen-tioned parameters different rates in accordance 

with the management expectations are applied to determine 

the impairment allowances. Due to the use of the simplified 

approach the changes in the allowance account are solely 

displayed as net amount. In the event of concrete indications 

of a default on receivables, for example due to the insolvency 

of the debtor, the corresponding receivables are derecog-

nized in full. 
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In the financial year the allowance account for trade receiva-

bles developed as follows:

 

Change in the allowance account for trade receivables        
  Balance as at Change Balance as at 
in EUR thou. E.E.FDFH   GE.EF.FDFH         
Impairments G,JJF KGI H,GMK         
 

Change in the allowance account for trade receivables        
  Balance as at Change Balance as at 
in EUR thou. DE.DE.FDFG   GE.EF.FDFG         
Impairments F,KKD LMG G,JJF         
 

In the 2024 financial year, the value adjustments for trade re-

ceivables increased by EUR 735 thousand. This is mainly due 

to the increase in gross receivables as at the reporting date 

and lower write-offs of receivables that have exceeded the 

ageing thresholds.  

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that existing liquidity reserves are not 

sufficient to meet the Group’s financial obligations as they fall 

due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure 

by liquidity planning that the Group always has sufficient li-

quidity to meet its obligations when due, under both normal 

and stressed conditions.  

In the future, the refinancing of the Allane Mobility Group will 

be essentially dependent on self-financing through operative 

cash flows or the ability to borrow external funds on the debt 

capital markets. With regard to debt financing opportunities, 

it needs to be considered that the financing behaviour of the 

financial institutions may change significantly due to the on-

going structural changes which can be observed in the credit 

industry, for example as a result of higher capital require-

ments in the credit business or changes in the weighting of 

risks. 

Depending on the development of Allane Mobility Group’s 

own credit standing, external financing might therefore not or 

only under unfavorable conditions be obtained. In this con-

text, it should be noted that the Allane Mobility Group cur-

rently has not assigned any external rating agency with a 

credit rating. However as common in the leasing industry as-

set-based financing opportunities (e. g. forfeiting or securiti-

sation of leasing receivables) will be available to Allane 

Mobility Group. The Allane Mobility Group made use of this 

for the first time in 2016 and set-up an asset backed securities 

(ABS) program in mid-2016.  

The Asset Backed Securities (ABS) program has been ex-

tended until the end of 2023 and will be amortized on an on-

going basis until the middle of the 2029 financial year. 

Analysis of the repayment amounts of financial liabilities 
and liabilities to related parties  
The following table includes the repayment amounts (in-

cluding assumed future interest payable) at their respective 

maturities. 
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Repayment amounts by maturity as of ..   

in EUR thou. Bonds 
Liabilities to 

banks 
Lease 

liabilities 

Other 
financial 
liabilities Total             

FDFI - FIK,JEG G,IJF - FJE,EKI 

FDFJ - IEL,GFH G,GFH - IFE,JHK 

FDFK - JJE,LEI G,FFM - JJI,DHH 

FDFL - IEK,MKL F,MJG - IFD,MHF 

FDFM and later - EL,EEK FJ,IEF - HH,JFM 

GE.EF.FDFH - E,MKG,LHK GM,IMD - F,DEG,HGK             
1 Lease liabilities are attributable to concluded rental agreements for used properties 

Repayment amounts by maturity as of ..   

in EUR thou. Bonds 
Liabilities to 

banks 
Lease 

liabilities 

Other 
financial 
liabilities Total             

FDFH - FEK,ILD G,ILM - FFE,EJL 

FDFI - EFI,IHM G,DHH - EFL,IMG 

FDFJ - EJL,DIG F,JDH - EKD,JIK 

FDFK - GGK,HEL F,JEE - GHD,DFM 

FDFL und später - GLL,KLG FF,IGF - HEE,GEI 

GE Dec. FDFG - E,FGK,GLG GH,GLD - E,FKE,KJF             
1 Lease liabilities are attributable to concluded rental agreements for used properties 

 

The financial liabilities maturing in 2024 will largely be re-

paid by the usage of bank credit lines. 

Analysis of the repayment amounts of interest rate and cur-

rency derivatives: 

 

 

Repayment amounts by maturity as of ..   

in EUR thou. 
Interest rate 

derivatives 
Currency 

derivatives Total                 
FDFI –E,KHK - –E,KHK 

FDFJ –H,HDK –EIH –H,IJE 

FDFK –E,JEE –EH –E,JFH 

FDFL –FMG –MLJ –E,FKM 

FDFM and later –EG - –EG 

GE.EF.FDFH –L,DKD –E,EII –M,FFH                 
 

Repayment amounts by maturity as of ..   

in EUR thou. 
Interest rate 

derivatives 
Currency 

derivatives Total                 
FDFH F,JDD –E,GIM E,FHF 

FDFI GEL D GEL 

FDFJ EH D EH 

FDFK E D E 

FDFL und später D D D 

GE Dec. FDFG F,MGH –E,GIM E,IKI                 
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Exchange rate and country risk 
Exchange rate risk is only of minor importance to the Allane 

Mobility Group, as the vast majority of receivables and liabili-

ties are due in local currency in the country in which the re-

spective Group company is based. Exchange rate risks from 

receivables and liabilities with affiliated companies based in 

Switzerland are hedged by a currency derivative. There are 

currently hardly any country risks. 

Capital management 
The Allane Mobility Group manages the Group’s capital with 

the goal of creating a financial profile that supports the 

Group’s growth targets, while ensuring the necessary finan-

cial flexibility and diversification. Thereby it is ensured that all 

Group companies can operate on the basis of the going con-

cern assumption. 

The basis of the Group’s financial profile is the equity pro-

vided by Allane SE's equity investors. As at the balance sheet 

date, the Group’s equity ratio was 7.7% (2023: 14.2%). Other 

key elements of the Group’s financial profile are the financial 

instruments reported in non-current and current financial li-

abilities (bank loans as well as liabilities from the ABS pro-

gram and finance lease liabilities). The proportion of total 

assets accounted for by these non-current and current liabil-

ities amounted to 80.7% (2023: 70.3%).  
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I. Other disclosures  

I.E Segment reporting

 

 

Consolidated Income 

Statement             

By Operating Segments Fleet Leasing Online Retail Captive Leasing 
in EUR million FDFH FDFG FDFH FDFG FDFH FDFG                             
External revenue GHE.L FLK.H FHH.I FKH.E EGI.L GF.K 

Internal revenue D.F D.F - - - - 

Total revenue GHF.D FLK.I FHH.I FKH.E EGI.L GF.K 

Other operating income H.H I.L F.L I.I F.E E.L 

Fleet expenses and cost of lease assets EKG.D EFM.I EGI.M EJM.G FH.I K.G 

Personnel expenses FD.K EM.H EJ.J EJ.J M.M L.J 

Net losses arising from the derecognition of 

financial assets D.H D.F E.L E.F D.E D.D 

Net impairment expenses (-)/ income (+) from 

financial assets E.D D.J –D.E E.D –D.E D.H 

Other operating expenses EF.D EF.I ED.H EF.F L.L L.M 

EBITDAE EGM.G EGE.F LF.K KM.G MH.K M.F 

Depreciation and amortization EEE.E MJ.G KD.K JH.G EHF.G GE.G 

EBITF FL.F GH.L EF.D EI.E –HK.K –FF.F 

Interest income D.F D.G D.E D.G D.I –D.F 

Interest expenses –EJ.F –J.M –EH.F –K.I –EK.D –E.M 

Other net financial income –D.G D.D D.D D.D –D.D D.D 

Net finance costs –EJ.G –J.J –EH.E –K.E –EJ.J –F.E 

EBTG EE.M FL.F –F.E K.M –JH.F –FH.G 

              

Lease assets JGI.L HML.H IEI.I IFD.I MJG.E GLK.J                             
By Operating Segments Fleet Management Consolidation Group 
in EUR million FDFH FDFG FDFH FDFG FDFH FDFG                             
External revenue FI.F FI.E - - KHK.G JEM.F 

Internal revenue D.D D.D –D.F –D.F - - 

Total revenue FI.F FI.E –D.F –D.F KHK.G JEM.F 

Other operating income F.E D.M –F.I –G.E L.M ED.L 

Fleet expenses and cost of lease assets EH.E EI.D –D.E –D.E GHK.G GFE.D 

Personnel expenses L.E L.H - - II.F IF.M 

Net losses arising from the derecognition of 

financial assets D.E D.E - - F.G E.I 

Net impairment expenses (-)/ income (+) from 

financial assets –D.D D.D - - D.L F.E 

Other operating expenses –D.E E.G –F.J –G.F FL.J GE.J 

EBITDAE I.G E.E D.D –D.D GFF.D FFE.D 

Depreciation and amortization D.F D.G - - GFH.G EMF.H 

EBITF I.E D.L D.D –D.D –F.G FL.J 

Interest income D.E D.D D.F D.E D.K D.G 

Interest expenses –D.E –D.F –D.F –D.E –HK.H –EJ.H 

Other net financial income - - - - –D.G D.D 

Net finance costs –D.E –D.E D.D –D.D –HK.D –EJ.D 

EBTG I.D D.K D.D –D.D –HM.G EF.J 

              

Lease assets - - - - F,EEH.H E,HDJ.H                             
1 Corresponds to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 
2 Corresponds to earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 
3 Corresponds to earnings before taxes (EBT) 
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By region Germany International Reconciliation Group 
in EUR million FDFH FDFG FDFH FDFG FDFH FDFG FDFH FDFG     
Total revenue JJM.D IIM.J KL.F IM.K - - KHK.G JEM.F 

Investments E,ELG.D KLL.F KH.M HL.J - - E,FIK.L LGJ.D 

Assets F,KDF.E E,KGM.K E,HFH.E JDH.I –E,JLM.H –JKE.L F,HGJ.L E,JKF.H     
 

With the publication of the consolidated interim report as at 

June 30, 2024, the management of the Allane Mobility Group 

subjected the internal management and monitoring of the 

company to a comprehensive reassessment and adjusted the 

segment reporting accordingly. These changes reflect the 

current management strategy and a modified perspective on 

the operating business segments in accordance with IFRS 8.  

The adjustment of segment reporting to the Fleet Leasing, 

Online Retail, Captive Leasing and Fleet Management busi-

ness segments is based on the assessment of the relative im-

portance and performance of the individual business 

segments. The Allane Mobility Group continues to operate in 

the two business areas of Leasing and Fleet Management, 

whereby the Leasing business area is divided into the oper-

ating business segments of Fleet Leasing, Online Retail and 

Captive Leasing. Fleet Management is not further subdivided. 

There is no further subdivision in the Fleet Management divi-

sion. 

The allocation of resources and the assessment of the 

Group's earnings power by the Management Board are 

based on these business segments (management approach). 

The result from ordinary activities (EBT) of the business seg-

ments is decisive for the assessment of earnings power.  

The segment information by region shows the breakdown of 

total sales, Group investments and Group assets according to 

the location of the Group companies. 

The segment information is based on the accounting and val-

uation methods used in the consolidated financial state-

ments. Receivables and liabilities as well as income and 

expenses between the segments are eliminated in the recon-

ciliation to the consolidated figures. The consolidated assets 

and liabilities do not include any tax items. 

I.F Contingent liabilities and other financial obligations 

Contingent liabilities 
At the end of the financial year 2024 there were contingen-

cies from guarantees or similar obligations in the amount of 

EUR 1.6 million (2023: EUR 1.6 million) and therefore re-

mained constant to the previous year. 

Other financial obligations 
Purchase commitments resulting from concluded agree-

ments at the respective balance sheet date concerning vehi-

cle deliveries for the lease fleet in the coming year amount to 

around EUR 299.5 million (2023: EUR 467.1 million). This de-

cline is mainly due to the normalization of delivery times for 

new vehicle orders. 

Contingencies 
As at 31 December 2024, there are no circumstances that jus-

tify the disclosure of a contingent liability (2023: EUR 0.0 mil-

lion). 

I.G Related party disclosures 

The relationships with related parties comprise the relation-
ships between the Allane Mobility Group and Hyundai Capital 
Bank Europe GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, and its affiliated com-
panies Banco Santander S.A., Santander, Spain, including its 
direct and indirect subsidiaries, associated companies and 
joint ventures, and Hyundai Motor Company, Seoul, South 
Korea, including its direct and indirect subsidiaries, associated 
companies and joint ventures. 

The parent company of Allane SE is Hyundai Capital Bank Eu-

rope GmbH. Allane Mobility Consulting Österreich GmbH 

and Allane Mobility Consulting SARL are indirect, non-con-

solidated subsidiaries of Allane SE. Allane Service Verwal-

tungs GmbH is a direct, non-consolidated subsidiary of 

Allane SE. The further related parties are group-entities of 

Banco Santander S.A., Spain as well as group-entities of 

Hyundai Motor Company, Seoul, South Korea. 

The significant transactions and balances arising from such 

relationships with related parties of Hyundai Capital Bank Eu-

rope GmbH and its affiliated companies Banco Santander 

S.A., Spain, including its direct and indirect subsidiaries, asso-

ciates and joint ventures, and Hyundai Motor Company, 

Seoul, South Korea, including its direct and indirect subsidi-

aries, associates and joint ventures, are presented below. 
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Related parties                 

  
Services rendered Services used Receivables from related 

parties 
Liabilities to related 

parties 
in EUR million FDFH FDFG FDFH FDFG GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG                                     
Banco Santander International SA, 

Genf, Schweiz E D.E - - - E - - 

Genesis Motor Deutschland 

GmbH, Offenbach am Main - E D.L D.F - - D.E - 

Genesis Motor Switzerland AG, 

Zürich, Schweiz - - H.D D.F - - D.H - 

Hyundai AutoEver Corp., Seoul, 

Korea - - E.E E.G - - E D.G 

Hyundai Capital Bank Europe 

GmbH, Frankfurt am Main H.M D.G MF.G E.I E.H D.G FD.H E.I 

Hyundai Capital Services Inc., 

Seoul, Südorea - E - E - - - E 

Hyundai Motor Deutschland 

GmbH, Offenbach am Main GH.I K.L EI.G G.H FM.E G.F EE.E E.F 

Hyundai Motor France SAS, La 

Garenne-Colombes, Frankreich E E - - - - E E 

Kia France, Rueil Malmaison, 

Frankreich E - - E - - E E 

Kia Motors Deutschland GmbH, 

Frankfurt am Main FE.M E H.L - FE.G - - - 

Santander Consumer Bank AG, 

Mönchengladbach  D.M D.L FE.M EI.G E D.L MDD.I KDI.L 

Santander Consumer Leasing 

GmbH, Mönchengladbach D.L D.J E - E E E - 

Santander Global Technology and 

Operations, S.L., Madrid, Spanien - - D.J D.I - - - -                                     
1 Amount rounded less than EUR 0.1 million  

Allane SE and HCBE concluded a joint cooperation agree-

ment on 17 February 2025 as part of Allane's takeover of 

HCBE's leasing product portfolio (mileage and full-service 

leasing) for “Hyundai Leasing” and “Kia Leasing”. The letter of 

intent signed for this purpose on 15 January 2024 will there-

fore cease to have effect once the agreement is concluded. 

The cooperation agreement essentially regulates the cooper-

ation between the two parties as well as the performance ob-

ligations within the scope of the “Hyundai Leasing” and “Kia 

Leasing” products. In the agreement, both parties agree on 

an annual compensation payment based on the volume of 

new business to be made by Allane to HCBE. Since the take-

over of the captive leasing business by Allane SE in the 2022 

financial year, regular compensation payments have been 

made to HCBE. The cooperation agreement contains a 

change-of-control clause that is effective for both parties, 

which grants the parties an extraordinary right of termination 

in the event of a change of control of one of the contracting 

parties. 

In addition, on 13 March 2024, the two parties, Allane SE and 

HCBE, signed an agreement on the transfer of individual 

services of HCBE's remarketing process to Allane. The agree-

ment commissions Allane SE to take over the take-back pro-

cess and the marketing of selected lease returns. The service 

agreement between Allane SE and HCBE, which is dated 13 

March 2024, governs the commission business and was con-

cluded for an indefinite period. The service agreement con-

tains a change of control clause effective for both parties, 

which grants the parties an extraordinary right of termination 

in the event of a change of control of one of the contracting 

parties. 

Beyond that, Furthermore, the Allane SE and HMD agreed in 

the 2024 financial year on residual value support for 1,895 ve-

hicles that were “leased” as part of exclusive sales campaigns. 

The contract for this was concluded between the two parties 

on 17 February 2025 and regulates the contingent repayment 

of residual value support from HMD to Allane SE resulting 

from any residual value losses arising from the marketing of 

the vehicles at the end of the lease agreement. The agree-

ment ends on the date on which the last vehicle of the 1,895 

vehicles was successfully marketed as part of the remarketing 

process. 
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On 29 December 2022, Allane concluded a cooperation 

agreement with Hyundai Motor Deutschland GmbH (HMD) 

for the "Hyundai Leasing" product. The cooperation agree-

ment defines the operational handling of the leasing business 

in the context of "Hyundai Leasing" and ensures the product-

related support and brokerage services of HMD. The parties 

agree on an annual compensation payment to be made by 

Allane. The cooperation agreement has a term of three years 

and includes a change of control clause. Consequently, both 

parties have the right to terminate the cooperation agree-

ment without notice in the event of a change of control. 

In December 2022, Allane SE, together with its majority 

shareholder Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH and Kia 

Motors Deutschland GmbH, declared their intentions to es-

tablish and expand their strategic cooperation to “Kia Leas-

ing” in a joint “Memorandum of Understanding”. This 

Memorandum of Understanding defines the strategic part-

nership between the parties and is valid until further notice 

and will only lose its validity after the conclusion of an inde-

pendent cooperation agreement or the termination of one of 

the parties. 

Allane SE entered into a credit facility agreement with San-

tander Consumer Bank AG. Of this credit facility, loans in the 

amount of EUR 900 million had been drawn down as of the 

reporting date (2023: EUR 700 million). The loans have a 

term of up to five years. There is a change of control clause, 

which gives Santander Consumer Bank AG the right to call in 

the loans and interest payable immediately if a change of 

control occurs.  

As at 31 December 2023, there was an IT license agreement 

with Santander Global Technology and Operations, S.L., Ma-

drid, Spain, with a term of three years, which expired in June 

2024. In the 2024 financial year, this agreement was ex-

tended by a further two and a half years. As at 31 December  

2024, the remaining term of the agreement is two years. 

There were also business relationships with Santander Con-

sumer Leasing GmbH as at 31 December 2024. Allane SE 

acted as lessor for 118 leased vehicles. The average contract 

term of the 118 leased vehicles is 24 months. 

All outstanding receivables from and liabilities to related par-

ties, which are shown separately, were settled in accordance 

with contractual agreements. As at the balance sheet date, no 

valuation allowances were recognized for receivables from 

related parties of the Allane Mobility Group. 

The business relationships shown are in each case conducted 

on an arm´s length basis. 
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The Supervisory Board and Managing Board of Allane SE 
 

Supervisory Board 
Membership of supervisory boards and other comparable 
supervisory bodies of business enterprises         

Ignacio Barbadillo Llorens 

Member and Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since FK June FDFH) 
Head of Global Leasing of Santander Finance S.A. 

Madrid, Spain 

Member of the Board of Drive S.r.l., Italy 

Member of the Board of Santander Consumer Leasing S.A., 
France 

Norbert van den Eijnden 

Member of the Supervisory Board 

Freelance consultant 
Maarssen, Netherlands 

Member of the Supervisory Board of Bovemij NV, 

Chairman of the Chairman Foundation Duurzame Vecht 

Thomas Hanswillemenke 

Member of the Supervisory Board (until FK June FDFH) 
Member of the Management Board of Santander Consumber Bank AG, Germany and 
Member of the Management Board of the Santander Consumer Holding GmbH,  

Mönchengladbach, Germany 

Member of the Supervisory Board of Santander Consumer 

Operations Services GmbH, Mönchengladbach, Germany 
Chairman of the Advisory Board of VCFS Germany GmbH, 
Cologne, Germany 

Keunbae Hong 

Member of the Supervisory Board 
Managing Director 
Hyundai Capital Services, Inc.  

Seoul, South Korea 

Member of the Board of Beijing Hyundai Motor Finance, Beijing, 

China 
Member of the Board of BAIC Hyundai Leasing, China 

Eva Kellershof 

Member of the Supervisory Board (since EK May FDFH) 

Vice President Sales for North America and Europe  
Netsol Inc. 
Calabasas, USA 

Board Advisor of Way.com, San Francisco, USA 

Board Advisor of HIVE (drivehive.com), Los Angeles, USA 

Jochen Klöpper 

Member of the Supervisory Board 
Chairman (until FK June FDFH) 

Member of the Management Board of Santander Consumer Bank AG, 
Hamburg, Germany 

Member of the Board of Directors of Santander Consumer 

Holding GmbH 

Ross Williams 

Member of the Supervisory Board 
Vice President, Head of Global Business Division  
Hyundai Capital Services, Inc. 

Seoul, South Korea 

Head of "Americas Regional Headquarters" of Hyundai Capital 

Services Inc., Seoul, South Korea 
Member of the Board of Banco Hyundai Capital Brasil S.A., Brazil 
Member of the Supervisory Board of Hyundai Capital Bank Europe 

GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 
Member of the Board of Hyundai Capital Canada Inc., Canada 
Member of the Board of Hyundai Capital France SAS, Marc-en-

Baroeul, France 
Member of the Board of Hyundai Capital America Corp, Irvine, 
USA         

 

 

 

Managing Board 
Membership of supervisory boards and other comparable supervisory 
bodies of business enterprises         

Eckart Klumpp 

Chairman (since E January FDFH) 

Munich   

Álvaro Hernández 

Munich           
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Total remuneration of the Supervisory Board and 
Managing Board of Allane SE 
The Supervisory Board has determined the remuneration for 

2023 and 2024 on an individual basis as follows: 

 

 

Remuneration             
  Eckart Klumpp Donglim Shin Álvaro Hernández 
in Euro FDFH actual FDFG actual FDFH actual FDFG actual FDFH actual FDFG actual                             
Basic remuneration IFD,DDD - - GJD,IKJ GDD,DDD GDD,DDD 

Taxable pecuniary benefits and other fringe 

benefits EJE,GMI - - EEK,JFK EDE,FDK EDH,FFD 

Total fixed remuneration JLE,GMI - - HKL,FDG HDE,FDK HDH,FFD 

Multi-year variable remunerationE EME,EDD - - IL,IHL EFI,KDD EDM,LMD 

Total remuneration LKF,HMI - - IGJ,KIE IFJ,MDK IEH,EED                             
1 Since 01 January 2024 
2 Until 31 December 2023 

The total remuneration of the Managing Board in the 2024 

financial year amounts to EUR 1,399,402 (2023: 

EUR 1,050,861). 

Remuneration of Managing Board and 

Supervisory Board   

in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG             
Remuneration Managing Board     

Short-term employee benefitsE E,EKL MFL 

Post-employment benefits JH FD 

Other long-term benefits FFF EFG 

Termination benefits - - 

Share-based payment - - 

Remuneration Managing Board E,HJG E,DKE 

Remuneration Supervisory Board JK HD 

Group total E,IGD E,EEE             
1 Short-term benefits in the previous year (EUR 948 thousand) included 

remuneration of former members of the Management Board in the 
amount of EUR 20 thousand, which is now reported under post-
employment benefits. 

The group has no pension obligations towards members of 

the Supervisory Board and Managing Board. 

I.H Proposal for allocation of unappropriated profit 

In the annual financial statements for the 2024 financial year, 

Allane SE reported a net loss of EUR -86,009 thousand 

(2023: EUR 21,687 thousand) in accordance with German 

commercial law. The accumulated loss is offset by retained 

earnings of EUR 12,636 thousand, which could not lead to a 

balance sheet profit even if they were fully reversed. Against 

this backdrop, it is not possible to pay a dividend for the 2024 

financial year, which makes a corresponding proposal for the 

appropriation of profits by the Management Board unneces-

sary. The accumulated loss reported in the annual financial 

statements will be carried forward to new account.  

Proposal for allocation of the 

unappropriated profit   

in EUR thou. FDFH FDFG 

Payment of a dividend of EUR D.DD (FDFG: 

EUR D.DM) per ordinary share entitled to a 
dividend D E,LII 

Carryforward to new account –LJ,DDM EM,LGF 

 

As of 31 December 2024, there were 20,611,593 ordinary 

shares entitled to dividends. Since no dividend can be paid 

out for the 2024 financial year (2023: EUR 0.09), this results 

in a payout ratio of 0% of the consolidated net income for the 

2024 financial year. The exact proposed appropriation of 

earnings is generally subject to the approval of the Supervi-

sory Board and will be published with the agenda for the 

2025 Annual General Meeting. Due to the negative consoli-

dated net income and the declared dividend waiver, a resolu-

tion by the Annual General Meeting is not required. 

The proposal by the Managing Board and the Supervisory 

Board on the appropriation of the unappropriated profit for 

financial year 2023 was resolved unchanged by the Annual 

General Meeting on 27 June 2024. 
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I.I Substantial events after the reporting date 

After the balance sheet date, Allane SE concluded a loan 

agreement with its majority shareholder, Hyundai Capital 

Bank Europe GmbH, on 05 June 2025 for a subordinated 

shareholder loan in the amount of EUR 26 million. The loan 

funds were disbursed on 06 June 2025. 

The loan serves to strengthen the risk-bearing capacity in 

accordance with the requirements of the internal capital ad-

equacy assessment process (ICAAP) of Allane SE as a regu-

lated financial services institution. The repayment of the 

loan (including any interest payments) is fully linked to a 

minimum risk coverage ratio of 100% in accordance with the 

company's current ICAAP report. Repayment or interest 

payment is excluded if this condition is not met. Accordingly, 

the loan is contractually subordinated to all other liabilities 

of Allane SE. 

Furthermore, the liquidation process of Allane Mobility Con-

sulting B.V., Hoofddorp, Netherlands, was started in the first 

quarter of 2025. At the time of reporting, this is in the plan-

ning phase, with all legal and financial aspects being taken 

into account. This matter is not expected to have any signifi-

cant impact on the net assets, financial position and results 

of operations of the Group or the company. 

There were no other events of particular significance for the 

net assets, financial position and results of operations of the 

Group and the company after the end of the 2024 financial 

year. 

I.J Declaration of conformity in accordance with section 
EJE of the AktG 

The annual declaration by the Management Board and Su-

pervisory Board on compliance with the recommendations 

of the Government Commission on the German Corporate 

Governance Code and any deviations, as required by Sec-

tion 161 AktG, was submitted in the financial year and made 

permanently available to shareholders on the Allane SE 

website at ir.allane-mobility-group.com in the “Corporate 

Governance” section 

I.K Authorization of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with  
IAS ED.EK 

These consolidated financial statements are authorised by 

the Managing Board for submission to the Supervisory 

Board on 12 June 2025. 

 

Pullach, 12 June 2025 

Allane SE 

The Managing Board 

 

Eckart Klumpp Alvaro Hernández 
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of Allane SE, Pullach, for financial year 2024

in accordance with sections FMK (F) sentence H and GEI 
(E) sentence I of the HGB (German Commercial Code) 

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the ap-

plicable reporting principles, the consolidated financial state-

ments give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 

financial position and profit and loss of the Group, and the 

management report on the Group’s and the Company’s situ-

ation includes a fair review of the development and perfor-

mance of the business and the position of the group, 

together with a description of the principal opportunities and 

risks associated with the expected development of the Group. 

 

Pullach, 12 June 2025 

Allane SE 

The Managing Board 

 

Eckart Klumpp Álvaro Hernández 
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The following independent auditors’ report 

(„Bestätigungsvermerk’) was issued in accordance with sec-

tion 322 of the HGB (German Commercial Code) on the 

IFRS Financial Statements 2024, which were prepared in the 

German language. The translation of the independent audi-

tors’ report (‘Bestätigungsvermerk’) is as follows:  

The following copy of the auditor's report also includes an 

"Assurance Report in Accordance with § 317 Abs. 3b HGB on 

the Electronic Reproduction of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements and the Group Management Report Prepared 

for Publication Purposes" ("Separate report on ESEF con-

formity"). The subject matter (ESEF documents to be au-

dited) to which the separate report on ESEF conformity 

relates is not attached. The audited ESEF documents can be 

inspected in or retrieved from the Federal Gazette. 

„To Allane SE, Pullach 

Report on the audit of the consolidated 

financial statements and of the group 

management report 

Audit Opinions 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Al-

lane SE, Pullach, and its subsidiaries (the Group), which com-

prise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 

December 2024, and the consolidated statement of compre-

hensive income, consolidated statement of profit or loss, con-

solidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 

statement of cash flows for the financial year from 1 January 

to 31 December 2024, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including material accounting policy information. 

In addition, we have audited the group management report 

of Allane SE, which is combined with the Company’s man-

agement report, for the financial year from 1 January to 31 De-

cember 2024. In accordance with the German legal 

requirements, we have not audited the content of the state-

ment on corporate governance pursuant to § [Article] 

289f HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code] 

and § 315d HGB. 

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the 

audit, 

 the accompanying consolidated financial statements 

comply, in all material respects, with the IFRS Accounting 

Standards issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) (the IFRS Accounting Standards) 

as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of 

German commercial law pursuant to § 315e Abs. [para-

graph] 1 HGB and, in compliance with these requirements, 

give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, and finan-

cial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of 

its financial performance for the financial year from 1 Janu-

ary to 31 December 2024, and 
 the accompanying group management report as a whole 

provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position. In all 

material respects, this group management report is con-

sistent with the consolidated financial statements, com-

plies with German legal requirements and appropriately 

presents the opportunities and risks of future develop-

ment. Our audit opinion on the group management report 

does not cover the content of the statement on corporate 

governance referred to above. 

 

Pursuant to § 322 Abs. 3 Satz [sentence] 1 HGB, we declare 

that our audit has not led to any reservations relating to the 

legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements 

and of the group management report.  

Basis for the Audit Opinions 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-

ments and of the group management report in accordance 

with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014, 

referred to subsequently as “EU Audit Regulation”) in com-

pliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Fi-

nancial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der 

Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] 

(IDW). Our responsibilities under those requirements and 

principles are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibil-

ities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

and of the Group Management Report“ section of our audi-

tor’s report. We are independent of the group entities in ac-

cordance with the requirements of European law and 

German commercial and professional law, and we have ful-

filled our other German professional responsibilities in ac-

cordance with these requirements. In addition, in accordance 

with Article 10 (2) point (f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we de-

clare that we have not provided non-audit services prohib-

ited under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We 

believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions on 

the consolidated financial statements and on the group man-

agement report. 

D.2 – Independent auditor’s report 
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Key Audit Matters in the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 

judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the con-

solidated financial statements for the financial year from 1 

January to 31 December 2024. These matters were ad-

dressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated finan-

cial statements as a whole, and in forming our audit opinion 

thereon; we do not provide a separate audit opinion on these 

matters. 

In our view, the matter of most significance in our audit was 

as follows: 

1) Recoverability of lease assets 

Our presentation of this key audit matter has been structured 

as follows: 

a) Matter and issue 

b) Audit approach and findings 

c) Reference to further information 

Hereinafter we present the key audit matter: 

E) Recoverability of lease assets 
a) In the consolidated financial statements of Allane SE, as-

sets amounting to EUR 2,114.4 million (86.6 % of total as-

sets) are reported under the line item "Lease assets" of 

the balance sheet as of December 31, 2024. Lease assets 

are carried at cost and depreciated over the term of the 

lease to the expected residual value at the end of the 

lease. The expected residual value is calculated on the ba-

sis of market value forecasts and the Company's own his-

torical marketing results. The expected residual values are 

monitored on an ongoing basis. If the residual value de-

creases, the lease asset is tested for impairment, a recov-

erable amount is calculated and, if necessary, the asset is 

written down. Write-downs amounting to EUR 52.4 mil-

lion were recognized in respect of lease assets in the fi-

nancial year on the basis of this valuation. 

The measurement of the lease assets is, firstly, of great signif-

icance for the assets, liabilities, and financial performance 

of the group in terms of amount and, secondly, involves a 

high degree of estimation uncertainty, since the use of 

models and assumptions involves significant scope for 

judgment on the part of the executive directors for the 

measurement exercise. Against this background, this 

matter was of particular significance in the context of our 

audit. 

b) As part of our audit, we have assessed the design of the 

controls implemented in the Group's internal control sys-

tem relevant for assessing the recoverability of leased as-

sets and tested the operating effectiveness of these 

controls. In doing so, we considered the organizational 

structures and processes, the IT systems and the meas-

urement model. Furthermore, we reviewed the perfor-

mance of and assessed the appropriateness of the 

impairment tests. We assessed the internal and external 

parameters used for the impairment test, including the 

values for the marketing results, to ensure that they were 

up to date and compared them with sector-specific mar-

ket expectations, and assessed the documents and expla-

nations provided by the executive directors regarding the 

expected marketing results. We critically evaluated and 

assessed the assumptions made by the executive direc-

tors to determine whether they lay within a reasonable 

range. Based on our audit procedures, we were able to 

satisfy ourselves that the impairment tests performed to 

assess the lease assets were carried out appropriately and 

that the parameters used and assumptions made are 

within what we consider to be a reasonable range 

c) The Company´s disclosures relating to the measurement 

of lease assets are contained in section 3.2 of the notes to 

the consolidated financial statements. 
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Other Information 
The executive directors are responsible for the other infor-

mation. The other information comprises the statement on 

corporate governance pursuant to § 289f HGB and § 315d 

HGB as an unaudited part of the group management report. 

The other information comprises further all remaining parts 

of the annual report – excluding cross-references to external 

information – with the exception of the audited consolidated 

financial statements, the audited group management report 

and our auditor’s report. 

Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements 

and on the group management re-port do not cover the other 

information, and consequently we do not express an audit 

opinion or any other form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the 

other information mentioned above and, in so doing, to con-

sider whether the other information  

 is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements, with the group management report disclo-

sures audited in terms of content or with our knowledge 

obtained in the audit, or  

 

 otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

Responsibilities of the Executive Directors and the 
Supervisory Board for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Group Management Report 

The executive directors are responsible for the preparation 

of the consolidated financial statements that comply, in all 

material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the 

additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant 

to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB and that the consolidated financial 

statements, in compliance with these requirements, give a 

true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, 

and financial performance of the Group. In addition, the ex-

ecutive directors are responsible for such internal control as 

they have determined necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

mis-statement, whether due to fraud (i.e., fraudulent financial 

reporting and misappropriation of assets) or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the exec-

utive directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the re-

sponsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 

going concern. In addition, they are responsible for financial 

reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting 

unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible for the 

preparation of the group management report that, as a 

whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position 

and is, in all material respects, consistent with the consoli-

dated financial statements, complies with German legal re-

quirements, and appropriately presents the opportunities 

and risks of future development. In addition, the executive 

directors are responsible for such arrangements and 

measures (systems) as they have considered necessary to 

enable the preparation of a group management report that is 

in accordance with the applicable German legal require-

ments, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evi-

dence for the assertions in the group management report. 

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the 

Group’s financial reporting process for the preparation of the 

consolidated financial statements and of the group manage-

ment report. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Group 
Management Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or er-

ror, and whether the group management report as a whole 

provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in 

all material respects, is consistent with the consolidated fi-

nancial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, 

complies with the German legal requirements and appropri-

ately presents the opportunities and risks of future develop-

ment, as well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and 

on the group management report. 
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 

a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with § 317 

HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with 

German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial State-

ment Audits promulgated by the Institut der 

Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material mis-

statement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the eco-

nomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consoli-

dated financial statements and this group management 

report. 

We exercise professional judgment and maintain profes-

sional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the consolidated financial statements and of the group 

management report, whether due to fraud or error, design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropri-

ate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may in-

volve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepre-

sentations, or the override of internal controls. 

 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 

the audit of the consolidated financial statements and of 

arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the au-

dit of the group management report in order to design au-

dit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an audit opinion on 

the effectiveness of the internal control and these ar-

rangements and measures (systems), respectively. 

 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

by the executive directors and the reasonableness of esti-

mates made by the executive directors and related disclo-

sures. 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the executive direc-

tors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as 

a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncer-

tainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the audi-

tor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements and in the group management report 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

respective audit opinions. Our conclusions are based on 

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our audi-

tor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Group to cease to be able to continue as a go-

ing concern. 

 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 

the consolidated financial statements, including the dis-

closures, and whether the consolidated financial state-

ments present the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that the consolidated financial statements give a 

true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position 

and financial performance of the Group in compliance 

with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU 

and the additional requirements of German commercial 

law pursuant to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB. 

 

 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient ap-

propriate audit evidence regarding the financial infor-

mation of the entities or business units within the Group 

as a basis for forming audit opinions on the consolidated 

financial statements and on the group management re-

port. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 

review of the audit work performed for purposes of of the 

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinions. 

 

 Evaluate the consistency of the group management report 

with the consolidated financial statements, its conformity 

with German law, and the view of the Group’s position it 

provides. 

 

 Perform audit procedures on the prospective information 

presented by the executive directors in the group man-

agement report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate au-

dit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the significant 

assumptions used by the executive directors as a basis for 

the prospective information, and evaluate the proper deri-

vation of the prospective information from these assump-

tions. We do not express a separate audit opinion on the 

prospective information and on the assumptions used as a 

basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future 

events will differ materially from the prospective infor-

mation. 
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We communicate with those charged with governance re-

garding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any sig-

nificant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 

our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a state-

ment that we have complied with the relevant independence 

requirements, and communicate with them all relationships 

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 

our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 

eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with 

governance, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial state-

ments of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 

unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 

the matter. 

Other legal and regulatory requirements 

Report on the Assurance on the Electronic Rendering of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements and the Group Manage-

ment Report Prepared for Publication Purposes in Accord-

ance with § 317 Abs. 3a HGB  

Assurance Opinion 
We have performed assurance work in accordance with § 317 

Abs. 3a HGB to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether 

the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and 

the group management report (hereinafter the “ESEF docu-

ments”) contained in the electronic file Al-

lane_SE_KA_KLB_ESEF-2024-12-31.zip and prepared for 

publication purposes complies in all material respects with 

the requirements of § 328 Abs. 1 HGB for the electronic re-

porting format (“ESEF format”). In accordance with German 

legal requirements, this assurance work extends only to the 

conversion of the information contained in the consolidated 

financial statements and the group management report into 

the ESEF format and therefore relates neither to the infor-

mation contained within these renderings nor to any other in-

formation contained in the electronic file identified above. 

In our opinion, the rendering of the consolidated financial 

statements and the group management report contained in 

the electronic file identified above and prepared for publica-

tion purposes complies in all material respects with the re-

quirements of § 328 Abs. 1 HGB for the electronic reporting 

format. Beyond this assurance opinion and our audit opinion 

on the accompanying consolidated financial statements and 

the accompanying group management report for the finan-

cial year from 1 January to 31 December 2024 contained in the 

"Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial State-

ments and on the Group Management Report" above, we do 

not express any assurance opinion on the information con-

tained within these renderings or on the other information 

contained in the electronic file identified above. 

Basis for the Assurance Opinion 
We conducted our assurance work on the rendering of the 

consolidated financial statements and the group manage-

ment report contained in the electronic file identified above 

in accordance with § 317 Abs. 3a HGB and the IDW Assurance 

Standard: Assurance Work on the Electronic Rendering, of 

Financial Statements and Management Reports, Prepared 

for Publication Purposes in Accordance with § 317 Abs. 3a 

HGB (IDW AsS 410 (06.2022)) and the International Stand-

ard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised). Our re-

sponsibility in accordance therewith is further described in 

the "Group Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Assurance Work 

on the ESEF Documents" section. Our audit firm applies the 

IDW Standard on Quality Management: Requirements for 

Quality Management in the Audit Firm (IDW QMS 1 

(09.2022)). 

Responsibilities of the Executive Directors and the 
Supervisory Board for the ESEF Documents 
The executive directors of the Company are responsible for 

the preparation of the ESEF documents including the elec-

tronic rendering of the consolidated financial statements and 

the group management report in accordance with § 328 Abs. 

1 Satz 4 Nr. [number] 1 HGB and for the tagging of the con-

solidated financial statements in accordance with § 328 Abs. 

1 Satz 4 Nr. 2 HGB. 

In addition, the executive directors of the Company are re-

sponsible for such internal control as they have considered 

necessary to enable the preparation of ESEF documents that 

are free from material non-compliance with the requirements 

of § 328 Abs. 1 HGB for the electronic reporting format, 

whether due to fraud or error. 

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the pro-

cess for preparing the ESEF documents as part of the finan-

cial reporting process. 
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Group Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Assurance Work 
on the ESEF Documents 
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the ESEF documents are free from material non-

compliance with the requirements of § 328 Abs. 1 HGB, 

whether due to fraud or error. We exercise professional judg-

ment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 

assurance work. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material non-compliance 

with the requirements of § 328 Abs. 1 HGB, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform assurance proce-

dures responsive to those risks, and obtain assurance evi-

dence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our assurance opinion. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 

the assurance work on the ESEF documents in order to 

design assurance procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

assurance opinion on the effectiveness of these controls. 

 Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documents, i.e., 

whether the electronic file containing the ESEF docu-

ments meets the requirements of the Delegated Regula-

tion (EU) 2019/815 in the version in force at the date of 

the consolidated financial statements on the technical 

specification for this electronic file. 

 Evaluate whether the ESEF documents provide an 

XHTML rendering with content equivalent to the audited 

consolidated financial statements and to the audited 

group management report. 

 Evaluate whether the tagging of the ESEF documents 

with Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) in accordance with 

the requirements of Articles 4 and 6 of the Delegated 

Regulation (EU) 2019/815, in the version in force at the 

date of the consolidated financial statements, enables an 

appropriate and complete machine-readable XBRL copy 

of the XHTML rendering. 

Further Information pursuant to Article ED of the EU Audit 
Regulation 
We were elected as group auditor by the annual general 

meeting on 27 June 2024. We were engaged by the supervi-

sory board on 14 January 2025. We have been the group au-

ditor of the Allane SE, Pullach, without interruption since the 

financial year 2020. 

We declare that the audit opinions expressed in this auditor’s 

report are consistent with the additional report to the audit 

committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation 

(long-form audit report). 
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of Allane SE, Pullach, as at 31 December 2024 (HGB/RechKredV) 

Assets       
in EUR thou.   GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG                 
E. Receivables from banks       

 a) Daily due - F,IEG E,FDG 

    F,IEG E,FDG 

F. Receivables from customers   HL,MGE GI,FFM 

 Of which: From financial institutions EUR D thousand (previous year: EUR D thousand)       

G. Shareholdings in affiliated companies   EE,EGE EE,EGE 

        

H. Lease assets   E,MKE,HMG E,FLF,KHI 

        

I. Intangible assets       

 a) Proprietary intellectual property rights and similar rights and assets EJ,KGK   EK,FJH 

 b) Purchased concessions, intellectual property rights and similar rights and assets  

  as well as licenses relating to such rights and assets F,EFF   G,GEK 

 c) Goodwill E,DLL   E,FLJ 

    EM,MHK FE,LJK 

J. Equipment   J,LLF K,IJG 

K. Other assets   IIL,IMG GEI,LDG 

L. Prepaid expenses   G,LJH G,LJJ 

M. Deferred tax assets   E,KGK - 

        

    F,JFI,DMF E,JKM,HDK                 
 

  

D.3 – Balance sheet 
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Equity and liabilities       
in EUR thou.   GE.EF.FDFH GE.EF.FDFG         
E. Liabilities to banks       

 a) Daily due ELF   - 

 b) with agreed term or notice period MMH,MLJ   LEG,LLG 

    MMI,EJL LEG,LLG 

F. Liabilities to customers       

 other liabilities       

 a) Daily due F,JML   F,KMD 

 b) with agreed term or notice period G,FIF   G,IGF 

    I,MID J,GFF 

        

G. Other liabilities   MM,FDE MH,KJF 

H. Deferred income   E,GMK,LGF IED,LFE 

I. Deferred tax liabilities   - FL,KEK 

J. Provisions       

 a) Tax provision G,JKD   G,LJE 

 b) Other provisions GJ,MJH   FK,DGL 

    HD,JGH GD,LMM 

K. Equity       

 a) Subscribed capital FD,JEF   FD,JEF 

 b) Capital reserve EGM,DJL   EGM,DJL 

 c) Retained earnings       

 Other retained earnings EF,JGJ   EF,JGJ 

 d) Balance sheet loss (FDFG: Balance sheet profit) –LJ,DDM   FE,JLK 

    LJ,GDJ EMH,DDF 

        

    F,JFI,DMF E,JKM,HDK         
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of Allane SE, Pullach, for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2024 (HGB/RechKredV) 

          
in EUR thou.     FDFH FDFG                     
          

E. Leasing revenue   JIK,GDD   IGI,KDH 

F. Leasing expenses   FMG,JJF   FLH,GDE 

      GJG,JGL FIE,HDG 

          

G. Interest income from lending and money-market transactions   L,KLD   F,IMK 

H. Interest expense   IF,HIG   EJ,KEL 

      HG,JKG EH,EFE 

          

I. Income from profit pooling and from partial or full profit transfer agreements     I,HIL E,JII 

J. Expenses from loss transfer     - EG 

K. Commission income   - E,EHE E,IIL 

L. Commission expenses   - GE,KJI G,KDD 

          

M. Other operating income     M,LEH EG,IEH 

ED. General operating expenses         

 a) Personnel expenses         

 aa) Wages and salaries GE,LIE     GD,FHJ 

 ab) Social security contributions, pension expenses and other employee benefits I,FLL     I,EGG 

    GK,EGM   GI,GKM 

 b) Other administrative expenses   GL,DHF   GM,DDE 

      KI,ELE KH,GLD 

EE. Depreciation and valuation allowances         

 a) On lease assets   GFM,IDM   EIH,EJM 

 b) On intangible assets and fixed assets   M,FLH   ED,IFI 

      GGL,KMG EJH,JMH 

EF. Other operating expenses     E,HIH F,HML 

EG. Write-downs and valuation allowances on receivables and certain securities and  

 allocations to provisions in lending business   FI,KIL   L,HLM 

EH. Income from write-ups on receivables and certain securities and from the release of  

 provisions in the lending business   LEK   KDD 

EI. Income from revaluations of investments, shares in affiliated companies and securities treated as 

fixed assets   -   KKE 

      FH,MHE K,DEM 

EJ. Result from ordinary activities     –EGI,KIJ E,KDJ 

EK. Taxes on income     –FM,MEI E,EJJ 

EL. Net loss (FDFG: Net profit)     –EDI,LHE IHD 

EM. Retained profit brought forward     EM,LGF FE,HEK 

FD. Transfers to other retained earnings       FKD 

          

FE. Balance sheet loss (FDFG: Balance sheet profit)     –LJ,DDM FE,JLK                     
 

  

D.4 – Income statement
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Financial calendar of Allane Mobility Group      
Publication of the Annual Report FDFH EG July FDFI 

Publication of the quarterly statement as at GE March FDFI GD May FDFI 

Annual General Meeting for financial year FDFI in Munich GE July FDFI 

Publication of the half-year financial report as at GD June FDFI FL August FDFI 

Publication of the quarterly statement as at GD September FDFI FD November FDFI     
Dates and event locations subject to change 
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